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Request for Direct Appellate Review 

The defendants-appellants Timothy Haydock and Barbara Moss 

request that the Supreme Judicial Court accept direct appellate review 

because this appeal involves two novel, important questions of law. 

The first question focuses on the application of the Massachusetts 

Civil Rights Act, G.L. c. 12, § 11I (the “MCRA”), in the land use context.  

Neighbors often disagree about development, with countless appeals 

filed each year in local Planning Boards and Zoning Boards of Appeals.  

These disputes involve competing constitutional rights: the developer 

has a right to use and enjoy their property, while the abutter has a 

corresponding right to protect their property and to voice concerns 

through petitioning activity.  The Court should provide guidance about 

how to balance these competing rights in the land use context, 

particularly after the Court’s decision regarding application of the anti-

SLAPP statute in Bristol Asphalt Co. v. Rochester Bituminous Prods., 

Inc., 493 Mass. 539 (2024).  The Court in Bristol noted that defendants’ 

petitioning rights would be “fully analyzed based on a more complete 

record, not special motions to dismiss.”  Id. at 554.  This appeal presents 
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the opportunity for the SJC to explain how to balance those rights, 

based on a complete record at trial. 

The second question focuses on whether a plaintiff must show 

non-performance of a contract to establish liability for intentional 

interference with contractual relations.  It is black letter law that a 

plaintiff must prove a breach where a defendant allegedly interferes 

with the performance of the third-party to a contract.  United Truck 

Leasing Corp. v. Geltman, 406 Mass. 811, 816 (1990).  This Court 

previously suggested that a breach was also required when the alleged 

interference is aimed at the plaintiff’s performance.  Shafir v. Steele, 

431 Mass. 365, 369 (2000).  But the Superior Court allowed the 

plaintiffs-appellees Margaret and John Reichenbach to base their 

intentional interference claim on an allegation that their performance 

was only made “more expensive or burdensome.”  The Court should 

clarify the elements necessary for intentional interference with 

contractual relations. 

Both these issues are novel and important questions of law that 

hold such public interest that justice requires a final determination by 
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this Court.  Mass. R.A.P. 11(a).  Dr. Haydock and Ms. Moss therefore 

request that this Court accept direct appellate review. 

Statement of Prior Proceedings 

The Reichenbachs filed their Complaint against Dr. Haydock and 

Ms. Moss on October 1, 2015.  Addendum (“Add”):37.  That Complaint 

had three claims that were later tried to a jury: violation of the MCRA, 

trespass, and intentional interference with contractual relations.  

Add:102. 

Dr. Haydock and Ms. Moss filed a special motion to dismiss the 

Complaint under G.L. c. 231, § 59H (the “anti-SLAPP statute”), which 

was ultimately denied by the Superior Court on June 20, 2016.  Add:40.  

Dr. Haydock and Ms. Moss appealed that denial to the Appeals Court, 

which affirmed the denial (on different grounds) on December 21, 2017.  

Reichenbach v. Haydock, 92 Mass. App. Ct. 567 (2017).  The parties 

then proceeded through discovery; no party sought summary judgment 

for any claim. 

A jury trial began on February 2, 2023, in Bristol County Superior 

Court, and ran for fifteen non-consecutive days, ending on March 3, 

2023.  Add:37.  The jury found for the Reichenbachs on all three counts 
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and awarded damages for each claim: $1.5 million for violation of the 

MCRA ($1 million against Ms. Moss and $500,000 against Dr. 

Haydock); $200,000 for trespass ($150,000 against Ms. Moss and 

$50,000 against Dr. Haydock); and $2 million for intentional 

interference with contractual relations ($1 million each against Dr. 

Haydock and Ms. Moss).  Add:428-429. 

Post-trial briefing ensued, including requests by the Reichenbachs 

for permanent injunctive relief and attorney fees.  Add:74.  The trial 

judge held a hearing on the request for attorney fees on September 21, 

2023, Add:75, and held an evidentiary hearing on the request for 

permanent injunctive relief on December 18, 2023, Add:75.  The trial 

judge granted both requests on May 2, 2024.  Add:76. 

On May 3, 2024, the Superior Court entered judgment against Dr. 

Haydock in the amount of $5,533,924.24 and Ms. Moss in the amount of 

$6,753,168.04 (these amounts include the totals awarded by the jury, 

prejudgment interest, and attorney fees and costs).  Add:300; 302.  Dr. 

Haydock and Ms. Moss served timely motions for judgment 

notwithstanding the verdict and for a new trial, Add:76-77, which were 

denied on January 2, 2025.  Add:80. 
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Dr. Haydock and Ms. Moss filed a timely Notice of Appeal on 

January 16, 2025.  Add:80.  The Appeals Court entered this case on the 

docket on March 27, 2025.  Appeals Court Case No. 2025-P-0392, Dkt. 

No. 2.  Dr. Haydock and Ms. Moss now file this Application for Direct 

Appellate Review. 

Summary of the Facts 

This case presents a neighbor dispute between two married 

couples who own abutting parcels of oceanfront land in Dartmouth, 

Massachusetts.  The dispute arose from the Reichenbachs’ construction 

of a large vacation home and its associated permitting process, which 

implicated significant environmental and other sensitive land use 

issues.  Throughout the development, Dr. Haydock and Ms. Moss 

sought to assert their own free speech and property rights, which 

ultimately led to their liability under the MCRA and for intentional 

interference with contractual relations. 

The Reichenbachs’ Initial Permit Applications.  In 2008, the 

Reichenbachs bought a parcel of land overlooking Buzzards Bay from a 

member of Dr. Haydock’s extended family, and they sought to build a 

new summer home there.  Add:104.  Dr. Haydock and Ms. Moss have 
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lived in an abutting house for decades, and they welcomed the 

Reichenbachs to the neighborhood.  Add:104; 171-173.  Ms. Moss and 

Mr. Reichenbach soon began to work together on a permit application 

that the Reichenbachs needed to submit before beginning construction.  

Add:142-149; 173-184.  Ms. Moss helped to coordinate concerns from 

various neighbors and abutters, and proposed solutions for the 

Reichenbachs to consider.  Add:149; 185.  This culminated in the 

Reichenbachs obtaining the necessary permit from the Dartmouth 

Conservation Commission in early 2010.  Add:206.  Ms. Moss attended 

that Conservation Commission meeting and expressly told the board 

that she supported the Reichenbachs’ plans.  Add:150. 

Later in 2010, the Reichenbachs changed their construction plans 

in ways that would impact various abutters, including (but not limited 

to) Dr. Haydock and Ms. Moss.  Add:208; 186-188.  The neighbors’ 

primary concern was the scale of a large development on a narrow piece 

of oceanfront land that previously contained a much smaller home.  The 

changes to the Reichenbachs’ plans would affect not only the sensitive 

environmental resources on the coast but would also exacerbate water 

and runoff issues on abutting properties.  Add:190-191; 199-200.  Dr. 
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Haydock, Ms. Moss, and a group of other neighbors opposed the 

Reichenbachs’ changes and hired a lawyer.  Add:189. 

The Conservation Commission met again in January 2011 and 

approved the Reichenbachs’ changes.  Add:233.  The neighborhood 

group voiced concerns about the plans to various Dartmouth town 

boards, including through written objections or appeals.  Add:209; 228; 

233; 235.  Different configurations of the neighborhood group filed 

appeals: Dr. Haydock and Ms. Moss did not join all these appeals, some 

included only Dr. Haydock but not Ms. Moss, and some were from the 

entire group of ten abutters.   

As commonly happens with neighbor disputes, tensions rose.  The 

Reichenbachs each claim that Ms. Moss remarked that she would cost 

them “time and money” and “ruin” their reputation in Dartmouth if 

they did not make changes to their construction plans.  Add:135; 166.  

Ms. Moss testified that Mrs. Reichenbach made a comment about using 

her immense resources to obtain the permits, Add:183, and that Mr. 

Reichenbach threatened to cut down Ms. Moss’s trees with a chainsaw.  

Add:187.  Ms. Moss wrote in a hyperbolic email to her neighbor (who 
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also opposed the plans) that she was going to “torture” the 

Reichenbachs.  Add:277. 

The neighborhood group appealed various of the Reichenbachs’ 

permits over the course of 2011, but all permits were eventually upheld.  

Add:195.  The last appeal was decided in November 2011 and the 

Reichenbachs started construction on their home about a week later.  

Add:152. 

The Reichenbachs’ Construction.  The Reichenbachs built a 

nearly 10,000-square feet home at the end of a long, narrow, dead-end 

private way, on a parcel only 1.5 acres in size; it was a large project on a 

small lot that contained environmentally sensitive coastal wetlands.  

Add:104; 133.  Given the space constraints, construction was tight and 

caused issues for the neighbors.  Dr. Haydock was largely absent during 

construction because he worked long hours as an emergency room 

physician in New York state.  Add:193; 197-200.  When he did travel to 

his home in Dartmouth, he often could not access, or leave from, his 

own property because the construction workers’ vehicles were blocking 

the road.  Add:202.  Frustrations boiled over a handful of times, with 

Dr. Haydock speaking to the workers about their vehicles blocking him 
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in.  Add:202-205.  The Reichenbachs did not testify about any direct 

interaction with Dr. Haydock during the construction of their home. 

Ms. Moss was at their Dartmouth home more often and sought to 

ensure that her concerns about construction impacts did not come to 

fruition.  She would speak to the Reichenbachs’ workers, photographed 

aspects of the project that concerned her, and continued to voice 

concerns to town officials.  Add:137; 154.  The Reichenbachs’ workers 

and town officials testified that she was polite and professional.  

Add:160-164.  Like Dr. Haydock, she did not interact with the 

Reichenbachs during construction of the home. 

The Reichenbachs’ home was weathertight—on schedule—by May 

2012.  Add:156-157.  Mr. Reichenbach and his contractor both agreed 

that they fully performed the construction contract, with no party 

breaching or failing to perform their contractual obligations.  Add:151; 

158. 

Reichenbachs’ Second Set of Changes.  After the house was 

weathertight, the Reichenbachs sought to install an electrical 

transformer and water irrigation system in the regulated floodplain.  

Add:219.  In keeping with their worries about water and runoff, Dr. 
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Haydock and Ms. Moss voiced concerns about these systems to town 

officials.  Add:196.  In response, Dartmouth town officials required the 

Reichenbachs to file their plans so that the Conservation Commission 

could review them in the summer of 2013.  Add:120.  The Reichenbachs 

did so and obtained the Conservation Commission’s approval.  Add:226.  

Dr. Haydock and Ms. Moss appealed the Conservation Commission’s 

determination to the Department of Environmental Protection and 

Superior Court, but were unsuccessful.  Add:241-275; 278.  The 

Reichenbachs did not testify that Dr. Haydock or Ms. Moss spoke to 

them directly during this second round of petitioning or construction 

either. 

Before the appeals concerning the electrical and irrigation 

systems were exhausted, the Reichenbachs sued Dr. Haydock and Ms. 

Moss for alleged delays and increased costs of their project, leading to 

the instant appeal. 

Statement of the Issues, Including Preservation 

1. How should trial courts balance competing constitutional rights in 

a land use-based MCRA claim, particularly given that more claims 

may proceed to trial after Bristol? 
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2. Does the tort of intentional interference with contractual relations 

require proof of non-performance of the underlying contract? 

Dr. Haydock and Ms. Moss preserved their arguments that the 

evidence at trial could not support liability under the MCRA or 

intentional interference with contractual relations through motions for 

directed verdict at the close of the Reichenbachs’ evidence, the close of 

all evidence, and on motions for judgment notwithstanding the verdict. 

Argument 

I. The Court should provide guidance about how to 

balance rights in land use-based MCRA cases. 

   The Court should provide guidance on the application of the 

MCRA to property development disputes where all parties have 

competing constitutional rights.  After Bristol, more cases involving 

petitioning are likely to survive until trial.  This case, which has a trial 

record, allows the Court to explain how to balance competing rights. 

   The MCRA was passed to counter “formidable, sometimes violent, 

pressure” brought against “racial minorities seeking to exercise equal 

rights under the law.”  Buster v. George W. Moore, Inc., 438 Mass. 635, 

645 (2003).  To establish a violation of the MCRA, a plaintiff must show 

that (1) the plaintiff was engaged in the exercise of rights secured by 
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the Massachusetts or United States Constitution, (2) the defendant 

interfered, or tried to interfere, with that right, and (3) the interference 

was carried out through threats, intimidation, or coercion.  Glovsky v. 

Roche Bros. Supermarkets, Inc., 469 Mass. 752, 762 (2014).  The 

requirement of threats, intimidation, or coercion is meant to prevent 

the MCRA from becoming a “vast constitutional tort.”  See George W. 

Moore, 438 Mass. at 645. 

   Courts have specifically defined “threats, intimidation, or 

coercion” under the MCRA.  Glovsky, 469 Mass. at 762 (repeating these 

definitions).  Relevant here, a party’s exercise of free speech rights 

cannot, on its own, violate the MCRA.  Bell v. Mazza, 394 Mass. 176, 

183 (1985); see Haufler v. Zotos, 446 Mass. 489, 506 (2006) (the MCRA 

allows individuals “to use lawful means” to voice concerns about 

development). 

   Despite the MCRA’s original purpose as a tool to combat racial 

discrimination and violence, it has morphed into a tool for land 

developers.  See, e.g., Kennie v. Natural Resources Dep’t of Dennis, 451 

Mass. 754 (2008); George W. Moore, 438 Mass. at 635; Swanset Dev. 

Corp. v. City of Taunton, 423 Mass. 390 (1996); Bell v. Mazza, 394 
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Mass. 176 (1985); Ayasli v. Armstrong, 56 Mass. App. Ct. 740 (2002).  

The Court has not provided guidance about the MCRA in a neighbor 

dispute like this in decades.   

   The most recent neighbor dispute in this Court involving the 

MCRA is Haufler v. Zotos, 446 Mass. 489 (2006), which had starkly 

different facts.  There, the defendant repeatedly trespassed and 

engaged in “threatening belligerence and unprovoked hostility.”  Id. at 

508.  Dr. Haydock and Ms. Moss engaged in no such “persistent and 

antagonistic” behavior.  Dr. Haydock had zero interaction with the 

Reichenbachs, but voiced frustrations to workers when they blocked 

the road.  Ms. Moss was uniformly polite during her alleged 

“interference” with the Reichenbachs’ workers and town officials. 

   Two developments since Haufler make this case appropriate for 

direct appellate review.  First, much of the Court’s recent jurisprudence 

on the MCRA has come after a dispositive motion.  See Barron v. 

Kolenda, 491 Mass. 408 (2023) (finding that trial court erred by 

granting Rule 12(c) judgment on the pleadings in favor of municipal 

officials charged with violating free speech rights); Glovsky, 469 Mass. 

at 764-65 (affirming Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal of MCRA claim based on 
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free speech rights); Currier v. Nat’l Bd. of Medical Examiners, 462 

Mass. 1, 14 (2012) (affirming summary judgment dismissing MCRA 

claim for refusal to allow plaintiff to express breast milk during 

medical board exams).  These cases have helped shape pleading and 

summary judgment standards, but how a factfinder should balance 

competing constitutional rights remains far less developed.   

   That trial standard is more important after Bristol, where the 

Court noted that mixed claims—based on both petitioning and other 

“substantial conduct”—inevitably “involve an inquiry into both sides’ 

legitimate petitioning rights,” which cannot happen on an anti-SLAPP 

special motion to dismiss.  Id. at 554.  Rather, parties can defend their 

petitioning rights later, “in the ordinary course of litigation.”  Id. at 

556. 

    The MCRA claim here relied heavily on petitioning.  Much of the 

trial focused on the appeals filed by Dr. Haydock and Ms. Moss (and 

other neighbors), in addition to Ms. Moss asking questions of 

governmental officials.  Dr. Haydock and Ms. Moss did so to defend 

their property, for which they have their own constitutional rights.  
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This Court should explain how factfinders should weigh these 

competing considerations, particularly in the land-use context. 

   The second development since Haufler has been this Court’s 

hesitation about what qualifies as a “threat” in a neighbor dispute.  

The Appeals Court considered this in Ayasli, which has become a 

seminal land use/MCRA case and was often cited by the trial court (and 

Reichenbachs) below.  But this Court has twice cited to the dissent in 

Ayasli and, in particular, found that a “certain amount of verbal 

‘posturing’ and ‘huffing and puffing’ is ‘not uncommon during 

neighborhood disputes, especially those wending their ways through 

town hall en route to further litigation.”  Kennie, 451 Mass. at 765 

(quoting Ayasli, 56 Mass. App. Ct. at 761 (Rapoza, J., dissenting)); 

Glovsky, 469 Mass. at 764 (same).  This Court emphasized that not 

“every intemperate exclamation rises to the level of threats, 

intimidation, or coercion.”  Kennie, 451 Mass. at 765.   

   The Reichenbachs focused their case against Ms. Moss on an 

“intemperate exclamation,” namely her “threat” to cost them time and 

money, and ruin their reputation in Dartmouth.  Ms. Moss hotly 

disputes whether she uttered these words, but the Court should find 
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them insufficient as a matter of law.  They are mere “huffing and 

puffing,” and do not carry a risk of physical violence, like threats 

usually do under the MCRA.  Kennie, 451 Mass. at 763 (“Both threats 

and intimidation often rely on an element of actual or threatened 

physical force.”); see Glovsky, 469 Mass. at 763-64 (collecting cases to 

affirm dismissal of threat-based MCRA claim). 

   Other than this intemperate (and time-barred1) remark, the 

Reichenbachs merely showed that Ms. Moss asserted her own rights.  

She observed construction, asked workers what was going on, and 

ensured that development did not affect her own property.  She 

occasionally took pictures and asked people to move their vehicles so 

she could access her own property.  And throughout all this, she was 

polite and professional. 

   The Reichenbachs’ MCRA case against Dr. Haydock revolved 

around a distinct set of facts that is even weaker.  His involvement in 

the Reichenbachs’ development was limited to 1) petitioning, and 2) 

 

1 The Reichenbachs allege that Ms. Moss said this in January 2011, yet 

they waited until October 2015 to file their Complaint.  Dr. Haydock 

and Ms. Moss unsuccessfully argued that the trial court should not 

admit this evidence, which fell outside the statute of limitations. 
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talking to workers when they blocked the road.  The trial judge noted 

midtrial that Dr. Haydock’s motion for directed verdict at the close of 

the Reichenbachs’ evidence was a “close case” because of the paucity of 

evidence against him.  Add:310.  Never has this Court—or any court—

found liability under the MCRA when there was zero interaction 

between the parties that could qualify as “threats, intimidation, or 

coercion.”  And even if Dr. Haydock voiced frustrations to third-party 

workers, that was due to interference with his own rights—getting to 

and from his property. 

   The MCRA has strayed from its original purpose of protecting 

victims of racial discrimination.  But the claims against Dr. Haydock 

and Ms. Moss are particularly novel extensions of liability.  The Court 

should provide guidance about how to balance competing rights under 

the MCRA, especially after Bristol. 

II. The Court should clarify the elements of intentional 

interference with contractual relations. 

   The trial court allowed the Reichenbachs to assert a claim for 

intentional interference with contractual relations despite the 

undisputed fact that no breach occurred.  The Superior Court allowed 

this under Restatement (Second) of Torts § 766A, which provides that 
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“one who intentionally and improperly interferes with the performance 

of a contract…between another and a third person, by preventing the 

other from performing the contract or causing his performance to be 

more expensive or burdensome” is subject to liability.  This Court has 

adopted a form of § 766A in Shafir, but noted in that case that 

Massachusetts law requires a breach to state a claim for intentional 

interference.  See Shafir, 431 Mass. at 369. 

   In Shafir, the Court recognized that § 766A created a claim based 

on interference with a plaintiff’s contract performance.  This was an 

extension of § 766, which focuses on interference with the third party’s 

contractual performance.  Other than the party to whom the 

interference is directed, this Court viewed the torts as identical: “The 

only difference between the torts described in § 766 and § 766A is that, 

under § 766, the tortious conduct causes the third person not to 

perform, whereas § 766A involves interference preventing the plaintiff 

from performing his own part of the contract.”  Shafir, 431 Mass. at 369 

(citation omitted) (emphases added).  This Court thus required, under § 

766A, that the defendant prevented the plaintiff from performing 

under the contract.  And the plaintiff in Shafir did just that—having 
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“decided that the defendant’s harassment was not going to stop,” she 

abandoned her obligation to close on the purchase of the property at 

issue.  Id. at 367-68 & n.6. 

   This Court emphasized the need for non-performance by 

discussing its prior decision affirming the dismissal of an intentional 

interference claim in Anzalone v. Mass. Bay Trans. Auth., 403 Mass. 

119, 123 (1988), where the plaintiff alleged interference with “the 

plaintiff’s own performance of his employment contract.”  Shafir, 431 

Mass. at 370.  As the Court explained in Shafir, they affirmed 

dismissal in Anzalone because “the plaintiff was still employed and did 

not allege loss of any advantage.”  Id.; Anzalone, 403 Mass. at 123.  In 

both cases, the lack of breach proved fatal.  See also Psy-Ed Corp. v. 

Klein, 459 Mass. 697, 716-17 (2011) (requiring, after Shafir, that 

defendant “caused one or more parties to that contract to ‘break’ (i.e., 

breach) it” for intentional interference claim). 

   Until this case, the Superior Court largely followed this analysis.  

For instance, Judge Salinger applied Shafir and Anzalone to reject an 

intentional interference claim when the plaintiff acknowledged lack of 

breach but claimed the defendant made the contract “more expensive 
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and more burdensome.”  CareOne Mgmt., LLC v. Navisite, Inc., 34 

Mass. L. Rptr. 278, 2017 WL 2803060, at *11 (Mass. Super. Ct. 2017); 

see Baldwin v. Connor, Case No. 1984CV03396BLS2, 2020 WL 

2521268, at *1, n.1 (Mass. Super. Ct. Mar. 24, 2020) (same).  Judge 

Karp likewise required a breach for a claim of intentional interference.  

See Manning v. Christensen, Case No. 1777CV00715, at *16-20 (Mass. 

Super. Ct. Jan. 17, 2020) (included in the Addendum at page 280) 

(“[T]he ‘breaking’ of the contract is an essential element of the tort of 

interference.”). 

   The Appeals Court, in a footnote, treated Shafir differently.  See 

Resolute Mgmt., Inc. v. Transatlantic Reins. Co., 87 Mass. App. Ct. 

296, 299 n.5 (2015).  The Appeals Court, in a single sentence, 

commented that this Court adopted § 766A, but failed to analyze (or 

even mention) the limitations explained by this Court in Shafir.  This 

appears to be the only other authority construing Shafir in this way. 

   The Superior Court allowed the Reichenbachs to assert 

intentional interference without a breach.  Not only was this 

inconsistent with Massachusetts law, it created a speculative theory of 

liability.  Many jurisdictions refuse to adopt § 766A at all because of 



 

25 

the speculative nature of the claim.  See e.g., Price v. Sorrell, 784 P.2d 

614, 616 (Wyo. 1989) (“[Section] 766A requires, not a breach or non-

performance, but only that performance became more expensive and 

burdensome.  We are convinced that such an element of proof is too 

speculative and subject to abuse to provide a meaningful basis for a 

cause of action.”); Anderson v. Wachovia Mortg. Corp., 621 F.3d 261, 

281 (3d Cir. 2010) (holding Delaware would not adopt § 766A due to the 

same reasoning as Price). 

   The Court should clarify the elements for intentional interference, 

specifically whether non-performance is required. 

Statement of Reasons Why DAR is Appropriate 

This case presents two novel and important questions of law for 

the Court, either of which would be sufficient for direct appellate 

review. 

The MCRA has become a vast constitutional tort.  In this case, it 

led to a jury awarding significant damages against Dr. Haydock even 

though he was barely around the Reichenbachs’ construction project 

and the evidence against him was limited to petitioning and 

understandable frustrations toward third parties when they blocked the 
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road.  The Court should decide whether the MCRA countenances such 

an unnerving extension of liability.  Similarly, the evidence against Ms. 

Moss is that she persistently, but politely, asserted her own petitioning 

and property rights.  The exercise of those rights may have delayed the 

Reichenbachs’ project and ensured that they did everything by the book, 

but did not violate the MCRA.  The Court should accept direct appellate 

review to consider the scope of the MCRA in the land use context where 

there are competing constitutional rights, particularly after Bristol. 

The Court should also accept direct appellate review to define the 

elements of intentional interference with contractual relations.  Parties 

and trial courts should know whether breach is an element of that tort, 

regardless of which party allegedly suffered interference.  This Court 

has already suggested the answer to this question in Shafir, but the 

Appeals Court provided a contrary ruling in Resolute Management.  

Judges in the Superior Court have largely followed Shafir until this 

case, where the trial judge adhered to the footnote in Resolute 

Management.  The Court should accept direct appellate review to 

resolve any confusion. 
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April 17, 2025 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Timothy Haydock and Barbara Moss, 

 

By their attorneys, 

 

  /s/ Melissa C. Allison                      

  Melissa C. Allison (BBO #657470) 

 mallison@andersonkreiger.com 

Jonathan Elder (BBO #654411) 

jelder@andersonkreiger.com 

Sean Grammel (BBO #688388) 

sgrammel@andersonkreiger.com 

ANDERSON & KREIGER LLP 

50 Milk, 21st Floor 

Boston, MA 02109 

617.621.6523 
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Rule 16 Certificate 

 I, Sean Grammel, hereby certify, pursuant to Mass. R. App. 

P. 16(k), that this Application complies with all relevant court 

rules, including but not limited to Mass. R. App. P. 11, 16, 18, 20, 

and 21. 

 

Font: Century Schoolbook, 14-point 

 

Number of Non-Excluded Words in the Brief Argument, as defined 
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Name and Version of Program: Microsoft Word 2016 

 

/s/ Sean Grammel   

Sean Grammel 
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Certificate of Service 

 Pursuant to Mass. R.A.P. 13(d), I hereby certify, under penalties 

of perjury, that on this 17th day of April 2025, I have made service of a 

copy of this Application upon the attorney of record for each party by 

eFileMA, on behalf of the defendants-appellants, Timothy Haydock and 

Barbara Moss.  

 

April 17, 2025 

 

 /s/ Sean Grammel   

Sean Grammel, BBO #688388 
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Date Session Location Type Event Judge Result 
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07/17/2019 02:00 Civil A(New Lower Conference to Review Status Yessayan, Hon. RaffiN Held as Scheduled 
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PM Bedford) Courtroom 

04/28/2022 02:00 Civil A(New Lower Trial Assignment Conference Yessayan, Hon. Raffi N Held as Scheduled 
PM Bedford) Courtroom 

05/23/2022 09:00 Civil B (New Upper Jury Trial Yessayan, Hon. Raffi N Rescheduled 
AM Bedford) Courtroom 

07/11/2022 0200 Civil C (Taunton) Main Hearing on Motion to Sull ivan, Hon. Susan E Rescheduled 
PM Courtroom Continue 

07/26/2022 02:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Hearing on Motion to Sull ivan, Hon. Susan E Held as Scheduled 
PM Courtroom Continue 

09/06/2022 09:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Jury Trial Sull ivan, Hon. Susan E Rescheduled 
AM Courtroom 

01/12/2023 02:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Hearing on Motion(s) in Perrino, Hon. Thomas J Held as Scheduled 
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Date Session Location Type Event Judge Result 

01/13/2023 12:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Hearing on Motion(s) in Perrino, Hon. Thomas J Held as Scheduled 
PM Courtroom Limine 

01/13/2023 02:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Hearing on Motion(s) in Perrino, Hon. Thomas J Rescheduled 
PM Courtroom Limine 

02/01/2023 02:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Final Trial Conference Perrino, Hon. Thomas J Held as Scheduled 
PM Courtroom 

02/06/2023 09:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Jury Trial Perrino, Hon. Thomas J Held as Scheduled 
AM Courtroom 

02/07/2023 09:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Jury Trial Perrino, Hon. Thomas J Held as Scheduled 
AM Courtroom 

02/08/2023 09:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Jury Trial Perrino, Hon. Thomas J Held as Scheduled 
AM Courtroom 

02/09/2023 09:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Jury Trial Perrino, Hon. Thomas J Held as Scheduled 
AM Courtroom 

02/10/2023 09:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Jury Trial Perrino, Hon. Thomas J Held as Scheduled 
AM Courtroom 

02/13/2023 09:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Jury Trial Perrino, Hon. Thomas J Held as Scheduled 
AM Courtroom 

02/14/2023 09:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Jury Trial Perrino, Hon. Thomas J Held as Scheduled 
AM Courtroom 

02/15/2023 09:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Jury Trial Perrino, Hon. Thomas J Held as Scheduled 
AM Courtroom 

02/16/2023 09:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Jury Trial Perrino, Hon. Thomas J Held as Scheduled 
AM Courtroom 

02/17/2023 09:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Jury Trial Perrino, Hon. Thomas J Held as Scheduled 
AM Courtroom 

02/24/2023 09:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Motion Hearing Perrino, Hon. Thomas J Held as Scheduled 
AM Courtroom 

02/27/2023 09:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Jury Trial Perrino, Hon. Thomas J Held as Scheduled 
AM Courtroom 

02/28/2023 09:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Jury Trial Perrino, Hon. Thomas J Held as Scheduled 
AM Courtroom 

03/01/2023 09:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Jury Trial Perrino, Hon. Thomas J Held as Scheduled 
AM Courtroom 

03/02/2023 09:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Jury Trial Perrino, Hon. Thomas J Held as Scheduled 
AM Courtroom 

03/03/2023 09:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Jury Trial Perrino, Hon. Thomas J Held as Scheduled 
AM Courtroom 

05/08/2023 02:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Motion Hearing Perrino, Hon. Thomas J Not Held 
PM Courtroom 

09/21/2023 02:00 Criminal 3 (Fall Courtroom 6 Motion Hearing Perrino, Hon. Thomas J Held- Under 
PM River) advisement 

12/18/2023 10:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Motion Hearing White, Jr., Hon. William Held- Under 
AM Courtroom M advisement 

09/23/2024 10:00 Criminal 1 (Fall Courtroom 9 Motion Hearing Perrino, Hon. Thomas J Held - Under 
AM River) advisement 

09/23/2024 02:00 Criminal 1 (Fall Courtroom 9 Motion Hearing Perrino, Hon. Thomas J Rescheduled 
PM River) 

04/29/2025 02:00 Civil C (Taunton) Main Motion Hearing to Compel Gildea, Hon. Mark 
PM Courtroom 

Ticklers 

Tickler Start Date Due Date Days Due Completed Date 
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Status Review 

Under Advisement 

Under Advisement 

Under Advisement 

Review Appeals Filed 

Docket Information 

Docket 
Date 

Docket Text 

10/01/2015 Appearance entered 

Start Date 

10/01/2015 

10/01/2015 

10/01/2015 

10/01/2015 

10/01/2015 

10/01/2015 

10/01/2015 

10/01/2015 

10/01/2015 

10/01/2015 

08/11/2016 

09/26/2017 

02/12/2019 

02/19/2020 

02/18/2021 

08/16/2023 

09/21/2023 

12/18/2023 

09/23/2024 

01/17/2025 

Case Details - Massachusetts Trial Court NG 

Due Date Days Due Completed Date 

02/29/2016 151 12/16/2021 

03/29/2016 180 12/16/2021 

11/25/2016 421 12/16/2021 

12/26/2016 452 12/16/2021 

12/26/2016 452 12/16/2021 

03/11/2019 1257 05/03/2024 

01/08/2021 1926 12/16/2021 

02/19/2021 1968 12/16/2021 

04/15/2021 2023 12/16/2021 

10/01/2018 1096 05/03/2024 

09/10/2016 30 09/19/2016 

10/26/2017 30 09/29/2017 

03/14/2019 30 02/13/2019 

03/20/2020 30 02/21/2020 

03/20/2021 30 06/21/2021 

09/07/2023 22 08/30/2023 

10/21/2023 30 11/06/2023 

01/17/2024 30 05/02/2024 

10/23/2024 30 01/02/2025 

07/16/2025 180 02/04/2025 

File Image 
Ref Avail. 
Nbr. 

On this date Robert B Feingold, Esq. added as Private Counsel for Plaintiff Margaret J. Reichenbach 

10/01/2015 Appearance entered 
On this date Robert B Feingold, Esq. added as Private Counsel for Plaintiff John Reichenbach 

10/01/2015 Case assigned to 
DCM Track A-Average was added on 10/01/2015 

10/01/2015 Original civil complaint filed . 

10/01/2015 Civil action cover sheet filed. 2 

10/01/2015 Margaret J Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's MOTION for appointment of Special Process Server. 3 

Latimer & Moniz 

10/02/2015 Endorsement on Motion for Appointment of Special Process Server (#3.0): ALLOWED 

10/23/2015 Service Returned for 
Defendant Haydock, Timothy G.: Service made in hand; 

10/23/2015 Service Returned for 
Defendant Moss, Barbara: Service made in hand; 

10/26/2015 Appearance entered 
On this date Pro Se added for Defendant Timothy G. Haydock 

10/26/2015 Received from Defendants: Answer w ith claim for trial by jury; 

Applies To Haydock, Timothy G (Defendant); Moss, Barbara (Defendant) 

10/26/2015 Appearance entered 
On this date Pro Se added for Defendant Barbara Moss 

10/26/2015 Defendant's Notice of intent to file motion to Dismiss Anti-Slapp Motion 

Applies To Haydock, Timothy G (Defendant); Moss, Barbara (Defendant) 

4 

5 

6 

7 

0 
Image 

0 
Image 

0 
Image 

0 
Image 
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10/27/2015 General correspondence regarding case sent to New Bedford 

11/24/2015 Defendant Timothy G Haydock, Barbara Moss's Motion to dismiss all counts 
Anti-SLAPP G.L.c. 231 , s. 59H 

11/24/2015 Opposition to paper #8.0 Defendants' Special Motion to Dismiss filed by Margaret J Reichenbach, John 
Reichenbach 

11/24/2015 Affidavit of John Reichenbach Verifying Complaint 

11/24/2015 Affidavit of Margaret J. Reichenbach 

11/24/2015 Affidavit ofThomas W. Hardman 

11/24/2015 Affidavit of Lars V Olson 

11/24/2015 Affidavit of Andrew R. Dearden 

11/24/2015 Affidavit of Dana Diggle 

11/24/2015 Certificate of service of attorney or Pro Se: 

Robert B Feingold, Esq. 

11/24/2015 Defendant Timothy G Haydock, Barbara Moss's Motion for 
Leave to File Affidavits in Support of Special Motion to Dismiss 

11/27/2015 The following fonn was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 11/27/2015 10:26:11 

File 
Ref 
Nbr. 

8 

8.1 

8.2 

8.3 

8.4 

8.5 

8.6 

8.7 

8.8 

9 

12/04/2015 Opposition to paper #9.0 Defendants' Motion to File Affidavits Late filed by John Reichenbach, Margaret J 10 
Reichenbach 

12/04/2015 Plaintiff Margaret J Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Motion for a more definitive statement 11 

12/04/2015 Opposition to paper #11.0 Plaintiffs' Motion for More Definitive Statement filed by Timothy G Haydock, 11.1 
Barbara Moss 

12/08/2015 Endorsement on Motion for a more definite Answer Pursuant to Rule 12(e) of Mass. Rules of Civil 
Procedure (#11.0): ALLOWED 

12/14/2015 Affidavit of John F, Shea, Esq. 

12/18/2015 ORDER: on Plaintiffs' Motion for a More Definitive Answer 

01/07/2016 Amended Answer for defendant 

Applies To Haydock, Timothy G (Defendant); Moss, Barbara (Defendant) 

01/14/2016 Plaintitrs Notice of intent to file motion to Str ke Pursuant to Rule 12(f) 

Applies To Reichenbach, Margaret J (Plaintiff); Reichenbach, John (Plaintiff) 

01/14/2016 Event Result: 
The following event: Rule 12 Hearing scheduled for 01/14/2016 02:00 PM has been resulted as follows: 
Result: Held as Scheduled 

01/25/2016 Plaintiff Margaret J Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Request for 
Due Date for Defendants' Further Right to Respond to Plaintiffs' Submissions. 

01/26/2016 Plaintiff Margaret J Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Motion to sir ke 
Pursuant to Rule 12(f) of Mass. Rules of Civil Procedure 

01/26/2016 Opposition to paper #17.0 Plaintiffs' Motion to Strike Pursuant to Rule 12(f) of Mass. Rules of Civil 
Procedure filed by 

02/02/2016 Plaintiff Margaret J Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's EMERGENCY Motion for 
Reconsideration of Procedural Order of January 14, 2016 Pursuant to Superior Court Rule 9D and Rule 
9A(e)(1) 

02/03/2016 General correspondence regard ing Defendants' Procedure Order Paragraphs Subject to the Anti SLAPP 
Motion by subject matter 

02/10/2016 ORDER: Reconsideration to Procedural Order of January 14, 2016 

02/10/2016 Opposition to paper #18.0 to Plaintiffs Emergency Motion for Reconsideration of Procedural Order of 
January 14, 2016 filed by Timothy G Haydock, Barbara Moss 

02/11/2016 Margaret J Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Reply Memorandum 
to Defendants' Opposition to Plaintiffs' Emergency Motion 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

17.1 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

Image 
Avail. 
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02/17/2016 ORDER: Court's Response to Motion to Strike 23 
Based on the foregoing, this court declines to make any further order for defendants to provide further 
answers. 

03/07/2016 ORDER: Rulings and Order on Defendant's Threshold Burden 24 
..... Based on the foregoing, plaintiffs shall now meet their burden of proof. Such a submission shall be 
filed within twenty one (21) days. 

03/28/2016 Plaintiff Margaret J Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Response to 25 
Demonstrate that the Defendants Engaged in Sham Petitioning and are Not Entitled to the Protection of 
the Anti-SLAPP Statute 

03/28/2016 Affidavit of John Reichenbach 

03/28/2016 Affidavit of Margaret J. Reichenbach 

03/28/2016 Affidavit of Bryan N. Jones 

03/28/2016 Affidavit of Thomas W. Hardman 

03/28/2016 Affidavit of Paul Murphy 

03/28/2016 Affidavit of Michael E. Russell 

03/28/2016 Affidavit of Steven Pontes 

03/28/2016 Affidavit of John F. Shea, Esq. 

04/07/2016 ORDER: Instructions 

04/19/2016 Plaintiff Margaret J Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Notice of 
Service of Plaintiffs' Motion for Reconsideration 

04/28/2016 Plaintiff, Defendant Margaret J Reichenbach, John Reichenbach, Timothy G Haydock, Barbara Moss's 
Submission in 
Accordance with Court Order dated January 14, 2016, as Amended, Court Order dated March 7, 2016 
and Court Order dated April 7, 2016 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

33 

34 

35 

36 

04/28/2016 Plaintiff Margaret J Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Motion for 37 
Reconsideration of Rulings and Order on Defendants' Threshold Burden 

04/28/2016 Opposition to paper#37.0 Plaintiffs' Motion for Reconsideration filed by Timothy G Haydock, Barbara 37.1 
Moss 

05/06/2016 Brief filed: Reply 38 
to Defendants' Submissions Pursuant to Court Order Dated January 14, 2016 as Amended, Court Order 
Dated March 7, 2016 and Court Order Dated April 7, 2016 

Applies To Reichenbach, Margaret J (Plaintiff); Reichenbach, John (Plaintiff) 

05/06/2016 Affidavit of Thomas W. Hardman 

05/06/2016 Affidavit of Michael E. Russell 

05/11/2016 Affidavit of Timothy Haydock 

05/11/2016 Affidavit of Barbara Moss 

06/20/2016 MEMORANDUM & ORDER: 

AND ORDER ON G.L. c. 231, Sec. 59H Motion to Dismiss; Based on the foregoing, this court DENIES in 
full defendants' Motion to Strike. 

07/12/2016 Plaintiff(s) John Reichenbach, Margaret J Reichenbach's EX PARTE Motion for a Real Estate 
Attachment 

07/12/2016 Margaret J Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Memorandum in support of 
Ex Pa rte Motion for Real Estate Attachment 

07/12/2016 General correspondence regard ing Hon. Merila A. Hopkins shown pleading #44 filed this morning, 
recuses herself as she personally knows the Defendants; file sent to FR Superior Court for review by 
Judge Dupuis for assignment to another justice (Hopkins, J. only civil judge sitting in NB) 

07/15/2016 Notice of appeal filed as to the decision and order denying their special motion to dismiss under 
G.L.c231, sec 59H entered on or about June 20, 2016 

Applies To Haydock, Timothy G (Defendant); Moss, Barbara (Defendant) 

07/18/2016 Endorsement on Motion for Plaintiffs' ex parte motion for attachment of real property of Defendant, 
Timothy Haydock (#44.0): Summons and Order of Notice to issue 
After review of the pleadings, an Order of Notice for real estate attachment to issue returnable @ New 
Bedford Superior Court in the Civil "B" Session on 7/28/2016@ 2:00 PM. 

39 

40 

41 

42 

43 

44 

44.1 

45 

0 
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0 
Image 

0 
Image 

0 
Image 
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Case Details - Massachusetts Trial Court NG 

07/19/2016 Event Result 
The following event Hearing on Ex Parte Motion for Attachment or real property scheduled for 
07/28/2016 02:00 PM has been resulted as follows: 
Result Rescheduled 
Reason: By Court prior to date 

07/19/2016 Notice ORDER issued, returnable 07/28/2016 02:00 PM Hearing on Motion for Attachment to show cause 
why a Real Estate Attachment shall not be issued. 

File Image 
Ref Avail. 
Nbr. 

07/20/2016 On 07/15/2016, Defendants' Timothy G. Haydock, and Barbara Moss filed a Notice to Appeal from the 46 
Final Judgment which was entered on 06/20/2016. Copy of Notice of Appeal mailed to Alty. Robert 
Feingold. 

07/25/2016 Attorney appearance 47 
On this date Daniel C Perry, Esq. added as Private Counsel for Defendant Timothy G. Haydock 

07/25/2016 Attorney appearance 
On this date Daniel C Perry, Esq. added as Private Counsel for Defendant Barbara Moss 

07/25/2016 Defendants Timothy G Haydock, Barbara Moss's EX PARTE Motion to continue I reschedule an event 48 
07/28/2016 02:00 PM Hearing on Equity Issue 

07/25/2016 Certificate of service of attorney or Pro Se: 49 

Robert B Feingold, Esq. 

07/25/2016 Attorney appearance 
On this date Neil Smola, Esq. added for Defendant Timothy G. Haydock 

07/25/2016 Attorney appearance 
On this date Neil Smola, Esq. added for Defendant Barbara Moss 

07/27/2016 Defendants Timothy G Haydock, Barbara Moss's Motion for 50 
Reconsideration of Memorandum of Decision and Order on G.L.c. 231 , s.59H Motion to Dismiss 

07/27/2016 Opposition to #50 Defendants' Motion for Reconsideration filed by Margaret J Reichenbach, John 50.1 
Reichenbach 

07/27/2016 Affidavit of compliance with Superior Court Rule 9A 50.2 

Applies To Perry, Esq., Daniel C (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G, Moss, Barbara (Defendant) 

07/27/2016 Event Result 
The following event Hearing on Motion for Attachment scheduled for 07/28/2016 02:00 PM has been 
resulted as follows: 
Result Rescheduled 
Reason: By Court prior to date 

08/01/2016 Objection to to Defendant's Request for leave to file a Reply Brief in Response to Plaintiffs' Opposition to 51 
Defendants' Motion for Reconsideration filed by Margaret J Reichenbach, John Reichenbach 

08/01/2016 Endorsement on Motion for Reconsideration of Memorandum of Decision and Order on G.L.c. 231 s.59H 
Motion to Dismiss (#50.0) DENIED 
The Motion for Reconsideration is Denied. The court adds one comment which is probably evident, the 
section on the "Complaint" served as it stated as "Background". 

08/09/2016 Plaintiffs Margaret J Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Assented to Motion to continue/ reschedule an 52 
event 08/09/2016 02:00 PM Hearing on Motion for Attachment 

08/09/2016 Event Result 
The following event Hearing on Motion for Attachment scheduled for 08/09/2016 02:00 PM has been 
resulted as follows: 
Result Rescheduled 
Reason: Joint request of parties 

08/09/2016 Endorsement on Motion to continue I reschedule an event (#52.0): ALLOWED 

08/09/2016 Timothy G Haydock, Barbara Moss's Memorandum in opposition to 
Plaintiffs' Motion for Real Estate Attachment 

08/09/2016 Affidavit of Defendant Timothy G. Haydock 

08/09/2016 Affidavit of of Defendant Barbar Moss 

08/09/2016 Affidavit of Samuel Haydock 

08/10/2016 Affidavit of Ann E. Sinton 

08/10/2016 Affidavit ofThomas W. Hardman 

08/10/2016 Affidavit of John Reichenbach in Support of Plaintiffs' Motion to Attach 
Second Affidavit 

53 

54 

55 

56 

57 

58 

59 
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08/11/2016 Matter taken under advisement 
The following event: Hearing on Motion for Attachment scheduled for 08/11/2016 12:00 PM has been 
resulted as follows: 
Result: Held - Under advisement 
Appeared: 
Attorney Perry, Esq., Daniel C 
Attorney Feingold, Esq., Robert B 

08/17/2016 Affidavit of Thomas W. Hardman, Registered Professional Land surveyor 

08/17/2016 Party(s) file Stipulation 
Defendant Timothy G. Haydock, hereby agrees not to encumber, transfer, assign or in any way convey 
his interest in any real estate in Bristol County MA in chich he has an ownership interest, until two 
business days after Ihle Court has notified the parties of its decision on said Plaintiffs' Motion for Real 
Property Attachment 

Applies To Perry, Esq., Daniel C (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant); Feingold, 
Esq., Robert B (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, Margaret J. (Plaintiff) 

08/19/2016 Defendants Timothy G Haydock, Barbara Moss's EMERGENCY Motion to 
Stay Discovery 

08/19/2016 Timothy G Haydock, Barbara Moss's Memorandum in support of 
Emergency Motion to Stay Discovery 

08/19/2016 Affidavit of compliance with Superior Court Rule 9C 

Applies To Perry, Esq., Daniel C (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G (Defendant) 

Nbr. 

60 

61 

62 

62.1 

62.2 

08/22/2016 Opposition to to Defendant's/Appellants' Emergency Motion to Stay Discovery filed by Margaret J 63 
Reichenbach, John Reichenbach 

08/22/2016 Endorsement on Motion to Stay Discovery (#62.0) Other action taken 
The deposition is stayed and plaintiff has till 8/30/16 to file an opposition. 

08/24/2016 Appeal: Party's Letter received re: no transcript on appeal 

Applies To Perry, Esq., Daniel C (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G (Defendant) 

09/18/2016 Endorsement on Motion to Stay Discovery (#62.0) DENIED 
After review and del beration the Motion to Stay Discovery is Denied. 

09/19/2016 MEMORANDUM & ORDER: 

64 

65 

0 
Image 

on Plaintiffs' Motion to Attach Property ..... For the foregoing reasons, it is therefore ORDERED that Image 
plaintiffs' motion to attach is to be DENIED. 

09/29/2016 Plaintiffs Margaret J Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's EMERGENCY Motion for 66 
Reconsideration of Denial of Plaintiffs' Motion for Real Estate Attachment Pursuant to Superior Court Rule 
9D and Rule 9A(e)(1) 

09/29/2016 Margaret J Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Memorandum in support of 66.1 
Motion for Reconsideration 

09/29/2016 Affidavit of John Reichenbach in Support 66.2 

09/30/2016 Endorsement on Motion for Reconsideration of Denial of Plaintiffs' Motion for Real Estate Attachment 
Pursuant to Superior Court Rule 9D and Rule 9A(e)(1) (#66.0) DENIED 
upon Review 

10/06/2016 Court received Copies of Defendants' Motion to Single Justice to Stay Proceedins in the Superior Court 
pending Appeal, Memorandum in Support and Record Appendix filed at Appeals Court related to appeal 

10/13/2016 Appeal Statement of the Case on Appeal (Cover Sheet). 

10/13/2016 Appeal: notice of assembly of record sent to Counsel 

10/13/2016 Notice to Clerk of the Appeals Court of Assembly of Record 

10/17/2016 Court received Appellants' Motion to Stay Deposition of Matthew Swimm related to appeal 

10/17/2016 Court received Plaintiffs' Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Single Justice to Stay 
Proceedings related to appeal 

10/19/2016 Notice of docket entry received from Appeals Court 
On October 14, 2016, the following order was entered on the docket of the above-referenced case: 

RE#1 : Denied. (Neyman, J.) *Notice/AttesVKane, J. 

10/26/2016 Appeal entered in Appeals Court on 10/24/2016 docket number 2016-P-1427 

67 

68 

69 

70 

71 

0 
'ge 

Image 

0 
Image 

0 
Image 
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01/10/2017 Attorney Daniel C Perry, Esq., Neil Smola, Esq.'s motion to withdraw as counsel of record for party 72 

Applies To Haydock, Timothy G (Defendant); Moss, Barbara (Defendant) 

01/10/2017 Opposition to to Defendants' Attorneys' Daniel C. Peny and Neil B. Smola to withdraw filed by Margaret J 72.1 
Reichenbach, John Reichenbach 

01/10/2017 Affidavit of compliance with Superior Court Rule 9A 

Applies To Perry, Esq., Daniel C (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G, Moss, Barbara (Defendant); 
Smola, Esq., Neil (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G, Moss, Barbara (Defendant) 

01/23/2017 The following fonn was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 01/23/2017 10:33:38 

04/03/2017 Event Result: 
The following event: Hearing on Withdrawal of Attorney scheduled for 04/06/2017 02:00 PM has been 
resulted as follows: 
Result: Canceled 
Reason: Request of Defendant 

73 

04/03/2017 Motion to withdraw/ waive paper #72.0 Motion of Daniel C. Perry and Neil B. Smola to Withdraw as 7 4 
Counsel 

Applies To Smola, Esq., Neil (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G., Moss, Barbara (Defendant) 

05/12/2017 Defendant Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Motion for 
Protective Order to Limit the Scope, Method and Number of Discovery 

05/12/2017 Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Protective Order to Limit Discovery filed by 

05/12/2017 Affidavit of compliance with Superior Court Rule 9A 

Applies To: Perry, Esq., Daniel C (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant) 

05/19/2017 ORDER: on Defendants' Motion for Protective Order 

05/26/2017 Defendant Timothy G. Haydock's Statement in 
Response to Order on Defendants' Motion for Protective Order 

06/02/2017 Plaintiff Margaret J. Reichenbach's Response to 
Court's Order on Defendants' Motion for Protective Order dated May 19, 2017 

07/24/2017 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Request for 
Hearing on Defendant's Motion for Protective Order 

08/18/2017 The following form was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 08/18/2017 09:56:59 

09/26/2017 Matter taken under advisement 
The following event: Motion Hearing scheduled for 09/26/2017 02:00 PM has been resulted as follows: 
Result: Held - Under advisement 
Appeared: 
Attorney Smola, Esq., Neil 
Attorney Feingold, Esq., Robert B 
Staff Appeared: 
Court Reporter Digital Recording Device Bris CV B 
Assistant Clerk Magistrate Fregault, Garrett 

09/26/2017 The following form was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 09/26/2017 14:58:00 

09/29/2017 Endorsement on motion for protective order (#75.0): DENIED 
After review of the statements of the parties as to the current status and proposed fu rther discovery and 
after hearing, the defendants' motion for protective order to limit the scope, method and number of 
discovery is DENIED. The court finds that the plaintiffs' further discovery as outlined is reasonably 
calculated to lead to the discovery of admiss ble evidence. 

It is further ordered, based on representations by the plaintiffs during the aforementioned hearing, that the 
plaintiff will depose either Anthony Frothingham or Tom Swift. 

Judge: Donatelle, Hon. Sharon 

75 

75.1 

75.2 

76 

77 

78 

79 
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10/04/2017 The following fonn was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 10/04/2017 09:43:53 

10/04/2017 The following fonn was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 10/04/2017 09:44:36 

10/04/2017 The following fonn was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 10/04/2017 09:45:56 

10/16/2017 General correspondence regarding case sent to New Bedford 

10/24/2017 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Assented to Motion to continue I reschedu le an 80 
event 10/25/2017 02:00 PM Conference to Review Status 

10/25/2017 Endorsement on Motion to continue I reschedule an event Review Status Conference (#80.0): a 
ALLOWED ,C, 

Judge: Fregault, Garrett R 

10/25/2017 Event Result: 
Judge: Fregault, Garrett R 
The following event: Conference to Review Status scheduled for 10/25/2017 02:00 PM has been resulted 
as follows: 
Result: Rescheduled 
Reason: Joint request of parties 

10/25/2017 The following form was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 10/25/2017 09:23:45 

11/20/2017 Event Result: 
Judge: Yessayan, Hon.RaffiN 
The following event: Conference to Review Status scheduled for 11/20/2017 02:00 PM has been resulted 
as follows: 
Result: Held as Scheduled 
Appeared: 
Attorney Perry, Esq., Daniel C 
Attorney Feingold, Esq., Robert B 
Staff Appeared: 
Court Reporter Digital Recording Device Bris CV B 
Assistant Clerk Magistrate Fregault, Garrett 

11/22/2017 The following form was generated: 

Notice to Appear for Final Pre-Trial Conference 
Sent On: 11/22/2017 14:56:59 

01/08/2018 Notice of docket entry received from Appeals Court 81 
Please take note that, with respect to the PETITION for Rehearing filed for Timothy G. Haydock and 
Barbara Moss by Attorney Daniel Perry. (Paper #28), on January 8, 2018, the following order was entered 
on the docket: 
RE#28: The petition for rehearing having been considered, it is ordered that the petition be, and the same 
hereby is, denied. (Wolohojian, Agnes, Wendlandt, JJ.) 

01/10/2018 Notice of docket entry received from Supreme Judicial Court 82 
On January 10, 2018, the following application for further appellate review was filed in the above-
referenced case: FAR APPLICATION filed for Timothy G. Haydock and Barbara Moss by Attorney Daniel 
Perry. 

03/01/2018 Notice of docket entry received from Supreme Judicial Court 83 
NOTICE OF DENIAL OF F.A.R. APPLICATION 
Please take note that on March 2, 2018, the above - captioned Application for Further Appellate Review 
was denied. 

03/07/2018 Rescript received from Appeals Court; judgment AFFIRMED . 
Order denying special motion to dismiss affinned. 

06/21/2018 Victim Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Motion to 
Allow Plaintiffs to Conduct Additional Discovery 

06/21/2018 Opposition to Motion to Allow Plaintiffs to Conduct Additional Discovery filed by Timothy G. Haydock, 
Barbara Moss 

84 

85 

85.1 
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06/21/2018 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Reply to 
Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion to Allow Additional Discovery 

06/21/2018 Certificate of Compliance Superior Court Rule 9C 

06/21/2018 The following form was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 06/21/2018 11 :05:00 

06/29/2018 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Assented to Motion to continue/ reschedule an 
event 07/12/2018 02:00 PM Motion Hearing 

07/02/2018 Endorsement on Motion to continue/ reschedule an event (#86.0): ALLOWED 
by agreement. 

Judge: Fregault, Garrett R 

07/02/2018 Event Result: : Motion Hearing scheduled on: 
07/12/2018 02:00 PM 

Has been: Rescheduled For the following reason: Joint request of parties 
Hon. Renee P Dupuis, Presiding 

Judge: Dupuis, Hon. Renee P 

07/02/2018 The following form was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 07/02/2018 11 :21 :01 

07/19/2018 Matter taken under advisement: Motion Hearing scheduled on: 
07/19/2018 02:00 PM 

Has been: Held - Under advisement 
Hon. Renee P Dupuis, Presiding 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 
Neil Smola, Esq., 

Staff: 
Erin Tierney, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Recording Device Bris CV B, Court Reporter 

07/19/2018 02:00 PM 

Judge: Dupuis, Hon. Renee P 

Judge: Dupuis, Hon. Renee P 

07/20/2018 Endorsement on Motion to Allow Plaintiffs to Conduct Additional Discovery (#85.0): ALLOWED 
After hearing, motion to conduct additional discovery is ALLOWED. 

Judge: Dupuis, Hon. Renee P 

09/17/2018 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Assented to Motion to Extend Discovery Deadline 

09/18/2018 Endorsement on Motion to Extend Discovery Deadline (#87.0) ALLOWED 
by agreement. Case taken off the trial list. 

Judge: Dupuis, Hon. Renee P 

09/19/2018 Event Result: : Final Trial Conference scheduled on: 
02/04/2019 02:00 PM 

Has been: Canceled For the following reason: Joint request of parties 
Hon. Renee P Dupuis, Presiding 

Judge: Dupuis, Hon. Renee P 

09/19/2018 Event Result: : Jury Trial scheduled on: 
03/04/2019 09:00 AM 

Has been: Canceled For the following reason: Joint request of parties 
Hon. Renee P Dupuis, Presiding 

Judge: Dupuis, Hon. Renee P 

09/19/2018 The following form was generated: 

Amended Tracking Order 
Sent On: 09/19/2018 08:43:47 

File Image 
Ref Avail. 
Nbr. 

85.2 0 
85.3 
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12/17/2018 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Submission of 
Opposition to Plaintiffs' Objection to Interrogatories Propounded by Defendants and Defendants' Motion 
for Leave of Court to Serve Interrogatories 

12/18/2018 Endorsement on Submission of Opposition to Plaintitrs Objection to Interrogatories Propounded by 
Defendants and Defendants' Motion for Leave of Court to Serve Interrogatories (#88.0): No Action Taken 
No action taken at this time as the instant motion was not served and filed pursuant to Sup. Ct. R. 9A. 

Judge: Fregault, Garrett R 

12/18/2018 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Motion to 
Strike Objections and Compel Further Responses to Requests for Production from Defendants Timothy 
Haydock and Barbra Moss 

12/18/2018 Margaret J. Reichenbach's Memorandum in support of 
Motion to Strike Objections and Compel Further Responses to Requests for Production of Documents 
from Defendants Timothy Haydock and Barbara Moss 

12/18/2018 Opposition to Plaintitrs Motion to Strike Objections and Compel Further Responses to Requests for 
Production of Documents From Defendants Timothy Haydock and Barbara Moss filed by Timothy G. 
Haydock, Barbara Moss 

12/18/2018 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Reply to 
Defendants' Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion to Str ke Objections and Compel Further Responses to 
Requests for Production of Documents from Defendants Timothy Haydock and Barbara Moss 

12/18/2018 Certificate of Compliance Superior Court Rule 9C 

12/18/2018 Attorney appearance 
On th is date Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq. added as Private Counsel for Plaintiff Margaret J. 
Reichenbach 

12/18/2018 Attorney appearance 
On th is date Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq. added as Private Counsel for Plaintiff John Reichenbach 

12/19/2018 The following form was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 12/19/2018 15:30:07 

01/18/2019 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Assented to Motion to continue/ reschedule an 
event 01/22/2019 02:00 PM Motion Hearing 

01/22/2019 Endorsement on Motion to Reschedule Hearing on Plaintiffs' Motion to Strike Objections and Compel 
Further Responses to Requests for Production of Documents (#90.0): ALLOWED 

Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 

01/22/2019 Event Result:: Motion Hearing scheduled on: 
01/22/2019 02:00 PM 

Has been: Rescheduled For the following reason: Joint request of parties 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Appeared: 
Staff: 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Recording Device Bris CV B, Court Reporter 

01/22/2019 The following form was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 01/22/2019 09:06:07 

File 
Ref 
Nbr. 

88 

89 

89.1 

89.2 

89.3 

89.4 

90 

02/06/2019 Opposition to (#88) to Plaintiffs' Objection to Interrogatories Propounded by Defendants and Defendants' 91 
Motion for Leave of Court to Serve Interrogatories filed by Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss 

02/06/2019 Opposition to (#91) to Defendants' Opposition to Plaintiffs' Objection to Interrogatories Propounded by 92 
Defendants and Defendants' Motion for Leave of Court to Serve Interrogatories filed by Margaret J. 
Reichenbach, John Reichenbach 

02/12/2019 Matter taken under advisement: Motion Hearing scheduled on: 
02/12/2019 02:00 PM 

Has been: Held - Under advisement 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 
Daniel C Perry, Esq., Private Counsel 

Staff: 
Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
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02/12/2019 02:00 PM 
Digital Recording Device Bris CV B, Court Reporter 

02/12/2019 02:00 PM 

02/13/2019 Endorsement on Motion for Leave of Court to Serve Interrogatories (#91 .0): ALLOWED 

Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 

02/13/2019 ORDER: on the Plaintiffs' Motion to Str ke Objections and to Compel 

Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 

03/18/2019 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Assented to, Joint Motion to extend tracking 
deadline(s) 

03/20/2019 The following form was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 03/20/2019 14:13:28 

03/28/2019 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Request for 
Rule 16 Conference Addressing Discovery of Electronically Stored Information 

03/28/2019 The following form was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 03/28/2019 15:05:50 

03/28/2019 Event Result: : Rule 16 Conference scheduled on: 
04/02/2019 02:00 PM 

Has been: Rescheduled For the following reason: Joint request of parties 
Hon. Raffi N Yessayan, Presiding 
Appeared: 
Staff: 

Jennifer A Sullivan, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Record ing Device Bris CV A, Court Reporter 

04/16/2019 Event Result: : Rule 16 Conference scheduled on: 
04/18/2019 02:00 PM 

Has been: Rescheduled For the following reason: By Court prior to date 
Hon. Raffi N Yessayan, Presiding 

04/16/2019 The following form was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 04/16/2019 15:08:23 

04/17/2019 Opposition to #95 Plaintiffs' Request for a Conference Regarding Electronically Stored Information filed 
by Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss 

04/24/2019 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Assented to Motion to continue / reschedule an 
event 04/30/2019 02:00 PM Rule 16 Conference 

04/24/2019 Endorsement on Motion to continue/ reschedule an event (#97.0): ALLOWED 
by agreement as requested. 

Judge: Yessayan, Hon.Raffi N 

04/24/2019 Event Result: : Rule 16 Conference scheduled on: 
04/30/2019 02:00 PM 

Has been: Rescheduled For the following reason: Joint request of parties 
Hon. Raffi N Yessayan, Presiding 
Staff: 

Jennifer A Sullivan, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Record ing Device Bris CV A, Court Reporter 

04/25/2019 The following form was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 04/25/2019 10:36:03 

05/20/2019 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Reply to 
Defendants' Objection to Plaintiffs' Request for a Rule 16 Conference 

05/21/2019 Plaintiff Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Submission of 
ESI Protocol. 

05/21/2019 Event Result: : Rule 16 Conference scheduled on: 
05/21/2019 02:00 PM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Hon. Raffi N Yessayan, Presiding 
Staff: 
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Jennifer A Sullivan, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Recording Device Bris CV A, Court Reporter 

05/21/2019 The following fonn was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 05/21/2019 15:36:43 

05/21/2019 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Submission of 
Proposed Revised Scheduling Order 

05/22/2019 The following form was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 05/22/2019 10:26:49 

06/03/2019 Event Result: : Conference to Review Status scheduled on: 
06/03/2019 02:00 PM 

Has been: Rescheduled For the following reason: Request of Defendant 
Hon. Raffi N Yessayan, Presiding 
Staff: 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Record ing Device Bris CV A, Court Reporter 

06/04/2019 Event Result: : Conference to Review Status scheduled on: 
06/12/2019 02:00 PM 

Has been: Rescheduled For the following reason: Joint request of parties 
Hon. Raffi N Yessayan, Presiding 
Staff: 

Jennifer A Sullivan, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Record ing Device Bris CV A, Court Reporter 

06/11/2019 Event Result: : Conference to Review Status scheduled on: 
06/11 /2019 02:00 PM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Hon. Raffi N Yessayan, Presiding 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 
Neil Smola, Esq., 

Staff: 
Jennifer A Sullivan, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Record ing Device Bris CV A, Court Reporter 

06/19/2019 Event Result: : Conference to Review Status scheduled on: 
06/19/2019 02:00 PM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Hon. Raffi N Yessayan, Presiding 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 
Neil Smola, Esq., 

Staff: 
Jennifer A Sullivan, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Record ing Device Bris CV A, Court Reporter 

06/19/2019 The following form was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 06/19/2019 15:26:02 

07/11/2019 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach's EMERGENCY Motion to 
Shorten Time for Defendants to Answer Interrogatories 

07/11/2019 Margaret J. Reichenbach's Memorandum in support of 
Motion to Shorten Time for Defendants to Answer Interrogatories 

07/17/2019 Event Result: : Conference to Review Status scheduled on: 
07/17/2019 02:00 PM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Comments ORDER FOR PRESERVATION OF ALL ELECTRONIC DEVICES MADE ON THE RECORD 
ON THIS DATE (Yessayan, J.) 
Hon. Raffi N Yessayan, Presiding 
Staff: 

Jennifer A Sullivan, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Record ing Device Bris CV A, Court Reporter 
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07/17/2019 The following fonn was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 07/17/2019 14:49:32 

07/17/2019 The following fonn was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 07/17/2019 15:17:45 

07/22/2019 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Motion for 102 
Leave to Take Depositions of Gregor I. McGregor, Esq. and Luke H. Legere, Esq. 

07/22/2019 Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Memorandum in support of Motion for Leave to Take 102.1 
Depositions 

07/22/2019 Opposition to #102 Plaintiffs' Motion for Leave to Take Depositions filed by Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara 102.2 
Moss 

07/22/2019 Certificate of Compliance Superior Court Rule 9C 102.3 

Applies To: Feingold, Esq., Robert B (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, John, Reichenbach, Margaret 
J. (Plaintiff) 

07/24/2019 Attorney appearance 
On this date Melissa Cook Allison, Esq. added as Private Counsel for Defendant Timothy G. Haydock 

07/24/2019 Attorney appearance 
On this date Samuel Dinning, Esq. added as Private Counsel for Defendant Timothy G. Haydock 

07/24/2019 Attorney appearance 
On this date Melissa Cook Allison, Esq. added as Private Counsel for Defendant Barbara Moss 

07/24/2019 Attorney appearance 
On this date Samuel Dinning, Esq. added as Private Counsel for Defendant Barbara Moss 

07/25/2019 Attorney appearance 
On this date Neil Smola, Esq. dismissed/withdrawn for Defendant Timothy G. Haydock 

07/25/2019 Attorney appearance 
On this date Daniel C Perry, Esq. dismissed/withdrawn as Private Counsel for Defendant Timothy G. 
Haydock 

07/25/2019 Attorney appearance 
On this date Neil Smola, Esq. dismissed/withdrawn for Defendant Barbara Moss 

07/25/2019 Attorney appearance 
On this date Daniel C Perry, Esq. dismissed/withdrawn as Private Counsel for Defendant Barbara Moss 

08/26/2019 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock's Motion to 
Adopt Defendants' Protocol for ESI Discovery 

08/26/2019 Timothy G. Haydock's Memorandum in support of 
Motion to Adopt Defendants' Protocol for ESI Discovery 

08/26/2019 Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Adopt Defendants' Protocol for ESI Discovery filed by Margaret J. 
Reichenbach 

08/26/2019 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock's Reply to 
Plaintiffs' Opposition to Motion to Adopt Protocol for ESI Discovery 

08/26/2019 Defendant Barbara Moss's Response to 
Plaintiffs' First Set of Interrogatories Propounded on Defendant, Barbara Moss 

08/26/2019 Defendant Timothy G. Haydock's Response to 
Plaintiffs' First Set of Interrogatories Propounded on Defendant, Timothy Haydock 

08/26/2019 Certificate of Compliance Superior Court Rule 9C 

08/26/2019 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach'sAssented to Motion to continue I reschedule an event 08/27/2019 
02:00 PM Hearing RE Discovery Motion(s) 

08/26/2019 Endorsement on Motion to continue I reschedule an event (#106.0): ALLOWED 
Motion Allowed 

Judge: Yessayan, Hon.RaffiN 

08/26/2019 Event Result:: Hearing RE: Discovery Motion(s) scheduled on: 
08/27/2019 02:00 PM 

Has been: Rescheduled For the following reason: Joint request of parties 
Hon. Raffi N Yessayan, Presiding 
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08/26/2019 The following fonn was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 08/26/2019 11 :27:31 

08/26/2019 Event Result:: Hearing RE: Discovery Motion(s) scheduled on: 
09/04/2019 02:00 PM 

Has been: Rescheduled For the following reason: Transferred to another session 
Hon. Ratti N Yessayan, Presiding 

09/04/2019 Event Result:: Hearing RE: Discovery Motion(s) scheduled on: 
09/04/2019 02:00 PM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Hon. Ratti N Yessayan, Presiding 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 
Melissa Cook Allison, Esq., Private Counsel 

Staff: 
Jennifer A Sullivan, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Dina Swanson, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Recording Device Bris CV A, Court Reporter 

09/25/2019 Event Result:: Hearing RE: Discovery Motion(s) scheduled on: 
09/25/2019 11:00AM 

Has been: Rescheduled For the following reason: Joint request of parties 
Hon. Ratti N Yessayan, Presiding 
Staff: 

Jennifer A Sullivan, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Dina Swanson, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Recording Device Bris CV A, Court Reporter 

09/25/2019 The following fonn was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 09/25/2019 11 :09:15 

10/07/2019 Event Result:: Hearing RE: Discovery Motion(s) scheduled on: 
10/07/2019 03:00 PM 

Has been: Not Held For the following reason: Joint request of parties 
Hon. Ratti N Yessayan, Presiding 
Staff: 

Jennifer A Sullivan, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Recording Device Bris CV A, Court Reporter 

10/07/2019 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Joint Submission of 
Proposed Order Regarding ESI Discovery 

10/29/2019 Endorsement on Submission of Joint Proposed Order Regard ing ESI Discovery (#107.0): ALLOWED 
See Revised Scheduling Order. 

Judge:Yessayan, Hon.Raffi N 

10/29/2019 ORDER: Revised Scheduling Order 

Judge: Yessayan, Hon.Raffi N 

12/19/2019 Plaintiffs(s) Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach motion filed to compel Further Answers to 
Interrogatories from Defendant Haydock and Moss 

12/19/2019 Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Memorandum in support of Motion to Compel Further 
Answers 

12/19/2019 Opposition to #109 Plaintiffs' Motion to Compel Further Answers filed by Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara 
Moss 

12/19/2019 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Reply to 
Defendants' Opposition 

12/19/2019 Certificate of Compliance Superior Court Rule 9C 

Applies To: Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Heather Marie (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, John, Reichenbach, 
Margaret J. (Plaintiff) 

01/06/2020 The following form was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
on February 19, 2020 for #19 Plaintiffs Motion to Compel Further Answers to Interrogatories from 
Defendants Haydock and Moss 
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Sent to: 
Sent On: 01/06/2020 12:46:50 

Applies To Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Heather Marie (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, Margaret J. 
(Plaintiff); Allison, Esq., Melissa Cook (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant); Feingold, 
Esq., Robert B (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, Margaret J. (Plaintiff); Dinning, Esq., Samuel 
(Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant) 

01/27/2020 Attorney appearance 
On this date Heidi A Nadel, Esq. added as Private Counsel for Plaintiff Margaret J. Reichenbach 

01/27/2020 Attorney appearance 
On th is date Heidi A Nadel, Esq. added as Private Counsel for Plaintiff John Reichenbach 

02/18/2020 General correspondence regarding objection to advancing the oral argument on February 19, 2020. 

02/19/2020 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock's Motion to 
Compel Responses to First Set of Interrogatories Propounded by Defendants on Plaintiffs Margaret J. 
Reichenbach and John Reichenbach 

02/19/2020 Timothy G. Haydock's Memorandum in support of 
Motion to Compel Responses to the First Set of Interrogatories Propounded by Defendants on Plaintiffs 
Margaret J. Reichenbach and John Reichenbach 

02/19/2020 Opposition to Motion to Compel filed by Margaret J. Reichenbach 

02/19/2020 Matter taken under advisement: Motion Hearing to Compel scheduled on: 
02/19/2020 02:00 PM 

Has been: Held - Under advisement 
Hon. Elaine M Buckley, Presiding 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 
Samuel Dinning, Esq., Private Counsel 

Staff: 
Jennifer A Sullivan, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Recording Device Bris CV B, Court Reporter 

02/20/2020 Endorsement on Motion to Compel Further Answers to Interrogatories from Defendants Haydock and 
Moss (#109.0) ALLOWED 
After hearing and upon review of the motion and memorandum the Court allows the motion. The Court 
finds that this evidence is discoverable and is relevant to the subject matter involved in the pending 
litigation. The Defendant to bear the cost of providing the information. Defendant shall have until 
3/20/2020 to produce the documents requested. 

Judge: Buckley, Hon. Elaine M 

02/20/2020 Endorsement on Motion to Compel Responses to First Set of Interrogatories Propounded by Defendants 
on Plaintiffs (#112.0): ALLOWED 
After hearing, Allowed. See FTR for oral ruling. 

Judge: Buckley, Hon. Elaine M 

02/21/2020 ORDER: Procedural Order 

02/28/2020 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Joint Motion to 
revise scheduling order 

03/02/2020 Endorsement on Motion to Revise Scheduling Order (#114.0) ALLOWED 
by agreement. 

Judge: Buckley, Hon. Elaine M 

05/04/2020 Witness Michael O'Reilly's's Assented to Motion to 
Plaintiffs' Motion for Protective Order to Prevent Defendants from retaking the completed Deposition of 
Michael O'Reilly and other Previously -Completed Depositions 

05/06/2020 Attorney appearance 
On th is date Anthony C Savastano, Esq. added for Other interested party Michael O'Reilly's 

05/20/2020 Plaintiffs(s) Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach motion filed for protective order to Prevent 
Defendants from Retaking Completed Deposition of Michael O'Reilly and Other Previously-Completed 
Depositions 

05/20/2020 Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Memorandum in support of Motion for Protective Order 
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05/20/2020 Other Interested Party Michael O'Reilly's's Submission of 
Assent to Plaintiffs' Motion for Protective Order 

05/20/2020 Opposition to #116 Plaintiffs' Motion for Protective Order filed by Barbara Moss, Timothy G. Haydock 

05/20/2020 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Reply in 
Support of Motion for Protective Order 

05/20/2020 Certificate of Compliance Superior Court Rule 9C 

Applies To: Feingold, Esq., Robert B (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, John, Reichenbach, Margaret 
J . (Plaintiff) 

05/26/2020 Request for hearing filed 

Applies To: Feingold, Esq., Robert B (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, John, Reichenbach, Margaret 
J . (Plaintiff); Dinning, Esq., Samuel (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G., Moss, Barbara 
(Defendant) 

07/16/2020 Event Result:: Hearing for Protective Order scheduled on: 
07/16/2020 11 :00 AM 

Has been: Held via Video Conference 
Hon. Raffi N Yessayan, Presid ing 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heidi A Nadel, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 
Samuel Dinning, Esq., Private Counsel 

Other interested party 
Anthony C Savastano, Esq., 

Staff: 
Jennifer A Sullivan, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Recording Device Bris CV A, Court Reporter 

07/16/2020 Endorsement on Motion for Protective Order to prevent defendants from retaking the completed 
deposition of Michael O'Reilly and other previous completed depositions (#116.0): ALLOWED 
After hearing, the motion is allowed, for the reasons staled on the record and in plaintiffs memorandum 

Judge: Yessayan, Hon.RaffiN 

10/09/2020 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Motion to extend tracking deadline(s) 

10/09/2020 Endorsement on Motion to extend tracking deadline(s) (#118.0): ALLOWED 
Scheduling order shall be amended as proposed herein. 

Judge: Dupuis, Hon. Renee P 

11/16/2020 Defendants(s) Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss motion filed to compel Production of Documents 
Wrongly Withheld as Work Product 

11/16/2020 Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Memorandum in support of Motion to Compel 

11/16/2020 Opposition to #119 Defendants' Motion to Compel filed by Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach 

11/16/2020 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Reply in 
Support of Motion to Compel 

11/16/2020 Certificate of Compliance Superior Court Rule 9C 

Applies To: Dinning, Esq., Samuel (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G , Moss, Barbara 
(Defendant) 

11/20/2020 The following form was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 11/20/2020 15:26:59 
Notice Sent To: Robert B Feingold, Esq. Robert B. Feingold & Associates, P.C . 700 Pleasant St 5th Floor, 
New Bedford, MA02742-6254 
Notice Sent To: Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq. Robert B. Feingold & Associates, P.C . 700 Pleasant 
St Suite 520, New Bedford, MA 02740 
Notice Sent To: Heid i A Nadel, Esq. Holland & Knight LLP 601 SW Second Ave Suite 1800, Portland, OR 
97204 
Notice Sent To: Melissa Cook Allison, Esq. Anderson & Kreiger LLP Anderson and Kreiger LLP 50 Milk 
Street 21st Floor, Boston, MA 02109 
Notice Sent To: Samuel Dinning, Esq. Anderson & Kreiger LLP 50 Milk St 21st Floor, Boston, MA 02109 
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11/20/2020 The following fonn was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 11/20/2020 15:28:31 
Notice Sent To: Robert B Feingold, Esq Robert B. Feingold & Associates, P.C. 700 Pleasant St 5th Floor, 
New Bedford, MA 02742-6254 
Notice Sent To: Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq. Robert B. Feingold & Associates, P.C. 700 Pleasant 
St Suite 520, New Bedford, MA02740 
Notice Sent To: Heidi A Nadel, Esq. Holland & Knight LLP 601 SW Second Ave Suite 1800, Portland, OR 
97204 
Notice Sent To: Melissa Cook All ison, Esq. Anderson & Kreiger LLP Anderson and Kreiger LLP 50 Milk 
Street 21st Floor, Boston, MA 02109 
Notice Sent To: Samuel Dinning, Esq Anderson & Kreiger LLP 50 Milk St 21st Floor, Boston, MA 02109 

01/11/2021 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's EMERGENCY Motion to continue/ reschedule 
an event 01/12/2021 02:00 PM Motion Hearing to Compel 

01/11/2021 Endorsement on Motion to continue I reschedule an event (#120.0): ALLOWED 
Next available date after January 18, 2021 shall identified and the matter rescheduled 

Judge: McGuire, Jr., Hon. Thomas F 

01/12/2021 Event Result:: Motion Hearing to Compel scheduled on: 
01/12/2021 02:00 PM 

Has been: Rescheduled For the following reason: Request of Plaintiff 
Hon. Thomas F McGuire, Jr., Presiding 
Staff: 

Jennifer A Sullivan, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Recording Device Bris CV A, Court Reporter 

01/13/2021 The following form was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 01/13/2021 14:37:14 
Notice Sent To: Robert B Feingold, Esq. Robert B. Feingold & Associates, PC 700 Pleasant St 5th Floor, 
New Bedford, MA02742-6254 
Notice Sent To: Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq. Robert B. Feingold & Associates, P.C. 700 Pleasant 
St Suite 520, New Bedford, MA 02740 
Notice Sent To: Heidi A Nadel, Esq. Holland & Knight LLP 601 SW Second Ave Suite 1800, Portland, OR 
97204 
Notice Sent To: Melissa Cook Allison, Esq. Anderson & Kreiger LLP Anderson and Kreiger LLP 50 Milk 
Street 21st Floor, Boston, MA 02109 
Notice Sent To: Samuel Dinning, Esq. Anderson & Kreiger LLP 50 Milk St 21st Floor, Boston, MA 02109 
Notice Sent To: Anthony C Savastano, Esq. Attorney at Law PC 404 County St, New Bedford, MA 027 40 

01/21/2021 Plaintiffs(s) Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach motion filed to compel further production of 
documents from Defendants Timothy Haydock and Barbara Moss 

01/21/2021 Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Memorandum in support of their motion to compel further 
production of documents from Defendants Timothy Haydock and Barbara Moss 

01/21/2021 Opposition to (#121 ) to Plaintiffs' motion to compel further production of documents and request for fees 
filed by Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss 

01/21/2021 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Reply to 
Defendants' opposition to Plaintiffs' motion to compel further production of documents and request for 
fees 

01/21/2021 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Motion to str ke 
Plaintiffs' motion to compel further production of documents as untimely 

01/21/2021 Opposition to (#121.4) Defendants' motion to str ke Plaintiffs' motion to compel further production of 
documents as untimely filed by Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach 

01/21/2021 Certificate of Compliance Superior Court Rule 9A 

Applies To: Feingold, Esq., Robert B (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, Margaret J. (Plaintiff) 

01/21/2021 Certificate of Compliance Superior Court Rule 9C 

Applies To: Feingold, Esq., Robert B (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, Margaret J. (Plaintiff) 

02/08/2021 The following form was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 02/08/2021 09:32:40 
Notice Sent To: Robert B Feingold, Esq. Robert B. Feingold & Associates, PC 700 Pleasant St 5th Floor, 
New Bedford, MA02742-6254 
Notice Sent To: Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq. Robert B. Feingold & Associates, P.C. 700 Pleasant 
St Suite 520, New Bedford, MA 02740 
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Notice Sent To: Heidi A Nadel, Esq. Holland & Knight LLP 601 SW Second Ave Suite 1800, Portland, OR 
97204 
Notice Sent To: Melissa Cook All ison, Esq. Anderson & Kreiger LLP Anderson and Kreiger LLP 50 Milk 
Street 21st Floor, Boston, MA 02109 
Notice Sent To: Samuel Dinning, Esq Anderson & Kreiger LLP 50 Milk St 21st Floor, Boston, MA 02109 

02/18/2021 Matter taken under advisement: Motion Hearing to Compel scheduled on: 
02/18/202111:00AM 

Has been: Held - Under advisement 
Hon. Thomas F McGuire, Jr., Presiding 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 

Staff: 

Melissa Cook Allison, Esq., Private Counsel 
Samuel Dinning, Esq., Private Counsel 

Jennifer A Sullivan, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Recording Device Bris CV A, Court Reporter 

Nbr. 

04/20/2021 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Motion to strike 122 
Jury Demands 

04/20/2021 Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Memorandum in support of Motion to Strike Jury 122.1 
Demands 

04/20/2021 Opposition to #122 Plaintiffs' Motion to Sir ke Jury Demands filed by Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss 122.2 

04/20/2021 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Reply to 122.3 
Defendants' Opposition 

04/20/2021 Certificate of Compliance Superior Court Rule 9C 122.4 

Applies To: Feingold, Esq., Robert B (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, John, Reichenbach, Margaret 
J. (Plaintiff) 

05/12/2021 The following form was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 05/12/2021 09:23:59 
Notice Sent To: Robert B Feingold, Esq. Robert B. Feingold and Associates, P.C. 700 Pleasant St 5th 
Floor, New Bedford, MA 027 42-6254 
Notice Sent To: Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq. Robert B. Feingold and Associates, P.C. 700 
Pleasant St Suite 520, New Bedford, MA 02740 
Notice Sent To: Heidi A Nadel, Esq. Holland and Knight LLP 601 SW Second Ave Suite 1800, Portland, 
OR 97204 
Notice Sent To: Melissa Cook Allison, Esq. Anderson and Kreiger LLP Anderson and Kreiger LLP 50 Milk 
Street 21st Floor, Boston, MA 02109 
Notice Sent To: Samuel Dinning, Esq. Anderson and Kreiger LLP 50 Mi k St 21st Floor, Boston, MA 
02109 
Notice Sent To: Anthony C Savastano, Esq. Attorney at Law PC 404 County St, New Bedford, MA 027 40 

06/14/2021 Attorney appearance 123 
On th is date Heidi A Nadel, Esq. dismissed/withdrawn as Private Counsel for Plaintiff Margaret J. 
Reichenbach 

06/14/2021 Attorney appearance 123 
On th is date Heidi A Nadel, Esq. dismissed/withdrawn as Private Counsel for Plaintiff John Reichenbach 

06/21/2021 MEMORANDUM & ORDER: 124 

on Plaintiffs' Motion to Compel Production of Documents .. .The plaintiffs' motion to compel production of 
the disputed twenty-eight emails from the defendants (Paper #121) is ALLOWED. The defendants shall 
produce the emails within thirty days. The defendants' request for attorney's fees (Paper #121.2) is 
DENIED. 

Judge: McGuire, Jr., Hon. Thomas F 

06/21/2021 MEMORANDUM & ORDER: 

on Defendants' Motion to Compel Production of Documents ... The defendants' motion to compel 
production of emails (Paper #119) is ALLOWED IN PART The plaintiffs shall produce the following 
emails, as listed on Exhibit C-3 attached to the defendants' memorandum of law, within thirty days:. 

Judge: McGuire, Jr., Hon. Thomas F 
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06/21/2021 ORDER: on Defendants' Motion to Strike Plaintiffs' Motion to Compel Production of Documents 

Judge: McGuire, Jr., Hon. Thomas F 

06/22/2021 Event Result:: Hearing: Strike scheduled on: 
07/27/2021 10:00 AM 

Has been: Rescheduled For the following reason: Joint request of parties 
Hon. William M White, Jr., Presiding 
Staff: 

Dina Swanson, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Record ing Device Bris CV B, Court Reporter 

06/22/2021 The following form was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 06/22/2021 11 :31 :07 
Notice Sent To: Robert B Feingold, Esq. Robert B. Feingold and Associates, P.C. 700 Pleasant St 5th 
Floor, New Bedford, MA 027 42-6254 
Notice Sent To: Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq. Robert B. Feingold and Associates, P.C. 700 
Pleasant St Suite 520, New Bedford, MA 02740 
Notice Sent To: Melissa Cook Allison, Esq. Anderson and Kreiger LLP Anderson and Kreiger LLP 50 Milk 
Street 21st Floor, Boston, MA 02109 
Notice Sent To: Samuel Dinning, Esq. Anderson and Kreiger LLP 50 Mi k St 21st Floor, Boston, MA 
02109 
Notice Sent To: Anthony C Savastano, Esq. Attorney at Law PC 404 County St, New Bedford, MA 027 40 

07/09/2021 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Motion to Stay Order Requiring Production of 
Documents 

07/09/2021 Affidavit of compliance with Superior Court Rule 9A 

Applies To: Dinning, Esq., Samuel (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G , Moss, Barbara 
(Defendant) 

07/13/2021 Endorsement on Motion to Stay Order Requiring Production of Documents (#127.0): No Action Taken 
failure to comply with Superior Court Rule 9A. 

Judge: White, Jr., Hon. William M 

07/16/2021 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Motion to Stay Order Requiring Production of 
Documents 

07/16/2021 Affidavit 

of Heather M. Bonnet-Hebert 

07/16/2021 Affidavit 

of Compliance with Superior Court Rule 9A 

07/20/2021 Endorsement on Motion to Stay Order Requiring Production of Documents (#128.0): ALLOWED 
Upon review and without opposition, ALLOWED. The Production of Documents is stayed for a period of 
thirty (30) days. 

Judge: White, Jr., Hon. William M 

07/22/2021 Notice of docket entry received from Appeals Court 
Please take note that on July 21, 2021, the following entry was made on the docket of the above­
referenced case: 
Petition pursuant to G.L. c. 231, s. 118 filed for Timothy G. Haydock and Barbara Moss by Attorney 
Samuel Dinning. 

07/23/2021 Notice of docket entry received from Appeals Court 
Please take note that, with respect to the Petition pursuant to G.L. c. 231 , s. 118 filed for Timothy G. 
Haydock and Barbara Moss by Attorney Samuel Dinning. (Paper #1 ), on July 23, 2021 , the following 
order was entered on the docket of the above-referenced case: 

RE#1 : Proceedings on the defendants' petition are stayed pending the outcome of the defendants' motion 
for reconsideration in the Superior Court. A status report is due on or before 08/22/2021 regarding the 
disposition of the motion for reconsideration. 'Notice/Attest/McGuire, J. 

07/23/2021 Defendants Barbara Moss, Timothy G. Haydock's Motion for 
Reconsideration of the Court's Orders with Respect to the Parties' Motions to Compel 

07/23/2021 Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Memorandum of Law in Support of Defendants' Motion for 
Reconsideration 

07/23/2021 Opposition to (#131) to Defendants' Motion for Reconsideration of the Court's Orders with Respect to the 
Parties' Motions to Compel filed by Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach 
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07/23/2021 Reply/Sur-reply 

Defendants' Reply in Support of Motion for Reconsideration 

Applies To Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant); Moss, Barbara (Defendant) 

07/23/2021 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Certificate of 
Notice of Filing 

07/23/2021 Court received Defendants' Petition for Single Justice Review related to appeal 

07/27/2021 Endorsement on Motion for reconsideration of the Court's orders with respect to the parties' motions to 
compel (#131 .0): DENIED 

Judge: McGuire, Jr., Hon. Thomas F 

08/02/2021 Court received Plaintiffs' Response to Defendants' Petition for Interlocutory Review related to appeal 

08/17/2021 Event Result:: Hearing: Strike scheduled on: 
08/17/2021 10:00 AM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Hon. William M White, Jr. , Presiding 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 

Staff: 

Melissa Cook Allison, Esq., Private Counsel 
Samuel Dinning, Esq., Private Counsel 

Dina Swanson, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
08/17/202110:00 AM 

Digital Recording Device Bris CV B, Court Reporter 
08/17/202110:00 AM 

08/17/2021 Endorsement on Motion to Strike Jury Demands (#122.0): DENIED 
After hearing and review, DENIED WITHOUT PREJUDICE. Motion may be renewed before the trial 
judge. 

Judge: White, Jr., Hon. William M 

08/17/2021 ORDER: on Plaintiffs' Motion to Strike Jury Demands 

Judge: White, Jr., Hon. William M 

08/18/2021 The following form was generated: 

Notice to Appear for Final Pre-Trial Conference 
Sent On: 08/18/2021 11 :48:31 
Notice Sent To: Robert B Feingold, Esq. Robert B. Feingold and Associates, P.C. 700 Pleasant St 5th 
Floor, New Bedford, MA 027 42-6254 
Notice Sent To: Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq. Robert B. Feingold and Associates, P.C. 700 
Pleasant St Suite 520, New Bedford, MA 02740 
Notice Sent To: Melissa Cook Allison, Esq. Anderson and Kreiger LLP Anderson and Kreiger LLP 50 Milk 
Street 21st Floor, Boston, MA 02109 
Notice Sent To: Samuel Dinning, Esq. Anderson and Kreiger LLP 50 Mi k St 21st Floor, Boston, MA 
02109 

08/18/2021 Scheduled: 
Event: Jury Trial 
Date 05/23/2022 Time: 09:00 AM 
Result: Rescheduled 

08/20/2021 Notice of docket entry received from Appeals Court 
Please take note that, with respect to the Petition pursuant to G.L. c. 231 , s. 118 filed for Timothy G. 
Haydock and Barbara Moss by Attorney Samuel Dinning. (Paper #1 ), 

on August 20, 2021, the following order was entered on the docket of the above-referenced case: 

RE#1 (Revised) The defendants have filed a petition, pursuant to G. L. c. 231, s. 118, first para. seeking 
interlocutory review of two orders entered in the Superior Court. One order allowed the plaintitrs motion to 
compel production of emails withheld by the defendants under the work product doctrine. The other order 
mostly denied the defendants' motion to compel production of emails withheld by the plaintiffs also 
pursuant to the work product doctrine. Having carefully reviewed, the defendants' petition and supporting 
materials as well as the response filed by the plaintiffs, I discern no clear error of law or abuse of the 
judge's discretion in either order. See Jet-Line Services, Inc. v. Board of Selectmen of Stoughton, 25 
Mass. App. Ct. 645, 646 (1988) (To obtain relief, petitioner must ordinarily demonstrate that the 
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challenged order was the product of a clear error of law or an abuse of the motion judge's discretion.) 
Consequently, the defendant's petition is denied. 

09/03/2021 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Motion to 
Withdraw Appearance of Samuel B. Dinning 

09/03/2021 Endorsement on Motion to withdraw appearance of Samuel B. Dinning (#136.0) ALLOWED 

Judge: Yessayan, Hon.Raffi N 

09/03/2021 Attorney appearance 
On th is date Samuel Dinning, Esq. dismissed/withdrawn as Private Counsel for Defendant Timothy G. 
Haydock 

09/03/2021 Attorney appearance 
On th is date Samuel Dinning, Esq. dismissed/withdrawn as Private Counsel for Defendant Barbara Moss 

12/01/2021 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Joint, Assented to Motion to Continue Pre-trial 
Conference 

12/02/2021 Event Result: : Final Pre-Trial Conference scheduled on: 
12/06/2021 02:00 PM 

Has been: Rescheduled For the following reason: Joint request of parties 
Hon. Jackie Cowin, Presiding 
Staff: 

Dina Swanson, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Record ing Device Bris CV B, Court Reporter 

12/02/2021 Endorsement on Motion to continue pre-trial conference (#137 .0): ALLOWED 

Judge: Cowin, Hon. Jackie 

12/03/2021 The following form was generated: 

Notice to Appear for Final Pre-Trial Conference 
Sent On: 12/03/2021 09:14:12 
Notice Sent To: Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq. Robert B. Feingold and Associates, P.C. 700 
Pleasant St Suite 520, New Bedford, MA 02740 
Notice Sent To: Melissa Cook Allison, Esq. Anderson and Kreiger LLP Anderson and Kreiger LLP 50 Milk 
Street 21st Floor, Boston, MA 02109 

Nbr. 

136 

137 

12/06/2021 Attorney appearance 138 
On th is date Jonathan Thomas Elder, Esq. added as Private Counsel for Defendants Timothy G. Haydock 
and Barbara Moss 

12/06/2021 Attorney appearance 139 
On th is date Sean Gramme!, Esq. added as Private Counsel for Defendants Timothy G. Haydock and 
Barbara Moss 

12/13/2021 Joint Pre-Trial Memorandum filed: 140 

12/16/2021 Event Result: : Final Pre-Trial Conference scheduled on: 
12/16/2021 02:00 PM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Hon. Jackie Cowin, Presiding 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 

Staff: 

Melissa Cook Allison, Esq., Private Counsel 
Jonathan Thomas Elder, Esq., Private Counsel 

Jennifer A Sullivan, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Dina Swanson, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Record ing Device Bris CV B, Court Reporter 

12/16/2021 ORDER: after Pre-Trial Conference 

Judge: Cowin, Hon. Jackie 

02/08/2022 Attorney appearance electronically filed. 

02/08/2022 Attorney appearance 
On th is date Brian A Fielding, Esq. added as Private Counsel for Plaintiffs 

Applies To: Reichenbach, Margaret J. (Plaintiff); Reichenbach, John (Plaintiff) 
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02/14/2022 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Assented to Motion to continue/ reschedule an 143 
event 04/21/2022 02:00 PM Final Trial Conference 

02/16/2022 Endorsement on Motion to continue I reschedule an event Final Trial Conference (#143.0): ALLOWED 
by agreement 

Judge: Swanson, Dina 

02/16/2022 Event Result:: Final Trial Conference scheduled on: 
04/21/2022 02:00 PM 

Has been: Rescheduled For the following reason: Joint request of parties 
Hon. Raffi N Yessayan, Presid ing 
Staff: 

Dina Swanson, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Recording Device Bris CV B, Court Reporter 

02/28/2022 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock's Motion in limine to 
Preclude Expert Testimony 

02/28/2022 Timothy G. Haydock's Memorandum in support of 
Motion in Limine to Preclude Expert Testimony 

02/28/2022 Affidavit of Sean M. Grammel In Support of Defendants' Motion in Limine to Preclude Expert Testimony 

02/28/2022 Opposition to Defendants' Motion in Limine to Preclude Expert Testimony filed by Margaret J. 
Reichenbach 

02/28/2022 Reply/Sur-reply 

Defendants' Reply to Plaintiffs Margaret and John Reichenbach's Opposition to Defendants' Motion in 
Limine to Preclude Expert Testimony 

144 

144.1 

144.2 

144.3 

144.4 

02/28/2022 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach's Motion to 145 
Preclude Defendants' Expert, Gary Jentzen, PE, JD, LEED AP 

02/28/2022 Margaret J. Reichenbach's Memorandum in support of Motion to Preclude Defendants' Expert, Gary 145.1 
Jentzen, PE, JD, LEED AP 

02/28/2022 Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion to Preclude Defendants' Expert, Gary Jentzen, PE, JD, LEED AP filed by 145.2 
Timothy G. Haydock 

02/28/2022 Affidavit of Sean M. Grammel In Support of Defendants' Opposition to Plaintiffs's Motion to Preclude 145.3 
Defendants' Expert, Gary Jentzen, PE, JD, LEED AP 

02/28/2022 Reply/Sur-reply 145.3 

Plaintiffs' Reply to Defendants' Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion to Preclude Defendants' Expert,Gary 

Jentzen, PE, JD, LEED AP 

03/16/2022 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Joint Motion to Continue Deadline for Filing Motions in 146 
Limine 

03/17/2022 Endorsement on Motion to continue deadline for filing motions in Limine (#146.0): ALLOWED 
by agreement. 

Judge: Swanson, Dina 

04/08/2022 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Motion in limine to 
Exclude Irrelevant and Unduly Prejudicial Testimony. 

04/08/2022 Opposition to Exclude Irrelevant and Unduly Prejudicial Testimony. filed by Margaret J. Reichenbach, 
John Reichenbach 

04/08/2022 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Motion in limine to 
Exclude Testimony Regarding Damages for "Mental Anguish,: Lost Use of Property, Trespass, 
Interference with Contractual Relations, and Property Carrying Costs. 

04/08/2022 Objection to Exclude Testimony Regarding Damages for "Mental Anguish,: Lost Use of Property, 
Trespass, Interference with Contractual Relations, and Property Carrying Costs. filed by Margaret J. 
Reichenbach, John Reichenbach 

04/08/2022 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Motion in limine to 
Exclude Evidence of liability and Damages Barred by the Statute of Limitations. 

04/08/2022 Opposition to Exclude Evidence of Liability and Damages Barred by the Statute of Limitations. filed by 
Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach 

04/11/2022 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Joint Motion to Continue Deadline for Filing 
Requests for Jury Voir Dire. 
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04/12/2022 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Motion in limine to 
Preclude Defendants' from Relitigating through Argument, Reference, Evidence or Testimony Issues 
Determined in Prior Adjudicatory Proceedings. 

04/12/2022 Robert B Feingold, Esq., Brian A Fielding, Esq.'s Memorandum in support of Motion in Limine to Preclude 
Defendants' from Relitigating through Argument, Reference, Evidence or Testimony Issues Determined in 
Prior Adjudicatory Proceedings. 

04/12/2022 Opposition to Motion in Limine to Preclude Defendants' from Relitigating through Argument, Reference, 
Evidence or Testimony Issues Determined in Prior Adjudicatory Proceedings. filed by Timothy G. 
Haydock, Barbara Moss 

04/12/2022 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Motion in limine to 
Request Sanctions in Relation to Defendants Spoliation of Evidence. 

04/12/2022 Robert B Feingold, Esq., Robert B Feingold, Esq 's Memorandum in support of Plaintiffs' Request 
Sanctions in Relation to Defendants Spoliation of Evidence. 

04/12/2022 Opposition to Plaintiffs Request Sanctions in Relation to Defendants Spoliation of Evidence. filed by 
Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss 

04/13/2022 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Joint Motion to extend time for Filing Joint 
Witness and Exh bit Lists, Joint Statement of Case, and Requests for Leave to Introduce Lay Witness A-V 
Testimony. 

04/21/2022 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's EMERGENCY Assented to Motion to 
Continue. 

04/21/2022 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Memorandum in 
Support of Defendants' Assented to Emergency Motion to Continue. 

04/21/2022 Affidavit of Barbara Moss. 

04/21/2022 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Joint Statement of 
the case. 

04/25/2022 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Response to 
Defendants' Emergency Assented to Motion to Continue. 

04/26/2022 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Motion for 
a View. 

04/26/2022 Sean Grammel, Esq.'s Memorandum in support of Defendants' Motion for View. 

04/26/2022 Opposition to Defendants' Motion for View. filed by Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach 

04/27/2022 Event Result: : Final Trial Conference scheduled on: 
04/28/2022 02:00 PM 

Has been: Rescheduled For the following reason: Joint request of parties 
Hon. Raffi N Yessayan, Presiding 
Staff: 

Jennifer A Sullivan, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Dina Swanson, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Record ing Device Bris CV B, Court Reporter 

04/28/2022 Event Result: : Trial Assignment Conference scheduled on: 
04/28/2022 02:00 PM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Hon. Raffi N Yessayan, Presiding 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Brian A Fielding, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 

Staff: 

Melissa Cook Allison, Esq., Private Counsel 
Sean Grammel, Esq., Private Counsel 

Jennifer A Sullivan, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Record ing Device Bris CV A, Court Reporter 

04/28/2022 Event Result:: Jury Trial scheduled on: 
05/23/2022 09:00 AM 

Has been: Rescheduled For the following reason: Joint request of parties 
Hon. Raffi N Yessayan, Presiding 
Staff: 

Jennifer A Sullivan, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Dina Swanson, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Recording Device Bris CV B, Court Reporter 
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04/28/2022 Scheduled 
Judge: Sullivan, Hon. Susan E 
Event: Jury Trial 
Date: 09/06/2022 Time 09:00 AM 
Result: Rescheduled 

04/28/2022 Endorsement on Motion to continue/ reschedule an event trial date (#154.0): ALLOWED 
The case will be heard in the "C" session 

Judge:Yessayan,Hon. RaffiN 

04/28/2022 Case sent to Bristol County - TAUNTON Location. 

06/14/2022 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Motion to Continue Trial and to Schedule Status 
Conference 

06/14/2022 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Certificate of 
Compliance with Superior Court Rule 9C 

06/15/2022 Opposition to (#157) Plaintiffs' Emergency Motion to Continue and to Schedule Status Conference filed 
by Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss 

06/17/2022 Reply/Sur-reply 

Plaintiffs' Reply to Defendants' Opposition to Emergency Motion to Continue Trial and to Schedule Status 
Conference 

06/22/2022 The following form was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 06/22/2022 09:58:04 

07/08/2022 Event Result: : Hearing on Motion to Continue scheduled on: 
07/11/2022 02:00 PM 

Has been: Rescheduled For the following reason: Joint request of parties 
Hon. Susan E Sull ivan, Presiding 
Staff: 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Record ing Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 

07/08/2022 The following form was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 07/08/2022 10:56:57 

07/26/2022 Scheduled: 
Event: Jury Trial 
Date: 02/06/2023 Time: 09:00 AM 
Result: Held as Scheduled 

07/26/2022 Event Result: : Hearing on Motion to Continue scheduled on: 
07/26/2022 02:00 PM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Hon. Susan E Sull ivan, Presiding 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Brian A Fielding, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 

Staff: 

Melissa Cook Allison, Esq., Private Counsel 
Sean Gramme!, Esq., Private Counsel 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
07/26/2022 02:00 PM 

Digital Record ing Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 
07/26/2022 02:00 PM 

07/26/2022 Endorsement on Motion to continue trial and to schedule status conference (#157.0): ALLOWED 
After hearing, ALLOWED. Trial continued to February 6, 2023 

Judge: Sullivan, Hon. Susan E 

07/27/2022 Event Result:: Jury Trial scheduled on: 
09/06/2022 09:00 AM 

Has been: Rescheduled For the following reason: Joint request of parties 
Hon. Susan E Sull ivan, Presiding 
Staff: 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Record ing Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 

File Image 
Ref Avail. 
Nbr. 
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Docket Text File Image 
Ref Avail. 
Nbr. 

07/27/2022 The following fonn was generated: 

Notice to Appear 
Sent On: 07/27/2022 09:12:51 

10/14/2022 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Motion for 160 
Leave to Allow Audiovisual Deposition Testimony of John Murdock, a Newly Identified Witness, at Trial 

10/14/2022 Opposition to (#160) Plaintiffs' Motion to Reopen Discovery filed by Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss 160.1 

10/14/2022 Affidavit of Sean Gramme! in Support of Defendants' Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion to Reopen Discovery 160 .2 

10/14/2022 Reply/Sur-reply 

Plaintiffs' Reply to Defendants' Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion for Leave to Allow Audiovisual Deposition 
Testimony of John Murdock, a Newly-Identified Witness, at Trial 

10/14/2022 Affidavit of Robert B. Feingold 

10/14/2022 Certificate of Compliance Superior Court Rule 9C 

Applies To: Feingold, Esq., Robert B (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, Margaret J. (Plaintiff) 

11/02/2022 Endorsement on Motion for leave to allow audiovisual deposition testimony of John Murdock, a newly­
identified witness, at trial (#160.0): DENIED 

Judge: White, Jr., Hon. William M 

12/02/2022 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Notice of 
Supplemental Authority 

01/06/2023 Event Result: : Final Trial Conference scheduled on: 
02/01/2023 02:00 PM 

Has been: Rescheduled For the following reason: By Court prior to date 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Staff: 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Record ing Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 

01/11/2023 Attorney appearance 
On th is date Christopher P Flanagan, Esq. added as Private Counsel for Other interested party Certain 
Underwriters at Lloyd's, London 

01/11/2023 Attorney appearance 
On th is date Thomas M Bergeron, Esq. added as Private Counsel for Other interested party Certain 
Underwriters at Lloyd's, London 

160.3 

160.4 

160.5 

161 

01/11/2023 MOTION to Intervene as Defendant-Intervenor filed by Certain Underwriters at Lloyd's, London 162 

01/11/2023 Certain Underwriters at Lloyd's, London's Memorandum of Law in Support of the Motion to Intervene for 162.1 
Limited Purposes 

01/11/2023 Certificate of Compliance Superior Court Rule 9C 162.2 

Applies To: Flanagan, Esq., Christopher P (Attorney) on behalf of Certain Underwriters at Lloyd's, London 
(Defendant-Intervenor) 

01/11/2023 Objection to (#162) Motions to Intervene of [1 ] Underwriters at Lloyd's, London, as well as [p2] the 
Automobile Insurance Company of Hartford, Connecticut filed by Margaret J. Reichenbach, John 
Reichenbach 

162.3 

01/11/2023 General correspondence regard ing Defendants' Consolidated Response to Insurers' Motions to Intervene 162.4 

Applies To: Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant); Moss, Barbara (Defendant) 

01/11/2023 Request for hearing filed 

Applies To: Flanagan, Esq., Christopher P (Attorney) on behalf of Certain Underwriters at Lloyd's, London 
(Defendant-Intervenor) 

01/11/2023 Certificate of Compliance Superior Court Rule 9A 

Applies To: Flanagan, Esq., Christopher P (Attorney) on behalf of Certain Underwriters at Lloyd's, London 
(Defendant-Intervenor) 

01/11/2023 Attorney appearance 
On th is date Logan A Carducci, Esq. added as Private Counsel for Defendant-Intervenor Automobile 
Insurance Company of Hartford, Connecticut (Travelers) 

162.5 

162.6 
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01/11/2023 Defendant-Intervenor Automobile Insurance Company of Hartford, Connecticut (Travelers)'s Motion to 163 
intervene 
for a limited purpose. 

01/11/2023 Automobile Insurance Company of Hartford, Connecticut (Travelers)'s Memorandum in support of Motion 163.1 
to Intervene for a Limited Purpose. 

01/11/2023 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Objection to 163.2 
Motion to Intervene for a Limited Purpose. 

01/11/2023 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Response to 163.3 
(Consolidated) Motion to Intervene for a Limited Purpose. 

01/11/2023 Affidavit 163.4 

Applies To: Allison, Esq., Melissa Cook (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant) 

01/11/2023 Certificate of service of attorney or Pro Se: 

Automobile Insurance Company of Hartford, Connecticut (Travelers) 

01/11/2023 Certificate of Compliance Superior Court Rule 9A 

Applies To: Carducci, Esq., Logan A (Attorney) on behalf of Automobile Insurance Company of Hartford, 
Connecticut (Travelers) (Defendant-Intervenor) 

01/11/2023 Defendant-Intervenor Automobile Insurance Company of Hartford, Connecticut (Travelers)'s Motion for 
Pro Hae Vice Admission of Brent S. Usery, Esq. 

01/11/2023 Other Interested Party Brent S. Usery, Esq.'s Notice of 
Certification of Motion for Pro Hae Vice Admission 

01/11/2023 Opposition to Motion for Pro Hae Vice Admission of Brent S. Usery, Esq filed by Margaret J. 
Reichenbach, John Reichenbach 

01/11/2023 Certificate of Compliance Superior Court Rule 9A 

Applies To: Carducci, Esq., Logan A (Attorney) on behalf of Automobile Insurance Company of Hartford, 
Connecticut (Travelers) (Defendant-Intervenor) 

01/11/2023 Certificate of service of attorney or Pro Se: 

Automobile Insurance Company of Hartford, Connecticut (Travelers) 

Applies To: Carducci, Esq., Logan A (Attorney) on behalf of Automobile Insurance Company of Hartford, 
Connecticut (Travelers) (Defendant-Intervenor) 

01/11/2023 Attorney appearance electronically filed. 

163.5 

163.6 

164 

164.1 

164.2 

164.3 

164.4 

01/11/2023 Attorney appearance 165 
On th is date Kevin John O'Connor, Esq. added as Private Counsel for Defendant-Intervenor Automobile 
Insurance Company of Hartford, Connecticut (Travelers) 

01/12/2023 Event Result: : Hearing on Motion(s) in Limine scheduled on: 
01/12/2023 02:00 PM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 
Brian A Fielding, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 

Staff: 

Melissa Cook Allison, Esq., Private Counsel 
Jonathan Thomas Elder, Esq., Private Counsel 
Sean Gramme!, Esq., Private Counsel 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
01/12/2023 02:00 PM 

Digital Record ing Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 
01/12/2023 02:00 PM 

01/13/2023 Event Result: : Hearing on Motion(s) in Limine scheduled on: 
01/13/2023 02:00 PM 

Has been: Rescheduled For the following reason: By Court prior to date 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Staff: 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Record ing Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 
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01/13/2023 Event Result:: Hearing on Motion(s) in Limine scheduled on: 
01/13/2023 12:00 PM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 
Brian A Fielding, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 

Staff: 

Melissa Cook Allison, Esq., Private Counsel 
Jonathan Thomas Elder, Esq., Private Counsel 
Sean Gramme!, Esq., Private Counsel 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
01/13/2023 12:00 PM 

Digital Recording Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 
01/13/2023 12:00 PM 

01/17/2023 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Notice of 
Withdrawal of Plaintiffs' Motion to Strike Jury Demands 

01/17/2023 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Response to 
Notice of Withdrawal of Plaintiffs' Motion to Str ke Jury Demands 

01/17/2023 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Reply to 
Defendants' Response to Notice of Withdrawal of Plaintiffs' Motion to Strike Jury Demands 

01/20/2023 Endorsement on Motion in limine requesting sanctions in relation to Defendants' spoliation of evidence 
(#152.0) DENIED 
After hearing argument and on consideration of the motion, which requests as a sanction the entry of 
default against the defendants, the motion is DENIED. The plaintiffs have not identified evidence that was 
intentionally or negligently destroyed nor have they demonstrated unfair prejudice resulting from the 
conduct or the alleged missing evidence, photographs which may have been taken during a particular 
time period. 

Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 

01/23/2023 ORDER: DECISION AND ORDER ON THE DEFENDANTS' MOTION IN LIMINE TO PRECLUDE 
EXPERT TESTIMONY: For the above reasons, the Defendants' Motion in Limine to Preclude Expert 
Testimony is ALLOWED 

Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 

01/23/2023 ORDER: ORDER ON PLAINTIFFS' MOTION TO PRECLUDE EXPERT TESTIMONY: For the above 
stated reasons, the plaintiffs' motion to preclude the defendants' expert witness from testifying is 
ALLOWED. 

Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 

01/25/2023 Endorsement on Motion in limine to exclude (#147.0): ALLOWED 
(Garrett R. Fregault, Asst Clerk/Magistrate) 

01/25/2023 Endorsement on Motion in limine to exclude (#148.0): Testimony regarding Damages for "Mental 
Anguish," Other action taken 
As to mental Anguish, apprehension, duress, and trespass, plaintiffs may not testify to any specific 
number for damages. As to carrying costs, upon proper foundation and subjection to trial objections, 
plaintiffs may testify as to specific number for damages. Contractual relations damages - deferred until 
trial. 

Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 

01/25/2023 Endorsement on Motion in limine to exclude (#149.0): Evidence of liability and Damages Bared by the 
Statute of Limitations Other action taken 
Reserved until trial on both the date of the Statute of limitations and the applicable damages. (Garrett R. 
Fregault, Asst Clerk/Magistrate) 

01/25/2023 Endorsement on Motion in limine to preclude (#151.0): Defendants' from Relitigating through argument, 
reference, evidence or testimony issues determined in prior adjudicatory proceedings Other action taken 
Agency decisions are admissible, upon proper authentication, and conclusive evidence as to the validity 
of the permits. Defendants are precluded from arguing whether the pennits should have been issued. 
Defendant may offer evidence as to intent concerning the challenges to the permits. 

Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 

01/27/2023 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's PROPOSED Notice for Jury Questionnaire. 

01/27/2023 Proposed Filings/Orders 

File Image 
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Verdict Form 

Applies To Reichenbach, Margaret J. (Plaintiff); Reichenbach, John (Plaintiff) 

01/27/2023 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Motion in limine for Seeking Determination as to 
Witness Unavailabil ity. 

01/27/2023 Affidavit in support of Plaintiffs' Motion in Limine Seeking Detennination as to Witness Unavailability. 

Applies To: Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Heather Marie (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, John (Plaintiff) 

01/27/2023 Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion in Limine Seeking Determination as to Witness Unavailability. filed by 
Barbara Moss 

01/27/2023 Reply/Sur-reply 

to Defendants' Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion in Limine Seeking Detennination as to Witness 
Unavailability. 

Applies To: Feingold, Esq., Robert B (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, Margaret J. (Plaintiff) 

01/27/2023 Affidavit in support of Plaintiffs' Motion in Limine Seeking Detennination as to Witness Unavailability. 

Applies To: Feingold, Esq., Robert B (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, Margaret J. (Plaintiff) 

01/27/2023 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Certificate of 
Compliance with Rule 9C. 

01/27/2023 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Motion to Witness List. 

01/27/2023 Opposition to to Plaintiffs' Motion to Add a New Witness filed by Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss 

01/27/2023 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Reply to 
Defendants' Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion to Amend Witness List 

01/27/2023 Request for Jury instructions filed by Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss 
(Proposed) 

01/27/2023 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Request for 
Voir Questions 

01/27/2023 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Notice for Proposed Juror Questionnaire. 

01/27/2023 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's PROPOSED Notice for Verd ict Form. 

01/27/2023 Request for Jury instructions filed by Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach 

01/30/2023 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's PROPOSED Request for 
Verdict Form. 

02/01/2023 Event Result: : Final Trial Conference scheduled on: 
02/01/2023 02:00 PM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 
Brian A Fielding, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 
Melissa Cook Allison, Esq., Private Counsel 
Jonathan Thomas Elder, Esq., Private Counsel 
Sean Gramme!, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant-Intervenor 

Staff: 

Kevin John O'Connor, Esq., Private Counsel 
Logan A Carducci, Esq., Private Counsel 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
02/01/2023 02:00 PM 

Digital Record ing Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 
02/01/2023 02:00 PM 

02/01/2023 Scheduled: 
Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 
Event: Jury Trial 
Date: 02/07/2023 Time: 09:00 AM 
Result: Held as Scheduled 

File Image 
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02/01/2023 Scheduled 
Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 
Event: Jury Trial 
Date: 02/08/2023 Time 09:00 AM 
Result: Held as Scheduled 

02/01/2023 Scheduled 
Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 
Event: Jury Trial 
Date: 02/09/2023 Time 09:00 AM 
Result: Held as Scheduled 

Case Details - Massachusetts Trial Court NG 

02/01/2023 Endorsement on Memorandum in support (Defendants' Motion for View) (#156.1) ALLOWED 
After hearing, ALLOWED, see record. (Garrett R. Fregault, Asst Clerk/Magistrate) 

Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 

02/02/2023 Second Affidavit in support of Plaintitrs Motion in Limine seeking determination as to witness 
unavailability. 

Applies To: Feingold, Esq., Robert B (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, John (Plaintiff) 

File Image 
Ref Avail. 
Nbr. 

0 
Image 

180 0 
Image 

02/03/2023 ORDER: on Motions to Intervene; Allowed pursuant to Rule 24(b), subject to further orders of the court if 181 0 necessary or otherwise deemed appropriate. The insurers may intervene as an interested party for the 
limited purpose of drafting, with input as appropriate from the existing party's and approval from the court, 
a supplemental verdict slip consisting of special questions to be submitted to the jury after a verdict on the 
main case is returned, reported, and recorded in open court. 

02/03/2023 Endorsement on Motion for Pro Hae Vice Admission of Brent S. Usery, Esq. (#164.0): ALLOWED 

Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 

02/03/2023 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Joint Motion to 
Appoint Stenographer. 

02/06/2023 Docket Note: 

Darlene Coppola, DMC Court Reporting, Inc. 401-286-7221 - designated as the official court reporter for 
the entire trial. FTR will be run as back up, but official reporter will be kept by Ms. Coppola 

02/06/2023 Event Result: : Jury Trial scheduled on: 
02/06/2023 09:00 AM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Comments: Darlene Coppola, appointed as official court reporter. 401 -286-7221. FTR run only as 
backup. 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 
Brian A Fielding, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 

Staff: 

Melissa Cook Allison, Esq., Private Counsel 
Jonathan Thomas Elder, Esq., Private Counsel 
Sean Gramme!, Esq., Private Counsel 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
02/06/2023 09:00 AM 

Digital Record ing Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 

02/06/2023 Witness list 

(Joint) 

Applies To: Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Heather Marie (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, Margaret J. 
(Plaintiff); Fielding, Esq., Brian A (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, John (Plaintiff); Grammel, Esq., 
Sean (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant) 

02/06/2023 List of exh bits 

02/06/2023 Endorsement on Motion to Appoint Stenographer (#182.0): ALLOWED 

02/07/2023 Docket Note: 

Darlene Coppola, appointed as official court reporter. 401-286-7221 . FTR run only as backup. 

10 Jurors empaneled and sworn (GRF/ACM) 
Preliminary Charge given 
Opening statemens 

Image 

0 
Image 

182 0 
Image 

182.1 0 
Image 

182.2 

https:/Jwww.masscourts.org/eservicesisearchresults. page?x= hKs T msabKpsjrSpfXvK7b YWjECjegQZk7 A 1 J IVP'9Jd4PVfRqKIZzoNwn 1 h2CGH6Wrov-. . 34/37 

65 



4/8/25, 3:48 PM 

Docket 
Date 

Docket Text 

Case Details - Massachusetts Trial Court NG 

02/07/2023 Event Result:: Jury Trial scheduled on: 
02107 /2023 09:00 AM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Comments: FTR for back up only 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 
Brian A Fielding, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 

Staff: 

Jonathan Thomas Elder, Esq., Private Counsel 
Sean Gramme!, Esq., Private Counsel 
Neil Smola, Esq., 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
02/07/2023 09 00 AM 

Digital Recording Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 
02/07/2023 09 00 AM 

File Image 
Ref Avail. 
Nbr. 

02/07/2023 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Motion for Reconsideration of Endorsement on 183 0 Plaintiffs' Motion in Limine Requesting Sanctions in Relation to Defendants' Spoliation of Evidence, for 
Reconsideration of Endorsement on Defendants' Motion in Limine to Exclude Irrelevant and Unduly 
Prejudicial Testimony, or, in the Alternative, for Lesser Sanctions 

02/07/2023 Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Memorandum in support of Plaintiffs' Omnibus Motion for 183.1 
Reconsideration of Endorsement on Plaintiffs' Motion in Limine Requesting Sanctions in Relation to 
Defendants' Spoliation of Evidence, for Reconsideration of Endorsement on Defendants' Motion in Limine 
to Exclude Irrelevant and Unduly Prejudicial Testimony, or, in the Alternative, for Lesser Santions 

02/08/2023 Docket Note: 

Darlene Coppola, appointed as official court reporter. 401-286-7221 . FTR run only as backup. 

View of the properties occurred today 

02/08/2023 Event Result:: Jury Trial scheduled on: 
02/08/2023 09:00 AM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Comments: FTR was run a back up 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 
Brian A Fielding, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 

Staff: 

Melissa Cook Allison, Esq., Private Counsel 
Jonathan Thomas Elder, Esq., Private Counsel 
Sean Gramme!, Esq., Private Counsel 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
02/08/2023 09:00 AM 

Digital Record ing Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 

02/08/2023 Jury Trial Juror Excused. 
Juror #17 in seat 5 

02/09/2023 Docket Note: 

Darlene Coppola, appointed as official court reporter. 401-286-7221 . FTR run only as backup. 

02/09/2023 Scheduled: 
Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 
Event: Jury Trial 
Date 02/10/2023 Time: 09:00 AM 
Result: Held as Scheduled 

02/09/2023 Event Result:: Jury Trial scheduled on: 
02/09/2023 09:00 AM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 
Brian A Fielding, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 
Melissa Cook Allison, Esq., Private Counsel 
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Staff: 

Case Details - Massachusetts Trial Court NG 

Jonathan Thomas Elder, Esq., Private Counsel 
Sean Gramme!, Esq., Private Counsel 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
02/09/2023 09 00 AM 

Digital Recording Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 

02/10/2023 Docket Note: 

Darlene Coppola, appointed as official court reporter. 401 -286-7221. FTR run only as backup. 

02/10/2023 Scheduled 
Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 
Event: Jury Trial 
Date: 02/13/2023 Time 09:00 AM 
Result: Held as Scheduled 

02/10/2023 Scheduled 
Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 
Event: Jury Trial 
Date: 02/14/2023 Time: 09:00 AM 
Result: Held as Scheduled 

02/10/2023 Event Result:: Jury Trial scheduled on 
02/10/2023 09:00 AM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Comments: FTR is back up 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 
Brian A Fielding, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 

Staff: 

Melissa Cook Allison, Esq., Private Counsel 
Jonathan Thomas Elder, Esq., Private Counsel 
Sean Gramme!, Esq., Private Counsel 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
02/10/2023 09 00 AM 

Digital Recording Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 

02/13/2023 Docket Note: 

Darlene Coppola, appointed as official court reporter. 401 -286-7221. FTR run only as backup. 

02/13/2023 Event Result:: Jury Trial scheduled on: 
02/13/2023 09:00 AM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Comments: FTR run as back up 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 
Brian A Fielding, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 

Staff: 

Melissa Cook Allison, Esq., Private Counsel 
Jonathan Thomas Elder, Esq., Private Counsel 
Sean Gramme!, Esq., Private Counsel 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
02/13/2023 09 00 AM 

Digital Recording Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 

02/14/2023 Docket Note: 

Darlene Coppola, appointed as official court reporter. 401 -286-7221. FTR run only as backup. 

02/14/2023 Scheduled 
Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 
Event: Jury Trial 
Date: 02/15/2023 Time: 09:00 AM 
Result: Held as Scheduled 

File Image 
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Docket 
Date 

Docket Text 

Case Details - Massachusetts Trial Court NG 

02/14/2023 Scheduled 
Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 
Event: Jury Trial 
Date: 02/16/2023 Time 09:00 AM 
Result: Held as Scheduled 

02/14/2023 Event Result:: Jury Trial scheduled on: 
02/14/2023 09:00 AM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Comments: FTR is back up only 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 
Brian A Fielding, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 

Staff: 

Melissa Cook Allison, Esq., Private Counsel 
Jonathan Thomas Elder, Esq., Private Counsel 
Sean Gramme!, Esq., Private Counsel 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
02/14/2023 09 00 AM 

Digital Recording Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 

02/15/2023 Docket Note: 

Darlene Coppola, appointed as official court reporter. 401 -286-7221. FTR run only as backup. 

02/15/2023 Event Result:: Jury Trial scheduled on 
02/15/2023 09:00 AM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Comments: FTR is back up 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 
Brian A Fielding, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 

Staff: 

Melissa Cook Allison, Esq., Private Counsel 
Jonathan Thomas Elder, Esq., Private Counsel 
Sean Gramme!, Esq., Private Counsel 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
02/15/2023 09 00 AM 

Digital Recording Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 

02/15/2023 Opposition to to Plaintiffs' Motion for Reconsideration filed by Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss 

Showing 1 to 500 of 722 
<< < 1 2 > >> 

Case Disposition 

Disposition 

Judgment after Jury Verdict 

Date 

05/03/2024 

Case Judge 

File Image 
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4/8/25, 3:54 PM Case Details - Massachusetts Trial Court NG 

1573CV00938 Reichenbach, Margaret J. et al vs. Haydock, Timothy G. et al 

Case Type: 
Torts 

Case Status: 
Open 

File Date 
10/01/2015 

DCM Track: 
A - Average 

Initiating Action: 
Civil Rights Act, G.L. c. 12 § 11H 

Status Date: 
10/01/2015 

Case Judge: 

Next Event: 
04/29/2025 

All Information Party Judgment Event Tickler Docket Disposition 

Docket Information 

Docket 
Date 

Docket Text 

02/16/2023 Scheduled: 
Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 
Event: Jury Trial 
Date: 02/17/2023 Time: 09:00 AM 
Result: Held as Scheduled 

02/16/2023 Scheduled: 
Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 
Event: Jury Trial 
Date: 02/27/2023 Time: 09:00 AM 
Result: Held as Scheduled 

02/16/2023 Scheduled: 
Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 
Event: Jury Trial 
Date: 02/28/2023 Time: 09:00 AM 
Result: Held as Scheduled 

02/16/2023 Docket Note: 

Darlene Coppola, appointed as official court reporter. 401-286-7221. FTR run only as backup. 

02/16/2023 Event Result:: Jury Trial scheduled on: 
02/16/2023 09:00 AM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Comments: FTR is backup 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Staff: 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
02/16/2023 09:00 AM 

Digital Recording Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 

02/17/2023 Event Result: Jury Trial scheduled on: 
02/17/2023 09:00 AM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Comments: Plaintiffs rest their case 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 
Brian A Fielding, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 

Staff: 

Melissa Cook Allison, Esq., Private Counsel 
Jonathan Thomas Elder, Esq., Private Counsel 
Sean Grammel, Esq., Private Counsel 

File Image 
Ref Avail. 
Nbr. 

https:/twww.masscourts.org/eservicesisearchresulls. page?x= hKs T msabKpsjrSpfXvK7b YWjECjegQZk7 A 1 J IVP'9Jd4PVfRqKIZzoNwn 1 h2CGH6Wrov-v.. 1 /14 

69 
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Docket 
Date 

Docket Text File Image 
Ref Avail. 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
02/17/2023 09:00AM 

Digital Recording Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 

02/17/2023 Docket Note: 

Darlene Coppola, appointed as official court reporter. 401-286-7221. FTR run only as backup. 

Nbr. 

02/21/2023 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Motion for Reconsideration of Ruling on Plaintiffs' 185 
Proposed Verdict Form and Jury Instructions Concerning Trespass. 

02/21/2023 Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Memorandum in support of Plaintiffs' Motion for 185.1 
Reconsideration of Ruling on Plaintiffs Motion for Reconsideration of Rul ing on Plaintiffs' Proposed Verdict 
form and Jury Instructions Concerning Trespass. 

02/21/2023 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Motion for 186 
Directed Verdict on Claim for Trespass. 

02/21/2023 Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Memorandum in support of Motion for Directed Verdict on Trespass 186.1 
Claim. 

02/21/2023 Affidavit of Sean Grammel in support of Defendants' Motion for directed Verdict on Claim for Trespass. 186.2 

02/21/2023 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Motion for Directed Verdict on Claim for Intentional 187 
Interference with Contractual Relations. 

02/21/2023 Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Memorandum in support of Motion for Directed Verdict on Claim for 187.1 
Intentional Interference with Contractual Relations. 

02/21/2023 Affidavit in support of Motion for Directed Verdict on Claim for Intentional Interference with Contractual 187.2 
Relations. 

Applies To: Grammel, Esq., Sean (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant) 

02/21/2023 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Motion for 
Clarification. 

02/21/2023 Defendant Timothy G. Haydock's Motion for 
Directed Verdict on Massachusetts Civil Rights Act Claim. 

02/21/2023 Defendant Timothy G. Haydock's Memorandum in 
support of Motion for Directed Verdict on Massachusetts Civil Rights Act Claim. 

188 

189 

189.1 

02/21/2023 Affidavit in support of Defendant, Dr. Haydock's Motion for Directed Verdict on Massachusetts Civil Rights 189.2 
Act Claim. 

Applies To: Grammel, Esq., Sean (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant) 

02/22/2023 Opposition to Defendants' Motions for Directed Verdict on (1) Claim for Trespass, (2) Claim for Intentional 190 
Interference with Contractual Relations, and (3) Defendant, Haydock's Motion for Directed Verdict on 
Massachusetts Civil Rights Act Claim. filed by Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach 
(Omnibus) 

02/23/2023 Reply/Sur-reply 191 

in support of Motion for Directed Verdict 

Applies To: Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant); Moss, Barbara (Defendant) 

0 
Image 

0 
Image 

0 
Image 

0 
Image 

0 
' ge 

Image 

e 
Image 

e 
Image 

0 
Image 

0 
Image 

e 
Image 

0 
Image 

0 
Image 

0 
Image 

02/23/2023 Opposition to to Plaintiffs' Motion for Reconsideration on Trespass filed by Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara 192 a 
Moss ,c, 

02/24/2023 Event Result: : Motion Hearing scheduled on: 
02/24/2023 09:00 AM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Comments: Motions taken U/A. FTR is back up 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Appeared 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 
Brian A Fielding, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 

Staff: 

Melissa Cook All ison, Esq., Private Counsel 
Sean Grammel, Esq., Private Counsel 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
02/24/2023 09:00 AM 

Digital Recording Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 

Image 

https:/Jwww.masscourts.org/eservicesi searchresulls. page?x= hKs T msabKpsjrSpfXvK7b YWjECjegQZk7 A 1 J IVP'9Jd4PVfRqKIZzoNwn 1 h2CGH6Wrov-v. . 2/14 

70 



4/8/25, 3:54 PM 

Docket 
Date 

Docket Text 

Case Details - Massachusetts Trial Court NG 

02/24/2023 Docket Note: 

Darlene Coppola, appointed as official court reporter. 401-286-7221. FTR run only as backup. 

02/24/2023 ORDER: Order the Defendant's Motion for Directed Verdict on the Plaintiffs Claim for Intentional 
Interference with Contractual Relationship 

Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 

02/27/2023 Jury Trial Juror Excused. 
in seat 2 

02/27/2023 Scheduled: 
Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 
Event: Jury Trial 
Date: 03/01/2023 Time: 09:00 AM 
Result: Held as Scheduled 

02/27/2023 Docket Note: 

Darlene Coppola, appointed as official court reporter. 401-286-7221. FTR run only as backup. 

02/27/2023 Event Result: Jury Trial scheduled on: 
02/27/2023 09:00 AM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Comments: FTR run as backup 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Appeared 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 
Brian A Fielding, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 

Staff: 

Melissa Cook All ison, Esq., Private Counsel 
Jonathan Thomas Elder, Esq., Private Counsel 
Sean Grammel, Esq., Private Counsel 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
02/27/2023 09:00 AM 

Digital Recording Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 

02/28/2023 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Submission for Trial Bench Memorandum. 

02/28/2023 Event Result: Jury Trial scheduled on: 
02/28/2023 09:00 AM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Comments: FTR is back up only 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Appeared 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 
Brian A Fielding, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 

Staff: 

Melissa Cook All ison, Esq., Private Counsel 
Jonathan Thomas Elder, Esq., Private Counsel 
Sean Grammel, Esq., Private Counsel 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
02/28/2023 09:00 AM 

Digital Recording Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 

03/01/2023 Docket Note: 

Darlene Coppola, appointed as official court reporter. 401-286-7221. FTR run only as backup. 

03/01/2023 Scheduled: 
Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 
Event: Jury Trial 
Date: 03/02/2023 Time: 09:00 AM 
Result: Held as Scheduled 

03/01/2023 Event Result: Jury Trial scheduled on: 
03/01/2023 09:00 AM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Comments: FTR is back up 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Appeared 

Plaintiff 

File Image 
Ref Avail. 
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Date 
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Case Details - Massachusetts Trial Court NG 

Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 
Brian A Fielding, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 

Staff: 

Melissa Cook Allison, Esq., Private Counsel 
Jonathan Thomas Elder, Esq., Private Counsel 
Sean Grammel, Esq., Private Counsel 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
03/01/2023 09:00 AM 

Digital Recording Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 

03/02/2023 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Request for Supplemental Jury Instruction 
Concerning Spoliation. 

03/02/2023 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Request for Supplemental Jury Instruction 
Concerning No Second Guessing. 

03/02/2023 Verdict of jury for party 

(Proposed) 

Applies To: Reichenbach, Margaret J. (Plaintiff); Reichenbach, John (Plaintiff) 

03/02/2023 Verdict of jury for party 

(Proposed) 

Applies To: Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant); Moss, Barbara (Defendant) 

03/02/2023 Docket Note: 

Darlene Coppola, appointed as official court reporter. 401-286-7221. FTR run only as backup. 

03/02/2023 Docket Note: 

Defendants rest. Evidence is closed (10:39 AM) 

03/02/2023 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Motion in limine on Claim for Intentional Interference 
with Contractual Relations. 
(Renewed) 

03/02/2023 Sean Grammel, Esq.'s Memorandum in support of Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's 
Motion in limine on Claim for Intentional Interference with Contractual Relations. 
(Renewed) 

03/02/2023 Affidavit 

Applies To: Grammel, Esq., Sean (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant) 

03/02/2023 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Motion for Directed Verd ict filed (Renewed) 
Massachusetts Civil Rights Act Claim. 

03/02/2023 Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Memorandum in support of Renewed Motion for directed Verdict on 
MCRAClaim. 

03/02/2023 Affidavit 

Applies To: Grammel, Esq., Sean (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant) 

03/02/2023 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Motion for Directed Verd ict filed for Claim for Trespass. 

03/02/2023 Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Memorandum in support of Motion for Directed Verdict on Trespass 
Claim. 

03/02/2023 Affidavit in support of Defendants' Motion for Directed Verdict on Claim for Trespass. 

Applies To: Grammel, Esq., Sean (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant) 

03/02/2023 Docket Note: 

Closing arguments and jury charged. Jury sent out for del berations at 2:25 p.m. 

03/02/2023 Endorsement on Motion for Directed Verd ict filed (#187 .0): DENIED 
for the reasons staled on the record. (Garrett R. Fregault, Asst. Clerk/Magistrate) 

03/02/2023 General correspondence regarding Joint Proposed Special Interrogatories to Jury of Non-Party 
lntervenors, Certain Underwriters at Lloyd's London Subscr bing to Policy Numbers APH01000606, 
APH02000606, APH03000606, APH04000606 and APH05000606, and the Automobile Insurance 
Company of Hartford, Connecticut. 
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Docket Text 

03/02/2023 General correspondence regarding ... Revised Special Interrogatories to the Jury. 

03/02/2023 Endorsement on Motion for Directed Verdict filed (#200.0): (Renewed) DENIED 
for the reasons staled on the record. (Garrett R. Fregault, Asst. Clerk/Magistrate) 

03/02/2023 Endorsement on Motion for Directed Verdict filed (#201.0): on Claim for Trespass DENIED 
for the reasons staled on the record. (Garrett R. Fregault, Asst. Clerk/Magistrate) 

Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 

03/02/2023 Event Result: Jury Trial scheduled on: 
03/02/2023 09:00 AM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Comments: FTR Backup only 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Appeared 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 
Brian A Fielding, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 

Staff: 

Melissa Cook All ison, Esq., Private Counsel 
Jonathan Thomas Elder, Esq., Private Counsel 
Sean Grammel, Esq., Private Counsel 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
03/02/2023 09:00 AM 

Digital Recording Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 

03/03/2023 Scheduled: 
Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 
Event: Jury Trial 
Date: 03/03/2023 Time: 09:00 AM 
Result: Held as Scheduled 

03/03/2023 General correspondence regarding Revised Joint Proposed Special Interrogatories to Jury of Non-Party 
lntervenors, Certain Underwriters at Lloyd's London Subscr bing to Policy Numbers APH01000606, 
APH02000606, APH03000606, APH04000606 and APH05000606, and the Automobile Insurance 
Company of Hartford, Connecticut. 

03/03/2023 General correspondence regarding Special Interrogatories to the Jury 

03/03/2023 Docket Note: 

Darlene Coppola, appointed as official court reporter. 401-286-7221. FTR run only as backup. 

03/03/2023 Docket Note: 

Jury is greeted and sent back to continue deliberations (8:40 a.m.) 

03/03/2023 Verdict of jury for party 

Applies To: Reichenbach, Margaret J. (Plaintiff); Reichenbach, John (Plaintiff) 

03/03/2023 Verdict of jury for party 

on special interrogatories posed to the jury 

03/03/2023 Event Result: Jury Trial scheduled on: 
03/03/2023 09:00 AM 

Has been: Held as Scheduled 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Staff: 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Recording Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 

03/13/2023 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Request for 
Interest on Jury Verdict. 

03/22/2023 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's EMERGENCY Motion for 
Stay of Briefing or, in the Alternative, a Briefing Schedule. 

03/23/2023 Opposition to (#206) to Defendants' Emergency Motion for Stay of Briefing filed by Margaret J. 
Reichenbach, John Reichenbach 
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Docket Docket Text 
Date 

03/24/2023 Endorsement on Motion to Stay of Briefing or, in the Alternative, a Briefing Schedule (#206.0) DENIED 
The Post-Trial motion contemplated by the defendants pursuant to R. 50(b) and R. 59(b) may be filed 
after entry of judgment. In this case entry of judgment is not appropriate until the plaintiffs motion for 
Injunctive relief is adjudicated. As such, the motion is DENIED. However the defendant's opposition to 
the plaintiffs' motion for pennanent injunction may be served on or before March 31, 2023. 

04/10/2023 Plaintiffs(s) Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Motion for 
Permanent Injunctive Relief. 

04/10/2023 Robert B Feingold, Esq., Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq.'s Memorandum in support of Motion for 
Permanent Injunctive Relief. 

04/10/2023 Affidavit of John A. Murdock in support of Plaintiff's' Motion for Pennanent Injunction. 

04/10/2023 Affidavit of Donald Horton in support of Plaintiff's' Motion for Pennanent Injunction. 

04/10/2023 Opposition to (#208) Plaintiffs' Motion for Permanent Injunction. filed by Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara 
Moss 

04/10/2023 Affidavit of Sean Grammel in support of Defendants' opposition to Plaintiff's' Motion for Pennanent 
Injunction .. 

04/10/2023 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Cross Motion to strike 
Affidavits. 

04/10/2023 Reply/Sur-reply 

to Defendants' Opposition to Plaintiff's' Motion for Permanent Injunctive Relief and Opposition to 
Defendants' Cross-Motion to Str ke Affidavits. 

Applies To: Reichenbach, Margaret J . (Plaintiff); Reichenbach, John (Plaintiff) 

05/05/2023 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Joint, Assented to Motion to continue / 
reschedule an event 05/08/2023 02:00 PM Motion Hearing 

05/08/2023 Endorsement on Motion to continue/ reschedule an event (#210.0): ALLOWED 
The Clerk's Office will reschedule. (Garrett R. Fregault, Asst. Clerk/Magistrate) 

05/08/2023 Event Result: : Motion Hearing scheduled on: 
05/08/2023 02:00 PM 

Has been: Not Held For the following reason: Joint request of parties 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Staff: 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Recording Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 

08/14/2023 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Petition for 
Award of Attorney Fees and Costs. 

08/14/2023 Affidavit in support of Plaintiffs' Petition for Attorneys' fees and Expenses. 

Applies To: Feingold, Esq., Robert B (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, John (Plaintiff) 

08/14/2023 Affidavit of Reasonsable Attorney's Fees 

Applies To: Feingold, Esq., Robert B (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, John (Plaintiff) 

08/14/2023 Opposition to to Plaintiffs' Petition for Award of Attorney Fees and Costs filed by Timothy G. Haydock, 
Barbara Moss 

08/14/2023 Affidavit 

Applies To: All ison, Esq., Melissa Cook (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant) 

08/14/2023 Affidavit of Daniel P. Dain. 

08/14/2023 Reply/Sur-reply 

to Defendants' Opposition to Plaintiffs' Petition for Attorneys' Fees and Expenses. 

Appl ies To: Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Heather Marie (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, John (Plaintiff); 
Feingold, Esq., Robert B (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, John (Plaintiff) 

File 
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08/15/2023 Flash drive containing exhibits of Pleading #216.1 Affidavit of Robert Feingold in support Plaintiffs' Petition 212 
for Attorneys Fees and Expenses. 

08/30/2023 Case sent to Bristol County - FALL RIVER Location. 
Three jackets sent to Fall River 

09/21/2023 Matter taken under advisement: Motion Hearing scheduled on: 
09/21/2023 02:00 PM 
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Docket 
Date 

Docket Text File Image 
Ref Avail. 

Has been: Held - Under advisement 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Appeared: 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 
Brian A Fielding, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 

Staff: 

Melissa Cook Allison, Esq., Private Counsel 
Sean Grammel, Esq., Private Counsel 

Lori R Saulnier, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Court Reporter Elena Mercurio (official record, per order of the Court) 

Nbr. 

11/06/2023 ORDER INTERIM ORDER ON PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR PERMANENT INJUNCTIVE RELIEF AND 213 
DEFENDANTS' CROSS-MOTION TO STRIKE AFFIDAVITS: 
It is hereby ORDERED that the defendants' cross-motion to strike affidavits is ALLOWED, and the parties 
shall appear for an evidentiary hearing on the plaintiffs' motion for permanent injunction, to be limited in 
scope as set out above. The Clerk's office is directed to schedule a hearing as soon as practicable. 

11/07/2023 Attorney appearance electronically filed. 

11/07/2023 Attorney appearance 214 
On this date Thomas M Bergeron, Esq. dismissed/withdrawn as Private Counsel for Defendant-Intervenor 
Certain Underwriters at Lloyd's, London 

12/11/2023 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Motion for 215 
Reconsideration on Burden of Proof 

12/11/2023 Opposition to (#215) Defendants' Motion for Reconsideration on Burden of Proof filed by Margaret J. 215.1 
Reichenbach, John Reichenbach 

12/11/2023 Reply/Sur-reply 215.2 

Defendants' Reply in Support of Motion for Reconsideration on Burden of Proof 

12/15/2023 Endorsement on Motion for Reconsideration on Burden of Proof (#215.0): ALLOWED 
for the reasons staled in the Defendants motion. (Garrett R. Fregault, Asst. Clerk/Magistrate) 

Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 

12/18/2023 Matter taken under advisement: Motion Hearing scheduled on: 
12/18/2023 10:00 AM 

Has been: Held - Under advisement 
Comments: Elena Mercurio, court reporter was present (617) 267-3434. FTR C also run 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Appeared 

Plaintiff Margaret J. Reichenbach 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Marie Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 
Brian A Fielding, Esq., Private Counsel 

Plaintiff John Reichenbach 
Defendant Timothy G. Haydock 

Melissa Cook All ison, Esq., Private Counsel 
Sean Grammel, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant Barbara Moss 
Staff: 

Garrett Fregault, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
12/18/2023 10:00 AM 

Digital Recording Device Bris CV C, Court Reporter 
12/18/2023 10:00 AM 

03/21/2024 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Motion for 
Attachment of Real Property of Defendant Timothy G. Haydock and Barbara Moss 

03/21/2024 Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Memorandum in support of their motion for real estate 
attachment 

03/21/2024 Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for attachment of Real Property filed by Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara 
Moss 

03/21/2024 Affidavit of Melissa C. Allison 

03/21/2024 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Reply to 
Defendants opposition to Plaintiffs motion for attachment of real property of Defendants Timothy G. 
Haydock and Barbara Moss 

03/21/2024 Docket Note: Pleadings #216-216.4 sent via EMAIL to Judge Thomas J. Perrino 
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Docket Text 

05/02/2024 Endorsement on Motion for a Real Estate Attachment (#216.0): No Action Taken 
at th is lime. 

05/02/2024 ORDER: on Plaintiffs' Motion for Permanent Injunction Relief and Defendants' Cross-Motion to Strike 
Affidavits. 

05/02/2024 MEMORANDUM & ORDER 

ON PLAINTIFFS' PETITION FOR AWARD OF ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS. 

Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 

File Image 
Ref Avail. 
Nbr. 

217 0 
218 

Image 

0 
Image 

05/03/2024 JUDGMENT entered on this date: Judgment After Finding After Jury Verdict Presiding: Hon. Thomas 219 ~ 
J Perrino ,c, 

Judgment For: Margaret J. Reichenbach 
John Reichenbach 

Judgment Against: Timothy G. Haydock 

Terms of Judgment: Interest Begins 10/01/2015 Jdgmnt Date: 05/03/2024 Interest Rate: .12 Daily 
Interest Rate: .000329 
Damages Damage Amt 1550000.00 Filing Fees: 275.00 Costs Pd to Court 120.00 Crt Ord Atty Fee: 
2383816.09 

Judgment Total: 5,533,924.24 
Further Orders: It is further ORDERED that a pennanent injunction is to enter: the defendants, their 
agents, servants, and employees are permanently enjoined from threatening, harassing, intimidating, 
photographing, or coercing, surveilling the plaintiffs, their immediate family members, employees, tenants, 
contractors, vendors and others lawfully on the property, and further are permanently enjoined from 
conduct which an objectively reasonable person would conclude has the effect of interfering with the 
plaintiffs' use and enjoyment of their property located at 29 Mattarest Lane, South Dartmouth, MA 027 48. 

NOTE: The judgment as it pertains to the award of $2,383,816.09 in attorney's fees and costs as well as 
the $395.00 and statutory costs are to be born jointly and severally defendant Timothy Haydock and 
defendant Barbara Moss. The single damages on the damage are to be born severally by the defendant. 

05/03/2024 JUDGMENT entered on this date.: Judgment on Jury Verdict After Jury Verdict Presiding: Hon. 

05/06/2024 

05/07/2024 

05/07/2024 

05/10/2024 

05/10/2024 

05/10/2024 

Thomas J Perrino 

Judgment For: Margaret J. Reichenbach 
John Reichenbach 

Judgment Against: Barbara Moss 

Terms of Judgment: Interest Begins 10/01/2015 Jdgmnt Date: 05/03/2024 Interest Rate: .12 Daily 
Interest Rate: .000329 
Damages Damage Amt 2150000.00 Filing Fees: 275.00 Costs Pd to Court 120.00 Crt Ord Atty Fee: 
2383816.09 

Judgment Total: 6,753,168 04 
Further Orders: It is further ORDERED that a pennanent injunction is to enter: the defendants, their 
agents, servants, and employees are permanently enjoined from threatening, harassing, intimidating, 
photographing, or coercing, surveilling the plaintiffs, their immediate family members, employees, tenants, 
contractors, vendors and others lawfully on the property, and further are permanently enjoined from 
conduct which an objectively reasonable person would conclude has the effect of interfering with the 
plaintiffs' use and enjoyment of their property located at 29 Mattarest Lane, South Dartmouth, MA 027 48. 

NOTE: The judgment as it pertains to the award of $2,383,816.09 in attorneys fees and costs as well as 
the $395.00 and statutory costs are to be born jointly and severally defendant Timothy Haydock and 
defendant Barbara Moss. The single damages on the damage are to be born severally by the defendant. 

Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's EMERGENCY Motion to 
Enlarge Page Limits. 

Endorsement on Motion to Enlarge Page Limits (#221.0): ALLOWED 

Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Request for 
an exemplified copy of each judgment. 

Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Notice of 
Motion for Stay of Injunction Pending appeal Under Rule 62. 

Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Notice of 
Motion for Judgment on Notwithstanding the Verdict under Rule 50. 

Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Notice of 
Motion for New Trial Under Rule 59. 
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Case Details - Massachusetts Trial Court NG 

05/13/2024 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Notice of 
Rule 9E Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment 

05/14/2024 Attorney appearance electronically filed. 

05/14/2024 Attorney appearance 
On this date Tanya Thu Austin, Esq. added for Defendant-Intervenor Certain Underwriters at Lloyd's, 
London 

07/01/2024 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Assented to Motion to 
Enlarge Page Limits. 

07/02/2024 Endorsement on Motion to Enlarge Page Limits (#228.0): ALLOWED 
by agreement 

Judge: Fregault, Garrett R 

07/12/2024 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Motion for 
a New Trial. 

07/12/2024 Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Memorandum in support of Motion for a New Trial. 

07/12/2024 Affidavit in support of Motion for a New Trial. 

Applies To: Grammel, Esq., Sean (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant) 

07/12/2024 Opposition to Motion for a New Trial. filed by Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach 

07/12/2024 Reply/Sur-reply 

in support of Motion for a New Trial. 

Applies To: Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant); Moss, Barbara (Defendant) 

07/12/2024 Affidavit in support of Defendants' Reply in support of their Motion for a New Trial or Remittitur. 

Applies To: Grammel, Esq., Sean (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant) 

07/12/2024 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Notice of 
Filing and Rule 9A(b)(2) List of Documents Filed. 

07/12/2024 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Motion to 
Stay Permanent Injunction. 

07/12/2024 Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Memorandum in support of Motion to Stay Permanent Injunction. 

07/12/2024 Opposition to to Defendants' Motion to Stay Injunction filed by Margaret J. Reichenbach, John 
Reichenbach 

07/12/2024 Reply/Sur-reply 

in support of Defendants' Motion to Stay Permanent Injunction. 

07/12/2024 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Notice of 
Filing and Rule 9A(b)(2) List of Documents Filed. 

07/12/2024 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Motion for 
Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict 

07/12/2024 Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Memorandum in support of Defendants' Motion for Judgment 
Notwithstanding the Verdict 

07/12/2024 Affidavit in support of Defendants' Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict 

Applies To: Grammel, Esq., Sean (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant) 

07/12/2024 Opposition to Defendants' Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verd ict filed by Margaret J. 
Reichenbach, John Reichenbach 

07/12/2024 Exhibits/Appendix 

07/12/2024 Exhibits/Appendix 

07/12/2024 Exhibits/Appendix 

07/12/2024 Exhibits/Appendix 

File Image 
Ref Avail. 
Nbr. 
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07112/2024 Exhibits/Appendix 

07/12/2024 Exhibits/Appendix 

07112/2024 Reply/Sur-reply 

Case Details - Massachusetts Trial Court NG 

Defendants' Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict. 

Applies To: Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant); Moss, Barbara (Defendant) 

File Image 
Ref Avail. 
Nbr. 

231.3 0 
231.3 ~ e 

231.4 ~ e 

Image 

07/12/2024 Affidavit in support of Defendants' Reply in support of Defendants' Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding 231.5 ~ 
the Verdict. ,c, 

Applies To: Grammel, Esq., Sean (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant) 

07/12/2024 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Notice of 231.6 
Filing and Rule 9A(b}(2) List of Documents Filed. 

07/12/2024 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Motion to amend the 232 
or Alter Judgment. 

07/12/2024 Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Memorandum in support of Plaintiffs' Rule 59(e) Motion to 232.1 
Alter or Amend Judgments. 

07/12/2024 Opposition to Plaintiffs' Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend Judgments. filed by Timothy G. Haydock, 232.2 
Barbara Moss 

07/12/2024 Affidavit in support of Defendants' Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion to Alter or Amend Judgments. 232.3 

Applies To: Grammel, Esq., Sean (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant) 

07112/2024 Reply/Sur-reply 

in support of Plaintiffs' Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend Judgments. 

Applies To: Reichenbach, Margaret J. (Plaintiff); Reichenbach, John (Plaintiff) 

07/12/2024 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Notice of 
Rule 9A of Filing and List of Documents Filed. 

07/26/2024 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Request for 
Leave to File Brief Sur-Reply to Defendants' Motions for New Trial and Motion for Judgment 
Notwithstanding the Verdict. 

07/29/2024 Case sent to Bristol County - FALL RIVER Location. 
(last 2 jackets #212 on, sent to Judge Perrino) 

08/12/2024 Endorsement on Request for leave to file brief sur-reply to defendants' motions for new trial and motion for 
judgment notwithstanding the verdict (#233.0): ALLOWED 
proposed pleading shall be docketed. 

Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 

08/12/2024 Reply/Sur-reply 

Plaintiffs' Sur-Reply in Opposition to Defendants' Motion for a New Trial 

08/28/2024 Event Result:: Motion Hearing scheduled on: 
09/23/2024 02:00 PM 

Has been: Rescheduled For the following reason: Request of Plaintiff 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Staff: 

Aaron T Strojny, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Erin J Tierney, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Recording Device Bris CR 1, Court Reporter 

09/23/2024 Matter taken under advisement: Motion Hearing scheduled on: 
09/23/2024 10:00 AM 

Has been: Held - Under advisement 
Hon. Thomas J Perrino, Presiding 
Appeared 

Plaintiff 
Robert B Feingold, Esq., Private Counsel 
Brian A Fielding, Esq., Private Counsel 
Heather Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Private Counsel 

Defendant 
Melissa Cook All ison, Esq., Private Counsel 
Sean Grammel, Esq., Private Counsel 
Jonathan Elder, Esq., Private Counsel 
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Docket Text File Image 
Ref Avail. 

Staff: 
Aaron J Strojny, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Erin J Tierney, Assistant Clerk Magistrate 
Digital Recording Device Bris CR 1, Court Reporter 

10/16/2024 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Joint Motion for 
Entry of Protective Order. 

10/16/2024 Docket Note: 

Paper #235 referred to Judge Perrino 

10/22/2024 Endorsement on Motion for Entry of Protective Order (#235.0) ALLOWED 
(GRF/ACM) 

Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 

10/22/2024 Party(s) file Stipulation 
and Protective Order Regarding Confidential Information. 

Applies To: Reichenbach, Margaret J. (Plaintiff); Reichenbach, John (Plaintiff) 

Nbr. 

235 

236 

10/29/2024 Plaintiffs(s) Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's EMERGENCY Motion to 237 
Enjoin Defendant Barbara Moss from Dissipating or Alienating any Surplus Foreclosure Sale Proceeds. 
(Judge Perrino notified by email on 10/30/2024) 

10/29/2024 Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Memorandum in support of Enjoin Defendant Barbara 237.1 
Moss from Dissipating or Alienating any Surplus Foreclosure Sale Proceeds. 

10/29/2024 Affidavit of Robert B. Feingold in support of Plaintiffs' Emergency Motion to Enjoin Defendant Barbara 237.2 
Moss from Dissipating or Alienating any Surplus Foreclosure Sale Proceeds and Requiring an Escrow of 
Sale Proceeds 

10/30/2024 Defendants(s) Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Motion for 238 
Attachment of Real Property. 

10/30/2024 Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Memorandum in support of Plaintiffs' Motion for 238.1 
Attachment of Real Property of Defendants' Timothy G. Haydock and Barbara Ross. 

10/30/2024 Affidavit 238.2 

Applies To: Feingold, Esq., Robert B (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, Margaret J. (Plaintiff) 

10/30/2024 Opposition to to Plaintiffs' Motion for Real Estate of Real Property filed by Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara 
Moss 

10/30/2024 Victim Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Notice of 
Rule 9A of Filing and List of Documents Filed. 

11/01/2024 Opposition to to Plaintiffs' "Emergency" Motion to Enjoin Defendant Barbara Moss from Dissipating or 
Alienating any Surplus Foreclosure Sale Proceedings filed by Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss 

11/01/2024 Affidavit 

Appl ies To: All ison, Esq., Melissa Cook (Attorney) on behalf of Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant) 

11/01/2024 Affidavit 

Applies To: Moss, Barbara (Defendant) 

238.3 

238.4 

239 

239.1 

239.2 

11/05/2024 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's EMERGENCY Motion for 240 
Protective Order Regarding Depositions Scheduled for November 12, 2024 

11/05/2024 Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Memorandum in support of Emergency Motion for Protective Order 240.1 

11/05/2024 Affidavit of Barbara Moss 240.2 

11/05/2024 Affidavit of Melissa C. Allison, Esq. 240.3 

11/05/2024 Docket Note: #240 emailed to Judge Perrino 

11/06/2024 Opposition to Defendants' Emergency Motion for Protective Order Regarding Depositions Scheduled for 241 
November 12, 2024 filed by Plaintiffs 

11/06/2024 Reply/Sur-reply 242 

Plaintiffs' Reply to Defendants' Opposition to Plaintiffs' Emergency Motion to Enjoin Defendant Barbara 
Moss from Dissipating or Alienating Any Surplus Foreclosure Sale Proceeds 

11/07/2024 Docket Note: #241 & #242 emailed to Judge Perrino 
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Date 

Docket Text File Image 
Ref Avail. 

11/07/2024 Endorsement on Motion to Enjoin Defendant Barbara Moss from Dissipating or alienating any Surplus 
Foreclosure Sale Proceeds (#237.0): DENIED 
as an Emergency Motion, without prejudice, and may be refiled if necessary in the event of a sale by 
foreclosure or otherwise of the subject real property. (GRF/ACM) 

Nbr. 

11/07/2024 ORDER. the Defendant's Motion for Attachment of Real Property. The plaintiffs previously filed motion for 243 
real estate attachment was reviewed and on May 2, 2024 was endorsed no action taken at that time. The 
instant motion for attachment of real property, (P. #238), is based in part on G.L. 223, Sec. 86A. However, 
this not an action to "reach and apply" and an equitable attachment of the type authorized by that statute 
is not warranted. As such the motion is DENIED. (copies to counsel) (GRF/ACM) 

11/07/2024 Endorsement on Motion for Protective Order Regarding Depositions Scheduled for November 12, 2024 
(#240.0) ALLOWED 
After review and careful consideration of the circumstances presented, and for good cause shown, 
ALLOWED. The deposition of Timothy Haydock is not to be had and the deposition of Barbara Moss is 
postponed to a mutually convenient date no earlier than January 2025. (GRF/ACM) 

12/09/2024 Court received Petition Seeking Relief Pursuant to G.L. c. 231, §118, 111 related to appeal 

12/09/2024 Notice of docket entry received from Appeals Court 
Please take note that on December 9, 2024, the following entry was made on the docket of the above­
referenced case: 

Petition pursuant to G.L. c. 231, s. 118 filed for Margaret J Reichenbach and John Reichenbach by 
Attorney Kevin Powers. 

12/16/2024 Court received Defendants' Opposition to Plaintiffs' Petition related to appeal 

12/17/2024 Notice of docket entry received from Appeals Court 
Please take note that on December 17, 2024, the following entry was made on the docket of the above­
referenced case: 

RE#1: The plaintiffs have filed a single justice petition, pursuant to G.L. c. 231, s. 118, first par., seeking 
interlocutory review of two orders of the Superior Court (Perrino, J .) denying the plaintiffs' post-judgment 
motion for attachment of real property and post-judgment emergency motion for an injunction. As the 
docket reflects final judgments entered in this case on 5/3/24 , the single justice does not have the 
authority to review these orders. See Gibbs Ford, Inc. v. United Truck Leasing Corp., 399 Mass. 8, 10 
(1987) ("[l)f a final judgment has been entered . . . relief under the first paragraph of G.L. c. 231, s. 118, is 
not available."). Even if the petition was proper for review under G.L. c. 231, s. 118, I would deny the 
petition as the petitioners have not demonstrated that the trial court judge made a clear error or law or 
abused his discretion in denying the motions for real estate attachment and for injunctive relief. See Jet­
Line Services, Inc. v. Board of Selectmen of Stoughton, 25 Mass. App. Ct. 645, 646 (1988). Single justice 
relief is reserved for truly exceptional circumstances and should "be exercised in a stinting manner with 
suitable respect for the principle that the exercise of judicial discretion circumscribes the scope of 
available rel ief." Edwin Sage Co. v. Foley, 12 Mass. App. Ct. 20, 25 (1981). Moreover, the trial judge 
stated that the plaintiffs could refile if circumstances changed, for example, if a foreclosure sale was 
imminent. Accordingly, the petition is denied. (Neyman, J.). *Notice/attest/Perrino, J 

01/02/2025 MEMORANDUM & ORDER 

ON DEFENDANTS' MOTIONS TO STAY THE PERMANENT INJUNCTIO, FOR NEW TRIAL, AND FOR 
JUDGMENT NOT WITHSTANDING THE VERDICT, AND PLAINTIFFS' MOTION TO ALTER JUDGMENT; 
ORDER. It is hereby ORDERED that the defendants' motion for new trial (Paper 229), motion to stay the 
permanent injunction (Paper 230), and motion for judgment not withstanding the verdict (Paper 231 ), and 
the plaintiffs' motion to alter or amend the judgment (Paper 232), be DENIED. 

Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 

(Copies mailed to counsel on 1/3/2025) 

01/16/2025 Notice of appeal filed . 

Applies To: Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant); Moss, Barbara (Defendant) 

01/17/2025 Notice of Filing Notice of Appeal sent to Counsel 

01/17/2025 CD of Transcript of 12/18/2023 10:00 AM Motion Hearing received from Elena Mercurio, CVR. 

01/21/2025 CD of Transcript of 02/06/2023 09:00 AM Jury Trial, 02/07/2023 09:00 AM Jury Trial, 02/08/2023 09:00 AM 
Jury Trial, 02/09/2023 09:00 AM Jury Trial, 02/10/2023 09:00 AM Jury Trial, 02/13/2023 09:00 AM Jury 
Trial, 02/14/2023 09:00 AM Jury Trial, 02/15/2023 09:00 AM Jury Trial, 02/16/2023 09:00 AM Jury Trial, 
02/17/2023 09:00 AM Jury Trial, 02/27/2023 09:00 AM Jury Trial, 02/28/2023 09:00 AM Jury Trial, 
03/01/2023 09:00 AM Jury Trial, 03/02/2023 09:00 AM Jury Trial, 03/03/2023 09:00 AM Jury Trial received 
from Darlene M. Coppola, Registered Merit Reporter, Certified Realtime Reporters. 

01/22/2025 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Submission of 
Certification Under Mass. R. App. 8 Regarding Transcripts 
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Docket Text 

01/29/2025 Notice of appeal filed. 

Applies To Reichenbach, Margaret J. (Plaintiff}; Reichenbach, John (Plaintiff) 

02/04/2025 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Submission of 
Certification Under Mass. R App. P 8 Regard ing Transcripts 

02/05/2025 CD of Transcript of 02/24/2023 09:00 AM Motion Hearing, 09/23/2024 10:00 AM Motion Hearing, 
09/21/2023 02:00 PM Motion Hearing received from Darlene M. Coppola, RPR, RMR, CRR 

02/05/2025 Certification/Copy of Letter of transcript ordered from Court Reporter 01/12/2023 02:00 PM Hearing on 
Motion(s) in Limine, 01/13/202312:00 PM Hearing on Motion(s) in Limine, 02/01/2023 02:00 PM Final 
Trial Conference 

02/07/2025 Plaintiffs(s) Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Motion for 
Attachment of Real Property of Defendant Timothy G. Haydock 

02/07/2025 Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Memorandum in support of Plaintiffs' Motion for 
Attachment of Real Property of Defendant Timothy G. Haydock 

02/07/2025 Affidavit of Robert B. Feingold in Support of Plaintiffs' Motion for Attachment of Real Property of Defendant 
Timothy G. Haydock 

02/07/2025 Opposition to (#258) Plaintiffs' Third Post-Trial Motion for Attachment of Real Property filed by Timothy G. 
Haydock, Barbara Moss 

02/07/2025 Reply/Sur-reply 

Plaintiffs' Reply to Defendants' Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion for Attachment of Real Property of 
Defendant Timothy G. Haydock 

02/11/2025 Docket Note: 9A package regarding #258 emailed to Judge Perrino 

02/12/2025 Defendants Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss's Assented to Motion for 
Leave to File a Sur-Reply 

02/13/2025 Endorsement on Motion for Leave to File a Sur-Reply (#259.0): ALLOWED 

Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 

02/13/2025 Brief filed: Surreply 
in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Th ird Motion for Attachment 

Appl ies To: Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant); Moss, Barbara (Defendant) 

File 
Ref 
Nbr. 

254 

255 

256 

257 

258 

258.1 

258.2 

258.3 

258.4 

259 

260 

02/19/2025 CD of Transcript of 01/12/2023 02:00 PM Hearing on Motion(s) in Limine, 01/13/2023 12:00 PM Hearing 261 
on Motion(s) in Limine, 02/01/2023 02:00 PM Final Trial Conference received from Jennifer Ferris, 
Approved Court Transcr ber. 

02/28/2025 Endorsement on Motion for attachment of Real Property of Defendant Timothy G. Haydock (#258.0): 
ALLOWED 
Judgment in favor of the Plaintiff's having entered, the Plaintiffs post judgment real estate attachment is 
ALLOWED in the amount of $5,500,000.00. The plaintiffs have demonstrated post judgment security is 
reasonably necessary to provide security and satisfaction of the judgment entered in their favor where 
limited insurance proceeds and personal assets potentially available. (GRF/ACM) 

Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 

02/28/2025 Findings and Order for Approval of Plaintiff(s) Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Motion 
(#258.0) for a Real Estate Attachment as to Defendant Timothy G. Haydock in the amount of 
$5,500,000.00. 

Judge: Perrino, Hon. Thomas J 

03/04/2025 Writ of attachment issued approved in amount of $5,500,000.00 

Applies To: Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant) 

03/13/2025 Appeal: Statement of the Case on Appeal (Cover Sheet), bye-filing to the Appeals Court. 

Appl ies To: Reichenbach, Margaret J . (Plaintiff); Reichenbach, John (Plaintiff} 

03/13/2025 Appeal: Statement of the Case on Appeal (Cover Sheet), bye-filing to the Appeals Court. 

Applies To: Haydock, Timothy G. (Defendant); Moss, Barbara (Defendant) 

03/13/2025 Notice of assembly of record sent to Counsel 

Appl ies To: Bonnet-Hebert, Esq., Heather Marie (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, Margaret J . 
(Plaintiff); O'Connor, Esq., Kevin John (Attorney) on behalf of Automobile Insurance Company of Hartford, 
Connecticut (Travelers) (Defendant-Intervenor); Allison, Esq., Melissa Cook (Attorney) on behalf of Moss, 
Barbara (Defendant); Elder, Esq., Jonathan Thomas (Attorney) on behalf of Moss, Barbara (Defendant); 
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Docket 
Date 

Docket Text File Image 
Ref Avail. 

Feingold, Esq., Robert B (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, Margaret J. (Plaintiff); Austin , Esq., Tanya 
Thu (Attorney) on behalf of Certain Underwriters at Lloyd's, London (Defendant-Intervenor); Fielding, 
Esq., Brian A (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, Margaret J. (Plaintiff); Grammel, Esq., Sean (Attorney) 
on behalf of Moss, Barbara (Defendant); Carducci, Esq., Logan A (Attorney) on behalf of Automobile 
Insurance Company of Hartford, Connecticut (Travelers) (Defendant-Intervenor) 

03/13/2025 Notice to Clerk of the Appeals Court of Assembly of Record, bye-fil ing to the Appeals Court. 

03/13/2025 General correspondence regarding Assembly of Appeal sent to the Appeals Court, bye-filing to Appeals 
Court. 

Nbr. 

266 

266.1 

03/21/2025 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Motion to 267 
Compel Defendant Barbara Moss to Produce Tax Documents and Execute IRS and State of New York 
Authorization Forms to Allow Plaintiffs to Obtain Copies of Defendant's Tax Returns and other Tax 
Documents 

03/21/2025 Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Memorandum in support of Plaintiffs' Motion to Compel 267.1 
Defendant Barbara Moss to Produce Tax Documents and Execute IRS and State of New York 
Authorization Forms to Allow Plaintiffs to Obtain Copies of Defendant's Tax Returns and Other Tax 
Documents 

03/21/2025 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Motion to 268 
Compel Defendant Timothy Haydock to Produce Tax Documents and Execute IRS and State of New York 
Authorization Forms to Allow Plaintiffs Obtain Copies of Defendant's Tax Returns and Other Tax 
Documents 

03/21/2025 Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Memorandum in support of Motion to Compel Defendant 268.1 
Timothy Haydock to Produce Tax Documents and Execute IRS and State of New York Authorization 
Forms to Allow Plaintiffs to Obtain Copies of Defendant's Tax Returns and Other Tax Documents 

03/21/2025 Opposition to (#267 & 268) Plaintiffs' Motions to Compel filed by Timothy G. Haydock, Barbara Moss 269 

03/21/2025 Reply/Sur-reply 270 

Plaintiffs' Reply to Defendants' Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motions to Compel 

03/21/2025 Plaintiffs Margaret J. Reichenbach, John Reichenbach's Submission of 271 
Rule 9A Notice of Filing & List of Documents Filed 

Applies To: Feingold, Esq., Robert B (Attorney) on behalf of Reichenbach, Margaret J. (Plaintiff) 

04/01/2025 Appeal entered in Appeals Court on 03/27/2025 docket number 2025-P-0392 
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COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACBUSETIS 
JAN -2 2025 

BRISTOL, ss. SUPERIOR. COURT 
CIVRACTION 
NO. 2015-00938 

JENNIFE}", A. ciA.JIJ.VJ, ES!: 
CL5:,K I .vi-~!.: ST riATE 

MARGARET REICHENBACH & another• 

TIMOTHY HAYDOCK & another 

MEMORANDUM OF DECISION AND ORDER ON DEFENDANTS: 
MOTIONS TO Sf A)'_THE PERMANENT INJUNCTION1 FOR NEW TRIAL1 AND FOR 

.DJDGMENT NOT WITHSTANDING THE VERDICT1 AND PLAINTIFFS' MOTION. 
TO ALTER JUDGMENT 

The defendants. Timothy Haydock and Barbara Moss, bring three post-triaJ motions as 

follows: to stay the permanent injunction issued by this court during the pendency of appellate 

proceedings; for a new trial, on the groWlds of multiple legal and proc.edural errors; and for 

judgment notwithstanding the jury's verdict on multiple counts. The plaintiffs, Margaret mi 

John Reichenbach, oppose those motions and for their part, move to alter or amend tbe judgment 

seeking entry of an order that the defendants are jointly and severally liable for all damages 

awarded by the jUI)', For the reasons that follow. the parties' motions are DENIED in their 

entirety. 
\ 

DISCUSSION 

A. Motion to Stav the P.ermanent lniuoctioo. 

The defmdants seek m1der Mass. R. Civ. P. 62 (c) a stay ofthe permanent injunction 

issued in this case during the pendcncy of their appeal of the judgment Mass. R. av. P. 62 {c) 

1 John Reichenbach 

z Barbara Moss 
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(where party appeals from "final judgment granting ... an injunction, the court in its discretion 

may suspend [or] modify [the] injunction during the pendency of the appeal upon such terms as 

t-0 bond or otherwise as it considers proper for the security of the rights of the adverse party"). 

"An appellant seeking a stay pending appeal must ordinarily meet four tests: (1) the likelihood of 

appellant's success on the merits; (2) the likelihood of irreparable harm to appellant if the court 

denies the stay; (3) the absence of substantial harm to other parties if the stay issues; and (4) the 

absence of harm to the publi9 interest from granting the stay." C.E. v. J.E., 472 Mass. I 016, 

1017 (2015), quoting J.W. Smith & H.B Zobel, Rules Practice§ 62.3 at 409 (2d ed. 2007). 

The def end ants argue a likelihood to success on the merits of their appeal as to the 

injunction, on the basis that the injunction is unconstitutionally vague and overbroad. The 

defendants further argue that they have a significant likelihood of irreparable hann from 

remaining subject to the assertedly vague and overbroad injunction during the appeal, where, 

according to the defendants, as here there is no risk of substantial hann to the plaintiffs or the 

public interest if such stay is granted, and where the defendants have not engaged in acts of 

harassment for some period of time. 

Upon review of the injunction in light of the defendants' arguments and the plaintiffs' 

arguments in opposition, the defendants have not demonstrated a likelihood of success on the 

merits of their appeal sufficient to warrant a stay. See C.E., 472 Mass. at 1017. The words of 

the injunction are sufficiently clear and cabined within the restrictions necessary to protect the 

plaintiffs from further harassment, particularly wen considered in the context of the protracted 

and committed course of unJawful conduct as found by the jury to have been undertaken by the 

defendants in this case. See Planned Parenthood League of Mass., Inc. v. Bell, 424 Mass. 573, 

585 (1997) (injunction properly considered full extent of defendants' unprotected conduct); 

Planned Parenthood League of Mass., Itzc_ v. Blake, 417 Mass. 467, 480-481 (1994) (order 

2 
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enjoining parties from "aiding or abetting directly or indirectly'' sufficiently clear); 

Commonwealth v. Adams, 416 Mass. 558, 567 (1993) (order enjoining use of excessive force not 

overbroad in light of intentional misconduct). 

That deficiency alone is sufficient to deny the defendants' motion. However, it is also 

observed that there is minimal, if any, support for the defendants' claims that there is a "high 

likelihood" they wi II suffer irreparable harm from a denial of the stay due potential 

weaponization of the injunction by the plaintiffs in response to "innocuous conduct" by the 

defendants, their neighbors. See C.E. ,  472 Mass. at 10 17. The defendants have not offered 

evidence of any past abuse of civil process· by the plaintiffs, and it would be pure speculation to 

assert that any such conduct wouJd now occur during the pendency of the appeal. To the 

contrary, a basis for this court's  issuance of the injunction, i.e., the defendants' protracted and 

extensive use of multiple avenues of regulatory and direct harasment of the plaintiffs, 

demonstrates, why the defendants are \lllable to establish the third factor, that there is little 

likelihood of harm to the plaintiffs from a stay of that injunction. Id. 

Accordingly, the defendants' motion for a stay must be DENIED and the -permanent 

injunction shail remain in place during the pendency of the appellate proceedings. 

B. Motion for New Trial 

"( A J new trial should be granted only when 'on a survey of the whole case, it appears to 

the judge that otherwise a miscarriage of justice would result. "' Fitzpatrick v. Wendy 's Old 

Fashioned Hamburgers of New York, Inc. , 487 Mass. 507, 5 1 4  (2021 ), quoting Wojicld v. 

Caragher, 447 Mass. 200, 2 1 6  (2006). See Mass. R. Civ. P .  59. A j udge should exercise 

discretion to set aside a jury verdict only when the verdict ''is so greatly against the weight of the 

evidence as to irn;l.uce in [the judge's] mind the strO[lg belief that it was not due to a careful 
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consideration of the evidence, but that it was the product of bias, misapprehension or prejudice" 

(internal quotations omitted). Turnpike Motors, Inc. v. Newbury Group, Inc. , 413  Mass. 1 19, 

127 (1 992). A jury's damages award must stand unless ''the damage awarded were greatly 

disproportionate to the injury proven or represented a miscarriage of justice," Labonte v. 

Hutchins & Wheeler, 424 Mass. 8 1 3, 824 ( 1997), quoting doCanto v. Ametek, Inc. , J61 Mass. 

776, 787 (1975), or "are 'so great . _ . that it may reasonably be presumed that the j ury, in 

assessing them, did not exercise a sound discretion, but were influenced by passion, partiality, 

prejudice or conuption. "' Reclds v. Johnson & Johnson, 47 1 Mass. 272 , 299 (20 1 5), quoting 

Bartley v. Phillips, 3 1 7  Mass. 35, 4 J  · (-1 944). 

Here, the defendants offer a variety of arguments in ·support of their motion for new trial. 

First, they argue that the jury's  verdict goes against the weight of the evidence as to the date of 

accrual of the plaintiffs' civil rights claim (Count I) and intentional interference claim (Count 

ill). Second, they argue that the damages awarded as to the civil rights, intentional interference, 

and trespass claims are excessive and unsupported by the evidence at trial. Third, they argue that 

they were prejudiced by misconduct of plantiffs' counsel and various legal errors in the rulings 

of this court during the trial, including its ruling regarding alleged spoliation of evidence 

potentially existing on Moss' digital devices. The court will address each of these arguments in 

tum. 

l .  Accrual of Claims 

At trial and in thei r motion, the defendants argue that the plaintiffs' civil rights and 

intentional interference claims a,ccrued at the latest during the summer of20l l , and thus tbat 

such claims fell outside the statute of limitations period. In returning verdicts in favor of the 

plaintiffs, the jury inferentially determined that such claims accrued on or after October I ,  2012.  

4 
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The defendants argue that this is clear error and against the weight of the trial evidence, the 

plaintiffs oppose and point to conflicting evidence on this issue. 

The acrual of a cause of'action is a question of fact which here was properly submitted 

to the jury on both the civil rights and intentional interference claims. The jury was properly 

instructed and after due deliberation found that the plaintiffs' cause of action arrived on or after 

October l ,  2012 .  The record reflects that sufficient evidence supported the jury's deliberation. 

The evidence at trial included the testimony of Mrs. Reichenbach that she believed Moss was 

threatening the plaintiffs by January 201 1 at the latest, and Mr. Reichenbach that he felt coerced 

and harassed by Moss' threats in the period leading up to June 201 l .  However, the evidence also 

included Moss' denial of the existence and intent of such threats, as well as the defenqants' 

second round of petitioning activity starting in the summer of 201 3. Likewise, the record reflets 

extensive evidence of delays to the construction projet and cost increases that occurred prior to 

October 20 12, but also included evidence of subsequent incidents including Haydock's berating 

of the plaintiffs' contractor and Moss ' nighttime trespass. 

Considering this conflicting evidence as a whole, the defendants have not demonstrated 

that the weight of the evidence conflicts with the jury's determination that the plaintiffs' causes 

of action accrued after October 1 ,  2012, particularly as to when the plaintiffs became aware that 

the defendants' actions were intentionally coercive ad/or improper in motive or means. 

Accordingly, a new trial is not warranted on the basis of the date of accrual of either the civil 

rights or intentional interference claims. 

2. Proof of Damages 

The defendants further argue that the damages awarded by the jury for the civil rights, 

intentional interference, and trespass claims were clearly excessive, and thus require a new trial 

5 
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evidence the jury could find credible that the initial cost estimates were beteen four and six 

million dollars, and that as a result of the delays arising from the defendants' intentional 

interference, the final amom1t pa1d by the plaintiffs was in excess of ten million dollars. · In 1ighi 

of this evidence, this court cannot conclude that the jury's award of two million dollars in 

damages was disproportionate, let alone greatly disproportionate� to the dam,3ges proven at trial. 

See Labonte, 424 Mass. at 824. 

Neither a new trial nor remittitur is warranted as to the intentional interference award. 

b. Massachusetts Civil Rights Act 

Next, the defendants argue that the damages awarded for the defendants' violations of the 

plaintiffs' civil rights was unreasonable and also should be reduced under remittitur or subject to 

a new trial. 

In its verdict on this claim, the jury found that each defndant used threats, intimidation. 

or coercion to interfe�t; with c;>r attempt to interfere with the plaintiff's constitutional rights to use, 

ertjoy and improve their property. The evidence of the defendant's conduct supports the finding 

by the jury that the defendants interfered with the plaintiff's property rights. There was evidence 

which the jury could find credible that defendant Moss, with defendant Haydock's lmowledge, 

engaged in a campaign to prevent the plaintiffs from the building the home per approved plans. 

This course of conduct included numerous permitting appeals and repeatedly contacting town 

regulators, i.e. the conservation agent., to demand site inspections for minimal discrepancies and 

concerns over the project. Additionally, the defendant's constant presence around the site while 

contractors were working and while. the plaintiffs were at home provides sufficient evidence to 

support the jury's determination. 

The jury awarded damages in the amoWit of $ 1 . 5 million as compensation for the 

violation of the plaintiff's civil rights. The jury were properly instructed regarding damages 
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generally and in particular as to trus claim. For instace, -the jury was instructed that "you must 

not speculate, engage in conjecture, or guess in awarding damages . . .'' and that any award 

"should be based on just and reasonable inferences-." As to this claim the jury were instructed on 

categories of damages to consider, such as emotional distress, that is mental pain.and suffering, 

meaning "nervous shock, anxiety, embarrassment or mental anguish resulting from violation of 

civil rights." Additionally, the jury was instructed as to loss of use and enjoyment of the 

property, compensation for "the diminution of the enjoyment of the use of their property." The 

jury was also instructed that it could consider out of pocket costs. The jury were instructed that 

if they awarded damages for categories, that they were to add them up to arrive at a total award. 

Besides out of pocket costs discussed above, the jury received testimony from both 

plaintiffs regarding their mental anguish and anxiety while present and attempting tQ use and 

enjoy their property . Emotional di.stress damages are "inherently difficult to prove y.ritb 

certainty, to rebut, and to evaluate.'' Labonte, 424 Mass. at 825, quoting Keohane v. Stewart, 

882 P.2d 1293, 1 305 (Colo. 1 994), cert. denied., 5 1 3  U.S. 1 1 27 (1995). Here, the weight ofthe 

evidence, considered in total and in a light most favoable to the plaintiffs, demonstrated that the 

defendants' extreme and protracted attempts to interfere with the plaintiffs' ability to build their 

new home.and enjoy their property caused significant distress to the plaintiffs. It was for the jury 

to assess and weigh that evidence. This court cannot conclude that the jury's award is greatly 

disproportionate to that distress, or that the award was otherwise based on conjecture, 

speculation, or guessing. Id at 824. Neither a new trial nor remittitur is warranted as to the 

civil rights award. 

c. Trespass 

Last, the court considers the defendants' arguments that the damages awarded. for the 

defendants' physical trespass on the plaintiffs' property were unreasonable such that a new trial 

8 
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or remittitur should be ordered. Specifically , the defendants argue that because there was no 

evidence of physical property damage from the trespasses, the damage award could only have 

been based OD emotional distress, and such compensation for emotional distress was excessive 

and duplicative of that awarded for the civil rights claim. As above, this court concludes that the 

defendants have failed to meet their burden to demonstrate that the damages award was greatly 

disproportionate to the evidence of the emotional distress suffered by the plaintiffs as a result of 

the trespass, or otherwise duplicative of the damages awarded on the civil rights claim. 

On the d_etailed verdict slip, the jury found that both defendants trespassed on the 

plaintiff's property and awarded $200,qOO.OO in damages. Of that total, thejury attributed 

$ 150,000 to Moss' conduct and $50,000 to Haydock's conduct. Prior to reaching that verdict. 

the jury was instructed that damages awards should not be duplicative; that trespass damages are 

compensatory, not punishment; and that damages also could be awarded for damage to the 

property. The jury was also .instructed as to emotional distress damages caused by the trespass, 

including consideration of the nature and type of te alleged hann; the severity or extent of harm; 

and the length of time the plaintiffs suffered and reasonably expect to suffer. 

The jury received the following evidence regarding trespass tipon which it could have 

based its verdict and damages award. Moss was observed walking in the darkness by a witness 

who thought Moss was on the plaintiffs' property. [n another incident, Haydock entered on the 

plaintiffs' property, proceeded to the pool area, and engaged in a verbal altercation with the 

plaintiffs' building contractor. Additionally, the jury received circumstantial evidence from 

which it reasonably could infer that one or both of the defendants had been physically present, 

but unobserved by witnesses, on the plaintiffs' property at other times throughout the parties' 

period of conflict. Such circumstantial evidence included a glass door which had been 

discovered to be broken without any explanation, a -hole cut in a security fence, the appearance of 

9 
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a lobster pot buoy in the plaintiffs' pool, and the repeated removal of survey stakes from the 

groWld on the plaintiffs' property by unknown persons. The jury's consideration of the weight 

of this evidence is consistent with a finding that the defendants physically trespassed on the 

plaintiffs' property in a manner which resulted in emotional distress, physical damage to the 

plaintiffs' property, or both these harms. 

Te defendants have offered no more than speculation to support their assertion that the 

trespass damages award is duplicative of the awatd for emotional distress arising from the civil 

tights claim. The verdict slip was detailed and completed by the jury in a manner that provides 

no indication that it treated the civil rights and trespass claims as a single entity, including the 

assignment of two entirely distinct sums for the damages indicated for each claim. On :this 

record, there is no basis to abandon the legal presumption that the jury followed the extensive 

instructions it received as to damages and non-duplication. See Van Liew v. Eliopoulos, 92 

Mass. App. Ct 1 1 4, 128, rev. denied, 478 Mass·. 1 105 (20 1 7) Gury presumed to have followed 

instructions). 

Further, even assuming that the defendants are correct that the jury's damages award was 

based solely on emotional distress (and therefore excluded any costs ofrepairing the door, fence, 

and stakes), emotional distress damages are inherently difficult to quantify and therefore 

inherently difficult to rebut or evaluate. Labonte, 424 Mass. at 825. In view of all the evidence 

presented, this court concludes that there is no apparent miscarriage of justice where the jury 

could reasonably have assigned separate emotional distress damages for the defendants' physical 

trespass in reflection of the unique and heightened emotional injury to a sense of safety that 

occUJs when a hostile individual intentionally enters a person's exclusive residential property 

(particularly at night), rather than merely engages in a campaign harassment from public spaces 

or through regulatory channels. See e.g. R. C. v. R.K ,  98 Mass. App. Ct. 1 1 06, at * 1 -2, * 5 (2020) 
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(unpub.) (remittitur not warranted for award of $50,000 in emotional distress damages from 

defendant neighbors' trespass on plaintiffs' property; trespass damages were independent of 

damages for abuse of process by filing false police report and invasion of privacy through 

installation of cameras watching plaintiffs• backyard). 

The defendants have not met their burden to demonstrate that a new trial on or remittitur 

of trespass damages is warranted on the basis that such damages are excessive or duplicative. 

3. Spoliation 

The defendants argue that a new trial is warranted where the court erred in permitting the 

plaintiffs to inquire about Moss' des4'Uction or discarding of a computer and/or other digital 

storage devices which the plaintiffs alleged may have contained photographs taken.by Moss of 

the plaintiffs' property during the pendency of the conduct at issue in tms case, despite this 

court's finding that the plaintiffs bad not demonstrated any spoliation had occurred where the 

alleged photographs wer-e not known to actually have existed. The plaintiffs oppose, asserting 

that the court's decision to decline to give an adverse-inference instruction, but permit inquiry 

into the underlying subject of the computer and potential photographs, was proper. 

The court's decision on spoliation was read into the record during the trial, after the 

plaintiffs.' motion to reconsider the court's original order. The decision is reproduced in its 

entirety in the margin.3 

3 The court' s decision was read into the record on February 17, 2023, as follows: 
"As to spoliation, the plaintiffs assert that Mrs. Moss, while aware that disc-0very was ongoing and after she 

was advised by her then attorney preserve electron ic devices, including the Lenovo laptop at issue, she lost or 
otherwise disposed of the laptop. The discovery sought by the plaintiffs included photographs taken while Jl,1rs. 
Moss was at or about the subject property while work was being perfonned. The plaintiffs claim that evidence 
demonstrates diat Moss was present at the site constantly or all the time while work was performed, walking or 
standing general ly and always or frequently taking pictures, particularly the time period that the motion focuses on 
is October of 20 1 l through March of 20 13  The plaintiffs assert that based on that evidence, such pictures should 
exist and none were provided during that time over October 20 1 I to March 20 1 3, although there were a couple in 
early October and one later in March, so I'm not sure of the particular dates. The plaintiffs essentµtlly argue that 
because witnesses will or have testified that Mrs. Moss was present taking pictures often while those witnesses were 
on site working during that time period, the pictures must exist and these pictures must have been stored on the 
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destroyed or discarded laptop and other electronic devices if that's the case, I believe there was some reference to 
flash drives or thwnb drives. 

The plaintiffs [sic} argue Mrs. Moss was not around as often as the plaintiff's witnesses contend, 
specifical ly during the time from October 20 1 1 to March 20 1 3  and the.t numerous pictures were in fact produced. 
Mrs. Moss concedes the laptop was discarded bec;ause it was not working properly and that she removed material 
from the laptop to other devices. 

By way of a motion in limine, the plaintiffs raised this issue and after bearing argument on the motion, the 
motion was denied as follows: 'Aft6T hearing argument and on consideration of the motion, which presents as a 
sanction the entry of default against these defendants, the motion is DENTED. The plaintiffs have not identified 
evidence that was intentionally or negligently destroyed, nor have they demonstrated unfair prejudice resulting from 
the conduct or the alleged missing evidence, photographs which may have been taken during a particular time 
period.' 

The plaintiffs now seek reconsideration of that decision. The plaintiffs argue error in applying an incorrect 
standard and improperly imposing a burden of proof on the plaintiffs. As to the motion for reconsideation, the 
plaintiffs have the burden of showing a demonstrable error in the original ruling. 

A party to litigation has a duty to preserve evidence once that party reasonably should know that the 
evidence might be relevant to the.action, Fletcher v. Dorchester Mut. Ins. Co., 437 Mass. 544, 550 (2002). Here, 
Mrs. Moss, as a party to the l itigation, had a duty to preserve evidence. Additionally, she had some awareness that 
discovery was ongoing and that the plaintiffs were seeking photographs and were interested in an analysis of 
electronic devices where photographs might be stored. Also, her then attorney represented to plainiffs' counsel that 
he would be receiving the laptop, in essence that it would be preserved. Mrs. M9ss claims that photographs and 
other information from the laptop were transferred to a ' flashdrive' and that numerous photographs were produced 
in discovery. She also claims that she was not around the propeny as frequently during that time period. 

Unl ike many of the Massachusetts reported cases where a particular item is or was known to exist and was 
either lost, destroyed or otherwise altered, the plaintiffs here cannot identify photographs known to exist that now 
does [sic] not The plain_tiffs have a threshold burden on that issue as it is fundamental to spoliation that the moving 
party must show tii.anhere is evidence that was been spoiled. Scottv. Garfield, 454 Mass. 700 (2009). However, 
even assuming the laptop contained evidence that might be relevant, it must be evidence which effects adversely the 
plaintiffs' ability to prosecute lheir claim, in other words the plaintiffs must be prejudiced by the missing evidence. 
Fletcher v. Dorchester Mut. ins. Co., 437 Mass. 544, 550 (2002). Here the plaintiffs claim that photographs taken 
by M9ss will corroborate testjmony of otlter wimesses, the plaintffs, Mr. Olson, and others working on site who 
have or will testify that Mrs. Moss was present the entire time and when she was, she always, frequently, or often 
had a camera or cell phone. For instance, Mr. Olson testified that during the six year or so project, he estimated a 
portion of which she was tere every day, he saw Moss about 300 times. Otller witnesses have or will testify in the 
same general manner. Thus, the photographs which the plaintiffs claim must exist are important to them to 
corroborate other evidence, to perhaps undennine Mrs. Moss's credibil ity, and to corroborate other evidence of her 
attempts to deprive the plaintiffs of their civil rights and interfere with their contract with their building contractor, 
Olson. 

The plaintiffs' ability to prosecute their claims are not prejudiced by the lack of photographs during the 
asserted lime period. The plaintiffs' witnesses have or will testify as to when Mrs. Moss was present and what she 
was doing when those observations were made. Additionally, the plaintiffs are not prohibited from examining Mrs. 
Moss on this issue. Here, through other evidence the plaintiffs can sti l l show Mrs. Moss ' s  presence and activities 
during th.e specific time period, October 20 1 l to March 20 1 3. As such, the lack of photographs during that time 
period does not prevent or prejudice the plaintiffs from offering evidence in support of their claims. Fletcher at 55  I 
(court noting that where the contents or salient characteristics of the original item can stil l be shown, there is no 
damage from any spoliation). 

So to the extent the plaintiffs' motion seeks reconsideration, it is denied. And likewise for the additional 
relief requested, as the plaintiff do have an initial burden which they have not satisfied and as such they did not 
show clear or demonstrable error. However, again, noth ing prevents the plaintiffs from inquiring and el iciting 
evidence concerning the topic, including but not limited to Moss's presence during the time period at issue, her 
activities, whether she took photographs, and where and when and how the photographs were stored. Additionally, 
the plaintiffs may inquire about the laptop and the reasons and circumstances as to why it was disposed of or 
otherwise discarded." 
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"Under the doctrine of spoliation, a judge can impose sanctions against a litigant who 

'negligently or intentionally loses or destroys evidence that the litigant . . .  knows or reasonably 

·should know might be relevant to a possible action, even when the spoliation occurs before an 

action has been commenced. ' "  Santiago v. Rich Prods. Corp. , 92 Mass. App. Ct. 577 , 580-58 1 

(201 7), quoting Scott v. Garfield, 454 Mass. 790, 798 (2009). However, even if a party is a 

spoliator, spoliation principles do not properly act to bar an opposing party, who did not 

themselves cause the spoliation, from using testimony of the spoliating party as to the item or 

evidence spoiled. See Kippenhan v. Chaulk Services, Inc. � 428 Mass. 124, 128 (1998) (even if 

ambulance company ultimately determined to have spoiled evidence of defective stretcher, it was 

error for judge to bar personal injury plaintiffs who did not cause disappearance of stretcher from 

using testimony 9f ambulance attendants concerning pre-accident condition of stretcher). 

Mo�eover, where a party claiming spoliation has not demonstrl'}ted prejudice from the allegedly 

lost evidence, and thus is not entitled to· an adverse-inference instruction, the party may 

nevertheless explore at trial the facts W1derlying th.e allegedly lost items. See Santiago, 92 Mass. 

App. Ct. at 582 (where plaintiffs had not shown that loss of documents occurred after accident at 

issue, nor how alleged spoliation prejudiced plaintiffs, judge did not err in allowing plaintiffs ''to 

make use of the fact that the documents were Jost," including cross-examination of defendants' 

employees "at length about the missing documents"). 

In light of these principles, the defendants' position that the plaintiffs should have been 

barred from making any mention of Moss' computer and digital storage at trial, simply because 

the plaintiffs were not able to deQionstrate th.at pictures of their property were actually contained 

on.the, computer and digital storage discarded by Moss while she was aware that such items 

should be preserved, and thus had not established spoliation that would permit this court to 

exercise its discretion to give an adverse-inference instruction is not persuasive. In short, the 
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defendants attempt to use the spoliation threshold 8$ a shield for themselves, rather than 

complain that te plaintiffs did not meet the requirements to use a spoliation remedy as a sword. 

The defendants are not entitled to a new trial on this basis. 

4. Remaining Claims 

Tbe defendants' remaining claims that a new trial is warranted on the basis of various 

admitted and excluded evidence, conduct of counsel, and closing arguments were amply 

addressed during the trial proceedings and raise no new meritorious arguments here. Such 

claims are not sufficient to demonstrate the defendants' entitlement to a new trial, remittitur, or a 

new trial on damages. The defendants' motion is therefor, DENIED. 

C. Motion for Judgment Not Withstanding, the Verdict 

Rule 50 (b) of the Massachusetts Rules of Civil Procedure governs motions for judgment 

notwithstap_ding the verdict. Judgment notwithstanding the verdict "should be granted cautiously 

and sparingly, and should only be granted if the trial judge is satisfied that the jury 'failed to 

exercise an honest and reasonable judgment in accordance with the controlling principles of 

law,,, (internal citation omitted). Netherwood v. American Fed'n of State, County and Murr. 

Employees, Local 1 725, 53 Mass. App. Ct. 1 I ,  20 (2001 ), quoting Turnpike Motors, Inc. v. 

Newbury Group Inc., 4 1 3  Mass. 1 1 9, 1 27 (1 992) . "[T]he judge' s task, ' taking into account all 

the evidence in its aspect most favorable to tlie [non-movant], [is] to determine whether, without 

weighing the credibility of the witnesses or otherwise considering the weight of the evidence, the 

jury reasonably could return a verdict for the [nonmovant)."' Cambridgeport Savings f3ank v.· 

Boersner, 41 3 Mass. 432, 438 (1992), quoting Tosti v. Ayik, 394 Mass/ 482, 494 ( 1985). Stated 

differently, the court must detennine whether "anywhere in the evidence, from whatever source 

derived, any combination of circumstances could be found from which a reasonable inference 
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could be made in favor of the [nonmovant] ." O 'Brien v. Pearson, 449 Mass. 377, 383 (2007), 

quoting Turnpike Motors, Inc. v. Newbury Group, Inc. , 413  Mass. 1 1 9, 1 2 1  ( 1992). Importantly, 

"a judge has no right to set aside a verdict merely because [the judge personally] would have 

assessed the damages in a different amount." Hastings Assocs., Inc. v. _Local 369 Bldg. Fund, 

Inc. , 42 Mass. App Ct. 1 62, 1 7 1  n. 13  (1 997), quoting So/imene v. B. Grauel & Co. ,  K G. ,  399 

Mass. 790, 803 ( l 987). 

J. Massachusetts Civil Rigl,ts Violations 

The defendants argue that the evidence at trial did not establish a civil rights violation by 

either Moss or Haydock. To prevail on an MCRA claim, a plaintiff must show that ( l )  the 

plaintif( was engaged in the exercise or enjoyment of rights secured by the State or Federal 

constitutions, (2) the defendant interfered, or tried to interfere, with that secured right; and (3) the 

interference was carried out through threats, intimidation, or coercion. Glovsky v. Roche Bros. 

Supermarkets; Inc. , 469 Mass. 752, 762 (201 4). 

· Here it is undisputed that the plaintifs were engaging in the exercise of their right to 

inhabit and construct a home on their real property. Thus, the issue before the court is whether 

there was sufficient evidence at trial, taken in the light most favorable to the plaintiffs as the non­

moving parties, that both defendants interfered or tried to interfere with this right and did so 

through threats, intimidation, or coercion. 

There is ample evidence that both defendants attempted to stop the plaintiffs from 

enjoying their property by at le.ast delaying or increasing the difficulty of using the property to 

construct a residence: the defendants challenged the plaintiffs' building plans before .the 

conservation commission on several occasions; appealed the plaintiffs' building pennit; sought 

multiple adjudicatory hearings with the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection; 

sought board of health hearings on the plaintiffs' septic plans; caused the cemoval of the 
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plaintiffs' property line survey stakes multiple times; and interrogated, berated, and harassed the 

plaintiffs' project workers from the defendants' property line or public areas on multiple 

. occasions. There was additional evidence of Moss' interference: she attempted to stop the 

plaintiffs' workers from fixing a security fence by accusing them of trespassing, and yeJled at the 

plaintiff's utility workers and attempted to stop the installati'on of an electrical transformer. 

Tue defendants nevertheless argue that these actions were not "threats, intimidation, or 

coercion," and thus cannot constitute evidence of a civil rights violation by either defendant. 

This does not comport with case law interpreting• coercion to include a combination of physical 

interactions and use of regulatory obstruction methods to interfere with property development. 

See e.g. Bell v. Mazza, 394 Mass. 1 76, 1 79-1 80, 1 84 (1985) (plaintiffs sufficiently stated civil 

rights claim where defendant neighbors warned plaintiff they "would do 'anything, ' 'at any 

cost" ' to prevent construction of tennis court, then wrote letters, called police and fire 

departments, formed association to. prevent construction, threatened to sue construction 

contractor, attempted to interfere with utility company's providing of electrical service to 

plaintiffs, and in one instance physically blocked plaintiffs movements); Ayasli v. Armstrong, 

56 Mass. App. Ct. 740, 753 (2002) (sufficient evidence of civil rights claim where plaintiffs 

t�stified they felt "threatened and intimidated" by defendants statements that "they would do 

everything they could to stop any further work" 6n plaintiffs '  house, pursuit of regulatory 

conditions that "would have severely limited [plaintiffs'] use of the renovated house, placement 

of a camera directed at plaintiffs' home during renovation, berating of plaintiffs' contractor as "a 

dupe" and appeal of building permit, occasional allowance of defendants' dogs across plaintiffs' 

property line, and hitting of golf balls across plaintiffs' property at times). 
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Accordingly, there is ample evidence, taken in a light most favorable to the plaintiffs as 

the non-moving party, that both defendants' actions met the second and third elements of a civil 

rights claim. As such the defendants' motion must be DENIED as to this claim. 

2. Trespass 

The defendants also argue that there was insufficient evidence to prove that either Moss 

or Haydock trespassed on the plaintiffs' property. As discussed in detil above with respect to 

the defendants' motion for new trial, there. was sufficient evidence, taken in a light most 

favorable to the plaintiffs, for the jury to find that Haydock had entered the property to confront a 

contractor by the pool without any permission from the plaintiffs or their contractor, and that 

Moss had been observed walking out of an area of the _property at night in a manner that 

permitted the jury to infer she bad been intentionally physically present on the property moments 

earlier withou  permission. Additional�y, there was circumstantial evidence of property damage 

on the premises which, taken in a. light most favorable to the plaintiffs, the jury could have 

credited to infer that one or both defendants entered or directed others to enter the property to 

effectuate (including the repeated removal of survey stakes, damage to a door, a hole in a fence, 

and a float placed in the pool). The jury was entitled to �redit the plaintiffs' testimony regarding 

the physical and psychological impact of these intrusions, and find that the trespass had resulted 

in harm. 

In shor, there. was ample evideoce, taken in a light most favorable to the plaintiffs, 

establishing that each defendant had trespassed on at least one occasion. The defendants' motion 

must be DENIED as to this claim. 

3. Intentional lnterfere11ce with Contractual Relations 

1 7  
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The defendants argue that the plaintiffs failed to prove that the defendants' conduct 

intentionally interfered with the plaintiffs' contractual relations in building their home, because 

the plaintiffs did not show that their contractpr breached his contract, that the defendants 

prevented the plaintiffs from perfonn.ing or caused them to breach, or that the defendants caused 

the plaintiffs' performance to be more burdensome or expensive. 

As discussed above with respect to the defendants' motion for new trial, there is ample 

evidence, taken in a l.ight most favorable to the plaintiffs, that the contract cost to complete the 

construction project increased from between four and six million dollars to in excess of ten 

million dollars largely as a result of t4e defendants' intentional interference. This is sufficient to 

establish that the plaintiffs' performance became ipore expensive, and thus sufficient to prove 

that element of the claim.4 See Shafir v. Steele, 43 1 Mass. 365, 368-369 (2000). Further, there 

is ample evidence, taken in a light most favorable to the plaintiffs, that the defendants had 

improper means and motive for their interference (including their repeated regulatory 

obstructionism, berating of workers on site, and other conduct detailed above), and that such 

interference was directed at the plaintiffs themselves due to personal animus (including, inter 

alia, Moss' statement that she planned to "torture" the plaintiffs). For those reasons, the 

defendants' motion must be DENIED as to this claim. 

D. Motion to AJter or Amend the Judgment 

The defendants argue in their motion for new trial tllat the pl�imiffs' theory of intentional interference 
with contractual relations changed during the course of trial and that rulings made on this claim significantly 
prejudicial the defendants. However at the argument on the defendant's motion'for a direct verdict, the issues of the 
nature of the claim were squarely presented. The court' s written decision denying the defendants motion for 
directed verdict outlines that the plaintiff's complaint set forth facts for the claim, defendants' characterization of the 
claim notwithstanding. While the complaint does not use the phrase "more expensive or burdensome," the 
complaint does plainly allege the plaintiffs suffered economic hann by delays, additional work perfoimed by their 
contractor, and significant additional costs to the project Accordingly, tills basis alone is sufficient to conclude tbat 
the plaintiffs met their burden to prove intentional interference with contractual relations. 
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The plaintiffs move pursuart to Mass. R. Civ. P. 59 (e) to alter or amend~ judgments 

entered at trial, such that the single damages awarded against each def euiant are entered as 

jointly and severally, rather than.merely severally. Theplain6ffs argue that the several damages 

award arose from the alt.erations of the verdict slip in response to the intervention of the 

insurance carriers with regards to rove.rage apportionment, and that it was legal error to awatd 

several damages only wbel'e the jwy found both defendants liable on each claim. The court 

credits the defendants' argument that the hann from the defendants' conduct could be and was 

separated by the jury, and also tha1 the plaintiffs submitted their own verdict slip with ao 

allocation of damages for each defendant, and did not object to the inclusion of same on the 

defendants' verdict slip.5 Accordingly, the plaintiffs' motion must be DENIED. 

ORDER 

It is hereby ORDERED, that the defendants' motion for new trial (Paper 229), motion to 

stay the pennanent mijunction (Paper 230), and motion for judgment not withstanding the verdict 

(Paper 231 ), and the plaintiffs' motion to alter or amend the judgment (Paper 232), be DENIED. 

So ordered, 

ThomasiP-
Justice of the Superior Court 

DATE: January 2. 2025 

j The court does not readt the plaintiffs' additional a,gumcn1, raised for the first time in a reply 
memoranwm, thal the defendants engaged in a commoo enterprise and- vicariously liable for their spouse's 
wrongdoing that they knew or reasonable should have known abouL 
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COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 

BRISTOL, SS. 

MARGARET J. REICHENBACH ) 
and JOHN REICHENBACH ) 

Plaintiff ) 
) 

V ) 

) 
TIMOTHY G. HAYDOCK ) 
and BARBARA MOSS ) 

Defendants ) 

SUPERIOR COURT DEPARTMENT 
CIVIL ACTION NO. bJ5- c;3g, 

OlT 

COMPLAINT 

INTRODUCTION 

This Complaint alleges violations of the Massachusetts Civil Rights Act, M.G.L. c. 12, Section 

1 1 1  and violations of Articles I, X and XII of the Massachusetts Declaration of Rights, trespass, 

and tortious interference with contractual/advantageous relationships. Plaintiffs Margaret J. 

Reichenbach and her husband, John Reichenbach, allege that Defendants Timothy G. Haydock 

and Barbara Moss have by threats, intimidation and coercion interfered with the Reichenbachs' 

right to use, improve and enjoy their land and new home. The Defendants have undertaken a 

relentless campaign to hinder and/or delay the Plaintiffs from building a new home on their land. 

Defendants have threatened to damage their reputation and finances; trespassed; barred the 

Plaintiffs from using the only existing access to their property; attempted to prevent them from 

constructing an alternate access; falsely imprisoned Plaintiffs' vendors and contractors; engaged 

in abusive conduct and language directed toward contractors and others working at the site; 

monitored the Plaintiffs' Property with cameras; interrupted construction by talking at and to 

workers; attempted to force the Town of Dartmouth to require Plaintiffs to obtain a soil removal 

i . ' " ,• 
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permit which is only required of gravel pits; interfered in the Plaintiffs' FEMA LOMR process; 

and have commenced and maintained a constant stream of legal challenges which lacked any 

reasonable factual support and/or any arguable basis in law. 

THE PARTIES 

I .  The Plaintiffs, Margaret J .  Reichenbach and John Reichenbach (the "Reichenbachs"), 

husband and wife, reside at 256 Highland Street, West Newton, MA 02465. They own a 

new home which was built for them at 29 Mattarest Lane, South Dartmouth, MA 02748. 

2. Defendants Timothy G. Haydock and Barbara Moss reside at 28 Mattarest Lane, South 

Dartmouth, MA 02748, which property is owned by Defendant Haydock. 

3 .  Defendant Haydock has a partial ownership interest in  30 Mattarest Lane, South 

Dartmouth, MA 02748 which abuts the Reichenbachs' property at 29 Mattarest Lane. 

(See, Paragraph 6 below.) At all times material hereto, Defendant Moss has acted in 

concert with Mr. Haydock. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND (CHRONOLOGICAL) 

Property Interests 

4. Clara Frothingham owned a 1 7  acre parcel of land on the waterfront in the Nonquitt 

Community of South Dartmouth, MA, between 1921 and 1 976. Nonquitt is located on the 

shores of Buzzards Bay and the homes in Nonquitt serve mostly as vacation homes. A 

site plan depicting the 1 7-acre Frothingham parcel is attached hereto and incorporated 

herein by reference as Exhibit A. This land was subdivided into eight lots by her Estate 

in 1979. The various lots were conveyed to members of Clara Frothingham's family (the 

"Frothingham Family Compound"). The subdivision plan depicting the Frothingham 
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Family Compound is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit B. 

5 .  The Reichenbachs purchased the property located at 29 Mattarest Lane, Dartmouth, MA 

(hereinafter, the "Reichenbach Property") from Sheila S. Frothingham, Surviving Trustee 

of the Frothingham Family Holding Trust, on September 5, 2008 by deed recorded with 

the Bristol County (S.D.) Registry of Deeds (the "Registry of Deeds") in Book 9136, 

Page 224. The Reichenbach Property consists of approximately 1 . 5  acres fronting on 

Buzzards Bay and Mattarest Lane. At the time the Reichenbachs acquired the 

Reichenbach Property, various improvements, including a home and tennis court, were 

located on the Property. It has a rocky beach. The Reichenbachs purchased the property 

with the intention of building a new seasonal home for their family. Mr. Reichenbach 

had been living in Nonquitt during the summers since he was a young man. The 

Reichenbachs own and have lived at property located at 12 Mattarest Lane during the 

summers and holidays since 2007. The new house was intended to replace the property 

at 12 Mattarest Lane for their family's seasonal, weekend and holiday use. 

6. Defendant Haydock, owns property located at 28 Mattarest Lane, Dartmouth, MA (the 

"Haydock Property") which he acquired from William Rotch Frothingham by deed dated 

June 10, 1991, recorded in the Registry of Deeds in Book 2650, Page 254. The Haydock 

Property is one of the eight lots in the Frothingham Family Compound created by the 

subdivision in 1 979, as described in Paragraph 4 hereinabove. Haydock and his 

companion, Defendant Moss, have resided at the Haydock Property for many years. 

Until recently, Defendant Haydock worked part time in New Bedford, Massachusetts. 

Defendant Moss has no recorded legal ownership interest in the Haydock Property. The 

Haydock Property is near, but not adjacent to, the Reichenbach Property. 

7. Defendant Haydock has a one-sixth ownership interest in the waterfront property located 

at 30 Mattarest Lane, South Dartmouth, MA (the "Haydock Family Property"). The 

Haydock Family Property is immediately to the east of the Haydock Property, abuts 
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Buzzards Bay and is immediately to the north of and is adjacent to the Reichenbach 

Property. Defendant Moss has no recorded legal ownership interest in the Haydock 

Family Property. The Haydock Family Property is occasionally used by family members 

for vacation and is occasionally rented to third parties. It is used almost exclusively 

during the summer months. A site plan depicting the three properties is attached hereto 

and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit C. 

8. On information and belief, although Haydock, as a family member, had at least an oral 

right of first refusal on the Reichenbach property, he did not exercise it before the 

Reichenbachs purchased the Reichenbach Property. Haydock and/or Moss 

unsuccessfully attempted to prevent Frothingham from selling the Property to the 

Reichenbachs and urged that the Property be "kept in the family." Haydock has always 

regarded the Reichenbach Property as part of his "family compound", and part of his 

backyard. 

9. When the Reichenbach Property was owned by a member of the Frothingham family, 

family members, including Defendants Haydock and Moss, had permission to use the 

tennis court and to access the beach on the ocean via a stairway located on the 

Reichenbach Property. After the Reichenbachs acquired the property from Frothingham, 

those family members were no longer permitted to freely access the beach via the 

stairway or to freely use the tennis court once construction commenced. The Defendants 

still had alternate access to the beach through an easement through the Reichenbach 

Property and the Haydock Family Property (the "Ocean Access Easement") and also by 

means of a separate entrance through the Haydock Family Property. 

1 0. Prior to the Reichenbachs' acquisition, the previous owners of the Reichenbach Property 

beneftted from an easement to use the driveway passing through the Haydock Family 

Property to the Reichenbach Property (the "Driveway Easement"). The Driveway 

Easement was the only access to the Reichenbach Property before the Reichenbachs 
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purchased the property. The Driveway Easement is recorded in the Registry of Deeds in 

Book 1 820, Page 740, and was granted only to William Frothingham and his heirs. A 

copy of the Driveway Easement is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference 

as Exhibit D I .  A site plan showing the Driveway Easement is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit D2. The Driveway Easement did not, by right, 

benefit the Reichenbachs as they were not heirs of William Frothingham. In his attempt 

to block the sale to the Reichenbachs, Defendant Haydock refused to grant a driveway 

easement to the Reichenbachs when the Reichenbachs were negotiating to purchase the 

Property. 

1 1 . On or about June 1 3, 2009, Haydock and the other owners of the Haydock Family 

Property executed a Grant of (temporary) License, enabling the Reichenbachs to use the 

driveway on the Haydock Family Property to access the Reichenbach Property. A copy 

of said Grant of License is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as 

Exhibit E. Said Grant of License was terminable on thirty days' notice, which Haydock 

terminated on January 25, 20 1 1 , when the Reichenbachs obtained a building permit to 

commence initial preparations to construct their new home, as detailed in Paragraph 24 

below. 

12.  Shortly after Defendants revoked the License, they attempted to stop the Reichenbachs 

from building an alternate driveway by requesting an order from the MassDEP 

preventing its construction. The request was baseless as the property involved was 

completely out of the areas over which Mass DEP and the Dartmouth Conservation 

Commission had jurisdiction. Had the Defendants been successful, they would have 

landlocked the Reichenbach's property. (See, Letter of Luke Legere dated May 1 1 , 201 I 

together with Petitioner's Motion Requesting an Order Prohibiting Work Approved by 

the permit under Appeal attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit 

F .  The Decision of Mass DEP denying the requested stop work order dated May 17, 

201 1 is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit G. 
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Conservation Commission Hearings, Decisions and Appeals Therefrom 

13 . On August 13 ,  2009, the Reichenbachs filed a Request for Determination of Applicability 

under the Wetlands Protection Act (the "Act") and the Dartmouth Wetlands Protection 

Bylaw (the "Bylaw") with the Dartmouth Conservation Commission seeking approval of 

the delineation of Coastal Bank and the Coastal Floodplain. 

14. The Conservation Commission issued a positive Determination of Applicability 

approving the delineations of the Coastal Bank and Coastal Floodplain on September 3, 

2009. 

1 5 .  Commencing in the summer of 2009, the Reichenbachs discussed their plans and their 

future neighbors' questions for several months in great detail and in good faith. 

1 6. On September 25, 2009, the Reichenbachs filed a Notice of Intent with the Dartmouth 

Conservation Commission seeking permission to demolish the existing house on the 

Reichenbach Property and to construct a new home, swimming pool, retaining walls, and 

associated grading and landscaping. 

1 7 .  Several Conservation Commission hearings were held at which Defendants Haydock and 

Moss voiced their objections to the Reichenbachs' home building plans. Hearing dates 

were postponed in order to evaluate Defendants' objections and to incorporate changes in 

the site plan to accommodate neighbors' concerns in the hope of securing the 

Defendants' support and the approval of the Conservation Commission. See, Minutes of 

the Conservation Committee meetings attached hereto and incorporated hereby by 

reference as Exhibit H. These changes included locating the house 1 5  feet further away 

(west) from the water, lowering the retaining walls, lowering the proposed elevation of 

the house, and enhanced drainage facilities. The changes were not required by law. 
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1 8 .  Also during that time, the Reichenbachs negotiated with the Defendants for the right to 

continue to use the Driveway Easement. The plan the Reichenbachs submitted as 

consideration would have solved chronic water fow problems impacting the Haydock 

Family Property at substantial engineering and construction costs to the Reichenbachs. 

The plan would also have spared fifteen trees. The Defendants and the Haydock Family 

rejected these plans because they insisted on receiving $1 80,000 which the Reichenbachs 

were not willing to pay in addition to their solving the Defendants' separate water 

problems and regrading the property. 

19. On April 29, 20 10, the Dartmouth Conservation Commission issued an Order of 

Conditions which permitted the construction, inter alia, of the Reichenbach house. A 

copy of said Order of Conditions is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference 

as Exhibit I. The Defendants opposed the issuance of the Order of Conditions, 

notwithstanding the changes the Reichenbachs made at Defendants' request. The Order 

of Conditions was not appealed to the Massachusetts Department of Environmental 

Protection ("MassDEP") under the Act or to the Superior Court under the local Bylaw. 

20. On October 26, 2010, the Reichenbachs filed an application for an Amended Order of 

Conditions with the Dartmouth Conservation Commission to add an aesthetic curve to the 

retaining wall and other minor changes. 

2 1 .  The Conservation Commission held two hearings on the request for Amended Order of 

Conditions between October 26, 2010 and January 1 1 , 201 I .  Defendants Haydock and 

Moss objected in person and in writing to the changes and repeatedly attempted to raise 

time-barred issues relating to the Coastal Bank adopted in the Original Order of 

Conditions, as was approved in the Determination of Applicability issued by the 

Dartmouth Conservation Commission on September 3, 2009. 
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22. After a meeting with the Dartmouth Conservation Commission on January 1 1 ,  201 1 ,  

Defendant Moss said to Mrs. Reichenbach that she was going to ruin the Reichenbachs' 

reputation in the Nonquitt community and cost them an enormous amount of money 

because "they" (the Defendants) were not going to drop this matter. Defendant Moss 

repeated this threat to Mr. Reichenbach several times thereafter. Defendant Haydock also 

threatened Mr. Reichenbach by saying that he was going to plant a row of trees along the 

border shared by the Reichenbach and Haydock Family Properties which would block the 

Reichenbachs' water view to the North. The Reichenbach Property had no water view 

impacts on the Haydock Property or Haydock Family Property. These threats were the 

Defendants' first direct articulations of their scheme to coerce, intimidate and harass the 

Reichenbachs to prevent or delay them from building their house and enjoying their 

property in violation of Massachusetts law. 

23. The Dartmouth Conservation Commission summarily dismissed the Defendants' 

objections by a unanimous vote. On January 1 3, 201 1 ,  an Amended Order of Conditions 

was issued by the Dartmouth Conservation Commission. 

24. On January 25, 20 1 1 , Paul Murphy, Director of Inspectional Services for the Town of 

Dartmouth (the "Director of lnspectional Services"), issued a Building Permit to the 

Reichenbachs to construct a retaining wall around a portion of the Reichenbach land 

which was needed to prepare the site for construction. A copy of said Building Permit is 

attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit J. 

25. Also, on January 25, 201 I, Samuel Haydock, one of the owners of the Haydock Family 

Property, the brother of Defendant Haydock and who for a short time served as 

Defendant Haydock's representative, appealed the issuance of the Amended Order of 

Conditions to MassDEP on behalf of the Defendants and other residents on the grounds, 

inter alia, that the requested changes would have a detrimental impact on the Coastal 

Bank (the "First DEP Appeal"). A copy of Samuel Haydock's Request for a Superseding 
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Amended Order of Conditions is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as 

Exhibit K. The Defendants and other residents did not appeal the Amended Order of 

Conditions under the local Bylaw to the Superior Court. 

26. On January 25, 201 1 ,  Attorney John C. Bentley, on behalf Defendant Haydock and the 

other owners of the Haydock Family Property, sent a letter to Reichenbach revoking the 

Grant of License to use the driveway located on the Haydock Family Property. Said 

letter also demanded that the Reichenbachs "surrender all use of the driveway, utility 

pole, overhead utilities and underground utilities . . . .  " A copy of Attorney Bentley' s  letter 

is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit L. A Revocation and Termination 

of License was recorded with the Registry of Deeds on March 1 1 , 201 1 in Book 1001 3, 

Page 78. A copy of said Revocation is attached hereto and incorporated herein by 

reference as Exhibit M. 

27. As a result, Reichenbachs, their family, contractors, subcontractors and vendors had no 

access to the Reichenbach Property. As a result of the License termination, the 

Reichenbachs were forced to remove numerous trees and construct a parallel driveway 

less than 1 5  feet from the Haydock Family Property driveway to provide access to their 

Property, at a significant cost which would have otherwise been unnecessary. They were 

also required to move utilities at additional otherwise unnecessary expense. 

28. On February 23, 201 1 ,  the MassDEP conducted an on-site meeting and inspection of the 

Reichenbach Property as part of the appeal process of the Amended Order of Conditions. 

At that meeting, Thomas W. Hardman, Reichenbachs' land surveyor, drew the attention 

of the MassDEP Senior Wetlands Analyst, Richard Keller, P.E., to the fact that the 

Defendants Haydock and Moss and his siblings had caused the installation of a 

permanent stair system in the Coastal Bank on the Haydock Family Property and had 

cleared away a large area of vegetation partly on the Reichenbach Property. After the 

meeting, Defendant Moss admitted to Mr. Reichenbach that she knew they should not 
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have done it. This was destruction of the very same Coastal Bank the Defendants 

purported to be protecting in their objections to the Dartmouth Conservation Commission 

and in the First DEP Appeal. 

29. The Dartmouth Conservation Commission commenced an investigation into the 

Defendants' destruction of the Coastal Bank. The Conservation Commission determined 

that excavation of the Coastal Bank had occurred and that a concrete, stone and wooden 

stair system was installed in the Coastal Bank by Defendant Haydock and vegetation 

removed in the summer of 20 10  without the legally required filing a Notice of Intent. 

See, Enforcement Order issued by the Dartmouth Conservation Commission dated March 

24, 201 1 ,  requiring the fling of a Notice of Intent for full restoration attached hereto and 

incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit N, and photographs of the stair system that 

was the subject of the Conservation Commission's Enforcement Order against the owners 

of the Haydock Family Property, including Defendant Haydock, attached hereto and 

incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit 0. 

30. Defendant Haydock's destruction of the Coastal Bank occurred at approximately the 

same time as he and Defendant Moss were using the same Coastal Bank in their attempts 

to stop the Reichenbachs' home from being built. In the process of constructing the stair 

system in the Coastal Bank, Defendants trespassed on the Reichenbach Property and 

damaged their vegetation. To this date, Defendant Haydock and his siblings have not 

complied with the Order of Conditions. Neither the Order of Conditions nor a Certificate 

of Compliance have been filed or recorded, as required by law. The Coastal Bank has not 

been restored. (See, Photographs taken on September 29, 20 1 5, attached hereto and 

incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit P.) 

3 1 .  On February 24, 20 1 1 , Defendant Haydock appealed the issuance of the Building Permit 

for the construction of the retaining wall to the Dartmouth Zoning Board of Appeals. 
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32. In February 20 1 1 , Defendant Moss told Mr. Reichenbach, inter alia, that the 

development was "too much for this community;" that the swimming pool was a hazard 

to Buzzards Bay and the Coastal Bank; and that she had spent thousands of hours on this 

project "without being paid". Mr. Reichenbach understood the reference to "without 

being paid" as an offer to withdraw her opposition in exchange for money, especially 

since she had repeatedly asked to be the Reichenbachs' interior decorator, which requests 

the Reichenbachs repeatedly refused. At about the same time, Defendant Haydock also 

made the statement that he would not like the view of the Reichenbachs' new home from 

his boat. 

33. On March 24, 20 1 1 , the MassDEP issued a Superseding Amended Order of Conditions -

Affirmation in the Reichenbachs' favor on the First DEP Appeal. See, Superseding 

Amended Order of Conditions dated March 24, 201 1 attached hereto and incorporated 

herein as Exhibit Q. 

34. In the late winter or early spring of 20 1 1 , at the request of the Reichenbachs, their land 

surveyor, Thomas W. Hardman, installed wooden stakes along the boundary lines of the 

Reichenbach Property. On information and belief, the Defendants removed the wooden 

stakes along the boundary line between the Reichenbach Property and the Haydock 

Family Property shortly after they were installed. This process of installation and 

removal occurred several times. The Reichenbachs then had Mr. Hardman install ten 

concrete boundary posts at the cost of $400 each. None of the remaining wooden stakes 

were removed after the concrete posts were installed. 

3 5 .  After the wooden stakes were installed, the Defendants installed their own metal stakes in 

the middle of the Ocean Access Easement along the boundary line between the 

Reichenbach Property and the Haydock Family Property and attached a line of rope along 

each stake. See, Photographs of the stakes and rope attached hereto and incorporated 

herein by reference as Exhibit R. A copy of said ocean access easement is attached 
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hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit S .  By installing the stakes and ropes, the 

Defendants effectively forced anyone who has the right to use the Ocean Access 

Easement to use only the fve feet on the Reichenbach Property. 

36. On April 7, 201 1 ,  Defendant Haydock and others filed a Notice of Claim for 

Adjudicatory Hearing appealing the issuance of the Superseding Amended Order of 

Conditions on March 24, 201 I .  See, Notice of Claim attached hereto and incotporated 

herein by reference as Exhibit T. Said appeal by Defendants was devoid of any 

reasonable factual support or any arguable basis in law. 

37. As part of the home construction project, Oliver Tree Service was hired by the 

Reichenbachs' landscape designer, Nan Sinton, to remove several trees on the 

Reichenbach Property. On April 14, 201 I ,  Oliver Tree Service had left a vehicle parked 

outside the Reichenbach Property on Mattarest Lane with the prior permission of 

Defendant Moss for whom Oliver had done other work. The truck was not blocking 

access to any of the properties on Mattarest Lane. Defendant Haydock called Mr. Oliver 

on the telephone late at night to complain about the Oliver truck. Nan Sinton agreed to 

meet with Defendant Haydock and Mr. Oliver at 6:00 a.m. on April 1 5, 201 1 at Mattarest 

Lane. Prior to the meeting, Defendant Haydock blocked Mattarest Lane with his vehicle, 

thereby preventing the Oliver truck from leaving Mattarest Lane. (See, Email of Nan 

Sinton of 4/25/20 1 1  together with photographs attached thereto and incorporated herein 

by reference as Exhibit U.) During the meeting, Defendants Haydock and Moss verbally 

abused Oliver about the truck. 

38. On April 26, 201 I ,  the Dartmouth Zoning Board of Appeals unanimously voted to 

uphold the Director of lnspectional Services' issuance of the building permit to construct 

the retaining wall. See, Zoning Board of Appeals Decision dated April 26, 201 1 ,  a copy 

of which is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit V. Said 

Appeal by Defendants was devoid of any reasonable factual support and/or any arguable 
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basis in law. 

39. Work on the retaining wall began in September 201 1 ,  after the Decision of the Zoning 

Board of Appeals in favor of the Reichenbachs became fnal. 

40. From the beginning of the project, the Reichenbach Property was surrounded by a 

security fence. Also, from the beginning of the project to the end, there were "NO 

TRESPASS", "PRIVATE PROPERTY - DO NOT ENTER" and "DANGER -

CONSTRUCTION SITE - DO NOT GO BEYOND THIS FENCE" signs in place on the 

fence in various prominent locations. Defendant Moss was repeatedly denied access to 

the work area on the Reichenbach Property. See, photographs of the fence and signs 

attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit W. 

4 1 .  During the construction of  the retaining walls, Defendant Moss made a practice of 

standing on the Sullivan property along the south side of the Reichenbach Property, often 

all day long, interrogating the workers, taking pictures, and offering her opinion that they 

were doing the work incorrectly or illegally. Defendant Moss threatened workers that 

they would be in trouble for doing their jobs. See, Photographs attached hereto and 

incorporated herein as Exhibit X. Neither Defendants Haydock nor Moss had a legal 

interest in the Sullivan Property. 

42. Much of Defendants' abusive behavior related to the alleged blocking of access to the 

Haydock Family Property. The driveway to the Haydock Family Property is on the north 

side of the circle in Mattarest Lane. Access to the Haydock Family Property does not go 

through the circle. Further, construction workers sometimes parked on the south side of 

the circle which did not block access to the Haydock Family Property. No one occupied 

the Haydock Family Property during the construction process because it was used in the 

summer and construction was not allowed during the summer months in Nonquitt, except 

for painting and light interior work. Even if a vehicle parked in the road to the Haydock 
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Family Property, it would not have interfered with anyone as no one occupied the 

Haydock Family Property at that time. The Reichenbachs had and have a legal interest in 

that land on which the circle and road are located. The only purpose for the Defendants' 

difficult and abusive behavior regarding access was to harass the Reichenbachs' 

contractors, employees, and the Reichenbachs through them. There was always access 

for fire and emergency vehicles. They did not need to pass through the Mattarest Lane 

Circle to access the Haydock Family Property. (See photograph attached hereto and 

incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit Y.) 

43. On or about April 25, 20 1 I ,  Defendants Haydock and Moss filed a Petition with the 

Dartmouth Conservation Commission to revoke the Original Order of Conditions issued 

on April 29, 20 10. The Petition was the fourth time Haydock and Moss objected to 

Plaintiffs' plans on the grounds that the Coastal Bank was incorrectly delineated. The 

Reichenbachs established that there was no error in the delineation of the Coastal Bank as 

alleged and that the Commission's Original Order of Conditions was binding for a three­

year period absent a showing by the Defendants of fraud or a mutual mistake, which 

Defendants repeatedly failed even to attempt to do. The Dartmouth Conservation 

Commission summarily dismissed the Defendants Petition. See, Reichenbach's 

Opposition to Petition attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit Z, 

and the Minutes of the Dartmouth Conservation Commission meeting held on May 20, 

20 1 1  at which the Board voted against revoking the Original Order of Conditions 

attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit AA. Defendant's 

Petition to Revoke the Original Order of Conditions was devoid of any reasonable factual 

support or any arguable basis in law. 

44. Prior to September, 20 1 1 , the Defendants prevailed upon the Dartmouth Board of Health 

to turn the Reichenbachs' new septic system approval process into a full Board meeting 

with opportunity for public participation. The septic system approval process in 

Dartmouth for new construction is normally an administrative matter to which abutters 
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and others are neither noticed nor invited to comment or object. At that meeting, the 

Defendants alleged there was too much ledge in the area and that the submitted 

percolation tests were incorrectly performed. The Reichenbachs had further percolation 

tests performed which results were identical to the previous results, which tests were 

witnessed by Board of Health staff in both instances. 

45.  Notwithstanding the facts that the original septic system designed for the Reichenbach 

Property did not require a waiver or variance and complied with all applicable local and 

state regulations, Defendant Haydock and a professional he retained fled written 

objections to the approval of the design. 

46. The Board found that the system was designed in full compliance with state and local 

regulations and unanimously approved the Reichenbachs' septic system. (See, Copy of 

Board of Health Decision attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit BB.) The 

Defendants' opposition to the septic system was devoid of any reasonable factual support 

or any arguable basis in law. 

4 7 .  On September 2 1 ,  201 1 ,  the Defendants demanded that the Director of Inspectional 

Services and Christopher Michaud, the Health and Sanitary Inspector for the Town of 

Dartmouth, require the Reichenbachs to get a soil removal permit which to date 

Dartmouth had only required for gravel pit operations. This demand was rejected by the 

Town authorities. 

48. On October 2, 201 1 ,  heavy rains and winds probably caused a small section of the 

security construction fence along the southern boundary between the Reichenbach and 

Sullivan properties to bend over in a southerly direction. The Reichenbachs had installed 

the security fence to prevent trespass onto their property and to prevent any accidental 

trespassing onto the Sullivan Property by construction workers. This land was not 

adjacent or even close to the Haydock Property or the Haydock Family Property. The 

1 5  



117

Haydock Family Property is on the Reichenbachs' northerly boundary. Upon arrival for 

work that day, Reichenbachs' contractor's employees noticed the leaning fence. Without 

leaving the Reichenbach Property, the construction crew attempted to pull the fence 

upright. Defendant Moss insisted they not touch it and that they were trespassing on 

Sullivan's property. Defendant Moss has no ownership interest in the Sullivan Property 

or the fence. She "ordered" them to stop the process of correcting the angle of the fence. 

49. That morning, Defendant Moss called Michael O'Reilly, the Dartmouth Conservation 

Commission's Environmental Affairs Coordinator to protest the work. Mr. O'Reilly 

came to the Reichenbach Property to inspect the situation and declared that "everything 

was fine" and there was no trespass. Defendant Moss also called and complained to Lars 

Olson, the principal of the Reichenbachs' construction manager, Lars V. Olson Fine 

Home Building, Inc. (hereinafter referred to as "Olson"). Defendant Moss spent the 

entire day on the Sullivan property line taking pictures and directing workers to stop all 

work, and to stop repairing the fence. Defendant Haydock wrote a letter to the 

Conservation Commission asking for a stop work order. Haydock complained and asked 

for compensation for damages to vegetation on the Sullivan Property which he did not 

own. This fence repair did not involve the Haydock Property or the Haydock Family 

Property. The Director of Inspectional Services also visited the site and confirmed that 

proper procedures were being employed and that the retaining wall was being installed 

correctly. 

50. On October 4, 201 1 , Defendant Moss called Richard Keller, P.E., Senior Environmental 

Analyst at the MassDEP Southeast Regional Office, and complained about "blatant 

destruction of coastal banks." Mr. Keller asked Mr. O'Reilly to inspect the properly. Mr. 

O'Reilly confirmed that the work was in compliance with regulations after an inspection. 

When Mr. Keller told Defendant Moss that compliance was confirmed by the Dartmouth 

Conservation Commission, she said to Mr. Keller that she was going to "call her 

Congressman" to force MassDEP to stop the "blatant destruction of coastal banks." This 
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complaint by Defendant Moss was after the Defendants had caused very serious 

permanent destruction of this same Coastal Bank during the Summer of 20IO.  The 

Defendants' concern about the Coastal Bank was a disingenuous tactic in their overall 

strategy to stop or delay the Reichenbachs' home from being built. See, Email from 

Rebecca Cutting, Senior Counsel/Litigation of the MassDEP, dated October 5 ,  201 1 ,  

attached hereto and incorporated herein by  reference as Exhibit CC. 

5 I .  After a lengthy adjudicatory proceeding, on October 20, 20 1 1 ,  the Presiding Officer 

issued a Recommended Final Decision, adopted by the MassDEP Commissioner as the 

Final Decision on November 2, 20 1 1 , affirming the Superseding Amended Order of 

Conditions in favor of the Reichenbachs and rejecting all of the Defendants' claims. The 

Defendants, as in their unsuccessful April 25, 201 1 petition to the Conservation 

Commission to revoke the Original Order of Conditions adopting the delineation of the 

Coastal Bank ( described in Paragraph 4 3 above), failed in another collateral attack on an 

unappealed Order of Conditions as a matter of law. The claim that a new Notice of lntent 

was required instead of an Amended Order of Conditions was denied as "lacking 

sufficient evidentiary bases." The Presiding Officer ruled that the Defendants "failed to 

meet their burden of going forward, warranting the allowance of MassDEP's motion for 

directed verdict." The claim that the work would affect the stability of the Coastal Bank 

or affect the interests of flood control and storm damage prevention for work in Land 

Subject to Coastal Storm Flowage "warranted denial under a directed decision because 

the Defendants failed to provide evidence from a credible source and failed to provide 

competent evidence as its witnesses' testimony consisted of factually unsupported 

opinions and speculation." See, Recommended Final Decision and Final Decision 

attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit DD. The Decisions are 

evidence that the First DEP Appeal was devoid of any reasonable factual support or any 

arguable basis in law. 

52. On a Saturday morning in the late winter or early spring of 2012 Dana Diggle, a driver 
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for Pontes Excavating, came to the Reichenbachs' property at 12 Mattarest Lane to 

remove a piece of equipment. Defendant Haydock blocked his path with his pickup 

truck. Defendant Haydock got out of his vehicle and lectured Mr. Diggle for 

approximately 20 minutes, complaining about Mr. Diggle's employers. Defendant 

Haydock prevented him from leaving and from doing his job. Mr. Diggle also repeatedly 

told Defendant Haydock that ifhe would move his vehicle, he would be on his way. 

53. In March and April 20 13 ,  Defendant Moss complained to the Dartmouth Conservation 

Commission that the Reichenbachs had cut down without any permits their own trees on 

the Reichenbach Property. Mr. O'Reilly conducted a site visit and in an April 16, 2012 

email to Defendant Moss explained that the cutting of the trees in question was allowed. 

(See, Email of Michael O'Reilly to Barbara Moss dated April 16, 2012, attached hereto 

and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit EE.) 

54. On or about May 2, 2013 ,  Defendants Haydock and Moss began to store their garbage 

cans and recycling bins on the property line between the Haydock Family Property and 

the Reichenbach Property close to and within plain view of the Reichenbach home and all 

who lived in or visited the Reichenbach home. Prior thereto, the Defendants stored their 

garbage out of sight either adjacent to or in the Haydock Family Property garage. The 

garbage cans and recycling bins were and are moved back to the Haydock Family 

Property house where they can be more easily used, only when someone is in residence 

there. As recently as September 29, 20 1 5, Defendants placed their trash containers partly 

on Plaintiffs' property at the boundary line. See, Photograph attached hereto and 

incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit FF. 

55. On or about May 3, 2013, Defendant Haydock confronted Olson, coming onto the 

Reichenbach Property, yelling and swearing in front of several other workers about a 

vehicle parked on Mattarest Lane. 
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56. On May 3, 20 13 ,  Defendant Moss used her body to stop an L&S Industries concrete 

mixer truck from delivering to the construction site on the Reichenbach Property. 

57.  In June 2013, the Defendants engaged in a campaign of personal visits and complaints to 

the Dartmouth Conservation Commission about work at the Reichenbach Property not 

shown in detail on their Application for an Amended Order of Conditions. In an attempt 

to curtail the complaints and resolve the allegations with final ity, the Commission 

required the Reichenbachs to file a Request for Determination of Applicability relating to 

work done at the Reichenbach home to decide whether a new Notice of Intent was 

needed. The work items were minor in nature, were considered "field adjustments," 

which would be reported to the Conservation Commission when applying for a 

Certificate of Compliance at the conclusion of construction, as is the custom and practice 

in the industry. A copy of the Request for Determination of Applicability is attached 

hereto and incorporated hereby by reference as Exhibit GG. 

58. On July 3 1 ,  20 13 ,  by unanimous vote, the Dartmouth Conservation Commission issued a 

Negative Determination of Applicability ("DOA") concluding that the field work 

performed was part of and allowed under the Original and Superseding Amended Orders 

of Conditions and did not require the filing of a new Notice of Intent, as was demanded 

by Defendants. See copy of the July 1 3, 20 1 3  Decision attached hereto and incorporated 

herein by reference as Exhibit HH. 

59. On August 1 1 ,  20 13, Defendant Haydock filed a Request for a Superseding DOA with 

the MassDEP (the "Second DEP Appeal"). The Defendant did not appeal the DOA 

under the local Wetlands Protection Bylaw to the Superior Court. Defendant Moss acted 

as Defendant Haydock's representative and sole witness. 

60. On October 2, 2013,  MassDEP conducted a meeting on the Reichenbach Property as part 

of its evaluation of Defendant Haydock's appeal of the Negative DOA. During the 
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meeting, Defendant Moss stated that she herself had performed a test pit on the Haydock 

Family Property immediately adjacent to the Reichenbach Property to attempt to 

demonstrate that a dry well approved and installed on the Reichenbach Property was 

installed in groundwater. Defendant Moss is not an approved soil evaluator under the 

MassDEP regulations. On information and belief, Defendants Haydock and Moss never 

caused a test pit to be dug at the location at that time or any time prior thereto. The 

Defendants did not produce any data. This false testimony was intended to halt or further 

delay the construction of the Reichenbach home. 

6 1 .  On October 1 8, 20 13 ,  Defendant Moss wrote to MassDEP alleging that a grate for the 

catch basin that was installed in the driveway of the Reichenbach Property was supposed 

to be a 24 inch square and was only a 12 inch square "at best." The Reichenbachs' land 

surveyor, Thomas W. Hardman, measured and confirmed that the grate was a 24 inch 

square. The catch basin is located on the Reichenbach Property out of the Conservation 

Commission's jurisdiction. 

62. In late October 2013 ,  for two hours, Defendant Moss stopped Nstar workers from 

installing an essential electric transformer on the Reichenbach Property until a supervisor 

came to the site to listen to her challenge. She confronted the NStar supervisor, but he 

refused her stop work demand. 

63. On December 12, 2013, MassDEP issued a Superseding Negative DOA affirming the 

DOA by the Conservation Commission in favor of the Reichenbachs. See, Superseding 

Determination of Applicability issued by Tena Davies of the MassDEP - Southeast 

Regional Office dated December 13,  2013, attached hereto and incorporated herein by 

reference as Exhibit II. 

64. On January 2, 2014, Defendant Haydock filed a Notice of Claim for Adjudicatory 

Hearing appealing the December 12, 201 3 Superseding DOA. See Notice of Claim 
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attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit JJ. The appeal was fled 

by Defendant Haydock. Defendant Moss fled an appearance in this matter and acted as 

Defendant Haydock's representative. She is not an attorney. Nor is she an 

environmental professional. 

65. After a pre-hearing telephone conference held on February 6, 20 14  with the MassDEP 

Presiding Officer, the Presiding Officer concluded that only two issues were properly 

before the DEP for adjudication: ( I )  whether the DEP properly determined that the 

proposed work for the installation of the irrigation pump chamber would not fll, remove, 

dredge or alter land subject to coastal storm fowage and, therefore, no Notice of Intent 

was required, and (2) whether Haydock had standing. 

66. On February 19, 2014, Defendants Haydock and Moss were apprehended trespassing at 

night on the Reichenbach Property by a Nonquitt security guard. (See, Statement of John 

Honohan attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit KK. See 

Statement of Constable Richard Moniz attached hereto and incorporated herein by 

reference as Exhibit LL.) Also, see Photograph of area of trespass attached hereto and 

incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit MM. Defendant Moss trespassed upon the 

Reichenbach Property on multiple additional occasions. 

67. In April 2014, a Frades Disposal truck driver had mistakenly driven down the Haydock 

Family Property Driveway. As he attempted to leave the Haydock Family Property 

Driveway, Defendant Moss stood in front of his truck with outstretched arms preventing 

him from leaving. Andrew Dearden, an employee of Olson, was present and spoke with 

Defendant Moss, who continued yelling at him and at the truck driver. Defendant Moss 

called the police and would not let the truck leave until the police came and took a report. 

68. In the summer of 2014, Marc Leclair, who was a painter for Olson, was driving along 

Mattarest Lane to go to work at the Reichenbach Property. Defendant Haydock blocked 
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Leclair's car with his truck, preventing Leclair from going to work. Haydock told Leclair 

that Andrew Dearden "must be on drugs" and that Olson was "useless". 

69. During the summer of 2014, Defendants Haydock and Moss caused the Nonquitt 

Association to require the Reichenbachs to stop work during the summer months, even 

though the nature and extent of the work being performed at that time was permitted by 

the Nonquitt Association informal rules and regulations. 

70. After reviewing all the written pre-filed testimony and Motions for Directed Decision, in 

a Recommended Final Decision issued on June 20, 2014, the Presiding Officer held that 

Haydock did not present any credible evidence from a competent source and could 

imagine no evidence that could be presented that would show that the underground pump 

chamber in question could in any way affect wave action or the Coastal Bank. The 

Presiding Officer also ruled that Defendant Haydock had no legal standing in this matter 

because he did not provide factual support that he was aggrieved. See, Recommended 

Final Decision dated June 20, 2014, attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference 

as Exhibit NN. The Haydock Second DEP Appeal was devoid of any reasonable factual 

support or any arguable basis in law. 

7 1 .  On June 26, 2014, the MassDEP Commissioner issued a Final Decision adopting the 

Recommended Final Decision of the Presiding Officer. A copy of the Final Decision is 

attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit 00. 

72. On July 7, 20 14, Defendant Haydock by Defendant Moss filed a Request for 

Reconsideration of the Final Decision, which was opposed by Mrs. Reichenbach and the 

MassDEP. 

73. On September 30, 2014, the Presiding Officer issued a Recommended Final Decision on 

Reconsideration. She recommended denial of the motion for reiterating arguments 
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covered in the Final Decision, and addressed and rejected other "non-compliant" issues 

alleged by Defendant Haydock. A copy of the Recommended Final Decision on 

Reconsideration is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit PP. 

74. The Request for Reconsideration was yet another attempt to frustrate and impose 

additional costs on the Reichenbach home building project and interfered with the 

Reichenbachs' right to use, improve and enjoy their property. Defendant Haydock's 

Request for Reconsideration was devoid of any reasonable factual support or any 

arguable basis in law. 

75. On October 24, 2014, Andrew Dearden, an employee of Olson, was abused by Defendant 

Haydock who was screaming, yelling and swearing at him and accusing somebody of 

having broken a tree branch, which in fact came down in a violent storm the preceding 

evening. 

76. On October 28, 2014, David W. Cash, Commissioner of the Boston Office of Appeals 

and Dispute Resolution of the DEP issued a final Decision denying Haydock's Request 

for Reconsideration of the DEP's June 26, 2014 Final Decision. See, DEP Denial 

attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit QQ. The Request for 

Reconsideration was yet another attempt to frustrate and impose additional costs on the 

Reichenbach home building project and interfered with the Reichenbachs' right to use, 

improve and enjoy their property. Haydock's Request for Reconsideration was devoid of 

any reasonable factual support or any arguable basis in law. 

77. On November 1 1 , 2014, Defendant Haydock filed a pro se Complaint with the Bristol 

County Superior Court appealing the MassDEP Commissioner's Final Decision on the 

Superseding DOA. See, Copy of Complaint filed by Haydock attached hereto and 

incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit RR. This Superior Court appeal was and is 

devoid of any reasonable factual support or any arguable basis in law. It constitutes yet 
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another attempt to intimidate, threaten or coerce the Reichenbachs so that they cannot 

improve, use or enjoy their Property and to impose costs on the Reichenbach home 

building project. 

78. On January 28, 2015,  after a large evening snow storm, an employee of Olson noticed 

footprints going between the Haydock Family Property onto the Reichenbach Property 

and back. (See, photographs attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as 

Exhibit SS.) No one was living at the Haydock Family Property at the time, but 

Defendants Haydock and Moss were caring for the Haydock Family Property at the time. 

Nonquitt is a gated community. The Reichenbach and Haydock Properties are two miles 

from the entrance gate on Smith Neck Road. Very few people live in Nonquitt in the 

winter months. 

79. Throughout the entire project, Defendant Moss was a constant presence and would lurk 

on the property lines separating the Haydock Family Property and the Reichenbach 

Property and Sullivan Property/Reichenbach Properties taking photographs and/or 

videos, talking on the phone, demanding information of workers and town employees on 

site, telling the workers they were acting illegally, ordering them to stop work and casting 

insults about their employers or co-workers. Defendant Moss created a hostile work 

environment for project workers and town employees and made them extremely uneasy, 

demeaned them and made to feel as though their privacy was invaded. Her behavior 

caused substantial delays in the performance of their work. Her behavior caused strains in 

the relations between Olson and some of his employees and subcontractors' employees. 

80. Matt Swimm, an employee of Olson, was uncomfortable with the constant presence of 

Moss and by the Defendants' behaviors. The constant questioning by Defendant Moss 

took Mr. Swimm from his duties and he would fall behind and feel pressured that he was 

not getting his work done. Defendant Moss would repeatedly come onto the Reichenbach 

Property to lodge complaints to or ask questions of Mr. Swimm. Mr. Swimm would ask 
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her to leave because she was not allowed on the Reichenbach Property. The behavior of 

the Defendants which created the uncomfortable work conditions was a contributing 

factor when Mr. Swimm sought and obtained employment elsewhere. 

8 1 .  In April of 2014, Andrew Dearden was driving into work. A s  he was coming around the 

bend on Mattarest Lane, Defendants Haydock and Moss were walking in the road. Mr. 

Dearden slowed down. The Defendants Haydock and Moss stood in the middle of the 

road and stopped Mr. Dearden from continuing. Both Defendants yelled at him stating 

that this was "their road" and that he was going too fast. 

82. The Reichenbachs received approvals in the Original Order of Conditions and the 

Superseding Amended Order of Conditions to conduct minor regrading, flling and 

sodding work along the northern foundation. This work was completed to an approved 

elevation in 2014. On February 27, 2014, the Reichenbachs fled an Application for a 

Letter of Map Revision ("LOMR") with the Federal Emergency Management Agency 

("FEMA") to incorporate the fnished elevation into a revised floodplain map. Without 

notice to the Reichenbachs, the Defendants repeatedly interfered with and delayed FEMA 

from issuing the LOMR to the Reichenbachs. The LOMR procedure is an engineering 

review process in which the Defendants had no legal standing to participate. In the 

communications with FEMA, its review engineer, and the local Environmental Affairs 

Coordinator and the Director of lnspectional Services, the Defendants made false factual 

allegations and assertions that unreasonably delayed the LOMR review process. 

According to FEMA, the normal processing time for a LOMR is four to six weeks. Ten 

months after the application, on December 9, 2014, FEMA issued a LOMR to the 

Reichenbachs. The Defendants communications with FEMA and others were devoid of 

any reasonable factual support or any arguable basis in law and were intended to interfere 

with the Reichenbachs' rights to develop and enjoy their property. 

83. The Reichenbachs received a temporary Certificate of Occupancy on January 22, 2014 
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and a final Certificate of Occupancy on June 6, 20 I 4. 

COUNT ! 

CIVIL RIGHTS 

Violation ofM.G.L., Chapter 12 section H and I and 

Articles I, X and XII of the Massachusetts Declaration of Rights 

84. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege the averments stated in Paragraphs I through 83 

hereinabove, as i ffully set forth herein. 

85. Plaintiffs have the right to possess, build on, use and enjoy their real property guaranteed 

to them as well as all Massachusetts citizens by Articles I, X and XII of the 

Massachusetts Declaration of Rights and M.G.L. Chapter 12 Sections l l H  and 1 1 1. 

86. Defendants Haydock and Moss have violated the Reichenbachs' rights to build on, use 

and enjoy their real property in violation of the laws cited above by: 

A. attempting to intimidate, threaten, abuse, harass and coerce the Reichenbachs, 

their contractor, vendors and delivery personnel; 

B .  executing as a joint venture a plan to make the Reichenbachs feel coerced, 

uncomfortable and unwelcome, and to believe that they would always face hostile 

actions which are expensive to defend against, such that they would abandon their 

plan to build, use and enjoy their home on Mattarest Lane and to prevent the 

Plaintiffs from enjoying their home and to cause them continual apprehension; 

and 

C. instituting a succession of legal challenges to the Reichenbachs' home building 

plans that were devoid of any reasonable factual support and/or any arguable basis 
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in law for the purpose of preventing and delaying the Reichenbachs' home 

building plans. 

87. Defendants' conduct has damaged the Reichenbachs by: 

A. delaying their home building project thereby depriving them of the use and 

enjoyment of their home; 

B.  causing them to incur increased construction costs; 

C. causing them mental anguish and apprehension; and 

D. causing them to incur significant and otherwise unnecessary legal and engineering 

fees. 

COUNT II 

TRESPASS 

88. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege the averments stated in Paragraphs 1 - 12, 30, 34, 40, 6 1 ,  66, 

78 and 80 hereinabove, as if fully set forth herein 

89. Defendants Haydock and Moss have trespassed on the Reichenbach Property and in so 

doing have caused the Reichenbachs mental anguish, apprehension and damage. 

COUNT III 

TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH CONTRACTUAL 

ADVANTAGEOUS RELATIONSHIPS 

90. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege the averments stated in Paragraphs 1-12, 22, 27, 37, 4 1 ,  42, 

43, 48, 49, 52, 55, 56, 6 1 ,  62, 67, 68, 69, 75, 79, 80 and 8 1  hereinabove, as if fully set 

forth herein. 
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9 1 .  Plaintiffs had a contract and business relationship with Lars V. Olson Fine Home 

Building, Inc, a third party, for the construction of a new home on their property at 29 

Mattarest Lane, South Dartmouth, Massachusetts. 

92. The Defendants knew of this contractual relationship. 

93. The Defendants interfered with the relationship through improper motive and means, by: 

A. their abuse of Lars Olson and his employees and contractors, suppliers and 

independent contractors to the project; 

B. their harassment, false imprisonment, constant interruptions and surveillance of 

Lars Olson and his employees and contractors; 

C. trespassing on the Reichenbach Property; and 

D. through their ill will demonstrated by threats, statements and actions of the 

Defendants. 

94. The Plaintiffs suffered economic harm as a direct result of the Defendants' conduct, 

including without limitation demonstrated by: 

A. significant delays in the project; 

B. additional work hours and expenses incurred by Lars Olson and his employees 

and associates spent dealing with the Defendants; and 

C. significant additional costs to the project. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs hereby request that this Court: 

A. Award judgment to the Plaintiffs against Defendants, jointly and severally, on all 

counts of their Complaint in amounts which this Court feels just and proper. 
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B. Enter judgment to the Plaintiffs against Defendants, jointly and severally, for such 

amount to be determined for: 

( I )  legal, engineering, and construction costs incurred as a result of 

Defendants' wrongful conduct; 

(2) loss of use and enjoyment of their home; and 

(3) compensation for the mental anguish and apprehension Defendants 

have caused Mr. Reichenbach and Mrs. Reichenbach. 

C. Enter Judgment to the Plaintiffs against Defendants, jointly and severally, for 

damages resulting from Defendants' trespass on Plaintiffs' property, including 

security expenses and compensation for mental distress and apprehension. 

D. Judgment for damages sustained as a result of Defendants' interference with 

Plaintiffs' contractual relations with Lars V. Olson Fine Home Builders. 

E. Award Plaintiffs their costs and attorneys' fees incurred in bringing and 

prosecuting this action. 

F. Issue a permanent injunction ordering the Defendants to refrain from: 

1. Continuing to violate the Reichenbachs' civil rights; 

11. Trespassing on the Reichenbachs' Property; 

u1. Harassing Plaintiffs, their family members, guests, employees, 

independent contractors and delivery people regarding access and parking, 

except when someone is interfering with direct access to the property in 

which they reside or own; 

1v. Restraining the liberty and free movement of persons; and 

v. Crossing over the beach on the Reichenbach Property. 

G. Grant Plaintiffs a real estate attachment on the Haydock Property to secure the 

Judgment awarded. 

H. Grant such other relief, including equitable relief, as the Court deems just and 

proper. 
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PLAINTIFF claims trial by jury on all issues so triable. 

Dated: October 1 ,  201 5  

Plaintiffs, John Reichenbach and 
Margaret Reichenbach 

By their attorneys 

Robert B. Feingold & Associates, P.C. 

70 
New Bedford, MA 02740 
Tel. No. 508-999- 1 1 19 
Email: bfeingold@rbflaw.net 
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Page 725

1  not offering the testimony of a party
2  opponent.  He's offering the testimony of his
3  wife.
4          THE COURT:  What's the purpose
5  it's being offered for, Attorney Feingold?
6          MR. FEINGOLD:  It's pivotal to
7  this case, Your Honor.
8          THE COURT:  I know that.  What
9  is it being offered for?  If it's offered for

10  the truth of the matter, it's hearsay.  If
11  it's offered for some other purpose, I need to
12  know.
13          MR. FEINGOLD:  To show her
14  emotional state.
15          MS. ALLISON:  It's not -- that's
16  not an exception, Your Honor.
17          THE COURT:  Sustained.
18  BY MR. FEINGOLD:
19    Q.  Was your wife agitated?
20          THE COURT:  You can describe
21  your observations of your communication -- of
22  your wife.
23    A.  My wife was very agitated.
24

Page 726

1  BY MR. FEINGOLD:
2    Q.  Did Barbara Moss ever threaten you?
3    A.  Yes.
4    Q.  How many times?
5    A.  Five to six.
6    Q.  What did she say and when?
7    A.  The first time was in December 2010.
8    Q.  And where was that conversation?
9    A.  It would have been in Nonquitt or on
10  the phone.
11    Q.  And what do you remember?
12    A.  She basically said that if we did not
13  change our project, that it would cost us a
14  lot of money, that they would not give up, and
15  they would ruin our reputation in Nonquitt.
16    Q.  And were there other conversations
17  along those lines?
18    A.  Yes.
19    Q.  What do you recall?  What's the next
20  one you recall?
21    A.  I don't recall specifically the next
22  one, but it was a -- it was not frequent, but
23  I was talking to Barbara Moss, you know, three
24  to six times a month.

Page 727

1    Q.  And?
2    A.  And it was repeated on the order of
3  four or five times between then and when I
4  stopped talking to her in approximately June
5  2011.
6    Q.  What was repeated?
7    A.  That we had to change our project or
8  they were going to -- it was -- it was going
9  to cost us a lot of money.  It was going to
10  take us a lot of time and that they would
11  basically impact our reputation in Nonquitt
12  negatively.
13          THE COURT:  I'm sorry, sir.
14  What time period?  When did you stop talking
15  to her?
16          THE WITNESS:  I stopped talking
17  to her in about June 2011.
18          THE COURT:  Thank you.
19  BY MR. FEINGOLD:
20    Q.  What did the Defendants do to oppose
21  your project after that night?
22          MS. ALLISON:  Objection.
23  Foundation.
24          THE COURT:  Rephrase the
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1  question, please.
2  BY MR. FEINGOLD:
3    Q.  After that night, January 11, 2011,
4  did the Defendants do anything to oppose your
5  project?
6    A.  Yes.
7    Q.  What did they do?
8    A.  They appealed the Amended Order of
9  Conditions.  They sent us a letter to --
10  notifying us that the temporary driveway
11  easement was being withdrawn.
12       That letter also contained a demand
13  that we remove the underground utilities.
14  Those underground utilities were utility
15  easements.  They were not our easements.  And
16  they attempted to stop us from building our
17  own driveway, I think, six times with --
18  through the town and the state.
19    Q.  What else did they do, if anything?
20    A.  They kept -- I mean, they kept
21  appealing.  I mean, we had the first appeal
22  drove -- created.  There was an on-site visit.
23  I mean, that happened, I think, in February
24  2011.  And there -- there was a -- there were
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1 put in the retaining wall, get a flat surface, 
2 then put in the pool and foundation for the 
3 house at the same time and then start building 
4 the house. 
5 We did it in that order because it 
6 was -- we were uncertain with the state of the 
7 appeals whether we could replace a house if we 
8 tore it down and we were uncertain until we 
9 got past certain states of the appeals whether 
10  we could do certain things. But we did do 
1 1  everything that we were advised that we could 
1 2  do within a week after -- we started it within 
13  a week after permission to go. 
14 Q. Did the Defendants take actions 
15 against you at your project or the workers 
16 other than in legal proceedings? 
17  A. Yes. 
18 Q. What did they do? 
19  A .  They stood on our property -- on 
20 our -- in the easement on our property or on 
21  Ulla Sullivan's property at least 200 and 
22 perhaps as many as 300 days, taking photos, 
23 talking to our workers, telling them to stop 
24 work, telling them that what they were doing 
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I was illegal, telling them they were going to 
2 get in trouble. And I heard this from every 
3 single -- I can't think of a single worker on 
4 the --
5 MS. ALLISON: Objection. He's 
6 testifying to hearsay. 
7 THE COURT: Overruled. 
8 MR. FEINGOLD: He's not 
9 testifying what was said. 
10  THE COURT: Overruled. 
1 1  You can answer. 
12  A. I can't think of a single worker on 
13  the job site who did not describe difficulties 
14  that he had with -- primarily with Barbara 
1 5  Moss during the construction project. 
1 6  BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
17 Q. Going back a little. You mentioned a 
18 construction fence, a site fence. Would you 
19 describe it. 
20 A. The upslope portion of the 
21  construction fence was the construction -- was 
22 the fence that had formerly surrounded the 
23 tennis court except at one comer of the 
24 tennis court where we had chopped off a 
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1 portion in order to put in the temporary 
2 driveway. 
3 Downslope, it was a temporary rented 
4 construction fence. My guess I mean, it 
5 was seven to eight feet high, and it had signs 
6 on it that said "Construction project. 
7 Private property. No trespassing."  It also 
8 had the number of the environmental permit 
9 from the DEP. And there were two or three of 
IO those signs the project. 
11 Q. Approximately, when did that site 
12 the construction fence go on the site? 
13 A. It went on in the end of 201 1 .  
14 Q. And it did it stay there 
15 continuously? 
16  A. The construction fence stayed there 
1 7  continuously until probably the end of 2014. 
18  There was no construction fence when we did 
1 9  the final work in 2016. 
20 Q. So you testified that Barbara Moss was 
21 on the site 2 to 300 days; is that correct? 
22 A. Yes. 
23 Q. Do you know whether she was also on 
24 the site outside of the easement? 

Page 806 

I A. Yes, she she was on the site 
2 outside of the easement. During the initial 
3 construction period, she went basically 
4 went into the project site and talked to 
5 primarily to Lars Olson and Matt Swimm. Matt 
6 Swimm was the superintendent at the beginning 
7 of the project. 
8 And I was not at any of those 
9 discussions, but, you know, it was reported 
IO that it was complaining about things and 
1 1  trying to find out what was next. 
12 Q. When you say "what was next," do you 
13 mean the work? 
14 A. What work was next. 
15 Q. When did she start taking pictures, if 
16 you know? 
1 7  A. She started taking pictures in 201 1 
1 8  when we started putting in the retaining wall. 
19 Q. Do you know what the impact of her 
20 surveillance was on the workers? 
21 A. The 
22 MS. ALLISON: Objection. 
23 Speculation. 
24 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
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2 THE COURT: Sustained. Rephrase 

3 the question. 

4 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 

5 Q. Do you know how her behavior the 

6 photography impacted the workers? 

7 MS. ALLISON: Same objection. 

8 Speculation. 

9 THE COURT: Well, it's a 

1 0  yes or no answer. 

1 1  Do you know? 

12 A. Yes. 

13 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 

14 Q. What do you know? 

15 MS. ALLISON: Objection. It can 

16 only be based on speculation. 

1 7  THE COURT: A little more 

1 8  foundation, Counsel. Objection sustained. 

19  BY MR FEINGOLD: 

20 Q. Did you have any discussions with any 

21 of your workers about the impact of her 

22 photography? 

23 A. Yes. 

24 Q. With whom? 

A. I talked to 
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1 

2 MS. ALLISON: Objection. He's 

3 testifying to hearsay. 

4 THE COURT: Well, he's not 

5 saying what they said. He's just saying who 

6 he talked to right now. 

7 You can answer. 

8 A. I talked to Paul Burke. I talked to 

9 Lars Olson. I talked to Louis Bronco 

10  (phonetic). I talked to Andrew Dearden. I 

1 1  talked to Matt Swimm. I talked to Mark 

12 LeClair. I talked to Mark LeClair's 

13 assistant. I talked to Larry don't 

14 remember his last name of Patriot Masonry. 

15 I talked to the people who put in the video 

16  system. I I talked to the three or four 

17  carpenters, some were employees and some were 

1 8  subs of Lars Olson. 

19 I think I talked to everyone on the 

20 job site. My wife and I were there 

21 approximately once or twice a week throughout 

22 the entire construction project. 

23 BY MR. FEINGOLD 

24 Q. And did they tell you did any of 
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1 them tell you how they reacted to the 

2 surveillance? 

3 A. Yes. 

4 Q. Who? 
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5 A. Everyone I mentioned told me how they 

6 reacted to the surveillance. 

7 Q. And what was their reaction? 

8 A. Their reaction was they felt like they 

9 were being in a were in a zoo constantly 

10 being surveilled and photographed and 

1 1  interfered with. 

12 Q. How long did she Barbara Moss 

13 continue to take photographs of your project 

14 and the men and women working at the project, 

15 if you know? 

16  A .  Throughout the entire process. 

17 Q. Did it continue unabated all the way 

18 to 2016? 

19 A. In 2015 and 2016, it happened less 

20 often. 

21 Q. To your knowledge, was there an 

22 interval in the year 2012 when she was not 

23 there? 

24 A. In 2012, she was not there. She was 
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1 there less often. She was there. She was 

2 there less often in 2012. 

3 Q. Did you receive any other reports 

4 about interference at the project by the 

5 either of the Defendants? 

6 A. Yes. 

7 Q. And who made those reports? 

8 A. They were made either directly by the 

9 workers, but most of them were through Lars 

10  Olson. 

11  Q.  And what did Lars Olson say? 

12 MS. ALLISON: Objection. Calls 

1 3  for hearsay. 

14 THE COURT: Sustained. 

1 5  BY MR. FEINGOLD 

16 Q. Was there an incident with Oliver Tree 

17 Service? 

1 8  A .  Yes. 

19 Q. Could you describe 

20 MS. ALLISON: Objection. Calls 

21 for speculation. 

22 THE COURT: That was a yes or no 

23 question. What's the next question? 

24 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
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1 Q. What what do you know about that 
2 incident? 
3 MS. ALLISON: Objection. Calls 
4 for speculation. Hasn't laid a foundation. 
5 THE COURT: Do you know anything 
6 about that event, sir? 
7 THE WITNESS: Yes. 
8 THE COURT: Next question. 
9 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
10 Q. When did it occur? 
1 1  A. It would have occurred in April or 
12 May, 201 1 .  
13 Q. And what occurred, to your knowledge? 
14 A. We had hired Oliver Tree to cut down 
15 trees to put in the temporary driveway. I was 
I 6 told that Oliver Tree requested he needed 
17 to leave the truck overnight. 
18 MS. ALLISON: Objection. He's 
19 testifying to hearsay. 
20 THE COURT: Overruled. 
21 A. I was told that he well, that he 
22 needed to leave the truck overnight, that he 
23 had asked Barbara Moss ifhe could park the 
24 truck in their it's not really a driveway, 
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l but a place that they park vehicles. He told 
2 me he was told that he could. 
3 Later on that evening, I got an e-mail 
4 from Dr. Haydock saying that he couldn't 
5 understand how this could possibly have 
6 happened, Barbara would never have given 
7 permission for Oliver Tree to park his truck 
8 there, and that he needed to see someone the 
9 next morning before -- before 7:00 a.m. when 
10 he had to go to work. 
1 1  I basically reached out to Nan 
12 Sinton. 

THE COURT: All right. Next. 13  
14  Next question. 
1 5  MS .  ALLISON: Your Honor, 1 --
16 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
17  Q.  What did you do  vault? 
18 MS. ALLISON: I move to strike 
19  the entire answer regarding what Oliver Tree 
20 told him, again on the basis of hearsay. 
21  THE COURT: Sustained. That 
22 will be stricken. The jury is not to consider 
23 that evidence from this witness. 
24 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
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1 Q. What happened next? 
2 A. I had to arrange a meeting between Nan 
3 Sinton, Oliver Tree, and Dr. Haydack [sic] 
4 excuse me Haydock for 6 :00 a.m. the next 
5 mornmg. 
6 Q. To your knowledge, did that meeting 
7 occur? 
8 A. Yes. 
9 Q. Do you know what happened? 
IO MS. ALLISON: Objection. Calls 
1 1  for speculation. He just testified he wasn't 
12 there. 
1 3  THE COURT: Sustained. 
14 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
15 Q. Do you know of any other incidents of 
16 interference by either of the Defendants? 
1 7  A. Yes. 
18 Q. And could you describe one of them? 
1 9  A. A concrete truck was leaving our 
20 property. 
21 MS. ALLISON: Objection. 
22 Speculation. Hasn't established a 
23 foundation. 
24 THE COURT: Overruled. 

1 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
2 Q. Continue. 
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3 A. A concrete truck was leaving our 
4 property. Barbara Moss stood in front of the 
5 concrete truck with her hands up like this 
6 (witness indicating), and stopped it. And 
7 there was some discussion. And eventually, 
8 the concrete truck was able to go on its way. 
9 Q. Do you know of any othe1· incidents of 
10 interference? 
1 1  A. Yes. 
12 Q. Which is the next one? 
13 A. Dana Diggle was moving some sort of 
14 piece of digging equipment. 
15  MS. ALLISON: Same objection, 
16  Your Honor. He hasn't laid a foundation that 
1 7  this isn't pure speculation. 
1 8  THE COURT: Sustained. 
19  BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
20 Q. Did you receive a report about Dana 
21 Diggle being affected by either of the 
22 Defendants? 
23 A. Yes. 
24 Q. From whom? 
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A. Lars Olson. 

Q. What was the report? 

MS. ALLISON: Objection. Calls 

4 for hearsay. His testimony is based entirely 

5 on hearsay. 

6 THE COURT: Sustained. 

7 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 

8 

9 

Q. Did you speak to Dana Diggle about it? 

A. No. 

10 Q. Do you remember any other incidents 

11  of interference? 

12 A. Yes. 

13 Q. Please describe the next one. 

14 A. Andrew Swimm, I 

15  MS. ALLISON: Objection, Your 

16 Honor. Once again, he hasn't laid a 

17 foundation that this witness was present. 

18  THE COURT: Overruled. Next 

19 question. 

20 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 

21 Q. What did Andrew Swimm what occuned 

22 in that incident? 

23 MS. ALLISON: Objection. Calls 

24 for hearsay. 
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THE COURT: Overruled. But 
2 establish what his basis of knowledge is. 
3 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
4 Q. What is your basis of knowledge? 

5 A. Lars Olson reported to me that Andrew 
6 Dearden was stopped. 
7 Q. By? 

8 A. By Barbara Moss and Timothy Haydock. 
9 MS. ALLISON: Your Honor, move 
10  to strike the last two answers. It's based on 
1 1  hearsay. Based on the report of Lars Olson. 
12 THE COURT: Sustained. 
1 3  BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
14 Q. Was there to your knowledge, was 

15 there any interference with excavation? 

16  A. Yes. 
17 Q. And how do you know that? 

18  A. I was told there was interference by 
19  Steve Pontes. 
20 Q. Why is he not here today? 

21 MS. ALLISON: Move to strike. 
22 He's testifying to hearsay. 
23 BY MR FEINGOLD: 
24 Q. Is Steve Pontes 
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2 

3 

THE COURT: Hang on. 

MS. ALLISON: "I was told." 

THE COURT: Ovenuled. He 

4 hasn't said what he was told yet, but that 

5 would be hearsay. 
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6 MS. ALLISON: Your Honor, just 

7 to clarify. I move to strike the "I was told 

8 there was interference by Steve Pontes" as the 

9 hearsay. 

10 THE COURT: Oven:uled as to 

1 1  that. 

12 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 

13 Q. Is Steve Pontes alive? 

14 A. No. 

15 Q. What did he say to you? 

16 

17 

A. Steve Pontes 

MS. ALLISON: Objection. 

I 8 Hearsay. It's not an exception. 

19 MR. FEINGOLD: I believe there's 

20 an exception to the hearsay. 

21 THE COURT: Counsel at sidebar. 

22 

23 

24 (BEGINNING OF SIDEBAR CONFERENCE.) 
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1 
2 
3 

(Mr. Feingold, Ms. Allison present.) 

THE COURT: I think it works 
4 better with the microphone. We tested it out. 
5 MR. FEINGOLD: I believe there's 
6 an exception to the hearsay rule when the 
7 declarant is deceased. 
8 THE COURT: Sure. If it's a 
9 dying declaration and things of that sort, but 
10 that's not what we have here. 
1 1  What's the basis for your objection? 
12 MS. ALLISON: That it's hearsay 
13 and that there's no exception. 
14 MR. FEINGOLD: I think it's 
1 5  broader than just a dying declaration. 
16  MS.  ALLISON: I disagree. 
1 7  THE COURT: I can get my book 
18 and check, but I don't think so. But in any 
19 event -- in any event --
20 MR. FEINGOLD: Your Honor, 
21 they're all --
22 THE COURT: They're all coming 
23 in to testify. 
24 MR. FEINGOLD: Pontes isn't 
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1 A. The concrete weighed over 100 pounds. 
2 Q. Were there incidents of trespass on 

3 your property? 

4 A. Yes. 
5 Q. Would you descl"ibe them, please. 

6 MS. ALLISON: Objection, hasn't 
7 laid a foundation. 
8 THE COURT: Sustained. 
9 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
10 Q. Did anything happen when is the 

11 first time you learned of a trespass? 

12 MS. ALLISON: Same objection. 
13 No foundation. 
14 THE COURT: Overruled. 
15 A. The first, what I would call 
16 significant trespass, occurred when Officer 
17 Honohan, who was a Nonquitt security guard and 
I 8 he goes on basically goes around and drives 
19 through Nonquitt several times every day, and 
20 one evening he found that Dr. Haydock 
21 MS. ALLISON: Objection, Your 
22 Honor. This can only be based on hearsay. He 
23 has not laid the basis for any personal 
24 knowledge. 
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THE COURT: Sustained. The 
2 question was answered. Next question. 
3 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
4 Q. What do you know about what happened? 

5 A. I have a report from Don Horton who 
6 was the general manager ofNonquitt. I also 
7 have an affidavit from Officer Honohan. 
8 Q. And as a result of those reports and 

9 the contents thereof, did you take any action? 

10 A. Yes. We served both Dr. Haydock and 
1 1 Barbara Moss with no trespass notices. 
12 Q. Was do you know if there are any 

13 other instances of trespass? 

14 A. Yes. 
15 MS. ALLISON: Objection. Same 
16 objection. He hasn't laid a foundation of 
17 knowledge. 
18 THE COURT: Ovenuled. 
19 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
20 Q. You may answer. 

21  THE COURT: Well, he did. Next 
22 question. 
23 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
24 Q. Could you describe it. 
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1 A. Yes. 
2 Q. Please do. 

Page 8 2 9  

3 A. During the period of construction --
4 MS. ALLISON: Your Honor, 
5 objection. He's asked -- been asked to 
6 describe the basis for his knowledge. 
7 THE COURT: I think the question 
8 is describing the incidents of trespass. Is 
9 that -- because it reverted back to the prior 
l O question, but why don't you ask -- ask the 
1 1  question a little more directly. 
12  BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
13 Q. What other incidents of trespass are 

14 you aware of? 

15  A. I was aware of Barbara Moss --
1 6  MS. ALLISON: Objection, Your 
1 7  Honor. He has not laid a basis for any 
1 8  personal knowledge or any admissible 
19  knowledge. 
20 MR. FEINGOLD: He will ifhe has 
21 an opportunity to answer a question. 
22 THE COURT: Sustained. If you 
23 ask the question, he can answer it. 
24 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
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1 Q. Did you receive any reports of other 

2 trespass? 

3 MS. ALLISON: Objection. Same 
4 objection, Your Honor. 
5 THE COURT: Overruled. 
6 MS. ALLISON: Calls for hearsay. 
7 THE COURT: It's a yes-or-no 
8 question. Did you receive any other reports? 
9 A. Yes. 
10 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
11  Q. From whom? 

12  A.  Lars Olson. 
13 Q. And did he desc1·ibe what happened? 

14 A. He described Dr. Haydock coming 
1 5  upon --
1 6  MS. ALLISON: Objection, he's 
1 7  testifying to hearsay. It's a yes-or-no 
1 8  question. 
19  THE COURT: Can you describe 
20 what happened? Yes or no? 
2 1  A. Yes. 
22 THE COURT: Next question. 
23 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
24 Q. And as and what did he tell you? 
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MR. FEINGOLD: That's a very 
2 fine line, Your Honor. 
3 THE COURT: You'll remind me if 
4 we cross it, I'm sure, and please do. 
5 MR. FEINGOLD: I hope I don't be 
6 repetitive but --
7 MS. ALLISON: This is almost a 
8 year before the appeals. I would point that 
9 out. 
10  THE COURT: Right, but we're not 
1 1  going to get into whether the Conservation 
12  Commission was correct in issuing the pennit 
13  or from the Haddocks' perspective denying 
14 their request, whatever they might be. I 
1 5  don't think we're going there, and I don't 
16  think we're there yet. But ifwe get there, 
1 7  let me know. And I know --
1 8  MR. FEINGOLD: That's a very 
19 thin line. It's like cheesecloth. 
20 THE COURT: I don't know if 
21 we're quite there yet. But I am mindful of 
22 your objection, and I know Attorney Cook is 
23 mindful of the rulings and the nature of the 
24 evidence. 
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MS. ALLISON: And I -- 1 just 
2 want to note for --
3 THE COURT: I'm sure she'll try 
4 to keep in line with that. 
5 MS. ALLISON: Of course. And I 
6 just want to note for the record that the 
7 central issue is the basis -- the reasons for 
8 my clients' concerns, and whether they were 
9 genuine with respect to the MCRA. And so, of 
IO course, we have to offer evidence of what 
1 1  their concerns were. 
12  THE COURT: Right. 
13  MS.  ALLISON: How they were 
14  affected by acts of the Conservation 
1 5  Commission. All of this goes to their 
16  concerns and their motivations. 
1 7  THE COURT: Sure. And by the 
1 8  way, I should point out my memory also is that 
19  you brought up similar testimony of them 
20 trying to meet with neighbors to appease 
21  their -- or to get their understanding of the 
22 concerns, and I think this is along the lines 
23 of that. If I'm wrong about that, let me 
24 know. 
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1 MR. FEINGOLD: Okay. 
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2 THE COURT: Or ifwe get too 
3 close to that, let me know. 
4 MR. FEINGOLD: Thank you. 
5 THE COURT: All right. 
6 

7 (END OF SIDEBAR CONFERENCE.) 
8 

9 
10 THE COURT: Back to questions. 
1 1  Attorney Feingold, was there an 
12  objection to this particular document? 
13 MR. FEINGOLD: No. 
14 THE COURT: It may be 
I 5 admitted. 
1 6  THE CLERK: Judge, it will be 
17 marked as Exhibit 141 .  
1 8  THE COURT: Thank you. 
19  
20 (Exhibit No. 141 admitted as a full 
2 1  exhibit.) 
22 
23 BY MS. ALLISON: 
24 Q. All right. Mr. Reichenbach, so we're 
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1 looking back at what is now Exhibit 141? 141. 

2 And am I right, Mr. Reichenbach, that 

3 you say in this exhibit, and this is an e mail 

4 to stepping back for a minute, it's an 

5 e mail it's directed to my client, Barbara 

6 Moss, though it's to Timothy Haydock's e mail 

7 address, correct? 

8 A. Yes. 

9 Q. And you say at the beginning of this 

10 e mail that you just talked to Tom Hardman, 

11 your engineer, and that he has met with the 

12 Conservation Commission agent for the Town of 

13 Dartmouth, right? 

14 A. Yes. 

15 Q. And that the agent has asked for 

16 several more things. t1 An additional test pit 

17 and a few tweaks to the site plan. t1 

18 Do you see that? 

19 A. Yes. 

20 Q. Does that refresh your recollection 

21 that the Conservation Commission agent at this 

22 time asked for some additional changes to the 

23 site plan? 

24 A. Yes. 
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Q. And as a result of  those additional 

2 changes, you you proposed that Tom Hardman 

3 on your behaH and the town had agreed to an 

4 additional two week continuance, right? 

5 A. Yes. 

6 Q. So that takes us into that 

7 additional continuance, into the middle of 

8 November 2009, right? 

9 A. Yes. 

10 Q. Now, do you recall that that hearing 

11 at the middle of November 2009 was also 

12 postponed? 

13 A. Many were postponed. 

14 Q. I'm asking you about one. I'll 

A. No, I don't recall. 15 

16 Q. So you don't recall that this that 

17 a particular meeting in the middle of November 

18 2009 was postponed? 

19 A. Correct. 

20 Q. Would it refresh your recollection if 

21 I told you that the neighbors had asked to 

22 receive plans five days before the hearing as 

23 required by the Con Comm? 

24 A. No. 

1 Q. That doesn't refresh your 

2 recollection? 

3 A. (Witness nodding.) 

4 Q. All right. Well, let's look at the 
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5 document. I'm going to show you a document 

6 that we've marked as D9. Oh, I'm sorry, it's 

7 actually a joint exhibit. Joint Exhibit 58. 

8 And let's let's start with the 

9 first e mail in the chain, please. If we 

10 could scroll down. 

11 And this is an e mail. It's from 

12 Timothy Haydock's e mail address to you, but 

13 

14 

15 

it's signed by Barbara Moss. 

Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 

16 Q. And she says in the second paragraph, 

17 "We would prefer that the hearing be postponed 

18 since we didn't receive the information this 

19 week." 

20 Do you see that? 

21  A .  Yes. 

22 Q. She also says that her neighbor, Ulla, 

23 your neighbor on the south, felt the same way 

24 and wanted to be sure that she could review 
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1 the plans, right? 

2 A. Yes, she said her neighbor that 

3 Ulla felt that way. 

4 Q. So and let's scroll up to your 

5 response at the top of the e mail. And you 

6 say, "Given that none of us have time to 

7 review the information that he has prepared, I 

8 think your request to have the hearing 

9 continued again is entirely appropriate." 

10 Do you see that? 

1 1  A. Yes. 

12 Q. And that's an e mail from 

13 mid November November 14th, right? 

14 A. Yes. 

15 Q. And so as a result, you agreed that 

16 the hearing would be postponed for another two 

17 weeks, right? 

18 A. Yes. 

19 Q. Now, around this time in November of 

20 2009, you and Miss Moss were also trying to 

21 find time to meet in person to discuss your 

22 plans; is that right? 

23 A. Yes. 

24 Q. And do you recall telling Miss Moss 

Page 914 

1 that you would prefer to meet with her 

2 one on one, without a luge crowd of 

3 interested parties overseeing your 

4 convenation at the hearing? 

5 A. I I don't recall saying that 

6 specifically, no. 
7 Q. If I showed you a document, would it 

8 perhaps refresh your recollection? 

9 A. Perhaps. 

IO MS. ALLISON: Let's look at 

1 1  Joint Exhibit 1 18. 
12 BY MS. ALLISON: 
13 Q. So this is an e mail from you. Again, 

14 it's to Tim Haydock's e mail address, but you 

15 direct it to Barbarn. 

16 Do you see that? 

17  A .  Yes. 

18 Q. And you say you're talking about a 

19 meeting and you propose that you could do it 

20 the following Friday or Saturday although that 

21 is only a few days before the next heal"ing 

22 date. 

23 Do you see that? 

24 A. Yes. 
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Q. And you go on to say, "I think it 

2 would be good for us to meet so that we can 

3 discuss all the options without a large crowd 

4 of interested parties overseeing the 

5 conversation." 

6 Does that refresh your recollection? 

7 A. Yes, I wrote that. 

8 Q. You wrote that. And did you, in fact, 

9 want to meet with Barbara Moss one on one to 

10 avoid having to discuss it in front of the 

11 large group, at least at the outset? 

12 A. Yes. 

13 Q. So that mid November meeting that we 

14 saw referenced in the last exhibit was moved 

15 to early December as a result of the two week 

16 continuance, right? 

17 A. Yes. 

18 Q. Okay. And that at that early 

19 December, or before that early December 

20 meeting, the Con Comm agent again requested a 

21 couple of additional changes to the plan; is 

22 that right? 

23 A. I can't answer the question the way 

24 you phrased it. 

1 
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Q. Well, ifl showed you a document 

2 regarding that, would it help you answer the 

3 question? 

4 A. You aheady did. 

5 Q. No, I haven't no 

6 A. It's 

7 Q. No, I haven't 

8 A. It flashed. 

9 Q. I'm not seeing it now. Are you? 

10 A. No. 

11 Q. Okay. Well, let's wait until we can 

12 both see it. 

13 MS. ALLISON: This is Joint 

14 Exhibit 1 19, so it can be published. 

15  BY MS. ALLISON: 

16 Q. So you see this e mail, 

17 Mr. Reichenbach, from December 9th, 2009 from 

18 you to Tim Haydock, Ulla Sullivan, and some 

19 others are copied, correct? 

20 A. It's actually addressed to Barbara and 

21  IBla. 

22 Q. Right. Again, it's Tim Haydock's 

23 e mail address, but the text is addressed to 

24 Barbara Moss, right? Right? 
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A. Yes. 

Q. You say there that you received 
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3 another call from Tom Hardman and that he 

4 talked to Mike, the Conservation Commission 

5 agent, this morning and Mike suggested two 

6 additional changes in response to a letter 

7 from Ulla's engineer. 

8 Do you see that? 

9 A. Yes. 

10 Q. And you go on to say, "Because you're 

11 making those changes, that means we won't meet 

12 the five day notice requirement, so the 

13 hearing will be continued to later in 

14 December." Is that right? 

15 A. Yes. 

16 Q. And the just for context, the 

17 five day notice requirement is also part of 

18 the wetland regulations that requires giving 

19 abutters notification of plans five days 

20 before the scheduled hearing, right? 

21  A .  I can't answer that question. 

22 Q. Okay. Well, maybe I can show you a 

23 document to refresh your recollection as 

24 after we get through this. 

1 

Page 918 

The now, so this hea1·ing scheduled 

2 on December 22nd, do you 1·ecall that that was 

3 moved again? 

4 A. Not off the top of my head. 

5 Q. Would it refresh your memory ifl said 

6 that there was a request to move it after the 

7 holidays because no one was going to be arnund 

8 on December 22nd? 

9 A. That that sounds plausible, but I 

10 don't know. 

11 Q. You jnst have no independent 

12 recollection of that right here today? 

13 A. There were many meetings that were 

14 continued. 

15 Q. I'm asking about a meeting that was 

16 scheduled three days before Christmas. Do you 

17 remembe1· that being moved until after the 

18 holidays? 

19 A. I don't remember any specific meeting, 

20 there were so many. 

21 Q. So ultimately, after the holidays, in 

22 January of 2010, a meeting was held during 

23 which the Conse1·vation Commission evaluated 

24 your new plans, right? 
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2 Q. So you submitted the plans with the 

3 various changes that we've seen reference to, 

4 to the Conservation Commission in January of 

5 2010, right? 

6 A. We submitted the plans. It would have 

7 been in the beginning of the year. I don't 

8 know if it specifically was in Janua1y 20 I 0 

9 unless you show it to me. 

10 Q. But you remember that it was the 

11 beginning of the year, beginning of 2010? 

12  A. Yes. 

13 Q. Now, in advance of a January 2010 

14 conservation committee meeting, isn't it true 

15 that Sam Haydock, one of owners of the Haydock 

16 family property, wrote a letter to the 

17 Conservation Commission, copying you, 

18 outlining his concerns with your new plans? 

19 A. If you show me the letter, I can tell 

20 you whether I received it. 

21 Q. I'm going to show you what's been 

22 marked as D 13. 

23 We're starting at the top. 

24 Apparently oh, strike that. 

1 
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This is an e mail from Tom Hardman to 

2 you, and if you scroll down to the attachment, 

3 it's a letter from 

4 THE COURT: Ask him ifhe 

5 recognizes it. Are you trying to refresh his 

6 memory about something? 

7 MS. ALLISON: We'll have to 

8 I'm trying to see if he recalls receiving a 

9 copy of this letter, yes. 

10 BY MS. ALLISON 

11  Q.  So  do you see 

12 THE COURT: Look at it. Do you 

I 3 recall receiving it? 

14 MS. ALLISON And I would 

1 5  you're copied on it at the end, if that would 

16 help. 

1 7  A .  (Witness reviews document.)  

1 8  I'm I recall receiving it. 

19 BY MS. ALLISON: 
20 Q. Okay. 

21  A. But I don't know whether I received it 

22 electronically or by mail. 

23 Q. But you recall seeing this letter in 

24 January 2010? 
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3 MS. ALLISON: I would like to 

4 admit that as the next exhibit. 

5 THE COURT: Is there objection? 

6 MR. FEINGOLD: Object. 

7 Your Honor, it's the same objection. 

8 THE COURT: As we talked about? 

9 Overruled. 

10  

1 1  please. 

12 

THE CLERK: Just one moment, 

13 (Exhibit No. 142 admitted as a full 

14 exhibit.) 

1 5  

16  THE CLERK: It will be  

1 7  Exhibit admitted and marked as Exhibit 142, 

18 your Honor. 

1 9  THE COURT: Thank you. 

20 THE CLERK: You're welcome. 

21  BY MS. ALLISON: 

22 Q. All right. So we see here on the 

23 screen the letter from Sam Haydock to the 

24 Conservation Commission agent copying you. 

1 
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I won't put anyone through reading 

2 most of this letter, but let's just hit the 

3 highlights. 

4 So Mr. Haydock begins by well, he 

5 lists several concerns in this letter, 

6 correct, Mr. Reichenbach? 

7 A. Can I see the whole exhibit? 

8 Q. Of course, yes. We'll scroll down. 

9 A. All the way at the top, too. 

10 (Witness reviews document.) 

1 1  Above the letter, I mean, the context 

12 that this letter came in. 

13 THE COURT: All the way up to 

14 the top. 

15 A. (Witness reviews document.) 

16  Can you stop there? 

17 BY MS. ALLISON: 

18 Q. So actually on I'm pausing here. 

19 So this is a letter that's apparently 

20 forwarded from Michael O'Reilly, the 

21 Conservation Commission agent, right? 

22 A. Yes. 

23 Q. To Thomas Hardman, who is your project 

24 manager, right? 
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A. Yes. 

Q. And he's forwarding this Mike 

3 O'Reilly is forwarding the letter he received 

4 from Sam Haydock, correct? 

5 A. Yes. 

6 Q. And Michael O'Reilly says he's 

7 insulted by the letter, right? 

8 MR. FEINGOLD: Objection, Yow-

9 Honor. 

10 THE COURT: Ovenuled. Is it 

1 1  your same objection? 

12  MR. FEINGOLD: No. My client 

13  said he needed to see the letter. He didn't 

14 say he needed to see the e mail that 

15 THE COURT: Well, he said wanted 

16  to go to the ve1y top, and it's all an exhibit 

17  anyway so it's fair game. 

18  BY MS. ALLISON: 

19 Q. Do you have any idea why Michael 

20 O'Reilly was insulted by a letter from Sam 

21 Haydock? 

22 A. No. 

23 Q. And Thomas Hardman forwards it to you 

24 and says, you know, "Hi, John, I just 
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1 received" this one "this letter," right? 

2 A. Yes. 

3 Q. Okay. So that's the context. Is that 

4 can we move down? 

5 A. Yes. 

6 Q. Okay. So we're going to move down to 

7 the letter. 

8 And this is Sam Haydock's letter with 

9 bullet point concerns. 

10 And we don't need to walk through 

11 these. They're now an exhibit. But as you 

12 said, you did and as we can see here, you 

13 received a copy of this letter in advance of 

14 that January 2010 meeting, right? 

15 A. Yes. 

16 Q. Okay. So at that January 2010 

17 meeting, the Conservation Commission took up 

18 and discussed the new plans, right, for the 

19 project? 

20 MS. ALLISON: We can take that 

21 downnow. 

22 A. Yes, they they every one of the 

23 Conservation Cormnission meetings that was 

24 held, they discussed the plans. 

Trial Day 4 
Febrnary 09, 2023 

Page 925 

I BY MS. ALLISON: 

2 Q. That was the purpose of the meetings, 

3 right? 

4 A. Yes. 

5 Q. Was to discuss the plans and hear any 

6 comment on them, right? 

7 A. Yes. 

8 Q. So do you recall that at that 

9 Conservation Commission meeting in January of 

10 2010, the Conservation Commission did hear 

11 some additional concerns from the attendees 

12 about the plans? Is that right? 

13 

14 

A. There were concerns at every one of 

the conservation committee meetings expressed 

15  by abutters, but typically Barbara Moss. 

16 Q. Well, so far we've seen one meeting in 

17 October of 2009, right? Right? 

1 8  A .  Yes. 

19 Q. And then a series of continuances for 

20 the reasons that we just discussed, right? 

21  A .  Yes. 

22 Q. And now we're at the second meeting in 

23 January of 2010, correct? 

24 A. Yes. 

Page 926 

1 Q. And the abutters and others who 

2 attended the meeting have seen your new plans 

3 for the first time in January of 2010, 

4 correct? 

5 A. Yes. 

6 Q. And so at the conclusion of that 

7 meeting, the Conservation Commission continues 

8 the matter for a further hearing, right, for a 

9 further hearing to take place in February, 

10 right? 

1 1  

12 

A. Yes. 

Q. And one of the reasons that they did 

13 that was because individuals asked for an 

14 opportunity to submit concerns to the 

15 Conservation Commission, correct? 

16 A. That's consistent with my mem01y, but 

17  I cannot say absolutely that happened without 

18  seeing a document. 

19 Q. I know. This was a long time ago. 

20 But it is consistent with your memory, right? 

21 Yes? 

22 A. Yes. 

23 Q. All right. So do you recall that the 

24 following month in February 2010, Samuel 
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1 Haydock, Tim Haydock's brother, part owner of 

2 the family property, submitted another letter 

3 to the Conservation Commission about his 

4 concerns? 

5 A. I don't recall that specific letter 
6 right now. 
7 Q. Okay. I'm going to ask you to look at 

8 a document marked as D 15. 

9 Have you 

10 MS. ALLISON: Scroll down to the 
1 1  letter, please, and to the signature line. 
12  BY MS. ALLISON: 
13 Q. Have you seen this document before, 

14 Mr. Reichenbach, that you're copied on? 

15 A. Yes. 
16 Q. It refreshes your memory that you 

17 received this letter from Sam Haydock in 

18 February of 2010, right? 

19 A. I did receive this letter in Febrnary 
20 of2010. 
21 Q. Okay. 

22 MS. ALLISON: I would like to 
23 admit this as the next exhibit. 
24 THE COURT: Is there objection? 
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MR. FEINGOLD: Yes. Your Honor, 
2 can we have sidebar on this? 
3 THE COURT: Yes, please. 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

(BEGINNING OF SIDEBAR CONFERENCE.) 
(All Counsel Present.) 

MR. FEINGOLD: My objection to 
10 this is that at the bottom of the letter, it 
1 1  cites that he's an environmental engineer or 
12 something, and he's not going to be an expert 
13  in this case but it's a suggestion that he is. 
14 THE COURT: Well, I don't know, 
15  if that's the basis of you objection. But I 
16 have a question. 
17  What's the pmpose of this? 
1 8  MS. ALLISON: The pmpose is to 
19 show that other members of the Haydock family 
20 were raising concerns. This wasn't just Tim 
21  Haydock and Barbara Moss. And we will 
22 establish tlu·ough their testimony and our 
23 clients' testimony that their concems were 
24 similar. And it goes to tl1e it goes to tl1e 
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1 basis of their - - the genuineness of their 
2 concerns, other people shared them. 
3 THE COURT: Other people shared. 
4 Okay. But we're concerned about the conduct 
5 of these Defendants. 
6 MS. ALLISON: Right. But I 
7 think it's highly relevant to their -- highly 
8 relevant to whether or not their concerns were 
9 genuine if other owners of the property shared 
10  their concerns, owners of the Haydock 
1 1  property, and were raising these concerns with 
12  the Conservation Commission. 
13 THE COURT: All right. So I'll 
14 admit it as an exhibit. But if that's the 
1 5  purpose for which it's admitted, then I 
1 6  presume in your case or at some point we'll 
1 7  hear evidence that these Defendants shared 
1 8  those same concerns. 
19 MS. ALLISON: Uh-huh. 
20 THE COURT: And I think that's 
2 1  what you're trying to articulate. 
22 MS. ALLISON: Yes. Not just the 
23 Defendants, but that their concerns were 
24 shared by others, I think is the case, and 
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1 we're going the hear evidence from the other 
2 owners, Ulla Sullivan and Sam Haydock, they 
3 had the same concerns, which goes to the 
4 genuineness. 
5 THE COURT: It's the conduct of 
6 these two Defendants that are primarily at 
7 issue. 
8 MS. ALLISON: Of course. Well, 
9 they're the only Defendants in the case --
10  THE COURT: Yes. 
1 1  MS. ALLISON: -- obviously. But 
12  I think that the fact that others shared the 
13  concerns, we believe, you know, is central to 
14  the question of whether those concerns were 
1 5  reasonable genuine. 
1 6  THE COURT: Yes. All right. 
1 7  MR. FEINGOLD: Your Honor, we 
18 would like an instruction that he's not an 
19  expert in this case, notwithstanding how he 
20 signs his name. 
2 1  MS. ALLISON: I have not offered 
22 him for that. 
23 THE COURT: I'm not going to do 
24 that right now for a couple of reasons. One, 
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1 I understand your objection, but it's not 
2 being offered for any expert opinion. It's 
3 being offered --
4 MR. FEINGOLD: It says it right 
5 at the bottom, that's the problem. It's the 
6 11npress10n --
7 THE COURT: No, he's not -- if 
8 he testifies, you know, he's not going to be 
9 testifying as an expert, and I don't think 
10 because -- it's sort of begs the question of 
1 1  now we need evidence as to what he actually 
12 does. And sometimes ifI  highlight that for 
1 3  the jury, it gets them thinking and it sort of 
14 has the counter effect to what you -- to what 
1 5  you're trying to prevent. 
16  MS. ALLISON: At this point, 
17  Your Honor, I'm just offering it to show that 
18  Mr. Reichenbach received this and that it 
19  stated concerns --
20 THE COURT: I don't know that 
21  it's going to -- i s  he listed as an exhibit --
22 I mean, as a witness? 
23 MS. ALLISON: Yes, he is going 
24 to be a witness. 
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1 THE COURT: He's going to be a 
2 witness, but he's he not going to offer expert 
3 opinion evidence --
4 MS. ALLISON: No. 
5 THE COURT: -- as to anything 
6 that has to do with this letter or any of the 
7 project and I -- you know the facts better 
8 than I. But, you know, the fact that he may 
9 have some ability to raise or articulate 
10  concerns better than others, that's just the 
1 1  nature of it, but it's not anything that is 
12  going to be --
13 
14 
15 

MR. FEINGOLD: Your Honor. 
THE COURT: -- as an expert. 
MR. FEINGOLD: As far as 

16  allowing other people to testify as to their 
1 7  concerns, if they're witnesses, I have no 
18  problem with it. But if they're not 
19  witnesses, I do have a problem with it. 
20 THE COURT: Sure. And so I'm 
21 not going to say like that is sort of the 
22 de bene evidence, but I think your purpose 
23 here is to show that these two Defendants and 
24 others had some concerns. 
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MS. ALLISON: Yes. 1 
2 THE COURT: And so maybe 
3 there's so I'll allow it, but subject to 
4 that evidence coming in 
5 MS. ALLISON: Yes. 
6 THE COURT: because that will 
7 clarify the document. And be mindful of I 
8 saw that signature line, too, but that doesn't 
9 give him any any greater opinion or we're 
10 not going to put any expert associated with 
1 1  that. 
12 MR. FEINGOLD: Thank you, Your 
1 3  Honor. 
14 MS. ALLISON: Thank you, Your 
1 5  Honor. 
16  
17  
18  
19  

(END OF SIDEBAR CONFERENCE.) 

THE COURT Objection is 
20 overruled. That may be admitted as the next 
21 exhibit. 
22 THE CLERK: Judge, marked as 
23 Exhibit 143. 
24 THE COURT: Thank you. 

l 
2 
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3 (Exhibit No. 143 admitted as a full 
4 exhibit.) 
5 
6 BY MS. ALLISON: 
7 Q. All right. So, Mr. Reichenbach, we've 

8 marked this as the next exhibit. Again, ifwe 

9 scroll to the bottom of this letter from Sam 

10 Haydock to the Conservation Commission, you 

11 can see there that you we1·e copied on that 

12 letter, coi-rect? 

13 A. Yes. 
14 Q. So you received it at the time, l'ight? 

15 A. I'm sure I received it at the time. 
16 I've seen this letter. 
17 Q. You've seen you 1·ecall this letter? 

18 A. Yes. 
19 Q. And in this letter, Sam Haydock is 

20 summarizing his concems with the with the 

21 new plans received in January, correct? 

22 A. Yes, he's summarizing his concerns. 
23 Q. And he spends some time in this letter 

24 addressing that pre and post water drainage 
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1 analysis that was performed, correct? 

2 A. If you show me that, I can say 
3 correct. 
4 Q. I believe it's fm·ther up in the 

5 letter. We can scroll up. 

6 And do you see the Paragraph 1?  

7 A. Yes. 
8 Q. And that's a discussion of the pre

9 and post development analysis, correct, the 

10 water analysis? 

1 1  A. It's a discussion of two topics. 
12 Q. I'm sorry. I didn't hear you. 

13 A. It's a discussion of two topics. 
14 Q. And one of those are issues with 

15 respect to the predevelopment and 

16 post development wate1· shed plan, right? 

1 7  A. There are no issues with the 
1 8  discussion of the pre and post --
19  pre-development and post-development water 
20 plan. That's topic 1 .  
2 1  Q. That's topic 1 in this lette1·? 

22 A. Yes. 
23 Q. Correct. So I'm going to scroll down 

24 to the bottom of the lette1·, the last 
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1 paragraph. 

2 And Mr. Haydock says this is Sam 

3 Haydock, again one of the owners of the 

4 Haydock p1·operty says here that "If the 

5 hearing is closed this evening without giving 

6 us the opportunity to complete these 

7 additional studies, it would be our intention 

8 to appeal to the Massachusetts Department of 

9 Environmental Protection." 

10 Do you see that? 

1 1  A. Yes. 
12 Q. He goes on to say at the end of that 

13 paragraph, "It's my opinion that it would be 

14 better fo1· all parties involved to resolve the 

15 issues prior to the decision by the 

16 Conservation Commission." 

17 Do you see that? 

18 A. Yes. 
19 Q. And did you understand that it was Sam 

20 Haydock's view that you should try to resolve 

21 these issues and avoid any appeals down the 

22 road? Is that how you read this letter? 

23 A. I recall reading this letter basically 
24 saying that he would like us to resolve the 
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I issues, but ifwe didn't resolve the issues, 
2 they threatened to appeal. 
3 Q. Well, as a property owner, be had the 

4 1·ight to exercise an appeal to the DEP, right? 

5 A. Yes. 
6 Q. And he's saying here it would be 

7 better If we could reach agreement, right? 

8 A. Yes. 
9 Q. So we saw earlier an exhibit whe1·e you 

10 and Barbarn Moss were trying to find a time to 

11 meet one on one. 

12 Do you remembe1· that? 

13 A. I remember the exhibit. 
14 Q. And between January 2010, these 

15 Conservation Commission meetings we're talking 

16 about, and April 2010, you had severnl 

17 meetings with Ms. Moss about your plans, 

18 right? 

19 A. Yes. 
20 Q. And when you had those meetings with 

21 Miss Moss, did you understand that she was 

22 conveying her own concerns, but also the 

23 concerns of Sam Haydock and the Haydock family 

24 and Ulla Sullivan? 

Page 938 

A. I understood that she was I mean, 
2 expressing her own concerns and the concerns 
3 of Sam Haydock and the other members of the 
4 Haydock family, Ulla Sullivan, and perhaps 
5 others. 
6 Q. And so in these discussions with 

7 Barbara Moss in this first part of 2010, you 

8 were discussing issues that could affect both 

9 the Haydock family property in their view and 

10 also the Sullivan property in the Sullivans' 

11 view; is that right? 

12 A. I don't know about the second part. 
13 Q. Well, I thought you just said that you 

14 were discussing with Barba1·a Moss some of the 

15 Sullivans' concerns as well. 

16 A. I was discussing with Barbara Moss 
17 what she told me the Sullivans' concerns were. 
18 I don't know what the Sullivans' real concerns 
19 were. 
20 Q. Well, you met with Ulla Sullivan a 

21 couple of times yourself, right? 

22 A. I met with her at the site meeting 
23 not the site meeting. I met with her when she 
24 showed them the plans, and I walked the 
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2 Q. Isn't it true that in April of 2010, 

3 Barbara Moss stood up at the meeting and said 

4 she would support your project? 

5 A. Yes. 

6 Q. And no other neighbor in April of 2010 

7 stood up and said they were going to challenge 

8 the project? 

9 A. No other neighbor stood up and said 

l O they were going to challenge the project. 

11 Q. And in fact, no one did challenge the 

12 project at that point in time? No one 

13 appealed it, right? 

14 A. I think the first part of your 

15 sentence is incorrect? 

16 Q. All right. Well then let's be clear, 

17 no one appealed the project strike that. 

18 No one appealed the permit that was 

19 issued to you in April of 2010, right? 

20 A. That's correct. 

21 Q. And so at that point you had a final 

22 permit from the Conservation Commission to 

23 build yom· project, correct? 

24 A. After the appeal period was over, yes. 

1 
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Q. And the appeal period was over and no 

2 one had objected, no one had appealed, right? 

3 A. Correct. 

4 Q. Now, when when Barbara Moss raised 

5 these concerns with you about your plans in 

6 this early 2010 period, at that time you 

7 believed her concerns were genuine, didn't 

8 you? 

9 A. Very on very early on, I thought 

10 her concerns were sincere and unfounded. 

11 Q. Sincere but unfounded, is that what 

12 you said? 

13 A. Yes. 

14 Q. So you believed that she was sincere 

15 in he1· concerns, you just didn't ag1·ee with 

16 them; is that right? 

17 A. I would say I didn't agree and 

18 eventually no one else did either. 

19 Q. I'm asking about what you understood 

20 as as to her concerns in this, what you've 

21 called the early period before you received 

22 your initial permit from the Conservation 

23 Commission. Right? 

24 A. It became apparent the further we 
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1 entered went into this period that they 

2 would use every possible objection to delay 

3 our project as a pretext. 

4 Q. Let me ask you the question again, 

5 because 1 it sounds as if you're answering 

6 something different. 

7 My question was: That prior to April 

8 of 2010 when that initial permit was issued, 

9 you believed that Barbara Moss' concerns were 

10 sincere as she had expressed them to you? 

II  A. No. 

12 Q. You just testified that early in the 

13 process, you believed that Barbara Moss' 

14 concerns were sincere. 

15 A. Early in the process does not extend 

16  to April 
17 Q. Okay. 
1 8  A. of 2010. 

19 Q. Okay. And she didn't and she 

20 didn't appeal your project in April 2010, did 

21 she? 

22 A. She did not. 

23 Q. And no one else did, right? 

24 A. Nobody else did. 
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1 Q. Okay. So I'm going to move from 

2 you have your permit now, April of2010 you 

3 have your permit now. 

4 I would like to move to the summe1· of 

5 2010. 

6 Through the summer of 2010, you were 

7 negotiating the rights to the driveway with 

8 Sam Haydock; is that right? 

9 A. Yes. 

Q. And initially you spoke with Sam 

11 Haydock about the concept of 1·eceiving a 

12 permanent easement giving you the right to use 

13 the shared driveway; is that right? 

14  A.  Yes. 

15 Q. And you discussed what price you would 

16 pay for that permanent right to use the 

17 driveway, right? 

1 8  A. I don't think there was a price in our 

19 initial discussions but.. 

20 Q. Ultimately, you got to the discussion 

21 of a price, right? 

22 A. Yes. 

23 Q. And negotiations always do, right? 

24 So at some point the Haydocks proposed 
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2 Q. Right. Right. And this happened 

3 during the construction process, right? 

4 A. Yeah, it happened two days after the 
5 door was installed. 
6 Q. So there was construction going on all 

7 around the property at the time? 

8 A. Yes. 
9 Q. You also testified that you often 

10 when were you there, and I think let me be 

11 clear. 

12 You said you were there maybe about 

13 once a week for site meetings at the 

14 construction site? 

15 A. We were there once or twice a week. 
16 Q. So  it would vary week to week? 

17  A. And in the summers, we were there 
18  nearly every day. 
19 Q. But there was no construction in the 

20 summers in Nonquitt, right? 

21 A. There was no major construction 
22 Q. Right. 

23 A. in the summers. 
24 Q. When construction was going on, you 
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1 were there once or twice a week depending on 

2 the week? 

3 A. Yes. 
4 Q. And I believe you said you would see 

5 Barbara Moss on the easement, right? 

6 A. She was on either the easement or Ulla 
7 Sullivan's property on the south side. 
8 Q. And so now, of course, Barbara Moss 

9 has the right to use the easement to go to the 

10 beach, right? That's the purpose of the 

11 easement. 

12 A. She has the right to use the easement 
13 to go to and from the beach. 
14 Q. Right. And we're talking about 

15 well, many of us here walked it yesterday, the 

16 path between your property and the Haydock 

17 property down to the beach, right? 

18 A. It's a five foot wide path. 
19 Q. It's not far not fat· down to the 

20 beach at all? 

21 A. It's about 300 feet. 
22 Q. Right. So I mean, you have no idea 

23 how often Barbarn Moss walks to and from the 

24 beach on a given day, do you? 
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2 Q. You know now how often Miss Moss 

3 visits the beach when she's at her home? 

4 A. 1
5 Q. How would you know that? 

6 A. If she uses the if she uses the 
7 easement, it's covered by our surveillance 
8 cameras. 
9 Q. So you're surveilling her while she 

10 walks to the beach? 

1 1  A. I'm not surveilling her. They're just 
12 cameras that are mounted on the house and they 
13 basically capture any activity around our 
14 house. 
15 Q. So it surveils anybody who is walking 

16 to the beach on that easement? 

1 7  A. It surveils anyone walking to the 
18  beach on that easement. It surveils anyone in 
1 9  the pool. It surveils anyone between the 
20 house and the water. It surveils anyone in 
21 the driveway. It surveils anyone in front of 
22 the shed, anyone near the swings. 
23 Q. Okay. So I think you also testified 

24 to some alleged trespasses on your property. 
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1 Again, you never saw Barbara Moss or Tim 

2 Haydock trespass onto your property, right? 

3 A. No. 
4 Q. Now, I'd like to turn to some of the 

5 questions you were asked about alleged costs 

6 that you incurred. Well, actually before I do 

7 that, let me just I want to get one thing 

8 clear. 

9 So you're not claiming that Lars Olson 

10 violated your contract with him, right? 

1 1  A .  I don't understand the question. 
12 Q. Do you claim that Lars Olson breached 

13 any provision of his contract with you, that 

14 he did not carry out his obligations under 

15 your contract? 

1 6  A. No. We paid every bill he sent us. 
17 Q. He did what you expected him to do 

18 under the contract, right? 

19  A. He did what I expected. He managed 
20 the construction site and the building and 
21 built it as fast as he could. 
22 Q. And so he as far as you're 

23 concerned, he performed all of his obligations 

24 under that contract? 
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1 considered abandoning it. And we did not 
2 have a we basically could not abandon it 
3 because given all of the sort of, I guess 
4 contentious disagreement with what we planned, 
5 it was basically it would have become an 
6 unbuildable lot. 
7 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
8 Q. You mentioned that this had an impact 

9 on you and your wife emotionally. Could you 

10 elaborate, please. 

1 1  A .  Yes. 
12 Q. Please do. 

1 3  A .  My wife had nightmares for about four 
14 years. They were severe nightmares. She 
1 5  described to me 
16  MS. ALLISON: Objection. That's 
17  hearsay. 
18  THE COURT: Overruled. 
19 A. I had insomnia. 
20 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
21 Q. The judge said that could you tell 

22 THE COURT: Well, he did. He 
23 said she described them to me, and then he 
24 went on to that he had insomnia. Right? 

Page 1012 

1 THE WITNESS: But I didn't know 
2 you I didn't know you overruled I mean, 
3 you
4 THE COURT: He needs to ask you 
5 some questions. 
6 THE WITNESS: Okay. 
7 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
8 Q. Can you describe the nightmares? 

9 MS. ALLISON: Objection. 
10 A. Yes. 
1 1  MS. ALLISON: Your Honor, that 
12 clearly calls for hearsay. It's also in that 
13 he could only have heard this from his wife, 
14 and it's also outside the scope of cross. 
15 THE COURT: Well, it probably is 
16 that, but I'll give him some leeway and he can 
17  testify as to  what he learned about his wife's 
18  condition. She's going to  testify, too, 
19  right? 
20 MR. FEINGOLD: Yes, she is. 
21 THE COURT: All right. 
22 A. She had regular nightmares where she 
23 was inside the front door of our house. It 
24 was burning. And Barbara Moss was outside the 
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1 front door holding the door shut. The house 
2 was burning. 
3 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
4 Q. And was that nightmare always the 

5 same? 

6 A. Yes. 
7 Q. And how long did it go on? 

8 A. Three or four years. 
9 Q. What other impacts did this have on 

10 you and your wife? 

1 1  A. I had insomnia. I was trying -- I 
12 mean, I basically was spending time not -- I 
13 was not able to go to sleep, and I used time 
14  while I was not able to go to sleep trying to 
1 5  figure out a way out of the predicament we 
1 6  were in where we had spent a lot of money and 
l 7 were in a position where we couldn't complete 
1 8  the project and couldn't retreat from the 
19  project, and there didn't seem to be any way 
20 of resolving it. So we continued. 
2 1  MR. FEINGOLD: I have no further 
22 questions, Your Honor. 
23 Thank you, Mr. Reichenbach. 
24 THE COURT: Anything further? 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 

6 

7 

8 
9 

10 

11 

12 
13 

14 

15 

16 
17 

18 
19 
20 

21 

22 
23 
24 

MS. ALLISON: Very short. 
THE COURT: Please. 
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RECROSS EXAMINATION 
BY MS. ALLISON: 

Q. Mr. Reichenbach, you did not abandon 

your project, did you? 

A. No, we did not abandon the project. 
Q. We saw it yesterday. And you started 

construction on that home in November 2011, 

right? 

A. Yes. 
Q. And you had your temporary certificate 

of occupancy to use that home by January 2013, 

right? 

A. No. 
Q. January 2014, right? 

A. Yes, it was not complete then. But we 
got a tempora1y certificate. 

Q. You had your temporary certificate of 

occupancy by January 2014, right? 

A. Yes. 
MS. ALLISON: No fmther 

questions. 
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1 Nonquitt down to the circle whe1·e they could 

2 work? 

3 A. Correct. 
4 Q. How many times a day would people have 

5 to be shuttled like that? I mean, is it just 

6 morning and evening, or is it ... 

7 A. Many times. We had to do it more than 
8 once each way. 
9 Q. Mr. Olson, during yom· time as a 

10 project manager at the work site, how often 

11 were you personally at the work site? 

12 A. Every day. 
13 Q. Did you ever have sick days when you 

14 weren't there? 

15 A. Rarely, but yes. 
16 Q. And in the time that you were there as 

17 a project manager, did you ever see Miss Moss 

18 or Dr. Haydock taking pictm-es of the 

19 Reichenbach site? 

20 A. I did. 
21 Q. Did you see them taking pictures of 

22 the workers at the site? 

23 A. I did. 
24 Q. Was it both of them doing this 01· 
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1 one one or the other? 

2 A. Only Miss Moss. 
3 Q. And how many times did you personally 

4 witness Miss Moss taking photos of the 

5 Reichenbach site, the workers at the 

6 Reichenbach site, anything of that nature? 

7 A. Miss Moss didn't always have her 
8 camera with her, but I would I would 
9 safe to say that Miss Moss was on site during 
10 the course of construction 300 times or more. 
11 Q. Is that on 300 different days of the 

12 construction? 

13 A. Yes. 
14 Q. When you witnessed Miss Moss on the 

15 site, was she interacting with your workers at 

16 all? 

17 A. Yes. 
18 Q. And could you tell us about that. 

19 A. Generally, she would be trying to get 
20 the attention of one of my either Matt 
21 Swimm or Andrew Dearden and who were my 
22 site my assistants and try to fnd out what 
23 was going on for the day or what we were 
24 doing. I know she spoke with different 
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1 various subcontractors. I know she there 
2 were some instances when deliveries were being 
3 made and she stopped the tried to stop the 
4 trucks from making the deliveries and various 
5 things like that. 
6 Q. How did she try to stop the trucks? 

7 A. Well, one in particular was a Frades 
8 Disposal truck, and she stood in front of the 
9 truck and wouldn't let the truck leave. 
10 Q. Do you have any understanding of why 

11 she did that? 

12 A. I do. 
13 Q. What's yom· understanding? 

14 A. The truck went down the wrong 
15 driveway, and it went down into the Haydock 
16 family driveway, turned around, and was coming 
17 back out to get where it was supposed to go, 
18 and she stopped the truck. 
19 Q. Did you ever understand gain an 

20 understanding of why the Frades truck did 

21 that? 

22 A. It's it was a very congested site, 
23 and most likely, one ofmy guys was not in 
24 circle, you know, directing traffic at the 

1 time. 
Q. So it was just an accident? 

A. It was an accident. 
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2 
3 
4 Q. Do you know how that interaction was 

5 resolved? 

6 A. That wasn't the only interaction, but 
7 I know at one point Miss Moss called the 
8 police. And I don't know if it was that one. 
9 There was also another interaction, I 
IO believe, with -- it was with the concrete 
1 1  truck. 
12 Q. Can you tell us about the interaction 

13 with the concrete trnck and Miss Moss. 

14 A. I think it was the same thing. She 
1 5  got in front of it and -- or didn't -- again, 
1 6  it might have happened again -- I'm not 
1 7  sure -- or if it was going around the circle, 
1 8  but she, you know, stopped it. 
19 Q. How long did she have it stopped 

20 there? 

2 1  A. I think as long as it took to -- I 
22 can't recall exactly if the police showed up 
23 or not, but it was a few minutes. It was a 
24 while. 
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1 having somebody standing there on the property 
2 watching us. 
3 Q. Did you receive any complaints from 

4 the workers on your site relative to 

5 Ms. Moss's presence? 

6 A. They were annoyed by it, yes. 
7 Q. Did you ever experience anyone being 

8 taken off task and having to get back on task 

9 by the interruptions? 

IO A. Yes. 
11  Q. And did you do anything about that to 

12 to try to stop that intel"ference? 

13 A. Everybody that worked for us knew we 
14 were we instructed them all to be as polite 
15 as possible and to try to talk as little as 
16  possible to  Ms. Moss. 
17 Q. Did people as you understand it, 

18 did they follow those instructions? 

19  A. Yes, for the most part. 
20 Q. So do you have any understanding of 

21 whether Ms. Moss ever threatened any of the 

22 workers on your site? 

23 A. I don't recall at this time. 
24 Q. Do you ever recall her speaking to 
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1 workers on your site about calling regulatory 

2 authorities? 

3 A. Yes. 
4 Q. Could you tell us about that. 

5 A. For instance, when we had the instance 
6 with the with the fence that it leaned over 
7 into Miss Sullivan's property, she said that 
8 she was going to reach out to that. And I 
9 know there were some other instances with the 
10 silt fence where she would reached out to 
1 1  people and 
12 Q. When you say she "reached out to 

13 people" 

14 A. Mike O'Reilly would show up. 
15 Q. And I think you ah-eady testified 

16 when he showed up, did he find anything wrong 

17 at your worksite? 

18  A. As I said before, only that one time. 
19 Q. Did you eve1· observe Ms. Moss giving 

20 orders or instructions to your workers about 

21 how to do thefr job? 

22 A. No. 
23 Q. Do you have any understanding that she 

24 did, in fact, give instructions to your 
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workers or try to tell them how to do their 

job? 

MR. ELDER: Asked and answered, 
Your Honor. Objection. 

MS. BONNET HEBERT: Your Honor, 
I'm asking something a little different. 

THE COURT: Overruled. 
A. Now that you I had a moment to 

think about it, yes. 
Ms. Moss was constantly telling my 

employees how to manage the circle and manage 
parking on the circle and keeping people off 
the you know, going down the wrong side of 
the circle. And she was constantly, you know, 
telling my people, you know or complaining 
about things and making sure you know, 
trying to make sure that she was happy. 
BY MS. BONNET HEBERT: 

Q. Did your c1·ew and subconh"actors, to 

your knowledge, enjoy working on this project? 

MR. ELDER: Objection, Your 
Honor. 

THE COURT: Sustained. 
BY MS. BONNET HEBERT: 
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Q. Do you understand do you have an 

unde1·standing sh-ike that. 

Did the interference that you've 

descdbed by Ms. Moss with the wm·ke1·s, did 

that impact the atmosphere on the worksite, 

the work atmosphe1·e? 

MR. ELDER: Objection, Your 
Honor. 

THE COURT: Sustained. 
BY MS. BONNET HEBERT: 

Q. Turning back to when you first were 

engaged by the Reichenbachs to do I believe 

it was the retaining walls, you said, at 29 

Mattarest Lane, correct? 

A. Correct. 

Q. Did you have a contract with them for 

that wo1·k, for the 1·etaining wall work? 

A. A verbal contract, yes. 

Q. And at some point, you mentioned you 

got you got the contract to do the house as 

well; is that true? 

A. Yes, it was. Yes, it is. 

Q. At the outset, was that a verbal 

contract as well? 
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1 Mrs. Reichenbach? 

2 A It is. 
3 Q. At some time before that, were you 

4 able to put together a cost to date sheet 

5 first time that would show a more fulsome 

6 budget? 

7 A Yes, we were. 
8 .MR. ELDER: Objection. 
9 Foundation. 
10 THE COURT: Overruled. 
1 1  MS. BONNET HEBERT: Tim, could 
12  you pull up I believe it's Exhibit 135 and 
1 3  Requisition 12. 
14 BY MS. BONNET HEBERT: 
15 Q. And, Mr. Olson, while we're waiting 

16 for this to come up, when you first started 

17 testifying I think we were waiting for a 

18 picture to come up or something you told us 

19 sort of the volume of your billing. You said 

20 it was 5,000 pages' worth or thereabouts? 

21 A That was just the billing for this 
22 project. 
23 Q. So again, I'm not going to go through 

24 5,000 pages of billing with you or put anyone 
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1 else through that today, but I would like to 

2 take a look at a couple of things. 

3 Do you recognize what you're looking 

4 at here? 

5 THE WITNESS: Can you blow it 
6 up, please. 
7 A. I do. 
8 BY MS. BONNET HEBERT: 
9 Q. Could you tell us what this is. 

10 A. This would be the cover sheet for 
1 1  Requisition No. 12 dated May 21 ,  2012. 
12 Q. And at that point, you still didn't 

13 have a signed contract, correct? 

14 A. That's conect. 
15 Q. In the interim, between the September 

16 2011 time, when you broke ground, and where 

17 you are here in May 2012, had you been working 

18 to get together the budget you would need for 

19 the signed contract? 

20 A. There wasn't a lot of ti.me to work on 
21  putting together a budget. We were so busy 
22 trying to get the house as far along as we 
23 could. 
24 Q. Why was it so important to get the 
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1 house as far excuse me as far along as 

2 you could at that point? 

3 A. We were hoping to have the house tight 
4 to the weather and the trim on so we could be 
5 having painters on the outside of the house 
6 and having trades on the inside doing quiet 
7 summer work that was allowed. 
8 Q. So what was your deadline to get it to 

9 that point? 

l O A. I believe it's the end of June. 
1 1  MS. BONNET-HEBERT: So ifwe 
12  could, scroll down to the next page, please, 
13 Tim. 
14 BY MS. BONNET-HEBERT: 
15 Q. Could you tell us what this page is, 

16 Mr. Olson? 

l 7 A. Thank you. 
1 8  This i s  our - - this goes with each and 
1 9  every contract. This is a cost-to-date -- a 
20 cost-to-date sheet, which on the left 
2 1  column -- not the left column but the column 
22 that says "Estimated Cost," that would be the 
23 original budget that we came up with. That's 
24 how we -- if you add those numbers up, that 
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I would be our initial control estimate. 
2 And then if you go all the way to the 
3 right, it's Req 12 totals. That's the work 
4 that was or the dollar value that was 
5 carried or was accumulated during this period, 
6 and then it all totals up to the total to date 
7 in the middle. 
8 Q. So you're saying it totals for each 

9 category of work? Is that what you're 

10 saying? 

1 1  A Yes, yes. 
12 Q. So, for example, I'm I see 2,000, 

13 and it says "site work," and that carries over 

14 and has some numbers there. I guess that 

15  Is  that the total of  the estimate? 

1 6  A Right. So the estimated the 
17  estimated total is 633, 1 6 1 .  And if you go to 
1 8  the right a little bit more, we've totaled and 
19  stored to date 390,581 .  
20 Q. What is it all the way to the right? 

21 A That would be the amount billed for 
22 this in this period, 4,550. 
23 Q. So just on this bill? 

24 A Just on this bill. 
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1 Q. You testified on direct, I believe, 

2 that you believed these appeals these 

3 various wetland and other permit appeals 

4 delayed your ability to sign the contract, 

5 correct? 

6 A. Correct. 

7 Q. But once you st3l'ted demolition in 

8 November of 2011, construction proceeded 

9 smoothly thrnugh June 2012, correct? 

10 A. Correct. 

11 Q. And the house was weathertight by June 

12 2012, l"ight? 

13 

14 

A. Correct. 

Q. That means all the windows are in, and 

15 it can rain, and you feel good about it if 

16 you're not there, correct? 

17  A. Correct. 

18 Q. You can do some interior work, 

19 correct? 

20 A. That was the plan. 

21 Q. So a lot of wm·k had been done between 

22 Novembe1· 2011 and October 2012, when you 

23 finally signed a contract, correct? 

24 A. Correct. 
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1 Q. And I believe, just for clarification, 

2 you testified on direct that this little 

3 neighborhood that they call Nonquitt had a 

4 prohibition on doing so called heavy 

5 construction work during the summer months, 

6 correct? 

7 A. Yes. 

8 Q. And then again, I know the Bevilacqua 

9 house this is the last time I'll ask about 

10 it, I promise, but they didn't have they 

11 didn't have a summer restriction on heavy 

12 construction, did they? 

13 A. That is correct. 

14 Q. So you talked a bunch about 

15 Mr. O'Reilly and complaints that you believe 

16 my clients had made to him. 

17 Do you remember that? 

18 A. I do. 

19 Q. But it's true that those so called 

20 complaints, or what I would call concerns, 

21 being raised to Mr. O'Reilly didn't 

22 significantly delay your work, correct? 

23 A. I didn't say they delayed the work. 

24 Q. So is that a no, they didn't delay 
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1 your work, sir? 

2 A. It only only if we were waiting for 

3 Mr. O'Reilly to show up on the site, it would 

4 have delayed what we were doing. 

5 Q. As you sit here today, do you know 

6 whether or to what extent those visits delayed 

7 your work? 

8 A. It probably less than a day. 

9 Q. You talked about Ms. Moss and seeing 

10 her on the site. 

11 Do you remember that? 

12 A. I do. 

13 Q. I think you said you saw her you 

14 personally observed her there 300 days or 

15 more? 

16  

17 

A. No. I said 300 times or more. 

Q. Okay. That's a helpful clarification. 

18 So 300 times, that means it could have been 

19 multiple times in a day? 

20 A. CoITecl. 

21 Q. So do you know how many days you might 

22 have seen her? 

23 A. I can't answer that question. 

24 Q. Could it have been less than 100, for 
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1 example? 

2 A. I doubt it was less than 100. 

3 Q. And you also testified when you 

4 were testifying about that, you put it in the 

5 context of through the way you put it was 

6 throughout the duration of the project. 

7 Can you help me understand what you 

8 mean by the duration of the project in terms 

9 oftime? 

10 A. To the best ofmy recollection, it 

1 1  seems like Ms. Moss was there constantly 

12 throughout until the summer that the 

1 3  Reichenbachs moved in, and then it slowed 

14 right down. But then we started doing work on 

15 the drainage system, and then she was around 

1 6  quite often. 

17 Q. So but with respect I have a 

18 different question than that, sir. Mine is 

19 with regard to this 300 times that you saw 

20 her, is that from, for example, when you 

21 started in 2010 to the day that you said you 

22 walked away in June 2016? 

23 A. I would think that I personally walked 

24 away from the job on a full time basis in 
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1 of those costs to my clients, correct? 
2 A. Yes. 
3 Q. And it could have been any two year 
4 period, though, under your methodology, 
5 correct? 
6 MS. BONNET HEBERT: Objection. 
7 BY MR ELDER 
8 Q. Why not why not November 2011 to 
9 November 2013 or '14? 
IO A. This wasn't any deep analytical, you 
1 1  know, but it was something that seemed to me 
12 to make the most sense. 
1 3  We expect we had a schedule. We 
14 expected to be done in the summer of 2013 .  We 
15  weren't. We lost roughly ten or seven months 
16  because of delays caused by your client. It 
1 7  pushed us into another full another season of 
1 8  building, and that from so I lost 
19 another full year. And then we didn't move 
20 the clients in until 2014. 
21 So that's how I came up with that 
22 figure is the time from 2013  onward. 
23 Q. But you didn't use 2013 and 2014 when 
24 they moved in, for example? 

Page 1977 

A. I used 2000 to now I'm getting 
2 confused. I'm getting a little tired. Sorry. 
3 Q. Is it fair to say, sir I get it. 
4 The numbers have changed. 
5 Is it fair to say this is just your 
6 best guess? 
7 MS. BONNET HEBERT: Objection, 
8 Your Honor. He's badgering the witness. 
9 THE COURT: Overruled. But I'm 
IO going sustain the objection for different 
1 1  grounds. Next question. 
12 BY MR. ELDER: 
13 Q. Is it fair to say that the number that 
14 you've testified to is your best guess? 
15 A. With the information that I reviewed, 
16 yes. 
17 Q. As far as those those extrn costs 
18 that we're talking about, Mr. Olson, is it 
19 true you neve1· requested a change order from 
20 the Reichenbachs for those costs? 
21 A. No, because the Reichenbachs were 
22 paying those costs. 
23 Q. But you neve1· submitted any kind of 
24 claim under your contract documents or, Hey, 
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1 Mr. and Mrs. Reichenbach 
2 MS. BONNET HEBERT: Objection. 
3 Asked and answered. 
4 THE COURT: Overruled. 
5 BY MR. ELDER: 
6 Q. I here's notice of my 
7 anticipated delays. He1·e's what I think 
8 they're going to be going forward. Just want 
9 you to know? 
IO A. It wasn't so I didn't give them 
l l cost for the delays, but it was the basis of 
12 the contract was the cost of the cost of 
13  the work plus a fee. 
14 Q. But the contract has provisions for 
15 submitting claims, conect? 
16 A. None were submitted. 
17 Q. None we1·e submitted by you? 
18 A. Correct. 
19 Q. You performed all of your obligations 
20 under your contract with the Reichenbachs, 
21 correct? 
22 A. I did. 
23 Q. You never broke your contract with the 
24 Reichenbachs, correct? 

Page 1979 

A. I did not. 
2 Q. Neither one of my clients ever asked 
3 you to break your contrnct with the 
4 Reichenbachs, correct? 
5 A. That's correct. 
6 MR. ELDER: Nothing further from 
7 me. 
8 Thank you, Mr. Olson. I appreciate 
9 it. 
1 0  
1 1  

THE COURT: Redirect. 

12  REDIRECT EXAMINATION 
13  BY MS. BONNET-HEBERT: 
14 Q. Good afternoon, Mr. Olson. 
15  A. Good afternoon. 
16 Q. You've testified here today and I 
17 believe they brought out your deposition 
18 that you have estimated the excess costs 
19 attributable to the defendants as 700 to 
20 800,000, in that range, correct? 
2 1  A. Correct. 
22 Q. And previously, you testified that you 
23 had done at least two diffe1·ent kinds of 
24 calculations, correct? 
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1 Q. Did you ever park your vehicle 

2 strike that. 

3 Are you familiar with a property to 

4 the north of the property line at the 

5 Reichenbach home called we've referred to 

6 as the Haydock family property. Are you 

7 familiar with that property? 

8 A. Yes. 
9 Q. Have you ever parked in a way that 

10 would block the driveway to the Haydock family 

11 property? 

12  A. I don't believe so. 
13 Q. At the end of your work at the 

14 Reichenbach home, did your work have a final 

15 inspection by the Town of Dartmouth? 

16  A .  Yes. 
17 Q. And were any problems identified with 

18 the work you performed? 

19 A. No. 
20 Q. And it was signed off on by the 

21 inspector of wiring? 

22 A. Correct. 
23 MS. BONNET HEBERT: No further 
24 questions. 

Page 2045 

THE COURT: Cross examination, 
2 if you wish. 
3 
4 
5 

CROSS EXAMINATION 

BY MR. GRAMMEL: 
6 Q. Hi, Mr. Burke. 
7 A. How are you? 
8 Q. I'm Sean Gramme!. I 1·epresent Timothy 
9 Haydock and Barbara Moss. 
10 So it's accurate to say that in the 
11 several yea.-s that you worked at 29 Mattarest 
12 Lane you talked to Barbara Moss once during 
13 the installation of the wiring for the 

14 transfo1·me1·, co1Tect? 
15 A. Installation of a conduit for the 
16 transformer pad. 
17 Q. Thank you. 
18 That work was done on the day that it 
19 was scheduled to be done, conect? If you 
20 remember? 
21 A. The day it was scheduled to be done? 
22 Q. Let me ask it a different way. 
23 In that one conve1·sation with Ba1·ba1·a 
24 Moss, you thought that he1· demeanor was fine, 
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1 correct? 

2 A. Correct. 
3 Q. And did she raise her voice at you? 

4 A. No. 
5 Q. Did that one conversation you had with 

6 Barbara Moss delay any work that you did for 

7 the Reichenbachs? 

8 A. Not for me. 
9 Q. Did that one conversation delay any 

10 work that your employees were doing for the 

11 Reichenbachs? 

12  A. No. 
13 MR. GRAMMEL: No further 
14 questions, Your Honor. Thank you. 
15  THE COURT: Very good. 
16  MS. BONNET HEBERT: No further 
1 7  questions. 
18  THE COURT: Thank you, sir. 
1 9  You're excused. 
20 Further evidence on behalf of 
21 Plaintiff. 
22 MR. FIELDING: Your Honor, the 
23 Plaintiffs call Paul Murphy to the stand. 
24 COURT OFFICER: Watch your step. 

Page 2047 

I You want to face the clerk and he'll swear you 
2 Ill. 
3 

4 PAUL MURPHY, 
5 a witness called for examination by 
6 counsel for the Plaintiffs, being first duly 
7 sworn, was examined and testified as follows: 
8 
9 THE WITNESS: I do. 
l O THE CLERK: Thank you, sir. As 
1 1  I said earlier, please speak into the 
12  microphone, it amplifies. 
13 
14 DIRECT EXAMINATION 
1 5  BY MR. FIELDING: 
16 Q. Good morning, Mr. Mm·phy. 

1 7  A .  Good morning. 
18 Q. Just state your full name for the 

19 record, please. 

20 A. Paul Michael Murphy. 
21  Q. And your address, don't need the 

22 street address, but where do you live? 

23 A. Falmouth, Massachusetts. 
24 Q. And what is your profession? 
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A. No. 
Q. What about anything that Dr. Haydock 

3 said to you? 

4 A. No. 
5 Q. Okay. Did you eve1· ask the 

6 Reichenbachs to stop construction because some 

7 documents we1·e missing from the file in town 

8 hall? 

9 A. No. 
10 Q. Did you ever ask Miss Moss if maybe 

11 she took them by accident? 

12 A. No. 
13 Q. And you don't know if she took them in 

14 the first place, right? 

15 A. No. 
16 Q. And I believe you testified on direct 

17 that Miss Moss or the question was whether 

18 she would go arnund you and talk to your 

19 staff. She's allowed to ask questions of your 

20 staff, right? 

21 A. Yes. 
22 Q. Okay. And you're a public offcial or 

23 you were strike that. 

24 You were a public official for the 

Page 2 105 

1 Town of Dartmouth, right? 

2 A. Yes. 
3 Q. And that's where Miss Moss lives? 

4 A. Yes. 
5 Q. And when she would speak with you, her 

6 demeanor was professional? 

7 A. Yes. 
8 Q. Were you upset that the Reichenbachs' 

9 1·etaining wall permit was appealed? 

10 A. No. 
11 Q. It didn't bother you? 

12 A. No. 
13 Q. Do you remember who appealed that 

14 pe1·mit? 

15 A. No. 
16 Q. Did she ever talk to you the 

17 Reichenbachs' contractor, Lars Olson? 

18 A. Could you repeat the question. 
19 Q. Did she eve1· talk to you about him as 

20 a person rather than him in rather than 

21 construction? 

22 A. No. 
23 Q. Did she ever complain about any of the 

24 individual construction workers on the site? 
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1 
2 

A. No, that I recall. Not that I recall. 
MR. GRAMMEL: No further 

3 questions, Your Honor. Thank you. 
4 THE WITNESS: Thank you. 
5 THE COURT: You're excused, 
6 SIL 
7 

8 
THE WITNESS: Thank you. 
THE COURT: You had nothing 

9 further? 
10 MR. FIELDING: No questions, 
1 1  Your Honor. 
12 THE COURT: All right. Further 
1 3  evidence on behalf of the Plaintiff? 
14 MR. FEINGOLD: We were going to 
1 5  call Matt Swimm. He was supposed to be here. 
16  THE COURT: Do we have another 
1 7  witness? 
18  (Brief pause.) 
1 9  THE COURT: We'll take our 
20 morning recess a little early today and 
21 continue with further evidence. 
22 COURT OFFICER: All rise for the 
23 jury. 
24 

1 (Jury exits the courtroom.) 
2 

Page 2 107 

3 THE COURT: All right, we're in 
4 recess. 
5 
6 (The Judge exits the courtroom) 
7 
8 (Recess taken from 10:45 a.m. 
9 to l l : 14 a.m.) 
10 
1 1  COURT OFFICER: Court. All 
12 nse. 
1 3  
14  (The Judge enters the courtroom.) 
15 
1 6  COURT OFFICER: Court is now in 
1 7  sess10n. You may be seated. 
1 8  
1 9  THE COURT: All right. We have 
20 some evidence, something to do anyway. 
21 MR. FEINGOLD: What we're going 
22 to do, we're going to read in and then he'll 
23 be here shortly. 
24 THE COURT: That's fine. 
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I talk to Barbara and discuss if some things 

2 were on site, any kind of issues like that. 

3 Q. Was there ever a point where you were 

4 instructed not to talk to her? 

5 A. No. 

6 Q. Describe your interactions with Moss, 

7 Barbara Moss? 

8 A. For me, they were generally ve1y nice. 

9 I mean, other than dealing with the complaints 

10 as far as what's on the site, and that's just 

1 1  kind of why I think I ended np dealing with 

12  her mostly was because it wasn't her yelling 

13  or screaming to me. She had problems witl1 tl1e 

14 job. I would try to address them in the most 

15 professional manner I could. So I felt like 

16  it was fne because I didn't let anything 

17  bother me like that. It's not my job to react 

I 8 to people's emotions. It's my job to react to 

19 tl1e situation and address that situation. So 

20 I did it as professional as I could. 

21 Q. How often would you see her? 

22 A. Quite often. 

23 Q. In the time that you worked there 

24 excuse me would you repeat when you started 

Page 2113 

1 29 and when you left? 

2 A. I started 29, so then that would have 

3 been 20 I 2. I was at 12 Mattarest and I was 

4 kind of back and forth on 29 and 12 in the 

5 beginning stages of the project. 

6 Q. And when did you leave 29? 

7 A. 2013. 

8 Q. Would you did you see Barbara Moss 

9 continuously during 2012? 

10 A. 2012, mostly and then less in 2013. 

11 Q. And approximately how many times did 

12 you interact with her? 

13 A. Being eleven years ago now, I would 

14 say at least at least 50 to 100 times, I 

15 would generalize that. 

16 Q. Did she eve,· did she ever have a 

17 camera? 

18 A. Yes. 

19 Q. And did she ever use her phone to take 

20 pictures? 

21 A. I believe so. 

22 Q. Did you see her taking pictures? 

23 A. Yes. 

24 Q. Could you tell what she was taking 
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1 pictures of? 

2 A. The job site, for sure. 

3 Q. The house and 

4 A. The house, yes. I'm sorry. Yes, the 

5 house. 

6 Q. Was she he ever on the south side of 

7 the prnperty of the Sullivans' property line, 

8 near the pool? 

9 A. I don't recall seeing her over there. 

10 Q. How often was she taking pictures? 

1 1  A. It was fairly I mean, when she was 

12 there, it was fairly often. To put a number 

13  on it it would be hard to guess. But probably 

14 closer most of the time that I saw her she 

1 5  had taken a picture or had something like 

16 that. 

17 Q. Did you know there was an easement on 

18 the north side of the property? 

19  A.  I did. 

20 Q. And can you describe the easement, 

21 whe1·e it was? 

22 A. So it was probably it was along the 

23 fence line of the project but we we had 

24 adjusted for that, there's a small pathway 

Page 2115  

1 that went right along the fence. And from 

2 that pathway we moved the fence probably 3 

3 feet, I believe it was, off of that. So it 

4 allowed no obstmctions, you were able to go 

5 use the easement as much as you would like. 

6 Q. And did you ever see her outside of 

7 the easement on the Reichenbach property? 

8 A. On the pathway in the easement or in 

9 that area? 

10 Q. Outside the easement. In other words, 

11 was she ever on the Reichenbach property but 

12 not in the easement? 

13 

14 

A. Yes. 

Q. Where was she? 

15 A. The driveway. 

16 Q. How many times was she there? 

17 

18 

A. I saw her once there. 

Q. Did she sometimes use her cell phone 

19 while she was on the property on the easement? 

20 A. I don't recall, to be honest. 

21 Q. Did you ever see her on the beach in 

22 front of the Reichenbach property? 

23 A. I don't recall. 

24 Q. How much time would you speak with her 
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2 Q. And she was continuously there during 

3 your tenure? 

4 A. Yes, it slowed down pretty frequently. 
5 It slowed down greatly in 2013, the summer 
6 of the spring to summer when they 
7 usually when we shut down and everyone comes 
8 in for the summer. 
9 Q. Do you recall an incident involving 

10 the Frades recycling truck? 

1 1  A. I don't recall, to be honest. 
12 Q. Do you recall an incident involving a 

13 cement truck? 

14 A. Yes. 
15 Q. Could you tell us about that? 

16  A. I remember there being an incident. I 
17 don't recall exactly what happened, to be 
18 honest with you. I remember it happening, I 
19 just don't remember what how it played out. 
20 Q. Do you know Timothy Haydock? 

21 A. I don't know him. I don't believe 
22 I believe I talked maybe I don't know him, 
23 no. 
24 Q. Have you never talked to him? 

Page 2125 

1 A.  It's eleven years ago. I don't I 
2 believe most of my interactions were with 
3 Barbara. I don't remember if ! talked to him 
4 or not. 
5 Q. Do you think you saw him? 

6 A. Yes. 
7 Q. Did you do anything regarding parking 

8 construction vehicles at the site? 

9 A. Yes. 
10 Q. What was your responsibility? 

1 1  A. Daily I would a lot of people, we 
12 would have park at 12 Mattarest and then if 
13 they had tools and stuff like that, we would 
14 either have to drive them down I would 
15  drive them down and drop them off on 29 or 
16  they would walk. 
17 Q. Did you have a particular objective or 

18 goal with respect to parking in that area? 

19 A. To make sure that Barbara was happy 
20 and wasn't blocking the Haydocks' driveways. 
21 Q. Was there ever a situation where 

22 people were shuttled from another location 

23 other than 12 to the job site? Do you recall 

24 that? 
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A. I don't recall. 
2 Q. In your time there, did you see cars 

3 blocking the Haydock family property driveway? 

4 A. Yes. 
5 Q. How many times? 

6 A. Maybe a handful, maybe five, six. 
7 Q. And what did you do about it? 

8 A. I would irmnediately have them moved. 
9 Q. Was there how much of a time delay 

10 was there? 

1 1  A. As fast as I could get from the house 
12 to the car. 
13 Q. And did you do that even if she wasn't 

14 complaining? 

15 A. Yes. 
16 Q. Did any of the other neighbors come to 

17 the job site that you're aware of? 

18 A. No. 
19 Q. Did any other neighbors complain to 

20 you about anything about the job site? 

21  A. No. 
22 Q. Did you ever meet Ulla Sullivan or her 

23 husband? 

24 A. I don't recall. I don't know them. 

Page 2 1 2 7  

1 Q. Did you ever meet Mr. 01· Mrs. Cook? 

2 A. The name sounds familiar but I 
3 haven't I don't recall meeting them. 
4 Q. Did you eve1· meet Sam Haydock? 

5 A. I don't recall him either. 
6 Q. Did you ever meet Bob Frothingham? 

7 A. No. 
8 Q. And when did you quit? 

9 A. 2013, so September ish, probably a 
IO little bit later than that, September, 
1 1  October. 
12 MR. FEINGOLD: I have no further 
1 3  questions, Your Honor. 
14 THE COURT: Cross examination. 
15 
16 CROSS EXAMINATION 
17 BY MR. GRAMMEL 
18 Q. Hi, Mr. Swimm. 

19 A. How are you? 
20 Q. I'm Sean Grammel. I represent Barbara 

21 Moss and Timothy Haydock. 

22 I just want to clarify, you said that 

23 yom· interactions with Miss Moss were very 

24 nice, right? And you said "that I felt like 
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1 it was fine," on direct? 

2 A. The conversation, as far as not being 
3 hostile towards me. Towards me personally. 
4 Q. So you never felt threatened by 

5 Miss Moss, coITect? 

6 A. No. 
7 Q. And you never felt afraid of he1·? 

8 A. No. 
9 Q. And when Miss Moss understood that she 

10 could ask you questions, did she just talk to 

11 you? 

12 A. Yes. 
13 Q. Okay. 

14 A. Unless she couldn't find me. Unless I 
15 couldn't be found, then she would try to find 
16 someone else and most of the time it was 
17 she would ask try to find anyone else, but 
18 no one else would talk to her other than me. 
19 So . .  
20 Q. I'm soITy, you said no one else 

21 A. No one else would interact more than 
22 like, one minute, Barbara, I'll go get Matt. 
23 Something like that. 
24 Q. You said you were the main point 
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1 person for talking to Barbara? 

2 A. I was the main point person on the job 
3 site and talking to her, yeah. 
4 Q. Got it. And you testified that you 

5 could appreciate some concerns. I just want 

6 to clarify. When you said that, did you mean 

7 you could appreciate, what, living next door 

8 to a construction site? 

9 A. Correct. 
10 Q. And you said that you would be 

11  aggravated by that? 

12 A. I would be aggravated if someone 
13 didn't wasn't attentive to the problems 
14 going on there. 
15 Q. Okay. 

16  A .  Which was not the case. 
17 Q. Okay. One of the issues with living 

18 next door to a construction site could be 

19 traffic with the construction vehicles for 

20 instance? 

21 A. Uh huh. 
22 Q. And is that why you would try to move 

23 cars as fast as you could? 

24 A. Yeah. 
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Because there were some times when 

they were blocking the Haydock family 

prnperty, I"ight? 

A. Like I said, you know, as long as I 
could get to the person, find the person, get 
it moved, yes. 

Q. You said it was a handful of times 

during your tenure there? 

A. Yeah. 

Q. And when you worked at 29 Mattarest, 

you would follow Lars Olson's instructions, 

I"ight? 

A. Correct. 
Q, He was your boss? 

A. Uh huh. 

Q. You wouldn't have followed Miss Moss' 

instructions because she wasn't your boss, 

right? 

A. No. 

Q. You mentioned the installation of the 

transforme1·. And you said that Miss Moss was 

talking to some of the workers who came to 

install it; is that correct? 

A. Correct. 

Page 2 1 3 1  

Q. And you were you were there while 

that happened? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And you said it might have delayed 

things by half of the morning. 

A. We yeah, we weren't able to start 
until I would say 10:00 to l 1 :00, 12 :00, 
instead of starting at 7 :00 when we were . . .  

Q. So it was scheduled to be installed on 

a certain day, whatever day it was? 

A. Yeah. 

Q. And it was actually installed that 

day? 

A. I don't recall if it finished if 
they finished that day, but I would imagine if 
they started, they probably finished. 

Q. And do you know where the property 

line is between Mattarest Circle and the 

beginning of the Reichenbachs' property? 

A. Can you ask that again. 

Q. So you mentioned you saw Miss Moss 

standing on the driveway. 

Do you know where the property line is 

on that driveway? 
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1 Q.  Why did you ask the Conservation 

2 Commission to amend your Order of Conditions? 

3 A. Our landscape designer, Nan Sinton, 
4 was helping us, and she pointed out that it 
5 looked very much like a box, the wall, before. 
6 And she thought it would be much more 
7 estheticaJiy pleasing to bump out a little on 
8 the n01theast comer and a little bit over 
9 where it met the house on the nortl1 side. 
10 Q. When you say "bump out," do you mean 

11 curve it? 

12 A. Just a curve, yeah. It was it was 
13  more graceful. 
14 Q, Were there other changes in the 

15 Amended Order of Conditions? 

16 A. The stairs, I believe, were angled a 
17 little differently. 
18 Q. Anything else that you remember? 

19 A. I mean, there were other tl1ings on the 
20 plans, but they were not I mean, I think 
21  the septic was on it. But it wasn't about the 
22 septic. It was about the wall. 
23 Q. On January 11, were there was there 

24 opposition? 

I A. Yes. 

Page 2336 

2 Q. By whom? 

3 A. I believe I believe Sam Haydock 
4 wrote a letter, and Barbara Moss did not 
5 was not happy with it. 
6 Q. Did you have any warning that Barba1·a 

7 Moss and Tim Haydock would oppose the Amended 

8 Order of Conditions? 

9 A. She had said at the end of the 
IO original Order of Conditions that she was 
1 1  happy with the plan, so we didn't think, 
12 because these were smaller adjustments, that 
13  there should be any opposition. 
14 THE COURT: Attorney Feingold, 
15  I'm sony. What year was that? 
16 MR  FEINGOLD: 201 1 .  
17 THE COURT: 2011. Januaiy 1 1 ,  
18 201 1 .  Thank you. 
19 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
20 Q. What do you remember about the 

21 January 11, 2011 Conse1-vation Commission 

22 hearing on your Amended Order of Conditions? 

23 A. The conunittee or conunission I'm not 
24 sure which is the right term voted to 
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1 approve our Amended Order of Conditions. 
2 Q. What happened after the meeting? 

3 A. Well, we left the meeting, and we met 
4 outside in the hall. And we were we were 
5 excited. We were looking forward to getting 
6 started. And we obviously were making too 
7 much noise because one of the members I 
8 don't know who came out and asked us to 
9 move down the hall. We were making too much 
10 noise and disturbing the proceedings inside. 
1 1  So we did, and it was kind of 
12 wonderful because at the other end of the hall 
1 3  there was this enom10us cardboard box, and we 
14 took our plans and laid them out on it. I 
1 5  don't know exactly why. Probably just to see, 
16 okay. We've got this. What's next? 
1 7  But, you know, we were chatting, and 
1 8  Barbara Moss came up to me and indicated that 
1 9  she wanted to speak with me. And so we sort 
20 of moved off to the side, and we were talking. 
21  And one of the very frst things she brought 
22 up was that we still had a lot of things we 
23 needed to change about our proposed house. 
24 She wanted us she had a list. When 
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1 she got to the pool, I told her that the pool 
2 was nonnegotiable. I -- I like to swim. It's 
3 very good for my back and my hip, which have 
4 given me a lot of issues over time. 
5 When -- when I told her that, it was 
6 like -- it was like someone changed the 
7 channel. She just snapped, and she lowered 
8 her voice, and she stared at me intently to 
9 make sure that I was going to get every single 
IO  word, and she told me that she was going to --
1 1  ifl didn't do what she was suggesting I do 
12 very strongly, that she was going to cost us a 
13 great deal of money. She was going to delay 
14 us, cost us a lot of time, and she was going 
1 5  to ruin our reputation in Nonquitt. 
1 6  I was totally shocked, you know, just 
1 7  unnerved. And I hadn't been threatened like 
1 8  that, and I didn't want things to get worse, 
I 9 so I told her that I needed to go home, I 
20 hadn't made dinner yet and that it was a long 
2 1  drive. And I walked away. 
22 And I remember tapping my husband and 
23 telling him I would meet him in the car. And 
24 he followed out a little while later, and we 
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1 of looking at Ned. And ultimately, he left, 
2 and then we we went into the house. 
3 Q. Was he staring at Ned the whole time? 

4 A. Yes. 
5 Q. Did he have any implements in his 

6 hands? 

7 A. No. I couldn't figure out why he was 
8 there other than I felt threatened for my son. 
9 Q. Was there anything else that Tim 

10 Haydock did that frightened you? 

1 1  A. There have been reports. They're not 
12 things that I have physically been threatened 
1 3  by, but there are reports of him going to 
14 MS. ALLISON: Objection, Your 
15  Honor. This is hearsay. 
16  THE COURT: Sustained. 
17  Anything that you know of or  observed. 
18 A. When someone who experienced it tells 
19 me that, is that 
20 THE COURT: No. That's 
21 anything that you observed. 
22 A. Okay. 
23 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
24 Q. Did you learn about trespass on your 
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1 p1·operty? 

2 A. Oh, yes. I did. John Honohan who is 
3 the 
4 MS. ALLISON: Objection, Your 
5 Honor. Hearsay. 
6 THE COURT: Overruled for now. 
7 A. John Honohan. 
8 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
9 Q. Let me ask it another way. 

10 A. Okay. 
11 Q. Did you hear John Honohan's testimony 

12 in this trial? 

13 A. I did. 
14 MS. ALLISON: Mr. Feingold, I 
15 can't hear you. Please speak up. 
16 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
17 Q. Did you hear John Honohan's testimony 

18 in this trial? 

19 A. I did. 
20 Q. And was it consistent with the reports 

21 that you received before? 

22 A. It was. 
23 MS. ALLISON: Objection, 
24 Your Honor. Hearsay. 
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2 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
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3 Q.  And as  a result of  your receiving that 

4 report, did you and your husband take any 

5 action against Tim Haydock and Barbara Moss? 

6 A. We did. 
7 Q. And what was that? 

8 A. We served them with no trespass. 
9 Q. Did you receive reports from any of 

10 your workers about things that frightened 

11 you? 

12 MS. ALLISON: Objection, Your 
13 Honor. Hearsay. 
14 THE COURT: Well, it's yes or 
15 no, but the characterization is a little 
16 argumentative. 
17 So any rep01ts from any of the workers 
18 regarding Mr. Haydock's conduct, did you get 
19 any? 
20 THE WITNESS: Yes. 
2 1  THE COURT: Next question. 
22 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
23 Q. Did you receive reports about 

24 Dr. Haydock's conduct? 
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A. Yes. l 
2 Q. What can you descl"ibe them. 

3 MS. ALLISON: Objection, Your 
4 Honor. Hearsay. Asking for reports from 
5 other people. 
6 THE COURT: Attorney Feingold, a 
7 little a few more questions for foundation. 
8 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
9 Q. How often did you go to the property 

10 during the construction phase? 

1 1  A. During the construction phase, we were 
12 there about once a week, sometimes an extra 
13  visit but normally once a week. 
14 Q. And did any of the workers and Lars 

15 talk to you? 

16 A. Yes. 
17 Q. And what was the nature of any repo1·ts 

18 you got involving Dr. Haydock? 

19 MS. ALLISON: Objection. 
20 Hearsay. 
21 THE COURT: Overruled. 
22 A. Lars told me 
23 THE COURT: Not what people 
24 said, just the nature of the report. 
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1 A.  I'm sorry. That Tim had come on the 
2 property and screamed. 
3 BY MR FEINGOLD: 
4 Q. At who? 
5 MS. ALLISON: Motion to strike. 
6 Hearsay. 
7 THE COURT: Overruled. 
8 A. Screamed at Lars. 
9 BY MR FEINGOLD 
10 Q. Did you hear Lars Olson's testimony in 
11 this trial? 
12 A. I did. 
13 Q. Was it is that what you learned? 
14 A. That's what I heard, although he did 
15 not tell me what Tim had actually said. 
16 Q. What did he tell you? 
1 7  A .  He told me that 
18  MS. ALLISON: Objection. 
19 Hearsay. 
20 THE COURT: Sustained. In terms 
21 of her recounting what other people have said, 
22 you need to be careful with that. 
23 MR  FEINGOLD: Okay. 
24 THE COURT: Particularly the 
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1 testimony. I mean, her recounting what she 
2 heard in the courtroom, you need to be careful 
3 with that. 
4 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
5 Q. Did you hear any reports from Dana 
6 Diggle? 
7 A. Dana made a report. 
8 Q. And did you hear any reports from 
9 Andrew Dearden? 
10 A. Yes. 
11  Q. That frightened you? 
12 A. Yes. 
13 Q. Did you hear a report about a cement 
14 truck incident that frightened you? 
15 A. Yes. 
16  MS. ALLISON: Objection. 
17 Leading. 
18  THE COURT: Overruled. 
19 BY MR FEINGOLD: 
20 Q. Did you hear a report about a Frades 
21 recycling truck incident that frightened you? 
22 A. Yes. 
23 Q. Did you did you hear any reports 
24 about surveillance? 
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2 Q. Did you observe any surveillance? 
3 A. Yes. 
4 Q. So you were on the property once a 
S week at least? 
6 A. Uh-huh. 
7 Q. Did you ever see Barbarn Moss on the 
8 property? 
9 A. Yes. 
10 
1 1  
12 

Q. How often? 
A. Often. 

Q. What percentage of the time, if you 
13 can? 
14 A. About 80 percent of the time. 
15 Q. And did you observe her taking 
16 photographs? 
1 7  A .  Yes. 
18 Q.  Do you know what could you tell 
19 what she was photographing? 
20 A. Somewhat. 
21 Q.  Please 
22 A. Mostly the house, but I -- I mean, I 
23 made a remark to one of the workers when she 
24 was doing it that maybe we should take 
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1 pictures of her. 
2 Q. Did you get any reports from your 
3 workers about their feelings and reaction to 
4 he1· conduct? 
5 MS. ALLISON: Objection, Your 
6 Honor. Leading. 
7 THE COURT: Sustained. 
8 BY MR. FEINGOLD: 
9 Q. When you saw her, Barbarn Moss, taking 
10 pictures, where was she? The I'm sure she 
11 wasn't in one spot the whole time. 
12 A. No. 
13 Q. So where was she? 
14 A. She was always just on the other side 
15 of the fence, which is our property because we 
16 had the easement, but everywhere around we had 
17 a there was room that was ours. 
18 Q. So is it your testimony that that 
19 secui-ity fence was at the edge of the easement 
20 on your property? 
21 A. On the north side more or less. I 
22 think it was actually gave room so yeah. 
23 Q. So in other words, the1·e was a space 
24 between the security fence and your property 
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1 Q. All right. So Tim Tim Haydock 
2 never threatened you, right? 

3 A. No. 
4 Q. Did you tell anybody else about this 
5 alleged threat on January 11 ,  2011? 
6 A. It happened on January 1 1, or did I 
7 tell them on January 1 1? 
8 Q. Did you tell them at any time about 
9 the threat that happened? 

10 A. So I did tell my husband the night of 
1 1  in the car. And then over time, I shared it 
12 with Lars, Anna, Nan, Tom Hardman, my 
13 children, my parents, my siblings, and 
14 friends. 
15 Q. So we've seen a lot of documents 

16 produced in this case. 
17 Have you ever seen a document that 
18 mentions that alleged threat? 
19 A.  That I wrote or someone else wrote? 
20 Q. That anybody wrnte --
21 A. No. 
22 Q. -- other than the complaint in this 
23 lawsuit. 
24 A. No. 

Q. No. 
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1 

2 So do you recall any public meeting in 

3 which you met people out in the hall 

4 afterwards and you got angry? 

5 A. No, not to my knowledge. Maybe you 

6 can refresh it. I don't have one. 

7 Q. I know it was a while ago. I'll 

8 I'll ask you some questions about it. 

9 A. Ce1ta.inly. 

10 Q. So you attended do you recall there 

11 was a meeting on January 12, 2010 with the Con 

12 Comm, public meeting about the pre and 

13 post development water drainage study that 

14 your engineers had prepared for the Con Comm? 

15 A Okay. 

16 Q. Do you remember that meeting? 

17 A Specifically, no, but we did do a lot 

1 8  ofplans. 

19 Q. You remember that some new site plans 

20 were prepared as a result of that study, and 

21 they were submitted to the Con Comm. 

22 A Yes, we made many attempts to make 

23 them happy about the water situation for the 

24 Haydocks. 
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1 Q. And you'll recall there was a Con Comm 

2 meeting at which the Conservation Commission 

3 addressed the new plans after that study was 

4 done, right? 

5 A It sounds right. I don't know. 

6 Q. And I have I'm sure that you can't 

7 remember the specifc date of the meeting 

8 right now, but 

9 A No idea. 

10 Q. is it consistent with your 

11 recollection that that was at the beginning of 

12 2010? 

13 A. I have no idea. 

14 Q. Do you have dates aside, because, 

15 again, I know it was a very long time ago, do 

16 you have a memory of being at a Con Comm 

17 meeting where the Conservation Commission was 

18 addressing the new plans after the drainage 

19 study was done? 

20 A Possibly. 

21 Q. Do you have a memory of that? 

22 A Not clear right now. 

23 Q. Okay. And the neighbors had received 

24 a copy of those new plans just right before, 

Page 2 4 14 

1 shortly before the hearing? 

2 A Anything's possible. 

3 Q. Well, they were required to have a 

4 copy, right? 

5 A But you're asking me ifl recall it. 

6 Q. Okay. And, well, maybe this will help 

7 you recall it. At that January 12, 2010 

8 meeting, Sam Haydock asked for some additional 

9 time to review the new plans so that he could 

10 evaluate the engineer's study. 

11 Do you remember that? 

12  A No, but that doesn't sound out of 

13 order. 

14 Q. And as a result of that, the 

15 commission continued the hearing to a later 

16 date? 

17  A. Okay. 

18 Q. And after that meeting, there were a 

19 group of folks in the hall reviewing the new 

20 plans that you had just submitted to the 

21 neighbors. 

22 

23 

24 

Do you remember that? 

A. No. 

Q. And you became angry in the hallway. 
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1 Q. And have you worked both in New York 
2 and Massachusetts as a landscape designer? 
3 A. Yes. 
4 Q. And
5 A. And other places as well. 
6 Q. Have you done work in Nonquitt as a 
7 landscape designer? 
8 A. Yes. 
9 Q. And in othe1· areas of South Dartmouth? 
10 A. Yes. 
11 Q. So just could you briefly describe 
12 what landscape design work involves. 
13 A. It really depends on the project. 
14 Sometimes I can be hired to do the interior 
15 design of the house and the landscape, so I'm 
16 really responsible for everything inside and, 
17 hence, everything that's outside on the 
18 property that's purchased. Sometimes it can 
19 be just designing gardens. So there's a wide 
20 range of what my responsibilities might be in 
21 a project. 
22 Q. So the landscape design part, that 
23 would be designing the gardens, the outdoor 
24 space? 
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A. Yes. Parts say, retaining walls 
2 sometimes, planting trees, removing trees. 
3 Really, anything that might happen on the 
4 property. 
5 Q. So what some of us might think of as 
6 landscaping, that sort of thing? 
7 A. Yes. And then typically, the other 
8 thing that I like to do is real garden 
9 design. And sometimes I'm even just doing 
l O planters on a you know, a property for a 
1 1  client. So it really varies. 
12 Q. As part of your landscape design work, 
13 are there rules and regulations that you need 
14 to be familiar with? 
1 5  A. Yes, in a general way. I for 
16  example, even working in New York where the 
17  regulations are a little different, any 
18  wetlands regulations are very important to 
19  know. So whatever state I'm working in, I try 
20 to have, you know, an idea of what's required 
21 for working on a site. 
22 Q. So as part of your work in 
23 Massachusetts, did you become familiar with 
24 the Wetlands Protection Act? 
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1 A. Yes, in a general way, not not 
2 detailed, but in a general way, yes. 
3 Q. And in general, what is your 
4 understanding of the general purpose of the 
5 Wetlands Protection Act? 
6 A. It's to you know, there are 
7 sensitive resource areas that need to be 
8 protected where work in those areas is more 
9 restricted and limited and, you know, with an 
IO eye for how this impacts the whole coastline. 
1 1  You can have resource areas near a river. 
12 So, you know, if I'm for example, 
13 if I'm hired to come in and cut down a lot of 
14 trees on a property, I just need to know where 
1 5  the wetlands might be on that property and how 
16  any work might be impacted by the resource 
1 7  area. 
18 Q. I see. And the town the Town of 
19 Dartmouth has its own wetlands law and 
20 regulation also, right? 
21 A. Yes. 
22 Q. And as part of your work, did you 
23 become familiar with that? 
24 A. Yes. 

1 

Page 2493  

Q. And as part of your work, did you gain 
2 any familiarity with the Town of Dartmouth's 
3 Conservation Commission? 
4 A. Yes. I had some awareness, and then I 
5 think when the permitting for 29 Mattarest 
6 started, I became more familiar with who was 
7 there. 
8 Q. And what is your understanding of the 
9 role of the Conservation Commission in 
10 Dartmouth? 
1 1  A. You know, again, it's to uphold the 
12 Wetlands Protection Act. It's sort of the 
1 3  first local permitting authority if you're in 
14 a protected area. 
15 Q. So I'm going to I'm going to turn 
16 now and ask you a little bit about the times 
17 that the time that you spent in Nonquitt 
18 over the years. 
19  A. Okay. 
20 Q. So when did you begin residing in 
21 Nonquitt? 
22 A. Well, I think I met Tim in maybe 1994, 
23 and that was about the same time that he a 
24 little bit after the time he had finished work 
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I on his house. He purchased it and then added 

2 an addition to the house to really live in. 

3 And it was sh01tly after that. And I would 

4 probably come in the summer and on weekends. 

5 Q. So that was about the mid '90s? 

6 A. Yes. 

7 Q. And back in the years 2010 2010 

8 through 2016, bow much time did you typically 

9 spends in Nonquitt? 

IO A. It varied year by year, depending on 

1 1  how much work I had there. 

12 Q. By "work," you mean your landscape and 

13 interior design work? 

14 A. Both. So the interior I didn't do 

15 a lot of landscape design in the middle of the 

16  winter, but I did do interior design work and 

17 or just decorating, you know, fnding 

18  furniture for clients. So it varied year by 

19 year. 

20 Q. And again, understanding that it 

21 varied, over those years 2010 through 2016, 

22 are you able to give an estimate of how much 

23 time you would typically spend in Nonquitt 

24 during those years? 

A. I could do it I could try to go 

2 back year by year and give a 

3 Q. Just your best estimate. 
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4 A. Right. Because sometimes I might have 

5 a project in the fail, you know, for a year, 

6 it might be how much over the course of the 

7 year again it could be. Ifl had a project 

8 that took two months in January and February, 

9 I would be there more than I would be in the 

l O March and April. 

1 1  But in general, I lived in New York 

12 and my business was based in New York, my 

13 suppliers, ifl  was doing interior design, 

14 they were in Connecticut and New York. So I 

15 would come up to Nonquitt for work, so it was 

16 very limited. And then I would usually just 

17  return after a day or two back to New York. 

18  So  in 2010, I would probably come up 

19  once a week during the sort of the season. I 

20 would get busier in the fall I mean, fall 

21 and spring when I had more landscape work to 

22 do. 

23 Q. When you got busier in the fall and 

24 spring, how often would you typically spend in 

1 Nonquitt? 
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2 A.  It  still wasn't usually more than two 

3 or -- you know, two days --
4 Q. Okay. 
5 A. -- just because there was so much that 

6 I really -- you know, again, I had work in 

7 New York, I had -- upstate New York. I had 

8 work in Connecticut and Florida. I mean, I 

9 just had other jobs as well. 

10 Q. Was that typically I think you were 
1 1  talking about 2010, but 
12  A. Right. 

13 Q. 2010 through 2016, was what you 
14 just described typical, you know, one to two 
15 days a week, depending on the jobs? 
16 A. It was. There were exceptions. In 

l 7 201 1 , I spent less time there because my son 

1 8  was diagnosed with a very difficult cancer and 

1 9  he was in Colorado. So from the fall of201 I 

20 through the -- he passed away in July, the 

2 1  following year, in 2012. 

22 And I -- during that time, I came up 

23 one day a week for a job that I was working 

24 on, but I spent a lot of time in Denver with 
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I him that year. So that was really that 

2 year, it was really pretty much one day a 

3 week. 

4 Q. All right. 

5 A. And then after he passed away, there 

6 were things that we had to take care of 

7 related to his estate and medical expenses. 

8 So even in the fall of that year, I don't 

9 think I was there frequently. It was one day 

10 a week. 

11 Q. So and then following 2012, so 2013 

12 through 2016, would your one to two day a week 

13 estimate still apply depending on the job? 

14 A. That's right. And in 2013 and 2014, I 

15 had a couple of jobs where I might be 

16 again, for a period of a month or two, I might 

17  be two to tl1ree days for a cabinet 

18  installation or something that was ongoing, 

19 but it wasn't every week. It it just it 

20 varied depending on how much I needed to be 

21  there to supervise work. 

22 Q. Okay. And so in the years 2010 

23 through 2016, how much time did Dr. Haydock 

24 spends in Nonquitt? 
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1 discussions about - that you had discussions 

2 about that with Uncle Billy's family? 
3 A. Well, I think members of Haydock 

4 family did, yes. 

5 Q. Did now, did Tim have a right of 
6 first refusal on that property? 
7 A. Yes. 

8 Q. But he didn't exercise it? 
9 A. No. 

10 Q. All right. So did did you know 
11 the did you know the Reichenbachs before 
12 that time, befo1·e you were in 2008 when you 
13 lea1·ned they we1·e planning to pui·chase the 
14 property? 
15 A. I didn't know them. I can say that I 

16 had seen them, but I isn't know them. 

17 Q. Seen them around Nonquitt, you mean? 
18 A. Yes. 

19 Q. When was your fit·st meeting with the 
20 Reichenbachs? 
21 A. I think in the summer of 2008. 

22 Q. So this was befo1·e they pul'Chased the 
23 property? 
24 A. I think so. 
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1 Q. How did that meeting come to pass? 
2 A. I think they it's hard to remember. 

3 I think we Ii terally just ran into them at the 

4 property and introduced ourselves and invited 

5 them back to our house just to, you know, have 

6 a glass of wine and talk to them and just be 

7 friendly to our new neighbors. It was just 

8 I can't remember exactly how it happened, but 

9 I do remember we got we all got together 

10  that day. 

11  Q. So that wasn't a planned meeting? 
12 A. No, I don't think. 

13 Q. By happenstance? 
14  A. I think SO. 

15 Q. Do you recall anything about that 
16 meeting besides having a glass of wine and 
17 introducing yourselves? 
1 8  A. No. It was just very normal, you 

1 9  know. I I spoke more to Lynn, and I think 

20 Tim was talking to John. And we I mean, we 

21 had we talked about where we liked to buy 

22 antiques, and we probably talked about it 

23 was just a very normal conversation and 

24 pleasant. 
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So at that point, no discussion about 
sort of their plans for the house or the 
property? 

A. I only know what I talked to Lynn 

about because I really spent most of the time 

with Lynn, so not to me. 

Q. So when was your next meeting with the 
Reichenbachs? 

A. I don't recall really seeing them 

until the following maybe June. 

Q. The following June of2009? 
A. Yes. I mean, obviously, we can always 

pass them on the road. I don't recall really 

meeting them until the following year. 

Q. So that was afte1· they purchased the 
property? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And who who suggested that meeting? 
A. I think John contacted us maybe in 

June and said he wanted to talk to us about 

his plans for his you know, for redoing the 

house. 

Q. So you understood that to be the 
pui·pose of the meeting? 
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A. Yes. 

Q. So he wanted to talk about the plans. 
Did he anything else that he wanted to talk 
about? 

A. There was always, you know, a 

conversation, ongoing conversation about 

driveway access. 

Q. This is the access issue that you just 
described, the limitation to the Haydock 
family? 

A. Yes. And that had been ongoing, but 

not with me. I mean, I had not been 

discussing it with them, but I think other 

members of the family had. 

Q. But at this June 2009 meeting, you 
understood that he wanted to talk about that, 
too? 

A. Probably, because it was usually part 

of the conversation. It you know, I wasn't 

an owner. It wasn't it didn't directly 

involve me, but it usually it did come up. 

I mean, there was discussion. And I think, if 

it's 2009, I think there had been 

discussion I think the family gave the 
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1 Reichenbachs the right to temporarily use the 
2 driveway, too, around that same time. 
3 Q. So this is around the time of this 

4 meeting, the family had given the Reichenbachs 

5 the temporn1·y right to use the driveway? 

6 A. I think there was discussion around 
7 that time, approximately. 
8 Q. Okay. So what do you what do you 

9 recall about the meeting? 

10 A. So I think I'm not sure ifl saw 
1 1  plans before the actual meeting. But during 
12 the meeting, John did most of the talking and 
13 he showed sort of schematics or drawings of 
14 the house. I don't remember seeing an actual 
15 site plan that, you know, shows elevations or 
16 floodplains or any of that detail. 
17 It was Anna Surma had drawn the 
18 plans. They looked very nice. It was just a 
19 rendering. This is what the north elevation 
20 of the house would look like. These are 
21 trees. This is how our house would look from 
22 your house next door, the family property. 
23 Q. When you say "north elevation of the 

24 house" and its "a rendering," do you 
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1 mean this is  for people that aren't as 

2 familiar with 

3 A. Right. 
4 Q. architecture. 

5 A. Right. 
6 Q. Is it just sort of like a drawn 

7 picture of what the house would look like? 

8 A. Right. It was a drawing of the side 
9 of the Reichenbach house facing the Haydock 
10 family house. 
11 Q. I see. So he shared those drawings. 

12 Do you remember anything that you talked about 

13 
14 

during that meeting? 

A. Yes. I mean, John I think we 
15 listened for the most pa.it and Jolm Lynn 
16 was there. I don't recall her saying that 
17 much about the details of the house, but I do 
18 remember a few things. 
19 He said that the flood maps had 
20 changed, and they were no longer going to be 
21  in a velocity zone on the new flood map, which 
22 was really good luck for them because it would 
23 allow them to have a ve1y full basement and a 
24 ve1y tall basement, too. He was ve1y focused 
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1 on the basement for the house. 
2 Q. What what was your reaction to 

3 that? 

4 A. It was I thought it was a little 
5 I thought it was a little odd to be focused on 
6 your basement when you have a nice, big 
7 beautiful house, but that was something very 
8 important to him was his basement. 
9 Q. At that time when he's is talking 

10 about the changes to the flood zones and so 

11 forth, did you have any understanding of what 

12 that was all about? 

13  A. I didn't know that the flood the 
14 food map had changed that summer and 
15 

16 
Q. I'm sorry. Did you not know that? 

A. Did I not know that yet, no. I don't 
17 think I had any reason to go in and, you know, 
18 update anything for you know, I don't think 
19 it pertained to any of my work at that point. 
20 So he said there was no longer a 
21 velocity zone, that this was great, a great 
22 stroke of luck for them. It would allow them 
23 to have retaining walls and the basement. He 
24 was very proud of his house. He said more 
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I than once "we're going to  build the most 
2 impressive house in Nonquitt." 
3 And he also described that they were 
4 hiring Tom Hardman to and described him as 
5 the engineer. And Tom Hardman worked also for 
6 the Town, and he said Tom "we've been told 
7 that Tom Hardman can help get anything through 
8 the Town for permitting, and he's going to be 
9 our man." 
10 Q. AU right. 

I I  A. And . .  
12 Q. Is there anything else that you 

13 1·emember about these early discussions? 

14 A. Oh, at the let me think for a 
15 second. 
16 Q. If not, I mean, that's fine. I know 

17 it was a long time ago. 

18 A. I think there is something else that 
19 I'm forgetting right now. The floodplain, the 
20 basement, "he's building the most impressive 
21 house," Tom Hardman. 
22 Q. Those are the things that stick in 

23 your mind? 

24 A. Those are the things that stick out 
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1 right now. I could be forgetting something. 

2 Q. Then did later in time, did 

3 Mr. Reichenbach sha1·e site plans with you and 

4 Dr. Haydock? 

5 A. I don't remember ifwe saw site plans 

6 during the summer. 

7 Q. During that summer. So let's 

8 sticking with the summer fo1· a moment, did you 

9 have any other any othe1· discussions with 

10 John or Lynn Reichenbach about their project 

11 during that summer of 2009? 

12 A. I think there was at least some sort 

13 of a brief second meeting during, and that 

14 meeting, he talked about wanting to build a 

15 dock. 

16 Q. A dock? 

17  A .  A dock. 
18 Q. Okay. 

19 A. Yeah. 

20 Q. That's all you 1·emember about that 

21 brief second meeting? 

22 A. I think he showed us an image of a 

23 very long dock, and that's yeah, there was 

24 just a very quick meeting. I can't remember 
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1 the reason for it. 

2 Q. Okay. During 

3 A. Sony. But there was still probably 

4 continuing discussion about the driveway. 

5 Q. Right. 

6 A. Yeah. 

7 Q. Right. So during these discussions in 

8 the summer of 2009, did John Reichenbach or 

9 Lynn Reichenbach tell you that they would be 

10 submitting a request for determination of 

11 applicability with the Conservation Commission 

12 in August to determine the location of the 

13 coastal bank? 

14 A. No. 

15 Q. So at some point later in time, you 

16 learned that the Reichenbachs had filed for 

17 their permit with the Conservation Commission, 

18 right? 

19 A. Yes. 

20 Q. And was that in the fall of 2009? 

21  A .  It was late September, I think. 

22 Q. Late September. Okay. 

23 A. Oh, when they fled it or when they 

24 when they fled it? 
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2 A. Yes. 
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3 Q. when did you learn that they would 

4 be filing their request for a permit with the 

5 Conservation Commission? 

6 A. I think it was later in September. 

7 Q. Okay. And that's that's called a 

8 Notice of lntent, right? 

9 A. Yes. 

10 Q. And at that time, did you receive more 

11 detailed plans for the house from John 

12 Reichenbach? 

13 A. I think we received one of Tim's 

14 siblings received the notice in the mail as an 

1 5  abutter, that this was being filed, and I do 

16  think that John sent us plans, copies of the 

1 7  plans. 

18 Q. I'm going to show you a previously 

19 marked exhibit, No. 140. 

20 And I will ask Mr. Gramme! just to 

21 scroll down through the document so you're 

22 able to see what it is. 

23 A. (Witness reviews document.) 

24 Q. And then we'll go back up to the top 
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1 when that's when that's done. 

2 A. (Witness reviews document.) 

3 Q. So is this, again, to the best of your 

4 recollection, a copy of the plans that you and 

5 Dr. Haydock received copies ofin September of 

6 2009? 

7 A. Yes. 

8 Q. Now, at that time, did you have an 

9 understanding of why the Reichenbachs' project 

10 needed Conservation Commission approval? 

1 1  A. Yes, I did. 

12 Q. And we see in this document 

13 Mr. Reichenbach informs you and Dr. Haydock 

14 that your project that his project needs to 

15 go before the Conservation Committee, he says, 

16 but Commission, because portions ofit are 

17 within 

18  MS.  BONNET HEBERT: Objection, 

19 Your Honor. The document speaks for itself 

20 THE COURT: Ovenuled. She can 

21 ask questions about it. 

22 BY MS. ALLISON: 

23 Q. Because portions of it are within 100 

24 feet of the coastal bank. 
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2 A. Yes. 
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3 Q. And is that consistent with your 

4 understanding of one of the reasons that it 

5 would have to go before the Conservation 

6 Commission? 

7 A. That's one of the reasons, yes. 
8 Q. I mean, are there other reasons, to 

9 your knowledge to your understanding, that 

10 the project would need to go before the 

11 Conservation Commission? 

12 A. Yes. 
13 Q. And what are what's the other 

14 reasons? 

15 A. If there are regulations for 
16  something called land subject to coastal storm 
17  flowage. And that's the resource area, the 
18  floodplain. That's separate from the 100 foot 
19  buffer. 
20 Q. The Conservation Commission also 

21 evaluates projects in that area? 

22 A. Yes. 
23 Q. Towards the bottom of John 

24 Reichenbach's e mail, he says, "We also need 
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1 to figure out the driveway issues." 

2 Do you see that? 

3 A. Yes. 
4 Q. So, again, at this time, that was 

5 still under discussion? It was your 

6 understanding? 

7 A. Yes. 
8 Q. So when you reviewed these initial 

9 plans, Miss Moss, and we can actually 

10 actually we can scroll down to the site plan, 

11 if you would like to take a look. 

12 But my question is is simply when you 

13 reviewed these initial plans, did you have any 

14 concerns about the project? 

15 A. Yes. 
16 Q. And describe those concerns for us. 

17  A. The majority of  the development 
18  proposed for the house, which includes the 
19  house, retaining walls, a pool structure, and 
20 terrace, most of that was in the buffer zone. 
21 It was also very close to the abutters' 
22 properties. 
23 Q. Very close to the abutters' properties 

24 on the south and the north? 

A. Yes. 
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2 Q. And the south is the Sullivans, to be 

3 clear, right? 
4 A. Yes. 
5 Q. And the nm·th is the Haydock family 

6 property? 

7 A. Yes. 
8 Q. So I'm sorry. You talked about the 

9 proximity to the neighbors and the work in the 

10 protected areas. 

11 Anything else that conce1·ned you about 

12 the project? 

13 A. Well, there were two things, if I'm 
14 looking at this now, that we could start to 
15 talk about, which is the drainage. I could 
16 see, judging by this, there would be impacts 
17 on the Haydock family property from the 
18 drainage that was proposed here. 
19 Q. And how is it what about the site 

20 plans raised that concern? 

21 A. You can see can I indicate where 
22 I'm talking about? 
23 Q. Well, it's hard because you're 

24 speaking. I mean, just, you know 

Page 2 5 2 9  

I A. Okay. 
2 Q. just describe your concern. 

3 A. There's some -- there's some lines on 
4 the north side of the house going to the 
5 Haydock family property that indicate 
6 slopes --
7 Q. I see. 

8 A. -- which indicate where the water will 
9 be coursing, and it was directed toward the 
IO  Haydock family property. 
1 1  (Witness indicating.) 
12 Q. I see. 

13 A. The second thing -- I'm sorry. 
14 Q. Go ahead. I 'm sorry. I didn't know 

15 you were I thought you were finished. 

16  A. And the second thing that we noticed 
1 7  is this was their formal Notice of Intent, but 
1 8  they were showing access through their --
19  legal access through the Haydock family 
20 property. 
21  Q. I see. They were showing their access 

22 on the Haydock family driveway? 

23 A. Right. 
24 Q. But that had not been resolved yet? 
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A. That's right. 
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2 Q. Are there any easements on the 
3 Reichenbach property that benefit you and 
4 Dr. Haydock? 
5 A. Yes. 
6 Q. Are those easements shown on this 
7 plan? 
8 A. No. 
9 Q. Did that rnise any concern? 
IO  A. That did as  well, yes. 
1 1  Q .  And just very briefly describe what 
12 those easements are and where they are. 
13  A. And should I approach or just 
14  describe? 
15 Q. Describe. 
16  A .  Okay. 
17 Q. Just so  we can hear you. 
1 8  A .  Okay. On the property line, the 
19  Reichenbach-Haydock family property line, 
20 there is a walking right-of-way that is 
21  connected to our property at 28 Mattarest. 
22 And it comes from the Mattarest Circle, and it 
23 goes 5 feet entirely on the Reichenbachs' 
24 property, over the coastal bank, down to the 
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1 beach. And that's entirely on the 
2 Reichenbachs' property. 
3 There is another boating easement that 
4 is meant for Frothingham family members who 
5 still own parcels in the subdivision. And 
6 that's generally straddles the property 
7 line, so it's 5 feet on the Reichenbachs' 
8 and 5 feet on the Haydock family property 
9 until you get to that sharp corner, and then 
l O it sort of juts across a little bit. And that 
1 1  goes, again, from the Mattarest Circle all the 
12 way down to the beach. 
13 Q. And, again, those easement rights are 
14 not shown on this plan? 
1 5  A. No. And the boating the easement 
1 6  for the Frothingham family members was to 
1 7  trailer a boat to the water. 
18 Q. Understood. 
19  A. Yeah, okay. 
20 Q. So after you saw these plans near the 
21 end of September 2009, what was the first 
22 occasion on which you shared your concerns 
23 with the Reichenbachs about the plans? 
24 A. I think we I don't think we spoke 

Trial Day 1 1  
Febrnary 27, 2023 

Page 2532 

1 to the Reichenbachs before the October 6 
2 hearing. 
3 Q. So do you you have a do you have 
4 a good recollection of when that first hearing 
5 was? 
6 A. It was my brother's birthday, 
7 October 6, yeah. 
8 Q. So it's a little bit over a week after 
9 you received those plans? 
10 A. That's right. 
11 Q. And that you understood that to be 
12 the first Conservation Commission hearing on 
13 those plans? 
14 A. Yes. 
15 Q. Who attended that hearing, again, to 
16 the best of your recollection? 
17 A. Tim was there. I was there. Ulla 
18 Sullivan was there, Sam Haydock, Bob 
19 Frothingham. I think another cousin of Tim's, 
20 Tally Garfield, was also there. I mean, there 
21 could have been others, but those are the ones 
22 that I remember. 
23 Q. And I take it I take it the 
24 Reichenbachs were there? 

1 A. Yes. 
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2 Q. And with their did they have any 
3 professionals with them? 
4 A. I think Tom Hardman was the only 
5 person I remember being there. 
6 Q. And what were the again, sort of 
7 the topics of conversation during that 
8 hearing? 
9 A. Well, in general, the amount of 
10 disturbance in the buffer zone because there 
1 1  was it's a very it's a narrow piece of 
12 land in that location, and the development 
1 3  went very far to the north property and was 
14 within feet of the south property line so that 
1 5  it was you know, the majority of the 
1 6  development was in a very sensitive area. 
1 7 We were concerned about wave impacts 
1 8  on the walls that were shown. General 
19  drainage, there are three different ways that 
20 drainage might be an issue. 
21 MS. BONNET HEBERT: Objection, 
22 Your Honor. I think this is getting into 
23 areas that were subject to a motion in limine 
24 on relitigation. 
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THE COURT: Well, no. The 
2 question was just what were the general 
3 discussions at the initial meeting? So I'll 
4 allow it. Thank you. 
5 Overruled. Next question. 
6 BY MS. ALLISON: 
7 Q. Had you finished descl'ibing the topics 
8 of discussion at the meeting? 
9 A. No. There were a couple others. I 
10 mean, drainage, impacts on the wall. 
1 1  There were -- there was an issue with 
12  the driveway. It was -- they were showing 
13  access from the Haydock family property, and 
14  that was not the access that they had at that 
1 5  point. 
1 6  There was also discussion at some 
1 7  point about a -- they had left remnants of the 
1 8  first floodplain -- first flood map on the 
19  plan. There was discussion about taking that 
20 off the plan --
21 Q. So
22 A. -- references to an earlier flood map. 
23 Q. You mentioned various people that 
24 attended that meeting. 
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1 Who raised those various issues during 
2 the meeting? 
3 A. So I think that 
4 MS. BONNET HEBERT: Objection. 
5 This calls for hearsay. 
6 THE COURT: Overruled. 
7 A. I think Ulla Sullivan had made 
8 comments about the pool. I think Sam Haydock 
9 raised questions about drainage. I think Bob 
l O Frothingham expressed something possibly even 
1 1  about the rightof way not being shown. 
12 Tim asked a question about their 
1 3  access that's being shown, that it was through 
14 the Haydock family property at that time, 
15  which they didn't have. I think Tally 
1 6  Garfield's comments were about the access too. 
17  I'm not sure ifl  said something. I 
18 might have raised a question. 
19  BY MS. ALLISON: 
20 Q. Okay. So as a result of that meeting, 
21 were the Reichenbachs required to make any 
22 changes to their plans by the Conservation 
23 Commission? 
24 A. Yes. 
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Q. And, again, generally to the extent 
2 you can remember, what were those changes? 
3 MS. BONNET HEBERT: Objection, 
4 Your Honor. I believe this is subject to the 
5 motion in limine on relitigation. 
6 THE COURT: Overruled. 
7 A. They asked the they asked the 
8 Reichenbachs to perfom1 a pre and 
9 post development study to address water. 
l O It 
1 1  BY MS. ALLISON 
12 Q. At the time, did you understand what 
13 that involved? 
14 A No. 
15 Q. Oh, okay. 
16  A. No. 
17 Q. Okay. 
18  A. And I didn't know what water. I mean, 
1 9  it was just it was something that was asked 
20 by the Commission of the Reichenbachs. 
21 They I think Mike O'Reilly had 
22 mentioned something to Tom Hardman about 
23 taking out the reference to a velocity zone. 
24 I think they asked I think at that hearing 
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I they asked permission to go on to the 
2 neighbors' properties to do more detailed 
3 analysis of the elevations. 
4 Q. For the study? 
5 A. For the study. 
6 And there might have been something 
7 about a dry well. I mean, I think there 
8 were there were things that happened in 
9 that meeting, and then there were things that 
l O happened after that meeting. 
11 Q. Okay. So following that initial 
12 meeting you described what happened in the 
13 meeting. Following that initial meeting, did 
14 the Conservation Commission ask the 
15 Reichenbachs to make additional changes to 
16 their plans? 
17 A. Yes. 
18 Q. Do you have a kind of a 
19 recollection of the nature of that those 
20 additional changes? 
21 A. Again, I can't recall the exact 
22 timeline. It might have happened a little 
23 later. There had been a letter received from 
24 Ulla Sullivan's engineer about some aspects of 
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1 Now they're going to hear it from Miss Moss 
2 and perhaps not Dr. Haydock. But the flip 
3 side is I'm sure you're going to ask them were 
4 any of these concerns not legitimate, but, you 
5 know, did you win any of your appeals, which 
6 is already in evidence as well. And I think 
7 that's fair game too. 
8 MS. ALLISON: Well, that's not 
9 contested, Your Honor. 
10  THE COURT: I understand that. 
1 1  MS. ALLISON: Yes. 
12  THE COURT: But I think that's 
13  fair game. I don't think it goes to 
14 relitigating. 
15 In other words, we're not going to go 
16  back in and second-guess Conservation 
17  Commission or DEP. It's just the outcomes is 
1 8  admissible, not their underlying reason and 
19 not the challenge to those decisions. Express 
20 your concerns, what happened after that. And 
21  I think that's where you're going. 
22 MS. ALLISON: That's exactly 
23 what we're doing. 
24 MS. BONNET-HEBERT: I 

l understand. I don't think --
2 
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3 (Parties speaking simultaneously.) 
4 
5 THE COURT: Continue to object, 
6 if you think necessary. I'm just trying to --
7 MS. ALLISON: I was hopeful we 
8 could quicken things by not --
9 THE COURT: I'm trying to figure 
10  out where that line is going to be drawn, and 
1 1  I think we have an understanding on it. 
12 MS. BONNET-HEBERT: That's 

exactly what I was going to say. 13 
14 THE COURT: I did it before, I 
1 5  think, with Attorney Fielding in terms of his 
1 6  objections to -- or your objections or 
1 7  somebody's, but I just want to add the 
18  discussion. Continue to object, and you let 
19  me know if you feel it's gone over that. 
20 MS. BONNET-HEBERT: I think 
21 maybe there is a bit of a gray area, and we're 
22 trying to find that line. I'm concerned we 
23 were getting close to that edge where it's 
24 really trying to get into details of asking 
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l the jury to second guess those concerns. 
2 THE COURT: I don't think you're 
3 close 
4 MS. ALLISON: Your Honor, I 
5 don't think we're near the gray area. 
6 THE COURT: You can object and 
7 I'll take that up. 
8 MS. ALLISON: Thank you, 
9 Your Honor. 
10 
1 1  
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 

MS. BONNET HEBERT: Thank you. 
THE COURT: Thank you. 

(END OF SIDEBAR CONFERENCE.) 

THE COURT: All right. Next 
1 7  question, please. 
1 8  BY MS. ALLISON: 
19 Q. So we were talking about requirements 

20 imposed by the Conservation Commission 

21 following that initial meeting. And you 

22 had you said you recalled some, but not 

23 necessarily the timing of them, right? 

24 A. It was in the fall, yeah. 
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1 Q. Okay. So I'm going to show you a 

2 document p1·eviously marked as Exhibit 141. 

3 Are you able to see that document on 

4 your screen, Miss Moss? 

5 A. Yes. 
6 Q. So this is from October 30, 2009, 

7 right? 

8 A. Yes. 
9 Q. So a few weeks after that hearing you 

10 were telling us about? 

1 1  A. Yes. 
12 Q. And this is from John Reichenbach 

13 to it's to Dr. Haydock's e mail account, 

14 but directed to you? 

15 A. Yes. 
16 Q. And here, John Reichenbach mentions a 

17 couple other changes that the Conse1·vation 

18 Commission asked for. 

19 Do you see that? 

20 A. Yes. 
21 Q. So does that is that consistent 

22 with your recollection that there were other 

23 changes requested following that October 

24 meeting? 
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1 A. Yes. Lowering the house one foot was 
2 another one. That absolutely, yeah. 
3 Q. Mr. Reichenbach also says, tow3l'ds the 

4 bottom of this e mail, that "One of the three 

5 driveway alternatives will be shown on an 

6 upcoming plan subject to discussion with the 

7 Haydocks." 

8 Do you see that? 

9 A. Yes. 
10 Q. And again, was it is it consistent 

11 with yom· recollection that John Reichenbach 

12 was still sharing driveway alternatives and 

13 discussing the driveway issue with the 

14 Haydocks at this time? 

15 A. Yes. 
16 Q. I'm going to show you a document 

17 p1·eviously marked as 116. 

18 So are you able to see that, 

19 Miss Moss? 

20 A. Yes. 
21 Q. So you'll see this is an e mail from 

22 John Reichenbach a couple of days before that 

23 last exhibit that we just saw. 

24 A. Right. 
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1 Q. And in which he forwards three 

2 driveway alternatives? 

3 A. Yes. 
4 Q. And is that, again, consistent with 

5 your recollection that those driveway those 

6 three alternatives we1·e still under 

7 discussion? 

8 A. Yes. With the exception that when it 
9 says "continue using the existing driveway," I 
IO think they were actually going to be making 
1 1  changes to that existing access, but, in 
12 general, yes, those are the three locations. 
13 Q. I see. So using that access, but 

14 altering it? 

15 A. That's right. 
16 Q. Okay. So on the eal"iier exhibit we 

17 just saw, Exhibit 141, which we can 

18 MS. ALLISON: We can pull that 
19 up again, briefly. 
20 BY MS. ALLISON: 
21 Q. Towards the at the very end the1·e, 

22 John Reichenbach refers to meeting meeting 

23 to talk this weekend. 

24 Do you see that? 
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2 Q. And perhaps meeting with Ulla, as 

3 well? 

4 A. Yes. 
5 Q. What what were you discussing, 

6 again, if you can recall, with John 

7 Reichenbach and Ulla around that time? 

8 A. I don't know that I had discussions 
9 with Ulla at that point in time, but I I 
10 started having conversations with John 
l l meetings with John. 
12 Q. About the plans? 

13 A. About the plans, and I think the early 
14 conversations also included Lynn. 
15 Q. So in this Exhibit 141, John 

16 Reichenbach mentions an upcoming meeting in 

17 mid November. 

18 Do you recall if you received plans 

19 new plans in mid Novembe1· of that year, 2010? 

20 A. I think and I think that this was 
21 the I think we didn't get something in 
22 no one got plans in time to review them for 
23 that meeting. So I think it had to be 
24 continued. 

Q. So you 

A. I think there was a continuance. 
Q. Okay. Let me show you 

A. I think. 
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1 
2 

3 
4 
5 Q. Exhibit let me show you Exhibit 

6 58 to see if that is consistent with your 

7 recollection. 

8 A. (Witness reviews document.) 
9 Q. So this thread begins with an e mail 

10 from you about following up on the plans, and 

11 you say that "the Town had received the plans, 

12 but no one else had." 

13 Is that is that what you'rn 

14 recalling from mid November? 

15 A. Yes. 
16 Q. And then John Reichenbach responds to 

17 you, at the top of the thread, saying that 

18 your request is entirely appropriate. 

19 Do you see that? 

20 A. Yes. 
21 Q. And so there was, in fact, anothe1· 

22 continuance of the Conservation Commission's 

23 evaluation of the application at that time? 

24 MS. BONNET HEBERT: Objection. 
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2 THE COURT: Just yes, that's 

3 sustained. Ask her some questions. 

4 BY MS. ALLISON: 

5 Q. So what happened as a result of this 

6 e mail? 

7 A. The hearing was continued. 

8 Q. You say John Reichenbach, in this 

9 e mail, says he's going to try to call you on 

10 Sunday. 

11 Do you see that? 

12  A .  Yes. 

13 Q. So were you having, again, meetings 

14 with John Reichenbach outside of the hearings 

15 at this point? 

16  A .  Yes. 

17 Q. And why why were you having 

18 meetings? Why did you decide that you would 

19 have meetings with John Reichenbach outside of 

20 the hearings or why did the hvo of you decide 

21 to do that? 

22 A. I think actually it was possibly 

23 Jolm's his idea frst to have to try to 

24 work on these things actually, just I 
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1 think just if John and I could work on them 

2 and not have have this happen in a public 

3 hearing where there were so many people, it's 

4 taking the Commission's time, and there are a 

5 lot of details to work out. 

6 It was his suggestion that just the 

7 two of us work on these things together 

8 directly. 

9 Q. All right. Miss Moss, I'm going to 

10 show you a document an exhibit previously 

11 marked as Exhibit 118. 

12 A. (Witness reviews document.) 

13 Q. And this top e mail from November 

14 29 sorry, November 23, 2009 is from John 

15 Reichenbach addressed to you. 

16 And he says, in the second paragraph 

17 there, "I think it would be good for us to 

18 meet so that we can discuss the options 

19 without with a large crowd." 

20 Do you see that? 

21  A. Yes. 

22 Q. So is that consistent with your 

23 recollection of that, reasons for the 

24 meetings? 
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2 Q. I want to ask you. John Reichenbach 

3 we've seen several e mails that he directs 

4 to you, but they go to Dr. Haydock's e mail 

5 account. 

6 Do you do you have any 

7 understanding of why that was the case? 

8 A. I don't I don't know why he did 

9 that. And at some point, probably shortly 

IO  after this I asked him to use my own e mail, 

1 1  but it might be because that was in the phone 

12 book for Nonquitt. 

13 Q. The Nonquitt phone book had e mail 

14 addresses? 

1 5  A .  Yes. 

16 Q. Oh, okay. So he says in this in 

17 Exhibit 118, the second to the last paragraph, 

18 John Reichenbach says tells you that "We 

19 can also change something later if it makes 

20 sense to all the parties. Depending upon what 

21 it is, it may require an amended set of terms 

22 and conditions." 

23 Do you see that? 

24 A. Yes. 

1 
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Q. Did you have any understanding of what 

2 John Reichenbach was proposing there? 

3 A. Yes. 

4 Q. And what was your understanding of 

5 that? 

6 A. I think that that John wanted to 

7 get a pennit and so that he had a permit to 

8 move forward on, and then if it needed to be 

9 changed or amended as we made further 

10 discussions and nanowed down options for 

1 1  further things, we could do that with an 

12 amended order, is what I took that to mean. 

13 Q. Understood. So after you received 

14 plans from John Reichenbach in late November, 

15 do you well, I should say, do you remember 

16 receiving plans from John Reichenbach in late 

17 November? 

18 A. I don't know ifI got plans before 

19  sometime in December. 

20 Q. Okay. Okay. Do you earlier, you 

21 mentioned that some of some additional 

22 changes that needed to be made as a result of 

23 a request by Ulla Sullivan; is that right? 

24 A. Yes. 
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1 Q. Did that also happen around this time, 

2 this fall 2009? 

3 A. Yes, I actually saw a line in that 
4 about how Ferreira was her engineer. So I 
5 think his changes were incorporated in 
6 whatever came in December. 
7 Q. Okay. So I'm going to show you a 

8 document previously marked as Exhibit 119. 

9 You 'II see this refers to a 

10 conversation with between Tom Hardman and 

11 the Conservation Commission agent regarding 

12 two changes in response to Ulla's engineer. 

13 Do you see that? 

14 A. Yes. 
15 Q. Is that consistent with your 

16 recollection, what you were just telling us 

17 that? 

18 A. Yes. 
19 Q. Mr. Reichenbach says, in the last 

20 paragraph here, to "Please keep in mind if 

21 it's approved, we would still be willing to 

22 consider additional changes." 

23 Do you see that? 

24 A. Yes. 

1 
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Q. Again, what did you understand him to 

2 be suggesting there? 

3 A. He's again suggesting because he 
4 says it actually in that paragraph going 
5 back to the Conservation Commission for an 
6 Amended Order of Conditions. 
7 Q. If something needs to change down the 

8 road? 

9 A. Right. 
10 Q. So this e mail refers to a hearing 

11 being continued for another two weeks until 

12 Decembe1· 22. 

13 

14 
15 

Do you see that? 

A. Yes. 
Q. Did that heal"ing occm· on Decembe1· 22, 

16 to the best ofyom· memo1·y? 

17 A. No. 
18 Q. And why not? 

19 A. I think I asked John ifit could be 
20 continued to the next you know, the next 
21 meeting because no one was available. It was 
22 right before the holiday. And people were 
23 that needed to be there wouldn't weren't 
24 going to be there. The Sullivans couldn't be 
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1 there and someone else. 
2 Q. Did the meeting then get moved until 

3 afte1· the holidays? 

4 A. That's right, yes. 
5 Q. In Janua1·y; is that right? 

6 A. Yes. 
7 Q. Okay. So do you recall if there were 

8 two meetings in January? 

9 A. Yes, there were. 
10 Q. So the first meeting in January 

11 following the holidays, what do you remember 

12 about that meeting? 

13  A. It's a little hard to keep them 
14 separate because a lot happened in the month 
15 of January, but I think we saw we got 
16 the pre and post development study was 
17 presented to us, and there was discussion 
18 about that. 
19 A lot of discussion about drainage. 
20 There were some of the corrections that were 
21 put on the plan related to the things related 
22 to Sullivan property. Those were put on the 
23 plan. 
24 I think the biggest issue I the 
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1 topic was really a lot of it was about 
2 drainage. 
3 Q. Was this the first meeting that was 

4 held after the abutters had received those new 

5 plans? 

6 A. Yes. 
7 Q. And those new plans incorporated this 

8 result of this study? 

9 A. That's right. That's right. 
10 Q. So your recollection was that was the 

11  primary topic of this meeting in January? 

12 A. It was. And it was sort of specific 
1 3  to overall issues with drainage. Then we had 
14 to direct the water on the north and the south 
1 5  sides of the property and how that might be 
16  done with swales or with berms. 
17 

1 8  
Q. I'm sorry. Swales are what? 

A. So a swale is like a ditch. It's 
19 something that would retain the water. A berm 
20 is just the opposite. It's like a you 
21 know, a small mound of soil. There were 
22 rights ofway that couldn't be interfered 
23 with, and it's a very narrow space. So there 
24 was a lot there was a lot that had to be 
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1 taken into consideration. 
2 Q. So that was the topic at this meeting 
3 largely? 
4 A. Largely, yes. 
5 Q. Who spoke up at this meeting, to the 

6 best of your memory? 

7 A. I think a lot of it was Sam Haydock. 
8 Q. Okay. Do do you recall anything 

9 that happened after that meeting on January 
10 12th or I don't know if you testified to 
11  the exact date actually, but that first 

12 meeting in January, do you recall that 
13 anything happened after that meeting? 
14  A.  Yes. 
15 Q. What do you remember? 

1 6  A .  I remember we were in the hallway, and 
1 7  Lynn Reichenbach was very upset, and I 
1 8  approached her. I walked towards her because 
19 I could see that she was upset. And she --
20 she said, If you delay me for a year, I'm only 
21  going to have more money in a year. 
22 And I didn't know what she was really 
23 referring to, but I wanted to tell her, Nobody 
24 wants to delay you for a year. We're just 
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1 trying to get the you know, the drainage 
2 settled. 
3 But she had really, you know, 
4 expressed she was upset that the that 
5 she had not received her permit that night. 
6 Q. Did you did you have any further 

7 discussion with Miss Reichenbach that evening? 
8 A. I didn't. I didn't really have a 
9 discussion that she was upset, and I I 
10 didn't think that I could really do much at 
1 1  that point. 
12 Q. Following that evening, did you try to 
13 have some further discussion with 

14 Mrs. Reichenbach? 
15 A. Yes. 
16 Q. And what did you do in an effort to do 

17 that? 
18 A. Because I really quickly wanted to try 
19 to turn this around and, you know, get on a 
20 more positive track, I think the next morning 
21 I \Vrote John and Lynn an e mail and just said, 
22 you know, We had to address the things that we 
23 addressed last night, but I'd like to keep 
24 moving forward. It's very important to keep 
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1 working on these issues collaboratively 
2 together, resolve things, and I hope that you 
3 could just -- you know, we had to raise the 
4 concerns that we had last night, but ifwe 
5 could just keep moving forward with trying to 
6 work together with you. 
7 Q. I'm going to show you an e mail that 
8 was previously marked as an exhibit, Miss 
9 Moss. It's Exhibit 120. 

10  A. (Witness reviews document.) 
1 1  MS. ALLISON: And ifwe could, scroll 
12 down, please, to the first e-mail in the 
13 thread. 
14  BY MS. ALLISON: 
15 Q. You'll see, Miss Moss, the first 
16 e mail in the thread is from you to it's 

17 addressed to John and Lynn. 
18 Do you see that? 
19  A. Yes. 
20 Q. Is is this the e mail that you were 
21 just recalling that you reached out with the 
22 next day? 

23 A. Yes. 
24 Q. All right. So you say after after 
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1 saying what you've just described to  us, you 
2 say towards the end of the e mail that you're 

3 going to talk with Sam over the next couple of 
4 days and also with Ulla over the weekend. 
5 Do you see that? 

6 MS. BONNET HEBERT: Objection. 
7 A. Yes. 
8 THE COURT: I'm sorry. 
9 MS. BONNET HEBERT: I said 
10 objection. Counsel is again reading from it, 
1 1  testifying. 
12 THE COURT: Not quite yet, but 
1 3  try to ask questions. 
14 BY MS. ALLISON 
15 Q. You see what I'm I'm pointing to 

16 that last paragraph. 
17  A. Yes. 
18 Q. Do you see that? 

19  A. Yes. 
20 Q. What what issues were you talking 
21 with Sam and Ulla about at this time? Just 
22 the general topics of discussion. 

23 A. Well, with Sam, it would be the 
24 impacts of the walls and drainage and swales 
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1 or whatever is going to happen on the north 
2 side. 
3 And with Ulla, it was the same. There 
4 was there were different options proposed 
5 for what they were putting in as a swale on 
6 the south side as well. 
7 Q. That was a drainage issue, the swale; 
8 is that what you're saying? 
9 A. Yes, yes. And I also think that I had 
10 other I mean, I had some other thoughts 
1 1  that I I don't know ifl put it in this 
12 e mail. 
13 Q. Okay. 
14 A. Other thoughts about the south 
15 about options for the south property line. 
16 Q. So I think you said there was another 
17 meeting in Janu3l"y of 2010 later in the month? 
18 A. Yes. 
19 Q. And you attended that meeting? 
20 A. Yes. 
21 Q. Again, what, if anything, do you 
22 remembe1· about the topics raised at that 
23 meeting? 
24 A. I'm assuming it was drainage again 

Page 2563 

1 because the -- we were really on that topic 
2 and --
3 Q. That's what you recall from January 
4 2010? 
5 A. Yes. 
6 Q. Okay. 
7 A. And I think that Sam had done a very 
8 complete and thoughtful analysis of their pre-
9 and post-development study and had very 
10  specific comments. 
1 1  Q. Did he submit that in writing to the 
12 Conservation Commission? 
13  A.  Yes. I think he submitted two pretty 
14 detailed letters in the month of January, 
1 5  yeah. 
16 Q. Okay. Let's actually, let me show 
17 you Exhibit 142. 
1 8  MS. ALLISON: Let's scroll down 
19  to the letter first rather than the e-mail 
20 it's attached to. 
21  BY MS. ALLISON: 
22 Q. This is the e mail this is the 
23 letter is this the letter from Sam Haydock 
24 or one of the letters 
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l A .  Yes. 
2 Q. that you recall? 
3 A .  I think this is the second one. I 
4 think he -- this --
5 Q. You know, you're Miss Moss, I'm 
6 going to it's a long letter, so I'm going 
7 to just I'll give you a copy so that you 
8 can take a brief look. I even brought a 
9 stapler. 
10  MS.  ALLISON: May I approach, 
1 1  Your Honor? 
12 THE COURT: You may. 
13 BY MS. ALLISON: 
14 Q. My question, Miss Moss, is just 
15 whether you agreed with the concerns that 
16 Mr. Haydock raised in this letter. 
1 7  A .  I did. 
18 Q. Okay. The let's scroll back to  the 
19 cover e mail to this letter. 
20 I take it at the time that you saw Sam 
21 Haydock's letter· you did not see this cover 
22 e mail? 
23 A .  No. 
24 Q. Right. Is the comment that 
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1 Mr. O'Reilly makes in this e mail consistent 
2 with his tr·eatment of Dr. Haydock I'm 
3 sorry Sam Haydock? 
4 MS. BONNET HEBERT Objection, 
5 Your Honor. Calls for speculation. 
6 THE COURT: Sustained. 
7 BY MS. ALLISON: 
8 Q. In any event, you didn't see this 
9 e mail at the time? 
10 A. Not at the time, no. 
11  Q. Well, what was what was the 
12 Conservation Commission's reaction to 
13 Dr. Haydock's sorry Samuel Haydock's 
14 letter? 
1 5 MS. BONNET HEBERT: Objection, 
1 6  Your Honor. It calls for speculation as to 
17  what she thinks the Conservation Commission 
1 8 thought about something. 
19  THE COURT: I think sustained 
20 as to that point. 
21 Is there did they discuss it  at a 
22 hearing or 
23 MS. ALLISON: I'm asking for 
24 THE COURT: Her personal 
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1 driveway? 

2 A. I think still the drainage. There 

3 was I don't think there was any drainage 

4 shown on the Order of Conditions 

5 Q. Was that 

6 A. at all on the north side. 

7 Q. Was that was that part of the 

8 driveway issue? 

9 A. It was related to it, yes. 

10 Q. So in we've sort of walked through 

11 this late 2009, early 2010 period of 

12 discussions with John Reichenbach. 

13 How many how many discussions would 

14 you say you had with him about the various 

15 issues over that time? 

16 A. It's hard to remember how many were 

I 7 actual meetings in person. So I would think 

1 8  maybe we had 18 meetings. You know, it could 

19 be 20. But we had conversations on the phone 

20 that were sometimes extensive. So 

21 conversations, whether in person or over the 

22 phone, was probably about 30. It was a lot of 

23 work. 

24 Q. Why did you put so much time into 
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1 trying to work this out? 

2 A. Because I felt this was very impmtant 

3 for these three prope1ties to IIy to to 

4 allow the Reichenbachs to build their house 

5 was impmtant, but to protect the neighboring 

6 properties and the resource ai-eas, considering 

7 the extensive hundreds of feet of retaining 

8 wall, that was that was a difficult issue. 

9 And I was always hoping that there could be an 

10 option that would actually be workable and 

1 1  better for eve1yone. 

12 Q. You mentioned your meetings with John 

13 Reichenbach. We've heard a lot about that. 

14 Were you having any meetings with Lynn 

15 Reichenbach about the plans? 

16 A. Initially, she was at the meetings. 

17 And I think that the tempo of the discussion 

1 8  was, you know, we were not moving things I 

19 think she wanted she wasn't as interested 

20 in the details of what John and I were 

21  discussing. She just wanted the permit, and I 

22 think she decided to let John handle it. 

23 Q. So how many times are you you said 

24 early on. How many times do you think you met 
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1 with Lynn Reichenbach on these issues? 

2 A. Probably not more than four. 
3 Q. Okay. 

4 A. Three, four. 

5 Q. Now, you mentioned the driveway 

6 discussions had not been resolved. 

7 Do you we1·e you involved in so 

8 following the issuance of the original Order 

9 of Conditions in April, we1·e you involved in 

10 the negotiations over the driveway issue? 

1 1  A. No, not not with the real 

12 negotiations. I would sometimes see a 

13 proposed plan for what John wanted to do with 

14 the Haydock land the Haydock family land, 

1 5  and I might comment on, again, drainage 

I 6 aspects or implications for that, but the 

1 7  actual discussion really was handled by Sam 

1 8  Haydock. 

19 Q. Do you have an understanding of when 

20 those discussions about the di-iveway came to a 

21 conclusion? 

22 A. I think I think September 201 1  

23 2010 September. I mean, there was another 

24 approach afterwards, but it really, I think, 
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l ended in September 2010. 

2 Q. And that was, again, Sam Haydock that 

3 was having those discussions? 

4 A. Yes. 

5 Q. When did you next have discussions 

6 with either of the Reichenbachs about their 

7 project? 

8 A. I think I only I only remember one 

9 discussion with John over the summer. He had 

10 constructed this a mock up of what the 

1 1  retaining wall would look like along the 

12 Sullivan property to help Ulla visualize this 

13  is the height that the our lawn would be; 

14 this is the height of the retaining wall; this 

1 5  is the height of the pool fence. So it was 

16 some of it was IO feet tall. 

17 Q. What do you mean a "mock up"? Like, 

18 on paper? 

19  A. No, no. It was a wooden structure, 

20 like a trellis that was probably about 80 feet 

21  long. 

22 Q. Oh, it was built. This wooden 

23 structure was built. 

24 A. Yes. 
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1 And we were talking about it because 
2 he felt if Ulla could see what this would look 
3 like against her property, she might be able 
4 to envision this is what the retaining wall 
5 would look like. Ifwe filled the gully, this 
6 is what a nice stone wall would look like 
7 instead. 
8 So he was still I think Nan Sinton 
9 had been talking to Ulla over the summer about 
10 still filling the gully. And John and I spoke 
1 1  about that. 
12 Q. Okay. And following the construction 

13 of that wooden structure near the property, 

14 that didn't change any decisions with respect 

15 to the gully? 

1 6  A. No, I don't think so. 
17 Q. All right. So after summer, when did 

18 you next have discussions with the 

19 Reichenbachs about their about their 

20 project? 

21 A. I saw John at the Mattarest circle 
22 probably toward the end of September. 
23 Q. And you had a conversation with him 

24 about the project at that time? 
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A. Yes. 
2 Q. What do you recall about that 

3 conversation? 

4 A. His whole sort of demeanor toward me 
5 was very different. He was he was upset. 
6 I was standing at the circle. I guess he was 
7 at the end of his driveway, and he approached 
8 me and told me that they were going to make 
9 changes to their plans. 
10 Q. Did he say anything about the nature 

11 of the changes to the plans at that time? 

12 A. I think he generally said they were 
1 3  going to be changing the wall, the shape of 
14 the wall, the retaining walls. He said that 
15  Tom Hardman didn't like the soils up by the 
16  Mattarest circle, so they were going to be 
17 moving the septic system back down by the 
18  house again. He conveyed he was talking 
19  about the Haydocks not allowing him driveway 
20 access through their property, and that was 
21 upsetting to him. And he was upset with Ulla 
22 for not filling the gully. 
23 So it was it was a complete change. 
24 It wasn't, Oh, we're going to do this 
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l together, as we said, or We can get an Amended 
2 Order of Conditions together. It was 
3 I'm doing this my it was kind of going to 
4 be my way or the highway, not 
5 Q. That was your impression? 

6 A. That was my impression. 
7 MS. BONNET HEBERT: Objection. 
8 The question called for "Did he say anything 
9 about the nature of the changes to the plans 
10 at that time?" 
1 1  I would move to strike everything 
12 about her impressions of that. 
13 THE COURT: Allowed. 
14 The jury will disregard her 
1 5  impressions of Mr. Reichenbach's mind set. 
16  Next question, please. 
1 7  BY MS. ALLISON: 
18 Q. So with respect to the changes that 

19 Mr. Reichenbach described to you, just I 

20 think you summarized those as the changes to 

21 the wall configuration, the and the septic. 

22 Does that cover the changes that he 

23 described at that time? 

24 A. Yes. 

1 
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Q. Okay. And what was your reaction to 

2 that? 

3 A. I was I talked to him about moving 
4 the septic because that was one of the most 
5 important things we had from my opinion, 
6 that we had talked about in the original Order 
7 of Conditions. And he said, This is what Tom 
8 Hardman wants to do, so Tom is moving it. 
9 And then he also, as we were standing 
10 in the circle, he said, The Haydock family 
1 1  gets too much benefit of the common land for 
12  the circle. You know, it's I would like to 
1 3  move the paved portion of the circle to the 
14  center of the easement area. 
15  And I said, But the Mattarest this 
1 6  is where the Mattarest circle has always been. 
17  And he said, Well, you get the benefit 
1 8  of more of the land on your side. 
19  And when I ,  again, just started to 
20 say, But this is where the driveway has always 
21 been, John said, I could take a chainsaw and 
22 cut down every one of your trees ifl felt 
23 like it in the common land. 
24 MS. BONNET HEBERT: Objection, 
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1 Your Honor. This is not responsive to the 

2 question "What was your reaction to that?" 

3 THE COURT: Sustained. 

4 MS. BONNET HEBERT: I would move 

5 to strike that testimony. 

6 THE COURT: Anything regarding 

7 that is stricken. 

8 The jury is to disregard it. 

9 BY MS. ALLISON: 

10 Q. Following the discussions of the 

11 changes with Mr. Reichenbach, did he say 

12 anything else to you during that meeting? 

13 A. Yes, he did. 

14 Q. What did he say? 

15 A. He said that he was unhappy with where 

16 the Mattarest circle was located, and he said 

1 7  that he would be entitled to take a chainsaw 

1 8  and take down all the trees in the common land 

19 in front of our house. 

20 Q. How how did you feel after this 

21 discussion? 

22 A. I was shaken by that. I had never 

23 seen him talk like that. 

24 Q. We we've heard reference in 
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1 questions that Plaintiffs' counsel tried to 

2 ask of you last week about e mails that you 

3 sent, heated e mails. 

4 How were you feeling at the time that 

5 you sent those e mails? 

6 A. This this conversation 

7 MS. BONNET HEBERT: Objection. 
8 A. was 

9 MS. BONNETHEBERT: Your Honor. 

10 THE COURT: Well, overruled. 

1 1  Just try to answer the question 

12 directly as you can. 

13 How were you feeling at the time you 

14 sent those e mails? 

15 A. I was feeling very upset after this 

16 conversation with John Reichenbach. 

17  BY MS. ALLISON: 

18 Q. So this we're talking about I 

19 think you said around the end of Septembe1· 

20 2010, right? 

21 A. Yes. 

22 Q. So before the Reichenbachs decided to 

23 make these changes to their plans, was it yom· 

24 understanding that construction was going to 
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1 kind of begin in earnest in September of 2010? 

2 A. Yes. 

3 Q. And did you become aware of any 

4 concerns or I should say did you or any of 

5 the other neighbors have concerns about so1·t 

6 of the start of construction? 

7 A. There one of our neighbors had 

8 general concerns about construction 

9 beginning. 

10 MS. BONNET HEBERT: Objection. 

1 1  Calls for hearsay. 

12 THE COURT: She hasn't said what 

13  it is yet. 

14 BY MS. ALLISON: 

15 Q. I'm just asking you for your 

16 understanding of concerns. So you don't have 

17 to please you don't have to testify to 

18 any particular discussion. 

19 A. Okay. 

20 Q. All right? 

21  A. Okay. 

22 There were generalized general 

23 concerns. 

24 Q. What were the nature of the concerns 
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1 about the impending construction? 

2 A. There had been this is a ve1y 

3 difficult area to work in, and there had been 

4 experience in the past 

5 Q. What do you mean by "This is a 

6 very" what area are we talking about? 

7 A. Mattarest Lane. 
8 Q. Okay. 
9 A. This nan-ow area ofMattarest Lane. 

10 And in the past, there had been 

1 1  difficulty during constrnction with damage to 

12  properties. And one of the neighbors wanted 

13  to hire an attorney to represent the group 

14 just to make sure that the neighboring 

15 prope1ties would all be protected, you know, 

16  during, you know, mostly about the in tl1e 

17  beginning, tl1ere was no real scope of work. 

18  It was just we need to make sure our 

19 properties will be protected. 

20 Q. And when you say "represent the 

21 group," you mean any neighbors who shared this 

22 concern 

23 A. That's right. 

24 Q. about the construction? 
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2 Q. So later that fall, did you did you 

3 learn more about the changes any more 

4 specifics about the changes that the 

5 Reichenbachs were planning to make? 

6 A. Yes. And I can't remember exactly 
7 when I got a copy of their Amended Order of 
8 Conditions plan. It was in October I think. 
9 Q. And it was when you received a copy of 

10 this new plan that you understood more about 

11 the nature of the changes they were going to 

12 make? 

13 A. Yes. 
14 Q. And when you well, let me show you, 

15 actually, exhibit previously marked Exhibit 

16 17. 

17 We're shO\ving you a copy of a 

18 document an e mail from John Reichenbach to 

19 several individuals, and you're you're on 

20 here as well, from November 2, 2010 

21  A .  Yes. 
22 Q. ,vith an attachment? 

23 A. Yes. 
24 Q. Is this when you received the plans, 

Page 2603 

1 the new plans? 

2 A. Yes, this is. 
3 Q. And was this e mail the first time 

4 that you had a more detailed description of 

5 what those plans might involve? 

6 A. Yes. 
7 Q. So what did you generally, what did 

8 you unde1·stand the changes to the plan to 

9 include at that time? 

l O A. There were changes to the shape of the 
1 1  retaining walls, the proximity to the south 
12  property line. It was, you know, very, very 
13  close to the Sullivan property now. The 
14  septic system had been moved from the --
1 5  closer to the Mattarest Circle back toward the 
1 6  house and closer to the resource area again. 
17 Q. So I just want to be sure I understood 

18 that. 

19 It had been moved it had been 

20 closer to the Mattarest Circle 01·iginally, but 

21 it was moved closer to the house? 

22 A. Right by the front of the house, yes. 
23 Q. Okay. 
24 A. And there were -- the driveway was 
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l different because of the septic now being 
2 located in the drive the area of the 
3 driveway, and there were other modifications 
4 to things like terraces. 
5 Q. So on the driveway, we had seen in 

6 earlier exhibits three different potential 

7 alternatives. 

8 Did this new plan show any of those 

9 three alternatives? 

10 A. No. It was different. The elevations 
1 1  were different. There were drainage was 
12 going to be different. So this was a 
13 different version. I'm sorry. Those were the 
14 main things. There were smaller smaller 
1 5  changes, too. These were the most 
16 significant. 
17 Q. Okay. Understood. 

18 So after 1·eceiving this more 

19 information about these plans, did you did 

20 you get gain any understanding of when the 

21 Reichenbachs were proposing to build the 

22 retaining walls? 

23 A. Probably not the first week of 
24 November. I did later on. 

Page 2605 

1 Q. Later on. Okay. So let's talk about 

2 so what happened after receiving these 

3 plans with the changes, what did you do next? 

4 A. I tried to arrange a meeting with 
5 neighbors and family members, the people who 
6 were who would be interested in attending 
7 the meeting. And it was I think it was 
8 just here in the e mail, but I think John said 
9 this is going to be heard on November 9th, and 
IO he wanted a list of all of our concerns before 
1 1  that time. 
12 I didn't have enough time to set up 
1 3  that meeting. It was people weren't 
14 available. I was available, but, you know, 
1 5  Ulla was not. I don't think Sam was. So I 
16 conveyed that information to John. 
17 Q. So Mr. Reichenbach asked you for a 

18 list of all concerns, and you were tt·ying to 

19 pull everyone's concerns together; is that 

20 right? 

21 A. Yes. 
22 Q. Okay. 

23 A. Yes. 
24 Q. And the I'm going to show you a 
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THE COURT: You can answer 
2 that. 
3 BY MS. ALLISON: 
4 Q. So in that third paragraph down where 
5 M1·. Reichenbach is describing the negotiations 
6 about the Sullivans' gully, is that consistent 
7 with what happened with respect to the 
8 Sullivans' gully? 
9 A. No, it's not it's not accurate. 
10 Q. And in what way is it inaccurate? 
1 1  A .  Well, we first of all, John 
12 Reichenbach originally showed the retaining 
13 walls for his permits for his Notice of 
14 Intent. There was always in the beginning a 
15 retaining wall. 
16 And it  we began discussion about 
17 filling the gully as an option in January 
18 January, maybe early February. And we had 
19 several meetings with Ulla Sullivan, but they 
20 were not forced to go the retaining wall route 
21 because of what the Sullivans did. It was 
22 they had always used the retaining walls in 
23 the beginning, and it was probably I 
24 approached John about filling the gully in 
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I January. 
2 Q. And again, this this is an issue as 
3 to whether the Sullivans wanted to give them 
4 access to the Sullivans' property, right? 
5 A. That's conect. 
6 Q. Then let's just turn the page. Very 
7 top of the next page, Mr. Reichenbach says 
8 that "Tom Hardman found that and Attorney John 
9 Bentley had been engaged by Tim Haydock and 
10 Barbara Moss." 
11  Do you see that? 
12 A. I see that. 
13 Q. Is that accurate? 
14 A. No. Actually, John Bentley was hired 
15  by Jim Fitzgibbons for people who lived on the 
16 street, on Mattarest Lane, for a group of 
17 people, but we did not hire John Bentley. 
18 Q. And John Bentley was hired in 

19 connection with what what issues initially? 

20 A. Protecting the properties from impacts 
21 ofconstrnction. 
22 Q. Which you described a few minutes 

23 ago? 

24 A. That's right. Initially, that was his 
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I scope of  work in the beginning. 
2 Q. A couple of paragraphs down, 
3 M1·. Reichenbach refers to a coastal bank 
4 delineation approved by the Conservation 
5 Commission in 2009. 
6 Do you see that? 
7 A. Yes. 
8 Q. As of the date of this e mail, 
9 November 2010, had you ever seen a copy of the 
10 site plan that the Reichenbachs had submitted 
11 to the Conservation Commission at that in 
12 that 2009 submission? 
13 MS. BONNET HEBERT: Objection. 
14 A. I never 
15 MS. BONNET HEBERT: Objection, 
16 Your Honor. This is getting into relitigation 
17 issues agam. 
18 THE COURT: Overruled. The 
19 question was: Had you seen the plan. 
20 A. No. 
21 BY MS. ALLISON 
22 Q. So you we saw at the beginning of 
23 this e mail that you were making an effort to 
24 set up a meeting with the neighbors. 

1 
2 

Did that ever happen? 
A. Yes. 
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3 Q. When did that happen, again, to the 
4 best of your memory? 
5 A. Mid-November of ' l5 ,  or something like 
6 that. Actually, I don't remember the date. 
7 Q. There might be a reference in the 
8 e mail, but it was shortly after this 
9 e mail
! 0 A. Maybe --
1 1  Q. there was a meeting? 
1 2  A. -- a week or ten days afterwards, 
13  yeah. 
14 Q. And who attended that meeting, the 
15 neighbo1· meeting? 
16  A. Well, John Bentley was there, and Ulla 
1 7  Sullivan. I think actually Arthur Huguely 
1 8  attended that hearing. Jim Fitzgibbons. I 
19 was there. John Reichenbach. Did I say Ulla? 
20 And I'm not sure if Sam -- I'm not sure if Sam 
2 1  Haydock was there for that one. 
22 Q. Okay. And what was the what was 
23 the topic of that meeting with the neighbors 
24 and the Reichenbachs? 
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1 A. The Amended Order of Conditions plan. 
2 Q. Did you share the concerns that you 

3 described for us here? 

4 A. Yes, in more detail. 
5 Q. And were there other than the 

6 concerns that you've already described, did 

7 you discuss anything else during that meeting 

8 with the neighbors? 

9 A. Not that I recall right now. 
10 Q. At some point, did you receive more 

11 detailed plans of showing the construction of 

12 the retaining walls themselves? 

1 3  A. I did, and actually there was 
14  something that was let me think for a 
15 second. 
16 Q. Just to be clear. After the meeting 

17 with the neighbors, you received a plan of the 

18 construction of the retaining walls 

19 themselves? 

20 A. Right, but that that actually I 
21 recall now that I asked John Reichenbach 
22 during that we were talking about the south 
23 retaining wall specifically in the beginning, 
24 and I asked him how thick the veneer the 
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1 stone veneer was going to be on the walls. 
2 And he John was sitting next to me, Tom 
3 Hardman was sitting I guess I should of 
4 said Tom Hardman was at the meeting, too. 
5 And Tom Hardman was sitting next to 
6 him. And they said "The veneer," which is the 
7 stone face on the wall, "would be about six or 
8 eight inches." And they said that they would 
9 provide "they were going to provide the 
10 engineering plans now for their walls to us." 
11 Q. And that's what you 1·eceived later 

12 after the meeting? 

13  A. Yes, I think we received them about a 
14 week later. 
15 Q. And when you received those 

16 engineering plans for the wall, did you have 

17 any further concerns about it? 

18 A. Yes, I was upset. 
19 Q. What what we1·e you upset about when 

20 you received those plans? 

21 A. Well, John told me in the meeting with 
22 Tom Hardman that the veneer they were only 
23 going to put six or eight inches of stone on 
24 the face of the wall, and their plan showed 24 
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1 inches or more of stone. I mean, boulders on 
2 the side of the wall. 
3 The reason I was upset is you have so 
4 little space, but now you're expanding these 
5 walls in all direction. And I just felt like 
6 John Reichenbach hadn't been trnthful. I 
7 mean, he looked me right in the eye and told 
8 me it was going to be a six or eight inch 
9 veneer, and it wasn't. 
10 Q. All right. So following was there 

11 a Conservation committee Conservation 

12 Commission hearing set up to evaluate the 

13 Amended Order of Conditions around that time? 

14 A. In the beginning of December, yes. 
15 Q. And did you did you attend that 

16 hearing? 

17 A. Yes. 
18 Q. And in what was the topics that 

19 were raised during that hearing with respect 

20 to the request for an Amended Order of 

21 Conditions? 

22 A. So we were looking at the again, 
23 drainage, because that was always pa.t1 of the 
24 issue. Some of the tirings I you know, I 
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1 didn't go into the other details of  all the 
2 other smaller changes there had been, that 
3 they were making changes to the swale, the 
4 location of the pipe that was conveying 
5 Q. These are drainage issues? 

6 A. These are drainage issues. 
7 Q. Okay. 
8 A. They were changing, you know, erosion 
9 control methods. So these were the these 
IO were the lesser changes. They had all 
1 1  impacts, but they were the lesser changes. 
12 And that's what we talked about during that 
13  hearing. 
14 We talked about the fact now that the 
15 wall was coming it appeared to be within a 
16 foot of Ulla Sullivan's property, and we 
17 wanted to know how the swale was going to work 
18 with that sort of obstrnction to where the 
19 swale was originally supposed to go. So we 
20 had a lot of questions about the south wall, 
21 with using these you know, these large 
22 stones, everything was expanding, the whole 
23 rather than getting smaller, all of this was 
24 expanding. 

O'Brien & Levine, A Magna Legal Services Company 
888.825.3376 - production@court-reporting.com 

Pages 26 14 261 7  



191

John Reichenbach, et al. vs 
Timothy Haydock, et al. 

Page 2618 

And I the Reichenbachs, I think at 
2 that hearing for the first time, said that 
3 there were going to be oh, I think 
4 trying to think if they . . .  
5 I don't think they I'm sorry. 
6 There was there was more discussion the 
7 following month. 
8 Q. So that hearing was continued to a 
9 later hearing 
10 A. It was. 
11  Q. for further discussion? 
12 A. There was discussion about drainage on 
1 3  the north side. I think the Conservation 
14 Commission wanted a dry well to handle runoff. 
1 5  They also wanted piped drainage now going out 
16  toward the coastal bank. Mike O'Reilly wanted 
17  that. 
18 Q. And so, if the hearing was continued 
19 until to when, to have further discussion 
20 on these issues? 
21 A. January. 
22 Q. The following month? 
23 A. That's right. 
24 Q. And is that a hearing that took place 

1 on January 11, 2011? 
2 A. Yes. 
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3 Q. And who who attended that hearing 
4 for the neighbors, for the abutters, that you 
5 can recall? 
6 A. John and Lynn were there. They had --
7 Attorney Feingold was there. 
8 Q. So this is okay. I had asked you 
9 about the abutters, but that's fine. 
10  A.  Oh, I'm sorry. 
1 1  Q. We can start with the Reichenbachs. 
12  A.  Oh, oh. 
13 Q. Who attended for the Reichenbachs? 
14 A. For the Reichenbachs, 
1 5  Attorney Feingold was there. Lynn and John 
1 6  were there. Their builder, Lars Olson, was 
1 7  there. And I don't know if there was anyone 
18  else. 
19 Q. For the neighbors, who attended? 
20 A. So the neighbors, John Bentley was 
21 there. I was there. Sam, Ulla Sullivan, and 
22 Jim Fitzgibbons may -- may or may not have 
23 been there. 
24 Q. Dr. Haydock wasn't at that meeting? 

A. No. 
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2 Q. What topics were discussed at that 
3 meeting? 
4 A. Again, you know, the impacts and the 
5 drainage. And I think Sam, at that meeting, 
6 said we had hired John Queen, a structural 
7 engineer, to look at these walls and the 
8 impacts of the walls. And he asked for time 
9 to have you know, after the Christmas break 
10 he had asked for, you know, a two week period 
1 1  so that John Queen could actually evaluate the 
12 new wall design . 
13 Q. And did the did the Commission 
14 grant him that time? 
1 5  A.  No. 
16 Q. So what what happened? How did 
17 that how was that meeting resolved? 
18 A. They granted their Amended Order of 
1 9  Conditions. 
20 Q. The Commission granted the amended 
21 order to the Reichenbachs at that meeting? 
22 A. Yes. 
23 Q. So what did you what did you do 
24 after that meeting was over? 
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1 A.  John Bentley, Ulla, Sam, and I walked 
2 out into the hallway. We walked over to the 
3 side to not be next to, you know, the 
4 Reichenbachs and their sort of team. We 
5 walked over to the side and discussed what had 
6 happened and what our steps might be to 
7 address the fact that the Commission didn't 
8 listen to our concerns and had just issued a 
9 permit without giving us extra time to look at 
10 it. 
11  Q. Did you speak to Lynn Reichenbach 
12 after that meeting? 
1 3  A. No. 
14 Q. Did you speak to anyone who was there 
15 with the Reichenbachs after that meeting? 
16  A. No. 
17 Q. Did after you you said you were 
18 standing with Sam and Ulla and others. 
19 So what did you do after you finished 
20 your discussion with your group? 
21 A. Well, we were discussing I mean, I 
22 remember I was standing next to John Bentley, 
23 and I think Sam was on the other side of him. 
24 We were sort ofin a line, and the 
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1 

2 

3 

(Brief pause.) 

Page 2896 

4 COURT OFFICER: All rise for the 

5 Jury. 

6 

7 (Jury enters the courtroom.) 

8 

9 COURT OFFICER: All the jurors 

10 are present. Court is now in session. You 

1 1  may be seated. 

12 THE COURT: All right. Further 

13 cross examination of Miss Moss. 

14 COURT OFFICER: Watch your step. 

15 THE CLERK: Ma'am, you 

16 understand you're still under oath from 

1 7 yesterday? 

1 8  THE WITNESS: Yes. 

19  THE CLERK: Just do your best to 

20 speak in the microphone. 

21 THE WITNESS: Yes, thanks. 

22 THE CLERK: Thank you. 

23 THE COURT: Please. 

24 MS. BONNET HEBERT: Can you hear 

1 me okay? 

2 THE WITNESS: Yes, I can. 

3 

BARBARA MOSS, 

Page 2897 

4 

5 witness called on behalf the Defendants, 

6 having been previously sworn, testifies and 

7 states as follows: 

8 
9 CONTINUED CROSS EXAMINATION 

10 BY MS. BONNET HEBERT: 

11 Q. Good afternoon, Miss Moss. 

12 A. Good afternoon. 

13 Q. I believe you testified yesterday that 

14 Dr. Haydock was working full time as director 

15 of an emergency medicine department at a 

16 hospital in New York up to about 2014; is that 

17 correct? 

18  A .  2013 or '14. I can't remember when he 

19 went from one hospital to a different 

20 hospital. 

21 Q. And was he also doing consulting work 

22 at that time that was based in New York? 

23 A. Yes. 

24 Q. And so I think you said he would be in 
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1 Nonquitt during that time period two or three 

2 weekends per month; is that correct? 

3 A. And that time period means . . .  

4 Q. Through 

5 A. Through 2013 and '14 .  

6 Q. 2000 let's say 2010 to 2013, '14. 

7 A. It really did vary because sometimes 

8 he came in the early years he came up to 

9 work at St. Luke's Hospital in the emergency 

10  department in New Bedford, and I think that 

1 1  was twice a month. And then we would try to 

12  come and spend weekends and not be working. 

13  So it would vary. I think we spent a little 

1 4  more time as it was 2014, we were there more 

1 5  often. 

16 Q. I think you also testified that you 

17 would be in Nonquitt much more routinely or 

18 frequently than Dr. Haydock, correct? 

1 9  A .  Yes, it varied again for me as well. 

20 Q. And the 28 Mattarest Lane, you 

21 consider that your home, true? 

22 A. Yes. 

23 Q. And you, I believe, heard 

24 Miss Sullivan testify today that you're 

Page 2 8 9 9  

1 you're always there for her helping he1· out, 

2 yes? 

3 A. Yes. 

4 Q. And you spent many days there to walk 

5 down to the Haydock family property to the 

6 beach in front of that property, COl'l'ect? 

7 A. Yes, many days, yes, I I don't know 

8 how many, "many" days are, but I'm there. 

9 Q. And you watch over the Haydock family 

10 property, true? 

1 1  A. I yes, I do. 

12 Q. And you also spent time helping to 

13 maintain that property? Because I think you 

14 said it's a hundred year old building so 

15 there's always things that need to be done, 

16 true? 

17 A. Yes. I mean, just even getting some 

1 8  deliveries. I'm 

19 Q. I think you said light fixtures, 

20 plumbing repairs, decorating work, genernl 

21 maintenance, letting workers in for the 

22 furnace, making deliveries, things like that; 

23 does that sound right? 

24 A. Yes. 
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A. That's right. 

Page 3099 

2 Q. And so is it your testimony that you 

3 had no idea what the impact would be on the 

4 Reichenbachs' project if you revoked their 

5 original Order of Conditions which would be 

6 the primary thing they needed to start any 

7 construction on their home? 

8 A. I don't think we had had a 
9 conversation about that, no. It was just 
10 about getting the permitting correct was the 
1 1  only information I had at this point in time. 
12 Q. You were trying to get the permitting 

13 revoked, correct? 

14 A. The resource area delineation 
15 Q. You were trying to get the pe1·mit, the 

16 original Orde1· of Conditions revoked, correct? 

17 A. To show the correct delineation, yes. 
18 Yes, that's right. 
19 Q. Which would have the effect of 

20 stopping any construction of the Reichenbachs' 

21 home, correct? 

22 A. Yes, I guess so. Again, the when I 
23 wrote this 
24 MS. BONNET HEBERT: I move to 

1 strike everything after "yes." 
2 A. Okay. 
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3 THE COURT: Overruled. Next 
4 question. 
5 BY MS. BONNET HEBERT: 
6 Q. At some point, the appeals process fo1· 

7 the Amended Order of Conditions was 1·esolved 

8 favorably to the Reichenbachs, correct? 

9 A. Yes. 
10 Q. It went through the acljudicatory 

11  appeal process up to the commissioner of the 

12 DEP, and they issued a final decision in the 

13 fall of 2011, correct? 

14 A. That's right. 

15 Q. And that decision upheld essentially 

16 the Reichenbachs' Amended Order of Conditions, 

17 correct? 

18 A. That's right. 

19 Q. And that would allow them to move 

20 forward with building their house at that 

21 point finally, correct? 

22 A. Yes, building under the amended order. 
23 That's con-ect. 
24 Q. And so I want to jump forward a bit. 
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1 Between the time that that Amended 

2 Order of Conditions was finally approved and 

3 they could move forward and early 2013, the 

4 Reichenbachs did, in fact, begin construction 

5 on their house, correct? 

6 A. They actually began it before the 
7 Amended Order of Conditions was issued. 
8 Q. Under the valid building permit for 

9 the retaining walls that had been upheld by 

10 the ZBA in the spring of 2011, correct? 

1 1  A .  Yes. 
12 Q. Okay. And so they began that and 

13 shortly thereafter began construction of their 

14 home, correct? 

15  A. That's right. 
16 Q. And it continued throughout 2012, 

17 correct? 

18  A. That's right. 
19 Q. And at some point in 2013, you went to 

20 Mike O'Reilly to complain about what you 

21 considered to be unpermitted changes on the 

22 plan; isn't that correct? 

23 A. I think when you say "went to 
24 O'Reilly," do you think I wrote to him? 

1 Called? I mean, just 
2 Q. You contacted 

3 A. Contacted 
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4 Q. You contacted the Conservation agent, 

5 Mike O'Reilly, to complain that, in your 

6 belief, you had concerns that there were 

7 unpermitted activities, unpermitted work 

8 happening on the Reichenbachs' site over the 

9 period of 2012 and into early 2013, correct? 

10  A. Yes. I can't recall ifI was the 
1 1  first person to contact him, but I was one of 
12 probably three people. I don't recall that I 
1 3  was the first. 
14 Q. But as of that time, you did have an 

15 understanding that with almost a hundred 

16 percent certainty, there would be changes on 

17 any construction site that would not be 

18 expressly depicted on a plan, correct? 

19  A. Yes. 
20 Q. So changes, variations, adjustments 

21 for unforeseen circumstances, you understood 

22 that to be true, correct? 

23 A. That can be true, that's correct. 
24 Q. And you understood that most often 
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1 A. Well, that appeal was 
2 Q. Is that correct? 
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3 A. No, not entirely. That's not my 
4 understanding. Can I just give you a 
5 THE COURT: Just answer the 
6 question. 
7 A. I can't answer that question that way, 
8 then. 
9 BY MS. BONNETHEBERT: 
10 Q. So while this appeal was ongoing, 

11 there were certain aspects of the 

12 Reichenbachs' project that could not be 

13 completed, correct? 

14 A. The irrigation system. 
15 Q. And that deals with drainage issues, 

16 correct? 

1 7 A. It can, yes. 
18 Q. You understood that it would deal with 

19 drainage issues and help mitigate runoff of 

20 the roof, then off of the pervious surfaces on 

21 the Reichenbach property, correct? 

22 A. I had never seen a plan. It was never 
23 shown to us, so I had no idea what it was 
24 doing. 
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1 Q. So in that appeal to the Superior 

2 Court, ultimately they found that your appeal 

3 had no merit; that's correct? 

4 A. I think what they determined is that 
5 Tim we did not have standing. I don't 
6 recall the no merit. I recall the standing. 
7 Q. And at each of these appeals, you were 

8 the only witness, correct? 

9 A. Yes. You don't need a witness for 
IO this. 
11 Q. And during this process, you were 

12 serving as Dr. Haydock's representative or 

13 agent to present this case to the DEP and then 

14 to the Superior Court, true? 

15 MS. ALLISON: Objection. Form. 
16 THE COURT: Sustained. 
17 BY MS. BONNETHEBERT: 
18 Q. This appeals process that began, that 

19 you and Dr. Haydock initiated in 2013, it 

20 didn't end until your appeal period ended in 

21 2016; isn't that true? 

22 A. I think the decision was in November 
23 2015. I don't know what the appeal period 
24 would have been. I don't know. 
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1 Q. But it's true that the Reichenbachs 

2 could not finish their home during that period 

3 without the risk of having to tear it all out 

4 if the decision came down unfavorably, 

5 COITect? 

6 A. The only thing that this concerned was 
7 the irrigation. There was nothing else in 
8 that RDA that when it went to the Superior 
9 Court, it was about irrigation at that point. 
10 Q. And so you do understand that that 

11 unfinished work that was pending fo1· three 

12 years included the very large cisterns that 

13 have been shown in photographs before the 

14 Court in this trial, that were then put 

15 underneath where the tennis com·t was, 

16 COITect? 

17 A. We never saw any images of that 
18 beforehand. I didn't know that in 2000 I 
19 did not know that when we appealed. It was 
20 never shown to us. That's what we asked for. 
21 We didn't get it. 
22 Q. Okay. So those cisterns that were 

23 intended to be put in the ground to capture 

24 water and the dry wells that were on the plans 
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1 and the underground pump chamber that was 

2 going to be pumping that water into the 

3 cisterns, all of those things were there to 

4 mitigate the drainage issues that you had been 

5 complaining about all along, correct? 

6 MS. ALLISON: Objection. 
7 A. We complained about 
8 THE COURT: Ma'am, there's been 
9 an objection. I need to make a ruling. 
10 THE WITNESS: Oh, I'm sorry. 
11 THE COURT: Sustained. Rephrase 
12 the question, please. 
13 BYMS. BONNETHEBERT: 
14 Q. The outstanding work that needed to be 

15 completed on the Reichenbachs' house after the 

16 appeal expired on the last decision before 

17 Supel'ior Court, that outstanding work was to 

18 complete the drainage and irrigation system 

19 that would ultimately mitigate the drainage 

20 issues that you had been complaining about all 

21 along, correct? 

22 A. I couldn't tell you. I never saw a 
23 copy of any plan. I couldn't tell you what it 
24 involved. 
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1 Q. What was that? 
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2 A. I'm an emergency medical I'm a 
3 I'm just see, this is what I'm doing. 
4 Q. Emergency medicine, is that what you 
5 refer to? 
6 A. Yes. Emergency medicine, yes. 
7 Q. And about how long did you practice 
8 emergency medicine? 
9 A. About 45 years. 
10 Q. And during that time, where was your 
11 practice located? 
12 A. Mainly New York and somewhat in 
1 3  Massachusetts. 
14 Q. Do you recall over that period of time 
15 how much of your practice was in New York 
16 versus Massachusetts? 
17  A. Very much mostly in  New York. 
18 Q. So your parents at one time owned 28 
19 Mattarest Lane, right? 
20 A. My grand my grandmother, 
21 grandfather. 
22 Q. Did before you before you owned 
23 it, did anybody else in your family own it? 
24 A. My Uncle Billy owned 28. 
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1 Q. Okay. And did you spend time there as 
2 a kid? 
3 A. Not so much there. I would be more 
4 down in at 30, but I would go up there 
5 some. 
6 Q. Well, okay. So sometimes I confuse 
7 these two properties as well. 
8 So 30 is the Haydock family property, 
9 right? 
10 A. Right. 
11 Q. And 28 is whe1·e you reside when you go 
12 to Nonquitt now, next door, right? 
13 A. Yes. 
14 Q. So as a kid, you went to 30? 
15 A. Yes, I did. 
16 Q. And let's just sort of jump ahead. 
17 You and Barbara Moss recently were 
18 married, right? 
19 A. That's correct. 
20 Q. But you have children from a previous 
21 maITiage; is that right? 
22 A. That's correct. 
23 Q. So we talked about you being an 
24 emergency medicine physician. I want to talk 
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1 about a little bit about your work history 
2 during relevant times. 
3 Can you describe what yom· work looked 
4 like from the period 2008 to 2010. 
5 A. Yes, I think I could. That particular 
6 sequence in that time? 
7 Q. What you were doing for work. 
8 A. Working in emergency rooms mainly. 
9 Q. Whe1·eabouts? 
10 A. In New York. 
11 Q. Do you remember what hospital? 
12 A. Yes. It's the White Plains it was 
13  White Plains Hospital. 
14 Q. And you were working in the emergency 
15 rnom there? 
16 A. I ran the ER there, yes. 
17 Q. Did you have any other work 
18 obligations during those two to three years? 
19 A. I did. 
20 Q. What were they? 
21 A. I worked at other emergency rooms 
22 part time in the Westchester area and 
23 sometimes in the lower Bronx for other work or 
24 just to do it and teach, things like that. 
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I But that those are the main things. 
2 Q. Did you do anything outside of the 
3 hospital for your profession, like for a state 
4 board 01· anything? 
5 A. Yes. I was the director or not the 
6 director. I should say I was I was running 
7 the I'm blanking on the main thing, the 
8 the entity that managed the West the 
9 emergency services in New York State, and I 
IO was I ran that personally for four to six 
1 1  years. 
12 Q. Whe1·e was that located in terms of 
13 your obligations? 
14 A. I would go up to Albany, you know, 
15 usually a couple of times a month and go up 
16 and run the department. 
17 Q. So during this period of 2008 to 2010, 
18 do you 1·ecall about how many hom·s per week 
19 you were devoting to all of these 
20 responsibilities? 
21 A. I mean, around 100 hours. 
22 Q. That's a lot. Why would you want to 
23 w01·k that much? 
24 A. That's a good question. Sometimes you 
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1 start, and you get excited, and you do it. 
2 You teach. You do other things, and you 
3 expand your practice, and you enjoy it. And 
4 that's, I guess, what happened. And I even 
5 came and worked in here in Massachusetts. 
6 Q. Whereabouts? 

7 A. St. Luke's. For those of you that 
8 have been to that hospital, I did that for, I 
9 think, 17 years. 
10 Q. So let's move ahead to the next two 

11  years. 

12 From, say, 2010 to 2012, what did your 

13 work situation look like then? 

14 A. Pretty much the same at that point. 
15 Q. Were you still running the emergency 

16 room at Westchester? 

1 7  A .  I 
18 Q. I'm sorry. White Plains. 

19  A. Yes. 
20 Q. Were you still working at the 

21 Westchester hospital, too? 

22 A. Yes. 
23 Q. Were you still on that New York State 
24 board in Albany that you just described? 
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A. Yes. 
2 Q. Did you work at St. Luke's during that 

3 time? 

4 A. I think by then I what was the year 
5 again? It was '8 to ' 12. 
6 Q. Now I'm talking about 2010 to 2012. 

7 A. Yeah, so maybe getting I stopped 
8 slowly to stop doing that. 
9 Q. So how did your weekly hours during 

10 this two year period compare to the previous 

11 two year period? 

12 A. Not very much, I've got to say, 
13 because that that was one of the smaller 
14 things I was doing. 
15 Q. I'm sorry. Do you mean not very much 

16 different or 

17 A. Not I mean, when I when I 
18 went stopped from going to St. Luke's, I 
19 only was doing that two days or tlu·ee days a 
20 month. 
21 Q. So I'm asking you, Tim, about your 

22 overall hours worked per week during the years 

23 2010 to 2012. 

24 A. I would still say it's about JOO 
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1 hours. 
2 Q. So it looked a lot like the years 2008 

3 to 2010? 

4 A. Yes. 
5 Q. How about the next two years? No, I 
6 will not be going for two yea1·s up until 

7 today. But for 2013 to 2014, what did yom· 

8 w01·kload look like then? 

9 A. I started to slow down. I was no 
10 longer running ERs. I was leaving -- I think 
1 1  I got a little -- a few years later, I was --
12 I stopped that, what I was doing up in Albany, 
13 and I was teaching in some -- another hospital 
14 in Westchester County during that time as I 
1 5  got out of the other hospital in White Plains. 
16 So I was still working and -- but not as much. 
1 7  So I would say -- I would say I was down to 
1 8  about 60 hours a week. 
19 Q. Were you still on that state board in 

20 Albany during that time? 

2 1  A. I was just getting out of that by 
22 then. 
23 Q. So let's sta1·t focus a little bit 

24 more on the specifics of this case. 
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1 Do you recall before the 

2 Reichenbachs bought the prnperty at 29 

3 Matta1·est, did you know who John Reichenbach 

4 was? 

5 A. Yes. 
6 Q. And how did you know him? 

7 A. Through Nonquitt. As a you know, a 
8 small place, everybody sort of knows 
9 everybody. 
10 Q. Is that because Mr. Reichenbach had 

11 been coming to Nonquitt before that? 

12 A. He was there. I'm not sure when he 
13 but he I think he he had a father there, 
14 and I assumed they were he was part of that 
15 family. 
16 Q. Did you know Mr. Reichenbach well? 

17 A. No. 
18 Q. At the time Mr. Reichenbach bought the 

19 property well, the Reichenbachs bought the 

20 property at 29 Mattarest in 2008. 

21 Did you have any opinion of Mr. or 

22 Mrs. Reichenbach? 

23 A. No. I knew who they were, and I 
24 they seemed like normal people. 
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1 Q. So after they bought the property at 

2 29, but before they started building anything, 

3 do you recall meeting Mr. Reichenbach? 

4 A. Yes. He I think I really met him 

5 when he came with his wife over to our house 

6 at 28  in Nonquitt, and they came by and sat 

7 with us. And as they were getting the house 

8 from my Uncle Billy when he died and the rest 

9 of the family left, I they came by to meet 

10 with us and possibly help with them to getting 

1 1  to their own home. 

12 Q. Do you recall what you discussed with 

13 them at that meeting? 

14 A. Mainly just getting to know them a 

15 little bit, and Margaret and I think Barbara 

16  did some going around the house and other 

17 had some things they were looking at while I 

18 was with with John. And I think we were 

19 together about an hour, maybe an hour and a 

20 half. 

21 Q. Did either Mr. or Mrs. Reichenbach 

22 speak to you about any plans for the new home? 

23 A. Somewhat. A little bit. They were 

24 just you know, they were interested 
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1 obviously in fnding out a little bit more 

2 about perhaps the neighborhood where we were 

3 or we are, and so that that's that's 

4 what happened. 

5 And then we met with them again, I 

6 think mainly with John with his he brought 

7 some things with it had the whatever you 

8 call them, you would know, when the the 

9 paper that has the picture. 

10 Q. Plans? 

1 1  A. The plans, yes. Okay. And basically, 

12 that was beginning of their, I think plan to 

13 build and get their thing going. 

14 Q. Does anything about either of those 

15 meetings stand out to you in your memory? 

16 A. Not particularly. I do one quote from 

17 John that he wanted to have, you know, the 

18 biggest home in Nonquitt. 

19 Q. I'm sorry? 

20 A. Impressive, I should say. 

21 Q. Do you recall Mr. Reichenbach ever 

22 mentioning anything about using the Haydock 

23 Family property driveway? 

24 A. Yes. There was talk about the 
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1 driveway, and the driveway which was it's 

2 is a small driveway, which was being used not 

3 just by 30, the other that's the other 

4 the main house that was my grandmother 

5 built. But anyway, so that was right down 

6 right down the right hand side of the of 

7 Number 30. And so it was right up against the 

8 property where their house was going to be and 

9 where the the tennis court was. 

10 Q. Do you recall Mr. Reichenbach 

11 discussing that when you fiI·st met with them? 

12 A. And what my my Uncle Billy, who was 

13  in 29, that house, my mother had made a deal 

14 that he could go and use a little appendage to 

1 5  the hospital to 

16 Q. I understand. I'm just going to stop 

17 you right here. 

1 8  A .  Yeah. 

19 Q. Just because you're absolutely 

20 eve1·ything you said, I think we've established 

21 before. So 

22 A. Uh huh. 

23 Q. just to save ourselves some time 

24 about what the easement is, what that previous 
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1 driveway easement was. 

2 My question is: Did Mr. Reichenbach, 

3 when you met with him, ask about that 

4 dl'iveway? 

5 A. Yes, he did. 

6 Q. Do you recall him asking about it 

7 after that meeting? 

8 A. Yes. 

9 Q. Did he ask about it a lot? 

IO A. Yes. 

11 Q. We can get back to that after. I want 

12 to talk about issues that you may have been 

13 concerned about with regud to the 

14 construction of the Reichenbach home, and I 

15 know it was a long time ago. 

16 But after you became aware of their 

17 plans to construct the house, do you recall 

18 having concerns about their proposed plan? 

19  A. I was willing to have an open open 

20 idea or first and see how it was going to 

21  go and I was willing to to work with them. 

22 Q. Do you recall as the plans 

23 proceeded, do you recall having concerns about 

24 certain aspects of the plans? 
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A. Well, I, you know, like I think 
2 it's it is true that it's a tight area 
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3 where we where we are, of course, not as 
4 well, there are smaller places in Nonquitt. 
5 But it was it was a tight area, and the 
6 issues were there were some issues. 
7 Q. We1·e you ever concerned about the 
8 proposed elevation of the project? 
9 A. Well, I was concerned if things got 
10 too large in their the scale and and 
1 1  sort of exposed you know, just it inter 
12 it got tight around between that house, 30, 
13 and Ulla, very tight. 
14 Q. Were you concerned about the coastal 
15 bank at all? 
16 A. Yes. 
17 Q. And how so? 
18 A. Well, I mean, it's just something that 
19 you want to have that's in the area that gets 
20 sort of sort of keeps the the area solid 
21 and doesn't get damaged by too much work being 
22 done, too much stuff going around and and, 
23 you know, and being getting very hard to 
24 work in smaller to the the ways. 
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1 Q. And there's been a lot of testimony 
2 about this retaining wall. Are you familiar 
3 with the retaining wall? 
4 A. Which one? 
5 Q. The retaining wall at 29 Mattarest. 
6 A. Well, the one that goes around the --
7 (Witness indicating.) 
8 Q. Correct. 
9 A. Okay. So that was --
10 Q. Did you have any concerns about the 
1 1  retaining wall? 
12  A.  Yes. 
13 Q. What were those concerns? 
14  A.  Well, they were very large. I was --
15 of course, since 30 was my main interest 
1 6  really other than 28, but the -- that 
1 7  particular area on the north side was very big 
18 and moving, seemed to get -- be moving closer 
19  to 30 and getting tighter and tighter in the 
20 beginning for a while. 
21 Q. And why is that a concern? 
22 A. Because it takes away the space and 
23 is -- I think my brother talked about the --
24 what's it called? The -- the resource area 
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1 and there was and we had some concerns 
2 about how that was being used. 
3 Q. What about drainage? Did you have 
4 concerns about drainage? 
5 A. Yes. 
6 Q. And what were those concerns? 
7 A. Lots of lots of water excuse me. 
8 My ears. 
9 It's that there was that side 
l O of the at least for us on our side, there 
1 1  was a lot more water coming down into our 
12 house and down our driveway once it used to 
13 go both sides ofmy uncle's house, but this 
14  time it that got elevated in the middle and 
1 5  it just, you know, it squeezed us the water 
16  right down into basically almost our garage. 
17 Q. Were those were the concerns you 
18 just described, was that did you believe 
19 that was impacted or related to the retaining 
20 wall in any way? 
21 A. Well, yes, it was squeezing things to 
22 the north and there was there were other 
23 issues in there that very important, which 
24 I can never remember the names of because I 
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1 don't really I was not nearly as active as 
2 my brothers were because I was so busy in 
3 New York. But but there was clearly issues 
4 in that tight area. 
5 And then you have the easements that I 
6 think you just heard about today that were 
7 going down that same spot and just and then 
8 it was just very tight. 
9 Q. Do you recall after construction 
10 started having any additional concerns? 
1 1  A. I in the beginning, I I 
12 didn't I wasn't around that much. Maybe a 
1 3  little bit more in the summer. 
14 Q. Is that because you were working so 
15 much? 
1 6  A. Yeah. And I was working I was in 
17 ERs that I was running, so I was basically 
1 8  doing that full time. So I would get up there 
19  for an occasional weekend or whatever, barbara 
20 and I could go up. But I just couldn't spend 
21 that much time up there. 
22 Q. Specifically, though, during 
23 construction, do you recall having concerns 
24 about the transformer? 
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1 particularly going on with initially the 
2 the access for the for the Reichenbachs. 
3 And they were using our we allowed them to 
4 use our our driveway during that a 
5 year I think about two years so that 
6 until they got situated with their own 
7 driveway. 
8 Q. But the driveway you allowed them 

9 to use the driveway until construction 

10 started, right? 

1 1  A. Yes. 
12 Q. So I'm talking about after 

13 construction started. 

14 Let me give you an example. Did 

15 equipment eve1· dl'ive on to the Haydock family 

16 property during construction? 

17 A. I would say very yeah, quite 
18 quite a bit. 
19 Q. And did that ever affect the Haydock 

20 family property in any way that you observed? 

21 A. Yes. 
22 Q. How so? 

23 A. Well, there were people coming in all 
24 the time, especially in the beginning, or if 
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1 we weren't there, they we would have cars 
2 in our in our in our in our house 
3 down on 30 quite a bit. 
4 Q. Did so did contractors park on 

5 Mattarest Circle a lot? 

6 A. I think sometimes that's true, yes. 
7 Q. And was that ever a problem for you? 

8 A. It was it was it was tight, and 
9 I think it was a problem. 
10 Q. And how was that a problem? 

1 1  A. Just traffic, and if the if the 
12 circle would block and we would get blocked at 
13 30, and even in 28, we would get blocked. 
14 There were so many cars or trucks or whatever 
15 on some days, you could never get out or in. 
16 Q. So are you saying so were you 

17 were you or anybody that was visiting 01· 

18 working for you ever blocked from coming out? 

19 A. Absolutely. And I would say 
20 frequently ifI was there. 
21 Q. I want to talk about just some 

22 specific allegations that we heard about from 

23 other people testifying at this tl'ial. Okay? 

24 And I want to start with this supposed 
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1 meeting with Ray Oliver. 

2 Do you remember testimony about that? 

3 A. Yes. 
4 Q. And that was Nan Sinton who testified 

5 about that. 

6 Were you here when she testified about 

7 that? 

8 A. I was, yes. 
9 Q. And she descl'ibed a meeting an 

10 early morning meeting between you and Ray 

11 Oliver that she was at. 

12 Do you recall that? 

13 A. Yes. 
14 Q. And do you recall that meeting? 

15 A. Yes. I mean, I do for the most part, 
16 yes. 
17 Q. What what happened at that meeting? 

18 A. Well, I, as I think I mentioned, that 
19 I was actually had a I was off and going 
20 to the to go and work at the hospital. So 
21 there was an early morning day that I went in 
22 there, and there had been a big truck that was 
23 blocked in the circle by Ray, and it was it 
24 was blocking that particular circle, although 
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1 not our access. 
2 But we tried to so but anyway, so I 
3 did call Ray up and ask him what he if he 
4 was planning to block I mean get that out 
5 of the circle. 
6 Q. So did you ask to meet him? 

7 A. Yes. 
8 Q. And you met with him in the morning? 

9 A. Yep, we did. 
10 Q. And what did you guys talk about? 

1 1  A. We talked about what we were going to 
12 do with his truck and what he wanted to do and 
1 3  what he would be maybe he was hoping he 
14 could get where we would like him to not be 
15  working ifhe didn't have to. 
16 Q. Was there ever an issue with his 

17 trucks leaving ruts on your property? 

1 8  A .  Yes. 
19 Q. And did you talk about that that day, 

20 too? 

21 A. Yeah. 
22 Q. Did he apologize? 

23 A. Yes, he was very nice. And we had no 
24 problem with it, and he understood, and he 

O'Brien & Levine, A Magna Legal Services Company 
888.825.3376 - production@court-reporting.com 

Pages 3422 3425 



203

John Reichenbach, et al. vs 
Timothy Haydock, et al. 

1 went about his day. 

Page 3426 

2 Q. Do you have any impression, based on 

3 that discussion, of how Ray felt about that 

4 meeting? 

5 A. He was very pleasant. We we 
6 were it was about, I think, 6:30 or 

7 something in the morning or maybe 7:00, and he 
8 was we he was very pleasant, very nice, 
9 and agreed. 

10 And he, you know, we had actually 
1 1  initially offered to give a place for him to 
12 park when he had his his truck on one of 
1 3  our spots. That was before he came in. But 

14  anyway, so, yeah, so we had no problem with 

1 5  Ray. 
16 Q. So he seemed okay with everything? 

1 7  A .  Yeah, a s  far a s  w e  know. He was 

1 8  pleasant. And then we still had he worked 
19 with us and still we still like him. He's 
20 our buddy. 

21 Q. Got it. So let's move on to this 

22 testimony we heard about a supposed 

23 interaction with you and Lars Olson one day. 

24 Do you remember that testimony? 

I A. I do. 
2 Q. You know who Lars Olson is? 

3 A. Yes, I do. 
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4 Q. And I'm referring to testimony that 

5 by Mr. Olson that you approached him one day 

6 while he was working and started talking to 

7 him. 

8 Are you familiar with that incident? 

9 A. Yes. I believe I yes. 
10 Q. And so do you remember approaching him 

11 and talking to him while he was working? 

12 MR FIELDING: Objection. 
13  Leading. 

14 THE COURT: Ovenuled. 
15  A. Yes. 
16 BY MR. ELDER: 

17 Q. So first of all, why did you want to 

18 talk to him? 

19 A. Well, on that paiticula.r day, now, I 
20 had never met Ray not Ray, but I Lai·s, I 

21 had never met before. 
22 But anyway, this is a day, it was very 
23 busy on the circle and on the road. And I got 

24 notifed I'm not sure who told me, but 
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I there was a blockage on 30, the house there. 
2 And we turned out, it was the work one 

3 of the workers who had been working on our 
4 property, which, because he normally does that 
5 and he and they could not get out of our 

6 of 30 and apparently they and they were 
7 stuck for 45 minutes plus. And just there was 
8 so many cars and stuff, things that were going 
9 on, and nobody was around and to move there 

10 was at least one or two they were, I think, 
1 1  trucks that were in our property that were 
12 blocking above where they were. 
13 So we had to get them moved out, but 

14 we we couldn't find anyone to move the 
1 5  trucks out because nobody was in them. So 
16  we I went in while there were other people 

1 7  there, and one one of the workers came up 
18  said, Well, why don't you just go ask Lars if 
19 he knows who the trucks are? 

20 Q. Okay. So you went up to Lars after 

21 that? 

22 A. After he yeah, I said, Go ahead. 
23 And Lars's right there. I didn't even 

24 know who he was at that point. 

Page 3 4 2 9  

1 Q. And what did you say to Lars? 

2 A. I asked him if he could help us clear 

3 the -- clear the area around the circle. 
4 Q. Where did that conversation take 

S place? 

6 A. Right -- I think pretty much on -- a 

7 little bit on the -- on the tennis court. 
8 Q. So the 

9 A. He was standing on the court. 

10 Q. The tennis com·t that used to be 

11 there? 

12  

13 

14  

A. That used to be there, yes. 

Q. And so it wasn't near the pool? 

A. No, not at all. 

15 Q. Did you raise your voice at all during 

16 that conversation? 

1 7  A .  I could have a little bit, but that's 
1 8  nothing really. 
19  And I talked to him, you know, and he 

20 agreed, and he got the truck moved. 
21  Q.  Were you frustrnted during that 

22 conversation? 

23 A. Not particularly, no. 
24 Q. And I was going to ask you how did 
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1 Lars react to what you said to him? 

2 MR. FIELDING: Objection. 
3 THE COURT: Overruled. Based on 
4 his observations. 
5 A. I would say that he was just went 
6 on it went about it and got found the 
7 people and moved them out, and that was it. 
8 BY MR. ELDER: 
9 Q. Problem solved. 

10 A. Yep. 
11 Q. And you mentioned before so before 

12 you actually walked up to Lars to talk to him, 

13 did you ask one of his workers or another 

14 worker what to do? 

15 A. As I just said, he someone came and 
16 said to me that, If you want to get that, 
17 maybe go to that gentleman right there. 
18 That's Lars Olson. 
19 And I said, Oh, okay. 
20 So I went up. He was standing on the 
21 court. 
22 Q. So based on that, did you feel like 

23 you had permission to walk up to Lars and talk 

24 to him whe1·e he was working? 

Page 3431 

1 A.  Yes. It seemed reasonable, especially 
2 since the road was being blocked. 
3 Q. Another story we hea1·d or allegation 

4 we heard involves somebody name LeClair. 
5 Do you remember that person? 

6 A. No. 
7 Q. Do you have any recollection of trying 

8 to stop Mr. LeClair from entering the 

9 Reichenbachs' property ever? 

10 A. Not to my knowledge. I'm not sure. 
1 1  There are a lot a lot of traffic. 
12 Q. Do you remember somebody named Andrew 

13 Dearden? 

14 A. Yes. 
15 Q. Do you know who he is? 

16 A. Yes. 
17 Q. Who is he? 

18 A. He's one of the guys that works. He, 
19 I think, later in the course of this of 
20 the of the issue, he came in later, I think 
21 around I'd say I think the house was 
22 almost done by the tin1e he can1e in. And so he 
23 was working, managing the people in the and 
24 stuff in that area. 
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1 Q.  He was a manager or a supervisor, you 

2 think? 

3 A. Yes, yes. He was . . .  
4 Q. Did you ever interact with him 

5 A. Yes. 
6 Q. during construction? 

7 A. Yes. 
8 Q. All right. Do any of those 

9 interactions stand out in your memory? 

10  A .  There were there were a couple. 
11  Q.  Did one involve his driving? 

12 A. One of them did. 
13 Q. Can you describe that. 

14 A. Yes. Barbara and I were walking, I 
1 5  think I don't know, I think it was just 
16 sort of midday or maybe earlier in the 
1 7  morning, and we were walking down our little 
1 8  driveway, and right where the right where 
1 9  the curve is, the bend, we were just walking 
20 down, and we had gone around gone around 
21 that bend and and which which 
22 essentially blocks the view of anyone going 
23 around that comer. 
24 And so we heard a loud sound of a car 

Page 3433 

l coming down the road. And I'd say he was 
2 going about 50 miles an hour. 
3 Q. This is Mr. Dearden? 

4 A. Yeah. And we knew who he was, and he 
5 had he was working there for a short 
6 period. And he we jumped into the bushes, 
7 into the nice, sharp bushes. 
8 Q. You did that to avoid his vehicle? 

9 A. Yes, we did. Yeah, we would have been 
10 run over for sure. 
11  Q.  And

12  A. And so  he I did yell at him. I 
1 3  said, Stop. Slow down. He stopped. I walked 
14 down. He I talked to him. And he he, 
1 5  you know, he didn't he was actually 
1 6  he I think he was trying to deal with a 
1 7 some type of alarm down at the oilier down 
1 8  at 29. 
19 Q. Do you remember generally what year 

20 this was other than at a time when you were 

21 spry enough to jump in the bushes? 

22 A. It was, you know, 2013 maybe, 
23 something like that. 
24 And he was very pleasant. He we 
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1 talked it out, and he we told him we 
2 didn't said we wouldn't talk to his bosses, 
3 and he left. 
4 Q. Okay. And did you get hurt? 

5 A. No, no. Well just from the prickers a 
6 little bit, but I'm used to that. That's 
7 it's a very it grows well down there. 
8 Q. So a different allegation is you 

9 know who Mr. Honohan is, right? 

10 A. Yes. 
11 Q. And you heard testimony about 

12 Mr. Honohan supposedly witnessing a trespass 

13 by Barbara at some point. 

14 Do you recall that? 

15 A. Yes. 
16 Q. Did you 1·ecall that incident, that 

17 event that M1·. Honohan described? 

18 A. Yes. 
19 Q. What happened? 

20 A. Well, I'm not quite sure what we were 
21 doing, but we were we were in a vehicle. 
22 I'm not sure if it was my truck or my my 
23 BMW, but we were just I think Barbara 
24 thought that she had we were we were 
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1 going out, I think, maybe to have dinner or 
2 something, or I'm not sure what we were going 
3 to do, but we were going to go out. And she 
4 felt that she heard a sound of alann or 
5 something. And being that she really -- with 
6 her long history of -- as starting at the age 
7 of about four, she was -- she would fall. She 
8 loved to go to things and make sure people 
9 weren't burning up or anything, and she would 
l O like to go and see -- make sure that nothing 
1 1  bad was happening down the road or down the 
12  driveway. 
13 And so anyway I was -- I sort of 
14 backed -- I really just wanted to go eat, but 
1 5  she was -- she was -- wanted to make sure 
16  there wasn't any kind of an event going on. 
1 7  So she got out of the car and walked a short 
1 8  period on a very, very dark night. It was 
19  very night -- very dark. Couldn't really see 
20 much. 
21 Q. How far from the truck did Barbara 

22 walk? 

23 A. I'd say, if you want, maybe -- I 
24 couldn't really see her but maybe 10 to 1 5  
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I feet. 
2 

3 

Q. And where were you parked? 

A. On the edge of the circle right 
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4 toward almost at the at  our going 
5 down to 30. 
6 Q. Were you parked at all on the 

7 Reichenbachs' property? 

8 A. I was on the di11 of the easement. 
9 Q. Got it. 

10 A. And well on the easement. 
11 Q. Were the Reichenbachs there? 

12 A. I don't I don't think they were 
13  there. 
14 Q. Did you see them at any time during 

15 this? 

16  A. No, I was jnst sitting there and then 
17  Honohan drove in and parked next to me. I was 
18 on the di1t and the circle. He was on the 
19 tannac right next to me. And and he just 
20 was he came over and slatted talking to me. 
21 Q. And from your observation, was Barbara 

22 ever on the Reichenbachs' property? 

23 A. Not that I saw, no, clearly not. 
24 Q. So let's now let's talk about the 
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1 stairs. Okay? 

2 A. Yes. 
3 Q. You know what I mean by "the stairs"? 

4 A. Yes. 
5 Q. The beach stairs? 

6 A. The beach stairs. 
7 Q. Do you recall hiring someone to build 

8 stairs to the beach on the Haydock family 

9 property? 

IO  A. I was never sure exactly who the 
1 1  one that did it, because I wasn't there. 
12 Q. Were you working? 

1 3  A. I no. I was down in Florida having 
14 a nice time. So he was there someone was 
1 5  there, and they and it could have been a 
16 couple of people. 
17 Q. But I guess to my point, you hired 

18 somebody to 

19  A. There were a couple 
20 Q. to install stairs? 

21 A. Yes, yes. 
22 Q. Where were those stairs located? 

23 A. To the north. I'm not quite sure 
24 exactly. It could have been maybe four 
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Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection 
Bureau of Resource Protection - Wetlands 
WP A Form 5 - Order of Conditions 

Massachusetts Wetlands Protection A.ct M.G.L. c. 1 3 1 ,  §40 

And the Dartmouth Wetlands 

A. General Information
Protection Bylaw 

1 .  Conservation Commission DARTMOUTH 

BK i3730 PG 48 
06/0ldO 03 � 25 DOC. 12:303 

Bt-i;;.t:i l Co. S , O. 

Provided by MassDEP: 
MassDEP File #:015-2058 
eDEP Transaction #:295458 
City:Town:DARTMOUTH 

2. Issuance a. r< OOC b. C Amended OOC 

3. Applicant Details
a. First Name JOHN/MARGARET 
c. Organization
d. Mailing Address 256 I-IIGHLAND ST.

b. Last Name REICHt:NBACH 

e. City/Town WEST NEWTON f. State g. Zip Code 02465 

4. Property Owner
a. First Name JOHN/MARGARET 
c. Organization
d. Mailing Address
.::. City!Town

5. Project Location

256 HIGHLAND ST . 
WEST NEWTON 

a.Street Address 29 MA TI A \REST LANE 
b.City;Town DARTMOUTH 
ct. Asscsscrs Map/Plar# 94
f. Latitude 4 1 .54680N 

6, Property recorded at the Registry of Deed for: 

a. County b. Certificate

SOUTHERN BRISTOL 

7.Dates

b. Last Name

f. State MA 

c:. Book

6073 

c. Zip Code
e. Parcel/Lot#
g. Longitude

REICHENBACH 

g. Zip Code

d. Page

68 

25 
70.93 5 1 6\V 

a. Date NOl Piled : 9/25/2009 b. Date Public f k.aring Closed: 4/27 /20 l 0 c. Date Oflssuance: 4/29/2010
8 .Final Approved Plans and Other Documents 

a. Plan Title:

SJTE PLAN 

B. Findings

b; Plan Prepared by: 

CULLINAN 
c. Plan Signed/Stamped by: d. Revised Final Date: e. Sca le:

ENGINEERlNG CO., KENNETH W HODGSON, JR 4/20/201 0  1"=20' 
INC. 

] .Findings pursuant to the Massachusetts Wetlands Protection Act

02465 
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AUBURN • BOSTON• LAKEVILLE 

October 26, 2010 
CE# 20830040 

Dartmouth Conservation Commission 
400 Slocum Road 
Dartmouth, MA 02747 

Subject: 29 Mattarest Lane, DEP File # 15-2058 
Request for an Amended Order of Conditions 
Dartmouth, Massachusetts 

Dear Members of the Commission: 

On behalf of John and Margaret Reichenbach (Applicant) we hereby request an Amended 
Order of Conditions for this project. This request is necessitated due to minor revisions to the 
type of siltation barrier proposed as well as minor revisions to the shape and location of the 
retaining walls. These revisions have developed over time in working to finalize plans with the 
landscape designer. 

Enclosed please find the required filing fee, advertising fee and five copies of the revised plan. 
We have notified the abutters and look forward to discussing this request at your next available 
meeting. If you should have any questions or need any additional information, please do not 
hesitate to call me at (508) 946-9911. 

Very truly yours. 
Cullinan Engineering Co., Inc. 

��� 
Thomas W. Hardman, PLS 
Southeast Regional Manager 

Enclosures 

Copy to: John and Margaret Reichenbach 
DEP Southeast Regional Office 

Lal<wile C0IJl0late Paik 

10 Riverside Ori-re, lilke•llle, IIIA 02347 

P: 508-946 9911 f: 508 946-9955 

G:'ilc'tJJ:cts-\2!1�.'�004()\�\�m�nu�!i(ir,kr ;A�lt�.drJl. 
c u I I I n o n o ft g , c o m 

THBM_009629 
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McGREGOR & ASSOCIATES 

ViAHAND DELIVERY 

:,_TT�YS ATLAW, t C, 

!S COURTSQU�RE- SUTE SOO 
OOSTON, ll,fASSACHOSE1,S 02108 

t6l7)3.31 6464 
. f{'X ( 617) 338-0737 

April 7, 2011 

Anne Hartley, Case Administrator 
Office of Appeals and Dispute Resolution 
Massachusettl,l Department of Fn vironmental Protection 
One Winter Street Second Floor 
Boston; MA 02108 

RE: · Request fQr Adjudicatory Hearing 
DEPFile No. SP; 15-2058 .. 
Applicant: John B. & Margaret Reicheobad1 
Location: 29 Matta11est Lanei Dartniouth, MA 
Our F�•� No. �3 

Dear Ms. Hartley: 

Luke 10.egeie 
F.-flllil: �11eemiaw.c0111 

(617) 33!-6464eict. 126 

Piease find enclosed in the above.;captioned matter a Notice of Claim for Adj.idicatory · 
Hearing, filed on beh·alf of ten residents of the Town of Dartmouth, which includes a copy or the · 
Request for Adjudicatory Hearing Fee Transmittal Fonn and the $10.!) check for the filing fee, 
both of which are sent forthwith to the Department's ''lock box:". 

Thai:tk you for yow: attcnti:Jn to this matter. 

Enclosures 

cc: Dartmouth Conservation Co mmission.(via certified !l)ail) 
M�·- and Mrs. John Reichenbach (via certified mail) 
Robert B. Feingold, Esq. (via certified mail) 
Tena Davies, DEP-SERO (via certified mail) 

0 Priated 011 recydal p,per 
12 P000642 
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In the Matter of 

COMMONWEAL TH OF MASSACHUSETTS 
DEPARTMENr OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
OFFICE OF APPEALS AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

Docket No. 

John B. and Margaret 
Reichenbach 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

DEP File No. SE 1 5-2058 
Dartmouth 

____________ )
NOTICE OF CLAIM FOR ADJUDICATORY HEARING 

I. INTRODUCTION

I .  Ten residents of Dartmouth, MA (collectively, the "Petitioners") hereby claim an 

Adjudicatory Hearing to appeal a Superseding Amended Order of Conditions (the "SAOC") 

issued on March 24, 20 1 1 by the Department of Environmental Protection's Southeast Regional 

Office (the "Department") approving amendments to an Order of Conditions for a proposed 

single-family residential development at 29 Mattarest Lane in Dartmouth (the "Property"). ' 

Several of the Petitioners are abutters and all are aggricved.2 Petitioners participated in writing

and orally in the public hearings on the original Notices of lntent and the request to amend the Order 

of Conditions, filed a Request for Superseding Order of Conditions with the Department, and filed 

written comments with the Department prior to issuance of the SAOC. 

2. John B. and Margaret Reichenbach (collectively, the "Applicant") propose to construct a

residence, swimming pool, retaining wall, fill, landscaping, and associated features (the 

"Project") at the Property, which consists of less than 1 .5 acres. The Property contains Coastal 

Bank, Land Subject to Coastal Storm Flowage ("LSCSF"), and associated Buffer Zone. 

1 Petitioners are Timothy Haydock and Barbara Moss of28 Mattarest Lane in Dartmouth, MA; Samuel Haydock and
George Haydock of 30 Mattarest Lane in Dartmouth, MA (Timothy Haydock is also a partial owner of 30  Mattarest
Lane); Sacket and Mary Cook of25 Mattarest Lane in Dartmouth, MA;  Paul and Ulla Sul l ivan of27 Mattarest Lane
in Dartmouth, MA; and James and Janet Fitzgibbons of26 Mattarest Lane in Dartmouth, MA. 
' Mr. and Mrs. Sullivan , Samuel Haydock, Timothy Haydock, and George Haydock are abutters to the Property. 
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3. The Applicant filed a Notice of lntent (the "NOI") for the Project with the Dartmouth
Conservation Commission (the "Commission") on or about September 25, 2009. The public 
hearing was closed on April 27, 2010 and the original Order of Conditions ("OOC") was issued on 
April 29, 2010. 

4. The Applicant subsequently sought to amend the OOC by filing with the Commission a
letter request dated October 26, 2010. The Commission issued an Amended Order of Conditions 
("AOOC") approving the revised Project on January 13, 201 1. 

5. Petitioner Samuel Haydock fled a Request for Superseding Amended Order of Conditions
on January 25, 201 1. The SAOC was issued on March 24, 201 1 .  A copy of the SAOC is attached 
hereto as Exhibit A. 

6. The Commission issued an AOOC and the Department issued an SAOC that would allow
the Applicant to perform work (with more impacts and more adverse effects on more Resource 
Areas and Buffer Zone) associated with the construction of a large residence, swimming pool, 
retaining wall, landscaping, and associated features. The work would be performed on Coastal 
Bank, within LSCSF, and within the 100-foot Buffer Zone to Coastal Bank. This includes three 
(3) Coastal Banks on and immediately adjacent to the Property that are not depicted on the plans
approved as part of the SAOC. The Project as approved would directly alter at least two of these 
Coastal Banks, and would involve significant work in very close proximity to the third (namely, 
a large retaining wall for the pool). 

7. The Department issued an SAOC approving a Project that fails to protect the interests of the
state Wetlands Protection Act {the "Act") and its Regulations and should have been denied, or at 
least significantly downsized and properly mitigated. In issuing the SAOC, the Department ignored 
numerous, significant revisions that would harm the interests of the Act. 

2 
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8. The request for AOOC understated and omitted significant changes (and jurisdictional 
Resource Areas altered by them) in the required narrative of changes. The proposed revisions 
should be rejected, and the Applicant required to file a new Notice of Intent. 

9. This Project was designed without regard for environmental impacts. Rather than 
studying the site first and designing the Project to fit the Property's carrying capacity, resource 
areas and other natural constraints (consistent with modem principles of low impact, 
environmentally sensitive site design), the Applicant has shoehorned this Project onto the 
Property. 

l 0. This notice is timely filed in accordance with 310 CMR § LO I (6Xa) and 310 CMR §
10.05(7)0) as it is filed within 10 business days of the date on which the Department issued its 
SAOC. 

11. The Petitioners have standing as ten residents of Dartmouth, and as persons aggrieved, to
file this appeal as parties to this Adjudicatofy Proceeding. The Petitioners are prior participants in 
the proceeding, having submitted written infonnation and oral testimony to the Commission prior to 
the close of the public hearing on the original NOi and the request to amend the OOC, having 
requested the SAOC, and having submitted written information to the Department prior to the 
issuance of the SAOC. 

12. The filing fee and Fee Transmittal Form have been sent to the Department's "Lock Box";
copies of both are attached hereto as Exhibit B. A copy of this claim is being sent via certified mail 
to the Dartmouth Conservation Commission, the Applicant, the Applicant's attorney, and the 
Department's Southeast Regional Office. 

11. !<'ACTS

13 . The Applicant owns the Property, which contains LSCSF and Coastal Bank. 

3 

212



14. The Applicant filed an NOI for the Project under the Act and the Dartmouth Wetlands

Protection Bylaw with the Commission on or about September 25, 2009. The public hearing 

was closed on April 27, 20 I 0 . 

1 5 . The Commission issued the original OOC approving the Project under the Act and the 

Dartmouth Wetlands Protection Bylaw on April 29, 20 1 0. 

1 6. The Applicant subsequently soughtto amend the OOC by filing with the Commission a 

letter request dated October 26, 201 0. That request described the changes as "minor revisions to the 

type of siltation barrier proposed as well as minor revisions to the shape and location of the retaining 

walls." This description barely scratches the surface of the changes that were actually proposed 

(and ultimately approved), and fails to comply with the procedures recommended by the 

Department's Amended Orders Policy. Wetlands Program Policy 85-4: Amended Orders.3 

1 7 . In fact, the Project plans that were ultimately approved as a result of the Applicant' s  request 

changed numerous major components of the Project' s  design, including: 

a. Location and configuration of the proposed porch;
b. Location, configuration, and elevation of the proposed seaward facing terrace;
c . Configuration, and elevation of the proposed seaward facing lawn area;
d. Location and configuration of retaining walls and related drainage facilities;
e. The proposed grading of the property, including swales, slopes, and finished grades;
f. Inclusion of one additional drywell ;
g. Location and configuration of the driveway and related drainage facilities;
h. Location and configuration of the septic system;
1 . Quantity, configuration, and elevation of drainage piping;
j .  Design and configuration of the swimming pool; and
k. The nature and locations of erosion control devices.

1 8 . In light of these major differences between the plans approved by the OOC and those 

submitted with the request to amend the OOC, the Commission should have required the filing of a 

' That po l icy calls for an applicant seeking to amend an order of conditions to produce, among other things, "a 
narrative description of what changes have been proposed . . . . " The Applicant's narrative was wholly inadequate, 
fai l ing not on ly to disclose numerous major changes in the plans, but to depict Coastal Banks upon which the work 
would be performed. 
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new Notice oflntent, pursuant to the Department 's Amended Orders Policy. Wetlands Program 

Policy 85-4: Amended Orders. The Commission did not. 
19.  The Commission issued the AOOC approving the revised Project on January 13, 201 1.
20. Petitioner Samuel Haydock filed a Request for Superseding Amended Order of Conditions 

on January 25, 201 1 .  
21 .  In  response to the Request for Superseding Amended Order of Conditions, Richard W.

Keller, P.E., conducted a site visit of the Property on behalfof the Department on February 23, 
201 1 .  

22. Kenneth R. Teebagy, P.E. and John W. Queen, P.E. (Petitioners' engineers) identified a
host of problems with the Project, which they expressed to the Department in writing. 

23. The Department issued the SAOC approving the Project on March 24, 20 1 1 .  The
Department found the resource areas on the Property to be significant to the following interests 
of the Act: public water supply, private water supply, groundwater supply, fisheries, storm 
damage prevention, prevention of pollution, protection of wildlife habitat, and flood control (see 
Exhibit A). 

24. The SAOC is based on the Department's erroneous" findings that the Project as proposed 
and conditioned will adequately protect the interest of the Act. In fact, the SAOC fails to impose 
adequate conditions to protect the interests listed above. 

25. The SAOC ignores the adverse impacts that the Project will have on Resource Areas, 
harming the interests of the Act. Specifically, the Project would have adverse impacts on the 
interests of storm damage prevention and flood control because: 

(a) The Project proposes work on Coastal Bank that is a vertical buffer to storm waters without meeting the performance standards for such work. 310 CMR 10.30.

s 
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(b) The Project proposes work within 100 feet of Coastal Bank that is a vertical buffer to storm waters without meeting the performance standards for such work. 3 10  CMR I 0.30. The Department failed to properly employ its authority under 3 10CMR 10.24(1) to regulate work in the· Buffer Zone which will have adverse impacts upon adjacent Resource Areas.(c) The Project would alter at least 12,970 square feet ofLSCSF, without mitigationor conditions sufficient to protect the interests of public water supply, private water supply, groundwater supply, fsheries, storm damage prevention, prevention of poilution, protection of wildlife habitat, and flood control. 3 IO CMR I 0.04;3 10 CMR 10.24(1).(d) The proposed septic system's soil absorption system (which was relocated and reconfigured by the AOOC and SAOC) would be constructed within fifty (50)feet of a Coastal Bank located along the Property's southern boundary. Thus, theProject is not entitled to the presumption (found at 3 10  CMR I 0.03(3)) that the septic system would protect the interests of the Act. 
26. The Department disregarded the fact that the Project plans do not depict three (3) Coastal 

Banks (one on the northern portion of the Property, and two along the Property's southern 
boundary) which would be altered by revised portions of the Project. The plans approved by the 
SAOC fail to show any of these Coastal Banks. The Project revisions approved by the SAOC 
would directly alter at least two of those banks. 

27. The Department should have required the Applicant to identify these Coastal Banks on its 
plans, and disapproved work affecting them. 

28. The Project revisions would also harm neighboring properties (particularly the abutting 
properties owned by Petitioners Paul and Ulla Sullivan, Samuel Haydock, Timothy Haydock, 
and George Haydock) by increasing stormwater runoff onto those properties and constructing a 
large retaining wall directly on the southern property line, disturbing and undermining soils on 
that neighboring parcel. 
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III. ALLEGATIONS OF ERROR

29. The SAOC fails to protect the interests of the Act by allowing work that would alter
Resource Areas without requiring proper mitigation, and without conditions adequate to protect 
the interests associated with them. 

(a) The Project would directly alter at least 12, 970 square feet ofLSCSF without
mitigation or conditions sufficient to protect the interests of public water supply,
private water supply, groundwater supply, fisheries, storm damage prevention,
prevention of pollution, protection of wildlife habitat, and flood control (the
Department found the resource areas on the Property to be significant to those
interests). 3 I O  CMR 10.24(1 ).

(b) The Project would directly alter at least two Coastal Banks on the Property
without meeting the performance standards for such work. 310 CMR I 0.30.

30. The SAOC fails to protect the interests of the Act by allowing significant work that 
would alter Buffer Zone within 30 feet of Coastal Bank on the Property without meeting the 
performance standards for such work. 310 CMR 10.30. 

3 1 .  The SAOC fails to protect the interests of the Act by allowing the proposed septic 
system's soil absorption system to be relocated and reconfgured so that it would be constructed 
within ffty (50) feet of a Coastal Bank located along the Property's southern boundary, meaning 
that it cannot be presumed to protect the interests of the Act. 3 1 0  CMR 10.03(3) 

32. The SAOC fails to protect the interests of the Act by approving a plan that does not
properly identify all Resource Areas on the Property. 

7 

216

., 



33. The SAOC fails to protect the interests of the Act by approving plans that differ

significantly from those approved � the original OOC and warranted the filing of a new Notice of 

Intent Wetlands Program Policy 85-4: Amended Orders. 

III. RELIEF REQUESTED

Wherefore, the Petitioners seek the following relief from the Department: 

I. Issue a Final Pecision and/or Final Altlended Order of Conditions denying this Project

2. Order such other relief as may be necessary and just.

Dated: April 7,201 I 

Respectfully submitted by. 

Petitioners 

By Their Attorneys, 

Gregor cG gor, BBO # . '(4680 
Luke H. Legere, BBO #664286 
McGregor & Associates, P.C. 
t 5 Court Square, Suite 500 
Boston, MA 02108 
(617) 338-6464
(617) 338-0737 (FAX)
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify thiit a true copy of the foregoing document w.is served by certified mail 
on April 7, 2011 upon th,e parties listed below. 

I. Dartmouth C-unservation Commissnn
400 Slocum Road
Dartmouth. MA 0'1747

2 J,ohn B. and MargMet Reichenbach 
256 Highland St11eet 
West Newton, MA 02465 

3. Robert B. Feingold, Esq., Counsel fo1r Applicant
Rct>eri B. Feingold & Associates, P.C.
7i[)0 Pl�ant Street. Suite 510
P.O. Bux 7822
New Bedford, MA 02742-7822

4. Tena J. Davies
Bureau of Resource Protection

s, P.C. 
t5 Court iie 500 
Boston, MA 02108 
(617) 338-6464

Massachusetts Departmetit of Envi:ronmetital Protection
Southeast Re:gional Office
20 R.iw:rSide orlve
Lakeville, MA 02347

9 
12 P 000851 
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'!!!!I\ SITE DESIGN ENGINEERING, LLC

Ii � 11 Cushman Street, Middleboro, MA02346 
Direct: 508-219-0202 P: 508-967-0673 F: 508-967-0674 

REQUEST FOR DETERMINATION OF APPLICABILITY 

Minor Site Revisions within Previously Altered and 
Approved Portions of Land Subject to Coastal Storm 
Flowage and the 100-Foot Coastal Bank Buffer Zone 

29 Mattarest Lane 
Dartmouth, MA 

Map 94 Parcel 25 

Prepared for: 

Margaret J. Reichenbach 
256 Highland Street 

West Newton, MA 02456 

Prepared By: 

Site Design Engineerin g, LLC 
11 Cushman Street 

Middleboro, MA 02346 

June 26, 2013 
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PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

29 Mattarest Lane 
DARTMOUTH.MASSACHUSETTS 

June 26, 2013 

INTRODUCTION 
The purpose of this Request for Oetennination of Applicability (RDA) is to request approval from 
the Dartmouth Conservation Commission (Commission) under the Massachusetts Wetlands 
Protection Act ry,IPA), 'ls implementing regulations (CMR). and the Town of Dartmouth 
Wetlands Protection Bylaw (Bylaw) for work within the buffer zones to a coastal wetland and 
within Land Subject to Coastal Storm Flowage (LSCSF) at 29 Matta-est Lane n Dartmouth 
(Subject Property). The work includes the installation of additional drain lines, an i'rigation 
pump chamber, a transformer pad, four A/C condensers, two reci'culation tanks for the pool and 
a drain through the southerly retaining wall. All proposed alterations are located enti"ely withn 
the previously approved alteration footprint. are entirely within buffer zones or LSCSF, and will 
not result any new alteratbn to previously undisturbed areas. These additions are a result of 
minor site changes and adjustments which could not have been for seen during the original 
filing for the project due to their minute level of detail. 

This RDA application is presented by the following property owners: 

Margaret J. Reichenbach
(Map 94 Lot 25) 

256 Highland Street 
West Newton, MA 02465 

�ITE OVERVIEW & EXISTING CONDITIONS
The Subject Property consists of an approximately 64,800 square foot (1.49 acre) parcel located 
east of Mattarest Lane (see Figures 1 through 3). To the east the Subject Property is bordered 
by Buzzard's Bay. To the north and south the Subject Property is bordered by residentially 
developed properties. To the west the Subject Property is bordered by Mattarest Lane. a paved 
way. 

The portion of the Subject Property bordering Buzzard's Bay is comprised of a cobble beach 
backed by a steep well-vegetated Coastal Bank. 

Resource Delineation 
The Coastal Wetland Resource areas found en the Subject Property (Coastal Bank and LSCSF) 
were previously delineated and approved as part of a previous filing (SOC SE15-2058 Issued 
March 24, 2011 ). The resource area delineation made under SE15-2058 is still valid at the time 
of this RDA application. 

Land Subject to Coastal Storm Flowage (LSCSF) 

Portions of the Subject Property are located within the 100-yew flood zones AE (EL 18) a,d AE 
( EL 16) as determined from the Town of Dartmouth Fbod Insurance Rate Map Number 
25005C0491 F (Effective Date July 7, 2009) and Digital FEMA 03 Flood Maps available from 
MassGIS (see Figure 6 and Site Plan) and therefore a portion of the Subject Property is within 
Land Subject to Coastal Storm Flowage (LSCSF). Portions of the Proposed Pro ject will occur 
within previously altered portions of LSCSF. 

SITE DESIGN ENGINEERING, LLC. 
11 Cushman Street Middleboro. MA 02346 

P: 508 967-0673 F: 508-967-0674 
Page1 of 6 
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Existing Development 

The Subject Property is currently under construction and Is the site of a single family residence 
(SFR), driveway, pool, and associated landscaping (See Figures 2. 3 and Site Plan). The 
existing SFR was approved under a previous Superseding Order of Conditions (SOC) SE15-
2058 (Issued March 24, 2011 ). The Applicant is proposing additional minor alterations and 
additions within previously approved altered portions of the 100-foot Coastal Bank buffer zone 
and previously approved altered portions of LSCSF. All proposed minor alterations are located 
within the previously approved alteration footprin t. 

.PROPOSED ACTIVITIES 

All activities proposed as part of the RDA are minor in nature and consist of modifications 
necessary for the final installation of assorted utilities on the Subject Property. All modifications 
included in this RDA are located within the previously approved alteration footprint and will not 
result in any new or additional adverse impacts to the coastal resource areas or associated 
buffer zones. 

Irrigation Pump Chamber 

The Applicant is proposing to install an irrigatbn pump chamber along the northern portion of 
the Subject Property (see Site Plan). The proposed irrigation pump chamber will be used in the 
capture and storage of site runoff for irrigation purposes. The proposed irrigation pump 
chamber will be located within LSCSF but will be entirely outside of the 100.foot Coastal Bank 
buffer zone. The proposed irrigation pump chamber will be located within a portion of the 
Subject Property previously approved for landscaping and site alterations and will not result in 
any additional adverse impacts to the resoLXce areas or associated buffer zones. In fact the 
proposed irrigation pump chamber, in conjunction with other drainage improvements proposed 
in this ROA, will allow for the staage of on-site runoff for use in irrigation of the Subject 
Property. 

A/C Condensers 

The Applicant has installed four AC condenser units on a concrete pad along the northern 
portion of the Subject Property adjacent to the previously approved SFR (see Site Plan). The 
proposed AC condensers are located within LSCSF but are entirely outside of the 100-foot 
Coastal Bank buffer zone. The proposed AC condensers are located within a portion of the 
Subject Property previously approved for landscaping, grading and site alterations and will not 
result in any additional adverse impacts to the resource areas or associated buffer zones. 

Transformer 

NSTAR has installed a transformer along the northern portion of the Subject Property between 
the proposed rrigatlon pump chamber and an existing dry well (see Site Plan). The transformer 
is located within LSCSF and is entirety outside of the 100-foot Coastal Bank buffer zone. The 
transformer is located within a portion of the Subject Property previously approved for 
landscaping. grading and site alterations and will not result in any additional adverse impacts to 
the resource areas or associated buffer zones. The original location for the transformer was 
proposed by the electrician and the builder to be adjacent to Mattarest Lane but this location 
was not approved by NSTAR due t o  its distance from the house. 

Drainage U.nes 

SITE DESIGN ENGINEERING, LLC. 
11 Cushman Street, Middleboro, MA 02346 

P: 508-967-0673 F: 508-967 0674 
Page 2of 6 
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The Applicant has installed additional drain lines connecting the existing dry wells localed on the 
eastern skle of the SFR with the proposed irrigation pl.mp chamber. The drain lines will allow 
for the storage of site runoff for irrigation purposes. This level of detail was not shown on the 
original site plan and futhermore, this level of detail is rarely shown on a site plan for a SFH. 
The drain lines are located within the previously approved development footprint under lawn and 
landscaped portions of the Subject Property (see Site Plan). The drain lines are located 
partially within LSCSF and partially within the 100-foot Coastal Bark buffer zone. The drain 
lines are located within a portion of the Subject Property previously approved for landscaping, 
grading and site alterations and will not result n any additional adverse impacts to the reso1Xce 
areas or associated buffer zones. h fact the drain lines, in conjunction with other drainage 
improvements will allow for the storage of on-site runoff for use i1 irrigation of the Subject 
Property. 

Pool Recircu/ction Tanks 

The Applicant has installed two pool recirculation larks adjacent to the pool appurtenant to the 
construction of the pool. These were not known to be reqt.ired when the original site plan was 
prepared. The recirculation tanks are located adjacent to the northeast caner of the pool within 
existing lawn area (see Site Plan). The recirculation tanks are located within LSCSF and within 
the 100-foot Coastal Bank buffer zone. The recirculation tanks are located within a portion of 
the Subject Property previously approved for landscaping, grading and site alterations and will 
not result in any additional adverse impacts t o  the resource a-eas or associated buff8' zones. 

Drain Through South Retaining Wall 

The Applicant has ins1alled a 4" PVC drain through the south retaining wall (see Site Plan). This 
drains a small area adjacent to the spa. The drain discharges what little water ii receives into 
the previously approved stone trench installed adjacent to the south retaining wall. More than 
sufficient capacity exists in the trench to accommodate this additional drain. The drain is 
located within LSCSF and is entirely outside of the 100-foot Coastal Bank buffer zone. The 
drain is located within a portion of the Subject Property previously approved for landscaping, 
grading and site alterations and will not result in any additional adverse impacts to the resource 
areas or associated buffer zones. 

NHESP/MESA 
The Subject Property is located entirely outside of mapped Estimated or Priority Habitat of Rare 
and Endangered Species as indicated on the 2008 Natural Heritage Endangered Species 
Program (NHESP) Aflas available through MassGIS (see Figure 5). 

EROSION/ SEDIMENTATION CONTROL & CONSTRUCTION PROTOCOL 
·work under a previous approval (SE15-2058) is still ongoing on the Subject Property. As part of
that work, the Applicant installed erosion control measures along the periphery of the work area 
(see Site Plan). These erosion control measures have been meticulously maintained
throughout the construction process and will continue as such until the WClk proposed n this
ROA, as well as all other site work approved under SE15-2058 is completed.

WETLAND RESOURCE AREAS,
The Proposed Project is a buffer zone and LSCSF project M work associated with the
Proposed Project will be located in the following wetland resouroe area buffer zones subject to
the jurisdiction of the Dartmouth Conservation Commission under the State Wetlands Protection
Act (WPA) and 310 CMR (CMR): as well as the Dartmouth Wetlands Protection Bylaw (Bylaw):

• 100-foot Coastal Bank Buffer Zone (Figure 4 and Site Plan); and

SITE DESIGN ENGINEERING, LLC. 
11 Cushman Street. Middleboro, MA 02346 

P: 508-967-0673 F: 508-967-0674 
Page3of 6 
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• Land Subject to Coastal Storm Flowage (LSCSF)

COMPLIANCE WITH STATE AND LOCAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS 

The Proposed Project includes minor mOdiflcatlons associated with a previously approved 

Project on the S ubject Property. The proposed modifications include the construction of an 

irrigation pump chamber, four AC condensers, a traisformer, drainage lines, two pool 

recirculation tanks, and a 4" PVC drain through the south retaining wall, all located partially 

within the 100-foot buffer zone to the top of the Coastal Bank and partially within LSCSF. All 

work will be performed within the previously approved alteration footprint as conditioned under 

File SE15-2058. No additional alterations of previously undisturbed resource areas or 

associated buffer zones are proposed as part of this RDA Although the proposed site 

modifications are extremely minor i1 scope, are located within the previously approved 

alteration footprint, and are being submitted as minor site alterations under an RDA, a 

discussion of the WPA performance standards for wcrt within the resource areas and 

associated buffer zones is provided below to demonstrate how the proposed site modifications 

are in compliance with these performance standards. 

State Wetlands Performance Standards 

Land Subject to Coastal Storm Flowage (LSCSF) 

,LSCSF is an overlay resource area under the WPA and does not include any SQ.ecific 

Qerformance standards. All work within LSCSF will be Qerformed in comQliance with state and 

local building codes for work within the flood zone. 

Coastal Banks 

'WHEN A COASTAL BANK IS DETERMINED TO BE SIGNIFICANT TO STORM 

DAMAGE PREVENTION OR FLOOD CONTROL BECAUSE ff SUPPUES SEDIMENT 
TO COASTAL BEACHES, COASTAL DUNES, OR BARRIER BEACHES, 310 CMR 
10.30(3) through (5) SHALL APPLY:" 

310 CMR 10.30(3) 

"No new bulkhead, revetment, seawall, groin, or other coastal engineering structure shafl 

be perrritted on such a coastal bank except that such a coastal engineering structure 
shall be permitted when required to prevent sorm damage to buildings constructed prior 

to the effective date of 310 CMR 10.21 through 10.37 or constructed pursuant to a

Notice of lntert filed prior to the effective date of 310 CMR 10.21 through 10.37 (August 
10, 1978), including reconstructions of such buildings subsequent to the effective date of 

310 CMR 10.21 through 10. 37, prCNlded that the foJ.bvlng requirements are met: 

(a) a coastal engineering structure or a modific.tion thereto shall be designed and 
constructed so as to minimize, using best avalable measures. adverse effects on

adjacent or nearby coastal beaches due to changes in wave action, and

SITE DESIGN ENGINEERING, LLC. 
11 Cushman Streel Mld:!leboro, MA 02346 

P: 508-967-0673 F: 508-967-0674 
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(b) the applicant demonstrates that no methOd of protecting the building other than the

proposed coastal engineering structure is feasible.

(c) protective plantings designed to reduce erosion may be permitted.·

This standard is not a.QQlicable, The Proposed Project does not include the construction of any 

coastal engneering structures on the Coastal Bank. T he Proposed Project includes the 

installation of minor site construction changes within previously approved altered portions of the 

Subject Property located within the 100-foot Coastal Bank buffer zone. 

310 CMR 10.30(4) 

•�ny project on a coastal bank or within 100 feet land.vard of the top of a coastal bank,

other th<11 a structure permitted by 310 CMR 10.3(3), shall not have an adverse effect

due to wave action on the movement of sediment from the ooastal bank to coastal

beaches or land subject to tidal action.•

This standard is not aQQlicable: The Proposed Project includes the installation of minor site 

construction changes within previously approved altered portions of the Subject Property 

located within the 100-foot Coastal Bank buffer zone. 

310 CMR 10.30(5) 

"The Order of Conditions and the Certifictte of Compliance fa any new building within 

100 feet landward of the top cl a coastal bank permitted by issuing authority under 

M.G.L. c. 131, § 40 shall contcin the specific condition: 310 CMR 10.30(3), promulgated
under M.G.L. c. 131, § 40 , requires that no coastal engineering structure, such as a

bull<head, revetmerl, or seawall shall be permitted on an eroding bank at any time in the

future to protect the project allowed by this Order of Conditions.•

T his standard is not aQQlicable, The Proposed Project does not include the construction of any 

new buildings or coastal engineering structtSes on the Coastal Bank. 

WHEN A COASTAL BANK IS DETERMINED TO BE SIGNIFICANT TO STORM 

DAMAGE PREVENTION OR FLOOD CONTROL BECAUSE IT I S  A VERTICAL 

BUFFER TO STORM WATERS, 310 CMR 10.20(6) through(B)SHALLAPPLY.·n 

310 CMR 10.30(6) 

"Any project on such a coastal bank or within 100 feet landward of the top of such a 

coastal bank shall ha.,e no adverse effects on the stabllity of the coastal bank." 

The Proposed Project includes the installation of minor site construction changes not foreseen 

during the original project design. AU work will occur within portions of the Subject Property 

previously approved for al teration. The construction modifications wm enhance the stability of 

the Coastal Bank by better managing and storing storm runoff. 

310 CMR 10.30(7) 

SffE DESIGN ENGINEER/NG, LLC. 
11 Cushman Street, Middfebo<o. MA 02346 
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68u/kheads, revetments, seawals, groins or other coastal engineering structures may be 

permitted on such a coastal bank except when such bank is significant to storm damage 

prevention or flood control because it supplies sediment to coastal beaches, coastal 

dunes, and barrier beaches." 

This standard is not aQRlicable. The Proposed Project does not include the construction of any 
bulkheads, revetments, seawalls, groins, or other coastal engineerhg structures. 

310 CMR 10.30(8) 

Notwithstanding the provisions of 310 CMR 10.30(3) through (7), no project may be 

permitted which will have any adverse eff,ect on specified habitat sites of rcre vertebrate 

or in vertebrae species, as identified by procedures established under 310 CMR 10.37. • 

This standard is not aQQlicable.. The Subject Property is located entirely outside of mapped 
Estimated or Pr iority Habitat of Rare and Endangered Species as indicated on the 2008 Natural 
Heritage Endangered Species Program (NHESP) Atlas available through MassGIS (see Figure 
5). 

Local Wetlands Performance Standards 

There are no local wetlands performance standards specific to the work proposed as part of this 
ROA. As described above, all work will be performed in oompliance with State WPA standards 
applicable to work within the LSCSF and the Coastal Bank buffer zone 

CONCLUSION 

The minor work described under this RDA includes the installation of an irrigation pump 
chamber, the installation of four AC oondenser units, the installation of a transformer, the 
installation of two pool recirculation tanks, the installation of a 4" PVC drain through the south 
wall, and the installation of additional drain lines for the purposes of stormwater management. 
AU of the other drainage components approved under the original plan have been installed as 
approved. Portions of the proposed work will occur within LSCSF and the 100-foot Coastal 
Bank buff er zone. All activities will occur within portions of the Subject Property previously 
approved for site alteration as part of an existing SOC (SE15-2058). The proposed site 
alterations have been designed to minimize or avoid any impacts to coastal resource areas or 
associated buffer zones. Therefore, the Applicant respectfully requests that the Commission 
grant permission to perform the minor site modifications proposed under this RDA. 

In summary, the additions proposed under this RDA are minor construction f ield additions and 
adjustments to accommodate situations that could not have been anticipated during the 
preparation of the original site plan. Minor constructioo changes such as these are made all the 
time in the field as part of the construction process and normally do not require the filing of an 
ROA, especially when these field adjustments do not constitute additional structural footprint 
and are completely contained within areas already approved for construction. Although the 
Applicant strenuously rejects the characterization of these modifications as •unpermitted work", 
she is submitting this ROA at the request of the Commission for the purpose of complete 
transparency and sincerely requests the Commission's approval. 

SITE DESIGN ENGINEERING, LLC. 
11 Cushman Street, Middleboro, MA 02346 
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Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection 
Bureau of Resource Protection - Wetlands 

WPA Form 2 -Determination of Applicability 
Massachusetts Wetlands Protection Act M.G.L. c. 131, §40 
And the Dartmouth Wetlands Protection B law 

A. General Information

Margaret J. 
Reichenbach 

Important: 
When filling out From:

forms on the 
computer, use 
only the tab 
key to move 
your cursor 
do not use the 
return key. 

� 

� 

The Dartmouth Conservation Commission 
Conservation Commission 

To: Applicant Property Owner {if different from applicant): 

Margaret J. Reichenbach 
Name 

256 Highland Street 
Mailing Address 

West Newton 
City/Town 

MA 
State 

02456 
Zip Code 

Name 

Mailing Address 

City/Town State Zip Code 

1. Title and Date {or Revised Date if applicable) of Final Plans and Other Documents:

Site Plan 06/21/2013 
Tille Date 

Title Date 

Title Date 

1. Date Request Filed:

June 27, 2013

B. Determination

Pursuant to the authority of M.G.L. c. 131, § 40, the Conservation Commission considered your
Request for Determination of Applicability, with its supporting documentation, and made the following
Determination.

Project Description {if applicable):

The applicant proposes to work within thebuffer zones to a coastal wetland and with land subject to 

Coastal Storm Flowage. The work includes the installation of additional drain lines, an irrigation 

Pump chamber, a transformer pad, four NC condensers, two recirculation tanks for the pool and a 

Drain through the southerly retaining wall. 

Project Location: 

25 Mattarest Lane 
Street Address 

Map94 
Assessors Map/Plat Number 

Dartmouth 
City/Town 

Lot 25 
Parcel/Lot Number 

wpaform2.doc • Request far Ocpal1mental Ac:ion Fee Trnsmillal Form• rev. 10/6/04 Page 1 ofS 
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bl
Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection 
Bureau of Resource Protection - Wetlands 

WPA Form 2 - Determination of Applicability
Massachusetts Wetlands Protection Act M.G.L. c. 131, §40 
And the Dartmouth Wetlands Protection Bylaw 

8: Determination (cont.) 

Margaret J. 
Reichenbach 

D 5. The area described in the Request is subject to protection under the Act. Since the work 
described therein meets the requirements for the following exemption, as specified in the Act and 
the regulations, no Notice of Intent is required: 

Exempt Activity (site applicable statuatory/regulatory provisions) 

D 6. The area and/or work described in the Request is not subject to review and approval by: 
Dartmouth Conservation Commission 
Name of Municipality 

Pursuant to a municipal wetlands ordinance or bylaw. 
the. Dartmouth Wetlands Protection Bylaw 
Name 

C. Authorization

This Determination is issued �o the applicant and delivered as follows: 

Ordinance or Bylaw Citation 

� by hand delivery on  D by certified mail, return receipt requested on 

7/31/2013 
Date Date 

This Determination is valid for three years from the date of issuance (except Determinations for 
Vegetation Management Plans which are valid for the duration of the Plan). This Determination does not 
relieve the applicant from complying with all other applicable federal, state, or local statutes, ordinances, 
bylaws; or regulations. 

This Determination must be signed by a majority of the Conservation Commission. A copy must be sent to 
the appropriate D P Regional Office (see http://www.mass.gov/dep/about/region.findyour.htm) and·the 
property owner · diffe

//];
m the applicant). 

Sign 
'ff___. 

7/30/2013 
Date 
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April 25,'2011:. • ... 
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�%t.::·�-} .:·' .···RE:·,·· ,29 Mattare'�t.Lanc, Sotith·Da'r.tinouth, MA, :· · ·:· .. .
�: /i· .. ::_ >. i· :"· .- .

. , ·_, Requ��tto Rev9k.e ()rdcr of Condition's· . ·., · ... · ·.
, , , r', , � ' I , • ' • ' 

·: _· .. · .. .,, 

>ft\·:\.·:.:. De�/ Chairp�r�� :McD�.n�I� .;�d M���� �f th
.
e ���i�si�m

. ... . .
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,
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·.· •, 

. .: .. · ·. . . . 
i::., ·:f,. -'-='· .: ( ··. ; This. Finp represent�:a_ group of residents:ofthe To� of Dartmouth witb respect to the -
t�f'. }:'�: _: :,..,-proposed ·resict,ential deyelop�en,t at·29 �attar:5tl..ane· in D�outh (the" Property'.'). As. you

. . . 

., ·.• 

.. · ) 

..
,. ' 

· .. : 

A •: • 

• I 

1 ;· :; :· _ - ... , "·.,, .. kn(?�,' John and ¥argaret Re1chenba�h ( collect1vely, the "Apphcanf') propose � construct a 
�t/ {/;_.;/,/·/��id_t.D;.e; SW1mmfa& pooi, Je�i'?.\ng �all, .fill, 1arids� ping,. ail� associat<!d· (eatur� :�the.. ,. . , _ . _:. , : . . . .
j=l::/:· · ., �>::::'iJ>tQJecf'.) at the Property; which .cons.ists orless t� 1.5 .a�res .. ·The Prpper:ty contam,s:Coastal .· ·.
! :.;; .. · _:,-;· · : Bank-;,I . .a_rid:Sil)Jject to:.(;oast.al _.Stotri:r Fldwage ('i,SCSF.").,, an.d associ�ted Buffer Zone;.�.
1.-,\\./��,'. ·. . :-' ·:. .: ' � ·: :: . . , . :. 

. 
. .: · . ·:·

'. .·' . . . .. . _. .
. 

,••, I 

l'�<
_
'

.
'.j\\

_
.,, _".'.:,.,. · .. · :H��ppli�an� fi�ed a Req'uest for_ Dete�i�ation of Appijcaoility with the ��QU� ·

// ':· :·.· , ,. qon.5erv,at190 0?111m1ss10p (the. ".CQn_ifmssiorC) qnAllg�t B, 20()9,. and a petemunatloil of . . . 
}:h.'.�i :\: : \/)'Wp:li�b�fi.&. ("I).OA ")_was i�i.le� on �ep�embeO; _2009.: 'f?eAppli�t then fil�d a Noti�� ?t•. . . '.. ..
l�.:':'t'.\.;.:. >: Ii1;ent.;(th�.•1�?1'.')fe>r t�e PfOJ�ct,oh Sept7mber-25, 20Q9; �d the bn�nal.Order .of¢o�<lit10,i;ii; , · • 
:;!r:\-i/-�,,··

1f;O(?Q:)was-1ssued onA�nl.29,:20IO-'. ·,. · . · · · , . . . · 
... ��r.-;�:. t .t; : ''°;' ·: •

• ·• � • 

/ �;; ·<;:: . · . · . ' .Wf? respectfully reqties� that the Commission revoke the original OOC issued on April i. 9; 
f:}f(,f =,_>_: ' .. 2_QlQ. A� you· know., the .fi!5t step in this process is to 5:Ch�ule a "show cause" hc::aring. , . . ·
.•• ·•;.s:, ..... ?>/ �·;-: ,. . ' ·. . .. �•' 0 �- : ., •• : · · As a result.of a m1:it'ua1· misiake by. the· Applicant an4 the Commission, the Project pl�ns ··· 
', '.; . 'approved by the original boc fail to depict three (3) Coasta} Sanks on and immediately adja�nt
:/\�! _: ·.} ·'to ·the P�operty.2_ The Pr�ject as approvect by the original 'OOC would·allow the proposed house
'..... . . . . . : 

' , 

� �- :_ . .-�.;,: ·--��. : . 
. 

., ·. ·'. ·. :�':... ':· ;� .: :: .::, . :. . . . ·, . :•·' . .. 
. , '<, .::'.· =.: · ·, ,,.Th

.
e:App

.
lii::ant subsequeritly'�u&ht to amepd the QOC ll_lld received lii:i Ani.eliiied Order of Conditions ("AOQC') 

._.:: •. {�.-.:.t_;·,·.·.·.,.·.;_ . . ·:_·. · :_ \ a('·P!�ooc.viil�)\he r�ise_d
d Project ooh Jimuary t 3Th; WI L fo lt�been

·ng-anfurt. aphe
r
peal; a su

1
per

d 
se�

h
i�g-4.'"

E·
. enderid. d �

d
e� o

d
·(Coni:litipns:·

- • ; , . idn : · .was issue on M;irc 24,.2011. . e SAOC ,.., .appea e wit m D P. a· aria JU icati:>)y : 
(�:�·,,. i. . . �.\.hearing is scheduled tor Auiust 4,:201 I.: :. : ; · . . . ·, ... 

·,···
�'.-,\- ... • · , · ;: 2 'fhe en;or resulted from the fa�t that thC plans approved by the DOA and the OOC relied upon an outdated FEMA 
·:/t/: ::} ·. : F)ood)n'5111111ce Raie �p (''r.lRM") as a b'asis for identify�g only one Coa stal Bank on the Property._.·

iif ;\2:'.:.;::: : i ··•.·. . L· o·. "-�,. '.�.,� .} : · · ,
. , . : , · : ·:. : : ·
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 McGREGOR & ASSOCIATES 

·and swimming pool to directt,y alter two·of these Coastal Banks, and a large retaining wall less
than· twenty (2_0) feet from the third. · · 

This re_quest is urgent, as we unders·tand that the Applicant ' s  representatives have- stated 
publicly their intention tc:, proc�ed with constr_uction ofthe Project under the original ooc; 
cjespite a pending appeal 'to· DeP _oftl}e SAQC.

. . . THE ORDER OF :CONDITIONS,ALLOWS DIRECT ALTERATION OF COASTAL. 
BANKS BECAUSE THE. PLANS FAIL TO IDENTIFY ALL OF 

THE RESOURCE AREAS ON THE PROPERTY 

. Th� pl,�ns approved by the Conun'ission as·part of the original OOC do n�t accurately 
delineate a.II Resource Areas -on the Propery. Stan Humphries, a Senior Coastal Geologis� with
LEC E�viroiµTiental ConsuJfants,  Ihc. ("LE(;:"), .has reached this conclusion after carl.':fully
reviewing ·a number of documents pertaining to Resource Area delineation for th_e Property, 
ihc;lud_ing _the pl'ans appro.ved by the: DOA and' _the OOC. LEC's report is being submitted 
_contemporaneously '.Nith this request. . . . . 

· . . in stimmary, the Resource _Arl.':a delineation eng._orsed by the DOA and approved b;y the
OOC, was based on oµtdated information . -Th� current FIRM for the Property has au effective 
. d.ate "qf )uJy 7, 2009. :However, the plans approved by th� DOA and the OOC (as well as the
pians approved by the AOOC anci the SAOC) relied upon the FIRM map dated July 2, 1 992 to 
delineate Coastal B.ank:3 

. Had the _pr.oper FIRlv1 been �sed, tlire(; (3) additional Coastal B�s would have been 
identified on o� in close .pro�imity to the Properfy. Specifical ly, two banks exist on the Property 
and one bank exists -south of the site, within · 1 o·o f�et of the Project. In other words; had the plans .
submi_tted with the DOA and. the OOC employed the current FEMA FIRM map, which was 
available and in effect at. the time of those filings, a total of four Coastal Banks would have been
 identiied o� or in the· vicinity of the site based on use of tli.e updated maps. 

Exhibit 4 to the l,EC rep_ort makes clear that,  as approved by the OOC, the proposed 
house and swimming pool would be bui lt on top of two different Coastal Banks on the Property, 
and. substantial work ·would take place Vvithin the I 00-foot Buffer Zone to a Coastal Bank just 
south of the Property. 

3 The Reque,si for Determinatio_n ofApp.l icabil ity was fied. on August 1 3 ,  2009, more than a month after the current
FIRM became effective. The plans approved by the DOA were dated July 3 1 , 2009, more than three weeks after the 
current FIRM became effe�tive, Although the current FIRM was apparently filed with the NOi on September 25, 2009, . 
the plans approved by the original OOC (dated April 20, 20 I 0) were not updated to identify the Coastal Banks reflected 
on the 2009 FIRM. 

0 Pri,ited. on ,�cycled paper. 
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AUTHORIZRS THE COMMISSION"TO REVOKE THE.

ORDER OF
0
CO'NOrrIONS iSSUED FOR:THIS PROJEGT 

!,. • I• I• 

/
_
: ; ... : . . The. Dartmouth y.'�tlands Protection Bylaw empowers th'e 'Cori1mission to revoke ail order

t;�{,-,�.':•: '� . �f.condi_tio!ls for 'good cause. Oqrtmotith Wei/ands Protection· Bylaw, § 7(AJ: Th� Corruni!.sion 
... ' · · · ';· .:·. rriaY.tl.O·SO'on its own initiative', by giving nptice to the Applii:ant, po�ting notice to the public� 

}\•,:::, �;.:.·:and lloldi1:1g a public·hearing. /)af/mouth Wet/a,!f.lS P'rotec'ti6n fly/aw., § 7(A). !. 

�<.� •• ::-:.�.-- �,< ,1 •" : ;, • ' 
• 

I • 

• 
• • 

?: ,.t/�l-, ,:·- ·, · ·. : . Good.cause for revo�tiori �f the· OOG would certainly include ina�rate or incomplete 
l •. •\:.�\:. >: ·• '-·�elineation of Resource Areas at-�. Pioperty .. See Ada"'! \I. T�l¥n of Orlean.<; Con:tervafion 
:id-·;5,:., :.> .Commission; 2.004 WL 3120665 (M�s. S�r. 2004) (Orl�ans Conservation Convnission· 
·· . ·, : ': -.. revoked of an Order' of Conditions allowittg·construction ·of a house after learning that wetlip1qs .

.
c··l . •. ·. , . . . • . . . .. . . . . , 

·,L·. 11� :-'.) 
1 

,·.w�e.actually more e)'.(tehsi� t�n d�picte? on �he approved plans). ·: 
C.: t.:-?,!., 

., . . . . • •. . 
. 

. . 

rt:. {°:: · '· · .. ; :·There is• a ·��d pblicy ar�ent_sUJ)porting thJ re:vQCation pr,�ss est_ablished by t�e .
I>�<:·,;::'• \·.�Yl

,
llw., The�omm!ss,on must have fh� autonom� to _sc�dule heanngs wh� 1t )ear� that.it�� 

!'-�
.:-
-· 3 .. t}ssued_a pe,�1t � upon_c.rrors, m1srepr�st:ntat_10ns, mistakes, or out�ted mformauon. ,:rus.1s

, •. :,-., :;: . ,=, �he same. _v,rmc1ple under which the Comm1s�1on U! granted the power to issue an Enforce111ent 
1:-�.{t=? ·; .·' Order >Vhin it.lear,ns that a landowner is.altering Resourc� Aieas·without a pennit. Without the· 
;\�-

.
.. �·?;'-'··· .. _.power. to \111.il�tetally schedule heari�gs under these circumstances, the C(>mmission would _lack 

!°' ·'.'.�{ • .. , ,•� ,.any real authority· to preve!)t· alter:aiiqns to Resource Areas, to stop alterations already taking . 
.... ♦M•�• .. �0. ••� • < ••' ' • ' • • ♦o • 0 

i.�i�:;. >: · pl.ace,:i).r to remedy alterations after tney·have occ_urred:. : . · · • · 

·:·��?(!�<�:·�:. ___ 'y· 
,�.� .. ��:··_ .. ::·: .. , •• •• ,· .

·
"... ., _ .. , , 

•

• 
• • : '· 

• 
• . 

. 
'. . • • • ::,� i..i:.:\: :', /:. ·.'� · ._:. The plans approved by the Commission as part of the·OOC .do not accurately,depic t all of 

.. , .••.. , 
'> . ' "  " . • . • 

. . . • . . . . . 

:-11;;:->,:· . .. ,i�eR�urceAteas on.the. Pr!lperfy: ·As a_i'esul(the OOC approved work.that will directly alter. 
\\tr,·; .1 • '· .Coastal Banks·. Therefore, -the ►Ommissiori can and should .revoke· the OOC. 
. (tr.;,,r::r :t,·. �. . + ••• : ,.•. 

• 

• 

�:�{��)\:�\'t · : THE Df:TBRMINATION OF APPi.1cABILITY issuijo FOR THE·P�QPERTY

'.����./,•�:_:.;:_�.: . 
. JS NoT:BIND(NG AND MAY BE REVISED TO ACCORl\TELY.DEPJCT. 

�,�}\�::/�·;_,;,' -�-- RESOURCE AREAS ON AND NEAR THE PROPEITTY. 
;.;:·,:· !�i�_:·;��}'.;·,/'"!" 
;,J.·f \.:, · ';:- The Commissioner of.DEP.has concluded that det�rminations of applicability are not 
�-�·�\ :: :, ,, _bindin•g for three years� all situations,, DEP.Commis�ioner {¥vxi B. �truhs decided that 
-:�:\: / . .j 

I ::'d,et e�iilati�ns of.�ppllcabiliiy, al�qug� norinally valjd for three years, c� be revis� in certain
,: ;·,; ,;,:;" .. · ·.. instances y;here fraud or mutual:m1stake 1s proved.'� Maller of Kenwood Development·· 
:::\ i:: :;,_,' :_-.:., ; Corporatfon,.Final Decisioni Docket.No. 97-022, 5;DEPR 92 (June I 5, 1998) (citing Mattei' of . 
_::_.::.;.-.,.'. , ., .f(enwood Development Corporation, Ruling and Order, Docket No. 97-022, 5 DEPR 5 (January
if.�•, .. .'.•:' 23' 1998)) • I • • 

� .. �--�_\f.i_:� ... ;� . ' . ', ·:�·/. ':, 
. 

... \ .· •.· 

1:i/f ltv:j ,_ · ' · 
0 fri� on rcc}'dcd paper . 

. ' ... . ..... � 

' .. 

•:1:, 

. \ 
.I • 

··"
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McGREGOR & ASSOCIATE.S 

Kenw.ood stemrtle.d from the Reading Con�ervaiion ·Commission' s attempt to alter a 
determination of appl icability, which it had previously issued to Kenwood Development . 
Corporation. K�nwood appealed the Commissio°u 's revised, or "correc�ed," determination, �d 

 ,. PEP determined that the Commission's  i-e'{isions to the originaldeterrnination were void (based 
on the understanding th�t determinations of applicability are said to be valid for three years under 

· its Regulations). The Commission requested an .adudicatory heari.ng, . in which Administrative
· Law Judge .Kristin M . .  Palace. ruled as an initial matter that "3 1 0  CMR I 0.05(3)(b) l cannot !:>e 

read to prohibit all modificati9ns to a de.terininatlon of appl icability during its three-year term," 
aQd "that exceptiQns for frau(and niutualmistake inust 1;,e recognized in appropriate 

 · .circurnstl!nces ." Mqtter of Kenwood Developm;enl Corporation, Ruling and Orper,' Docket No. ·
97 -022, 5 DEPR 5, 1 0  (J�nuary 23, . 1 998).4 

 This initial ruling was incorporated into the
comrr1issio1J.er' s ·Fi_nal Decisjon on .the matter. Kenwood, Final D_ecision, 5 DEPR 92 . 5 

. ' 
· In the presentcase, the DOA apd OOC approved a delineation of Resource Areas that was

b;ised on <;>Utdated and inaccurate informiition. The plans subn:iitted by the Appl icant should have 
relied upon the current FIRM for the Property, "{hid� became effective date on July 7, 2009.. If
the proper FIRM

.
been used, three ad.ditional Coastal Banks would have .been identified . 

. 
.This i; �ot an i�sub�tantial or hatmles1, em;>r. Surely, the Commission would have 

endorsed these additional · three. Coastal Banks in the· DOA ·had they been delineated based upon
the _cui-ren:t FIRM.· The QOC apprq:ves the construction. of a house and swimming pool directly 
o.r:i top of two of the unidentified coast?t.l Banks, and construc_tion of a large retaining wall l ess 

: than twenty feet from th.e· third. Surely, the Commission woi1ld have at least imposed conditions 
in the 'OOC. t.o address these alterations, as it is obligated to do by the Wetlands Protection Act,
had they been depicted in the N.01 .  

. . 

.CONCLUSION 

ln summary, the plans approved as part of the origina_l OOC fail to depict three CoastaJ 
Banks ori and near the Property, and as a result, those Resource Areas wi ll be destroyed or 
alt!ered-. The Commission has the authority under ioca.l and state law to revoke the permit of its 

 own voJition, based upon this error. The correct and proper thing for the Commission to do is 
revoke  the p�r¢it because the approved plans. fail to depict Resource Areas that will be directly 
altered by the .Project . 

4 A subseque�t Moti<;>� for Reconsideration .of th�t ruling was den ied. In the Mauer of Kenwood Development
Corporation, Motion Dec_ision, . Docket No. 97:022, 5 DEPR 29 (February 1 1 , 1 998). 
5 The Commissioner u ltimately determined that although "determinations of applicab i l ity can be revised in certain
cases of fraud or mutual mistake," the Reading Conservation Commission failed to present any evidence to support a 
claim on either of those grounds. Kenwood, 5 DEPR 92 . 

0 P1inted on recycled paper. 
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}?\·t'\ :/, ·.: .. · . · We.thank Y0\1 for J,OUr,attention iii this.q1atter ... 

. ( 

···. ·" ·.. . ''; · ''. . .. -.. . · · Sincerely' ' .•: . . . . .·. 
•· ' ··•·· / ' ' Zfr{'f!y' 

• •  •• :. ➔ .. , 

.,·,. 

-· ,• 

(:\-,:-;,:;"':<.:,.cc; : . 'R'pbe� B.._Feing9ld, :Esq. . . . .. 
�/ttf<:':/:''.' �; · ·: 'Dartmoutli. Boarctol::Selecirneri · ·
I.., ... ,•·•/_ .:·· .. -. • . '· . ' ' 

·• ·� .., . . ' .•...... _ 

j:,: �:; Y:;i/ ; . ; · · . : ·: .. :Antliony _C, Sava?tarrd_; Esq. / .; ·; 

1(·.\:.f_ ..... i-.''. .. -:,;'. .: ,' Rebecca Cutting·;Esq .. : 
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January 25, 2011 

Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection 
Southeast Regional Office 
20 Riverside Drive 
Lakeville, MA 0234 7 

Re: Appeal of Order of Conditions 
29 Mattarest Lane, South Dartmouth 
MADEP File #015 2058 

To Whom It May Concern, 

I am one of the owners of property at 30 Mattarest Lane in South Dartmouth, 
Massachusetts. My property abuts 29 Mattarest Lane, for which an Order of Conditions 
was issued by the Dartmouth Conservation Commission on January 13, 2011. The 
purpose ofthis letter is to appeal the Conservation Commission's Order of Conditions for 
29 Mattarest Lane and request a Superseding Order of Conditions from the Massachusetts 
Department of Environmental Protection (MADEP). The Request for Departmental 
Action Fee Transmittal Form under Massachusetts Wetlands Protection ACT M.G.L. c. 
131, §40 and the approved Site Plan for the improvements at 29 Mattarest Lane are 
attached. 

The proposed redevelopment at 29 Mattarest Lane involves the demolition of an existing 
single family residence and the construction of a new residence and associated retaining 
walls, patios, driveways, and in-ground pool. The majority of the construction will occur 
within the 100-foot buffer zone for the Coastal Bank to Buzzards Bay. Our objections to 
the project are as follows: 

• The entire buffer zone will be disturbed during construction and permanently
altered by construction.

• There is a tremendous amount of grading and filling within the buffer zone.
• Associated drainage and storm water run-off during construction and once the

improvements have been completed has not been adequately studied and
evaluated, will likely cause adverse impacts to abutting properties both north and
south, and will likely cause adverse impacts ( erosion and sedimentation) to the
coastal resource.

• Drainage and/or run-off from the Infinity-edge pool has the potential to impact the
coastal resource with chlorinated pool water and has not been addressed.

• The short-term and long-term impact of the construction of the proposed retaining
walls to 1he stability of the coastal bank was not evaluated.
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Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection 
January 25, 2011 
Page 2 of2 

• The impact of the proposed retaining walls and associated filling has not been
evaluated with respect to storm surges, wave action, and coastal flooding
associated with major storm event and huuicanes. It is a kr1ov.11 fact that tidal
surges have inundated this land during past storms.

• Construction of the large house ( over three stories and 8,500 square feet) and
extensive walls adjacent to the coastal bank will have an adverse impact to the
coastal resource from the stand point of aesthetics and light pollution.

• The impact of an armored, vertical strncture on the edge of the V zone and/or in
the AE zone has not been evaluated. There is concern as to its impact on the
beach area and on the abutting properties.

We respectfully request your review of this Order of Conditions. I can be reached at 203-
314-7369 to discuss these concerns or to schedule a site walk. My email is
shaydock@blcompanies.com.

Sincerely, 

� /!fr,7/4Li-.-: ---" -·
samHaydock 
11 Mafre Drive 
Guilford, Connecticut 06437 

Cc: John Reichenbach 
Tom Hardman 
Dartmouth Conservation Commission 
Tim Haydock 
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V.1,,,,,,.,,ngwasco,,tlh""dro.Jprl/26,2011'117.IJOp."' 

Pre,;cnt011April26,201lmnChwrman.Miohlle!Tr,.._J .. quehneFigoei,edo,and 
Uq:DcMolo -Aite,n,ru,BoordmembersSUm!oyM,cl.:elsonand!WiinChollhilh 
PaulMilrplly-TownofDartmoutb.Buildmg~ofJnspe<t=alServi= 
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12/14/2013 12:29 1Gl7GG3G221 REICI-ENBACH PAGE 01/08 

Commonwealth of MassachJsetts 
. Executive Office.of Energy & Environmental Affairs 

Department of Enyironmental Protection 
· Southeast Regional Offic� • 20 Riverside Drive, Lakeville MA 02347 • 508-946-2700

CEVAI. L PATRCK 
Governor 

Timothy Haydock 
84 Crotoo Lake Road 
K.atonah, New York I 0536 

Pear Mr. Haydock: 

DEC 1 2 2013 

RE: DARTMOUTH--Wetlands 
Superseding Detennination of Applicability 
29 MattarestLane 

RICHAFO K. 6\.JWVAN .R 
S&<:reta-y 

i<ENNETI-1 L K'141VEU 
CommiGGlonar 

Following an on-site inspection m:id an in-depth review of the above-referenced ,ftle and in 
accordance with Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 131, Sectioo 40, the Department of Environmental 
Protection has issued the enclosed Negative Superseding Determination of Applicaoility for the proposed 
activity at the subject location. 

The Department has de�ined that the activity, consisting of the installation of additional drain 
lines, an irrigation punip chamber, a transfcrmer pad, four AIC condensers, two circulation tanks for the pool, 
and a drain tiirough the sootherly retaining wall at a single-family residence, is located within areas subject to 
protection under the Wetlands Protection Act, and will not alter areas subject to protection under the Act, 
provided that the activity is conducted as depict� on the plans and documents. 

In the opinion of the Department, the reasoos given here are sufficient to justify this Superseding
Detennination of Applicability. However, the Department reserves the right, should there be further 
proceedings in this matter, to raise additional issues and present ftrther evidence as may be.appropriate. 

TD/rwk 

Should you have any questioos please contact Richard Keller at (508) 946-2815. 

Very truly yours,y;J 
,,,--r-· 

.. - ;

. lffeYJveL : � 
Tena J. Davies 
Bureau ofResoorce Prctec:tion 

cc: Dartmouth C.Onservation C.Ommission 

Margaret J. Reichenbach
256 Highland Street 
Wt:1!.t Newton, MA 02465
CERTIFIED MAIL #7012 1640 0001 4.831 0088 

This I nlormatlon is available in alternate famaL Cd Mich el le Wliers-Eltanem, llverslly•Dlrec!or, � 617-292-6751. TDDl-1-8611-63&-7622 ..-1-617-.574-6868 
MassOEP Websae: www.rnass.golldep 

�nled on Reqaed Paper 
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In the matter of: 

Margaret Reichenbach 
DEP File No. SE 15-2058 
Dartmouth 

--

__ ,,,.. 
c v�1r_.1-- ;;JJ , L 1.
\,...._ \..-

Commonwealth ofMassacliuset� 
Department ofEnvironmental Protectioi1- -

Office of Appeals and Dispute Resolution 

Im � © {s fl �Jl � lnl 
1l� JAN ���i

NOTICE 01'' CLAIM FOR ADJUDICATORY HEAR•rG 
1 

I. lnfl•oduction

1. I, Timothy Haydock (the "petitioner"), hereby request an Adjudicatory Hearing to appeal

a Superseding Determination of Applicability ("SDA'') issued on December 12, 2013 by the 

Department ofEnvironmental Protection's Southeast Regional Office (the "Department'') 

approving work in the 100 ft. buffer zone and Land Subject to Coastal Stonn Flowage 

("LSCSF'). I have pa11icipated in writing and orally in the public hearings on the Original Notice 

ofintent, amending the Order of Conditions and the Superseding Order of Conditions. I am an 

abutter at 30 Mattarest Lane and have written comments to the Dartmouth Conservation 

Commission and MA DEP relating to damage to our property and noncompliance with the Final 

Order of Conditions which resulted in the Dartmouth Conservation Commission's asking the 

applicant to file a Request for Determination of Applicability after-the-fact for those unpermitted 

changes for work in the 1-esom-ce area. 

2. Margaret Reichenbach (the "Applicant'') constructed a single family residence with

swimming pool, extensive retaining walls (the ''project'') on a property ofless than 1.5 acres. The 

property contains Coastal Bank, Land Subject to Coastal Storm F lowage ("LSCSF") and 

associated buffer zone. 

1 
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3. The applicant filed a Notice of Intent for the project on or about September 25, 2009 the

public hearing was closed on April 27, 2010 and the Original Order of Conditions ("OOC'') was 

issued on April 29, 2010. The applicant subsequently sought to amend the OOC by filing with 

the Commission on October 26, 2010. The Commission issued an Amended Order of Conditions 

("AOOC") on January 13, 2011. 

4. Petitioner Samuel Haydock filed a Request for a Superseding Amended Order of

Conditions on January 25, 2011 and the SAOC was issued on March 24, 2011. A group of ten 

residents appealed the SAOC and requested an Adjudicatory hearing. A Final Amended Order of 

Conditions was issued on October 21, 2011 approving the SAOC issued by MA DEP. 

5. A Building pe1mit was issued for the project on September 20, 2011 and constrnction

began. 

II. The Facts

6. In early May 2013 work that was not included in and therefore not pennitted in the FAOC

began and we, as abutters, brought this fact to the attention of the Conservation Officer in 

Dartmouth. The Conservation Officer asked the project manager for a site plan showing the 

changes but he allowed the unpennitted work to continue. By June there was still no site plan 

and after rainstorms nearly 2000 ft. of muddy runoff and sediment was deposited on the property 

at 30 Mattarest. The enforcement officer did not visit 30 Mattarest to view this damage despite 

repeated requests from the abutters. 

7. At the time of the excavation for this unpennitted work there was insufficient or missing

erosion controls (no filter mitts or haybales were in place) and the excavation mounded the soils 

in the resource area and changed the grades. Then rainstorms in May and June deposited inches 
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of sludge, mud and mnoff onto the property at 30 Mattarest. Haybales were finally placed along 

the north prope1ty lines and reduced the amount of mud that was carried onto our prope1ty but 

they did not reduce the ponding of muddy water. Residue remained on the vegetation for weeks. 

8. A plan was finally produced for the unpermitted work at 29 Mattarest with the RDA

application (more than 6 weeks after it was first requested by the Conservation Commission) on 

June 26, 2013. Most of the work had been done by that point for new drainage pipes, a 

transformer, AC units and an irrigation pump chamber in the floodzone as well as changes to the 

drainage in the south retaining wall. By the time the application for a RDA was received most of 

the changes in drainage and contours had been completed (with the exception of the irrigation 

pump chamber which has not been detailed on any plan) and all the drainage pipes had been 

buried. This plan produced by the RDA did not reflect the accurate location of these drainage 

pipes as they were in fact installed nor the resultant changes to grades. The plan did not show 

the function of an irrigation system with any overflow. It did not show the new storm water 

management system that would operate in the seven months of the· year when the irrigation 

would not be in use. It appeared that discharge from the new drainage from the areas out of 

jurisdiction would now directly empty into the resource area 18 ft. from the coastal battle. Since 

the plans did not show changes in contours, grading or outflows for rnnoff accurately, it was not 

possible to determine the continued damage over time to the resource area. 

9. A public meeting of the Conservation Commission was held and a field rep01t by the

Conservation Officer provided the information for the Commission's vote. The project manager 

was allowed to make his presentation to the Commission but the abutters were not allowed to ask 

any questions and were told thls was "not a hearing." The enforcement officer told the 

commission he felt there would be no negative impact on the resource area from the activities 
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outlined in the request. The Commission granted a negative dete1mination on the RDA on July 

31, 2013. We appealed that decision to MADEP on August 11, 2013. We felt a RDA should not 

have been issued when there was a valid F AOC in effect and permitting work for this project and 

that the Wetlands Amended Order Policy 85-4 should have been used for any changes. There 

were changes to drainage� increased mnoff onto neighboring prope11ies, grading and contours, 

and utilities were being installed in the floodplain in violation of state building codes for the 

construction in the floodplain that were not approved by the existing Final Order of Conditions 

and were therefore in violation of the FAOC that was in effect. The activities in question 

involved excavating, filling, altering drainage in the regulated area, and installing electrical 

utilities in a floodplain while are all regulated activities that would require a permit before work 

began. To pem1it these changes after-the-fact (activities which violate Special Conditions Order 

#22, 23, 24, 25, 27, and 34 of the FAOC) and permit them with SDA constitutes a Collateral 

Attack on the FAOC. This would allow two permits be in effect and valid for the same prope11y 

and project and the same resource area. 

10. We appealed the RDA to MA DEP S outheast Office for a SDA. Richard Keller from the

Department met with the applicants, their representatives and the abutters. Even though many of 

the issues to be addressed involved work and utilities in the floodplain (and the floodplain 

delineation itself was a factor), the floodplain was not staked by the project manager as requested 

by MA DEP, and spot elevations for the utilities in the floodplain were not provided. 

11. The Department issued a negative determination and granted a SDA on December 12,

2013 stating the work proposed would not "alter" the resource area, and stipulated that "no 

Notice oflntent was required provided all local pemtlts were obtained prior to any construction." 

The work has already been done, in large measure, and this is already in violation of the SDA 
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from the start. The drainage was not installed as shown on the site plan. The project manager did 

not delineate the floodplain to dete1mine the location of the utilities being permitted by the 

Department. The Depaliment allowed information provided by the applicant's attorney (John F. 

Shea letter dated October 18, 2013) to document what should have been determined and 

provided by the engineer or surveyor, and signed and/or stamped accordingly by them. This sets 

a very disturbing and questionable precedent for compliance. 

Ill. Allegations of Error 

12. The decision by MA DEP to uphold that negative determination on their SDA,

determining that the work described in the Request is within an area subject to protection under 

the Act but will not remove, fll, dredge or alter that area, fails to protect the interests of the 

"Wetlands Protection Act (the "Act"). Clearly the work as described is regulated activity 

( excavating, filling, changing drainage, changing stormwater runoff) in the resource area. 

Clearly these are activities that alter the resource area. This should have been given a positive 

determination on RDA if a RDA application to permit this work was even appropriate with a 

valid F AOC in place to permit all work. The condition given on SDA that "the work does not 

require the filing of a Notice of Intent, provided that all local permits are obtained prior to any 

constrnction" is invalid as a condition for work as the construction has already occutTed and 

without any local permits for work in a floodplain. The floodzone delineation submitted by the 

project manager to the Building Department on two site plans does not shaw the correct 

floodplain for this project. Using the delineation provided to the Building Department there is no 

floodplain on the north side of the residence as the AE 18 zone was the delineation provided to 

that department for the floodplain delineation, not the AE 16 zone. This does not protect the 

interests of the Wetlands Protection Act as utilities (which are a hazard to life and property as 
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well as the regulated area due to flooding, pollution, fire and contamination) are installed and 

operating in violation of the F AOC and the state building codes. Since the Base Flood Elevation 

(plus 1 foot freeboard) has not been represented on the Building Department Plans and 

certifications for constrnction in the floodplain have not been complied with there are additional 

issues which should not pennitted by the SDA. A SDA is a de novo appeal. 

13. The Depaiiment issued a SDA approving work with a negative determination that alters a

resource area, allows unpermitted work that is not complaint with state regulations for work in 

the floodplain and is not complaint with its own Special Conditions on the F AOC. The special 

conditions attached to an Order of Conditions are put in place specifically to protect the interests 

of the Act. We can find no precedent for allowing a FAOC to be amended without complying 

with the Department's Amended Order Policy, Wetlands Program Policy 85-4: Amended 

Orders. That policy allows two options only for changes: an amended order of conditions (when 

there is no increase in scope or impact and to be submitted to the issuing authority) or a new 

Notice of Intent. 

15. The issuing authority for the FAOC was the MA DEP southeast office not the Daiimouth

Conservation Conunission. The Conservation Commission, with their actions, circumvented a 

valid F AOC and permitted work in an ai·ea under protection which not only violated an existing 

F AOC but specifically permitted work that violated the F AOC Special Conditions, by giving it a 

negative determination. It has to be emphasized that the work has already been done without a 

permit, this is a permit after the fact for activities (defined as discharging, excavating, filling, 

grading, changing of runoff characteristics, installation of drainage and desh·uction of plant 

life ... 310 CMR 10.04) that violated an existing FAOC and it has "altered'' (changing pre-
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existing drainage patterns, sedimentation patterns, flow patterns and flood retention, the 

destruction of vegetation 310 CMR 10.04) the resource area. 

16. The floodplain was never staked before the permitting by the Conservation Commission

or MA DEP even though at issue from the beginning was the very location of the floodplain and 

the compliance of electrical utilities that were installed and functioning in the floodplain. 

Additionally, the highlighted delineation of the floodzone that was submitted to the Dartmouth 

Building Department for the permits for this property is not the same as that shown on the 

FEMA FIRM for this property or any of the site plans submitted to the Conservation 

Commission, including the site plan submitted with the RDA (which shows utilities in the 

floodplain). There has been no attempt to date to confirm what is most basic. If staking the 

floodplain would have been useful to the project manager he would have complied with this 

repeated request. A RDA to Dartmouth Conservation Commission requires that the local 

Building Department, Board of Health, Zoning Board of Appeals and Planning Board also 

receive a copy of the Request and site plan two weeks prior to a hearing for their comments to 

the Conservation Commission. If provided, it would have shown the discrepancy between the 

floodplain delineation for the Conservation Commission and MA DEP as differing from the 

plans submitted to the Building Department for the permitting of this structure. The RDA site 

plans were not provided to the these departments prior to the meeting in July 2013. 

17. Details for the proposed changes were not submitted in any detail to permit such changes

and should not have been approved without regard for environmental impacts. There is no 

accurate detail changes to the stormwater system, including drainage outflows, changes to 

drywells, changes to contours and changes in grades provided on the site plan submitted and are 

changes that have now been approved by the RDA and which violate Special Conditions #22, 23, 
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24 and 27. These special conditions were deemed important enough to protect the interests of the 

Act and compliance should not be optional. There are changes to a swale on the south prope1ty 

line that depait from the F AOC and should not have been modified by a RDA. The RDA 

ignores the negative impacts that this activity will have on the Resource areas, harming the 

interests of the Act. Specifically, the work would have adverse impacts on the interests of storm 

damage prevention and flood control with the installation of electrical utilities in the floodplain 

and discharge of stormwater in the velocity zone 18 ft. from the coastal bank. 

18. The project would alter LSCSF without mitigation or conditions sufficient to protect

public water supply, private water supply, groundwater supply, storm damage prevention, 

prevention of pollution, protection of wildlife habitat and flood control. 310 CMR I 0.04; 310 

CMR 10.24(1) 

19. In light of these major changes, the noncompliance with the valid FAOC special

conditions and the permitting of work already regulated under a FAOC with a new SDA would 

constitute a collateral attack on the Final Order of Conditions. On that basis alone it is clear that 

this RDA should be appealed. The condition on the SDA that a Notice oflntent does not need to 

be filed "provided all local permits are obtained prior to any constrnction" is a moot point as 

local permits were not obtained, construction is nearly complete and this work is non-compliant 

with state codes for work in a floodplain (780 CMR 120.G.501, 780 CMR 120.G.501.7 and 780 

CMR 120G.501.8) In addition the correct delineation of the foodplain has not been accurately 

represented to the Building Depai-tment for this purpose. We feel the FAOC should stand as the 

valid permit and any amendment should follow the Wetlands own amended order policy 85-4. 
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III.Relief Requested

I v.ould seek the following relief from the Department:
1.Issue a Final Determination of Applicability denying the changes to this project without a

Notice of Intent.
2.Not allowing a RDA to invalidate a FAOC issued by the Department.
3. Con-ectly identify the floodplain for this property and ensure that all code requirements

for building in the floodplain be adhered to.
4.Order such other relief as may be necessary and just.

R�tfolly submitted by,

l}J51-
Timothy G. Haydock

84 Croton Lake Road
Katonah, NY 10536
914 232 9482
914 232 4884 (fax)
tghaydock@aol.com

Certificate of Service:
I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing document was served by certified mail on December 27, 2013 to the following: 
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COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS 
EXECUTIVE OFFICE OF ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL AFFAIRS 

DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
ONE WINTER STREET, BOSTON, MA 02108 617 292 5500 

THE OFFICE OF APPEALS AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

In the Matter of 

Margaret Reichenbach 

June 20, 2014 

Docket No. WET-2014-001 
File No. SE 1 5-2058 
Dartmouth 

RECOMMENDED FINAL DECISION 

Timothy Haydock ("Petitioner") fled this appeal of a negative Superseding 

Determination of Applicability ("SDA") issued by the Massachusetts Department of 

Environmental Protection ("Department") related to work on land owned by Margaret 

Reichenbach (the "Applicant") at 29 Mattarest Lane in Dartmouth. The project is subject to 

jurisdiction under the Massachusetts Wetlands Protection Act, G.L. c. 1 3 1 ,  § 40 and the 

Wetlands Regulations, 3 1 0  CMR 1 0.00. The Dartmouth Conservation Commission 

("Commission") had also issued a negative Determination of Applicability. After the filing of 

testimony, the Applicant and the Department filed motions for directed decision for failure to 

sustain the case and lack of standing, which the Petitioner opposed. This proceeding follows a 

prior appeal of a permit amendment involving the same project. I recommend that the 

Department' s  Commissioner issue a Final Decision that dismisses the Petitioner's appeal for 

failure to sustain his case based on a directed decision in favor of the Applicant and the 

Department and, on alternate grounds, for lack of standing. Dismissal would allow the 

additional work to proceed under the Department's SDA. 
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BACKGROUND 

On April 29, 2010, the Applicant received an Order of Conditions from the Commission 

to demolish an existing single family house and constrnct a new one with landscaping, a 

retaining wall, and a swimming pool on 1 .49 acres of land. The lot is bordered by Mattarest 

Lane, Buzzards Bay, and other residential prope11y including the Petitioner's. The site contains 

two wetlands resource areas: Coastal Bank and Land Subject to Coastal Storm Flowage 

2 

("LSCSF"), which is land inundated by coastal flooding up to the 100-year storm event or stmm 

of record. 3 10 CMR 10.04. The Order of Conditions for the initial construction was not 

appealed. On October 26, 201 0, the Applicant filed a request for an Amended Order of 

Conditions to allow certain relatively minor revisions to the project, including a change in the 

curvature of the retaining wall, the angle and width of a stairway, and the management of 

drainage at the site. The Commission issued an Amended Order of Conditions allowing this 

work. Samuel R. Haydock, an abutter at 30 Mattarest Lane, requested review by the Department 

of the Commission's Amended Order of Conditions. 

The Department's Southeast Regional Office issued a Superseding Amended Order of 

Conditions to allow the requested revisions to the project. A ten residents group, which included 

Timothy Haydock, the sole Petitioner in this matter and an abutter at 30 :tvlattarest Lane, filed an 

appeal of the Superseding Amended Order of Conditions . '  The Petitioners claimed that the 

Department should have required a new application rather than amending the pennit and that the 

work did not comply with the requirements for work in buffer zone to Coastal Bank and LSCSF. 

The claims in this prior appeal were dismissed for failure to sustain the case and alternately a 

1 A ten residents group may request a Superseding Determination of Applicability or a Superseding Order of
Conditions from the Department 's regional office, and may also appeal to an adjudicatory proceeding. 3 1 0  CMR 
I 0.05(7)(a)(5) and 3 10 CMR l0.05(7)U)(2)(a). 
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conclusion that the Petitioners had not met their burden of proof based on a consideration of all 

the evidence. Matter ofJ ohn and Margaret Reichenbach, OADR Docket No. WET-201 1 -012, 

Recommended Final Decision (October 20, 201 1), adopted by Final Decision (November 2, 

201 1) .  

3 

After resolution of the appeal and with construction underway, the Petitioner raised 

concerns with the Commission about erosion and certain work at the site which he alleged was 

outside the scope of the Superseding Amended Order of Conditions. The Applicant was 

instructed by the Commission to file a Request for Detennination of Applicability ("RDA"), a 

procedure to resolve whether farther review is warranted. 3 10  CMR 1 0.05(3)(a). The RDA 

contained a relatively extensive narrative description of the work in addition to the plan and 

completed RDA fonn. RDA Narrative, June 2 1 ,  2013; Site Plan, RD1V29 Mattarest Lane, June 

2 1 ,  2013. The RDA narrative explained that the boundaries of the resource areas, as well as the 

house construction and related work, were approved under the Superseding Amended Order of 

Conditions issued by Depmiment and sustained in the adjudicatory hearing. The additional work 

was described as minor project revisions related to utility installation within areas that had been 

previously approved for alteration to LSCSF or the buffer zone to Coastal Bank. 

Six separate activities were described in the RDA: the installation of an itTigation pump 

chamber, 1VC condensers, an NSTAR transformer, drainage lines, pool circulation tanks, and a 

drain through a retaining wall. Only the work to install the irrigation pump chamber had not 

been completed when the RDA was filed. The Commission issued a negative Determination of 

Applicability, concluding that while the work was within an area subject to protection, it would 

not alter a resource area and therefore a Notice of Intent was not required. The Petitioner 

requested review by the Department. The Department issued a negative SDA, on the same 
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grounds as the Commission. The Petitioner filed an appeal, commencing this proceeding with 

claims somewhat similar to the prior proceeding. 

ISSUES FOR ADJUDICATION 

4 

The discussion at the Pre-Hearing Conference focused on various aspects of the 

Petitioner's objections to the Depmtment's action, primarily: I )  whether the Department should 

have amended the Final Order of Conditions issued for the project as opposed to issuing its SDA; 

2) whether addressing the work that had been completed was a matter for pem1itting or

enforcement; and 3) whether the Department has jurisdiction ovel' compliance with the building 

code and similar requirements.2 The Applicant challenged the Petitioner's standing to pursue the 

appeal, because although an abutter, he had not shown that he was aggrieved as required by the 

regulations. 3 1 0  CMR 10.05(7)G)(2)(a). Claims seeking enforcement and compliance with laws 

the Department does not administer cannot be l itigated in this forum for reasons explained 

below. The two issues for adjudication were: 

I .  Whether the Department properly determined that the proposed work for the 

installation of the irrigation pump chambers will not fill, remove, dredge or alter 

land subject to coastal storm flowage and therefore no notice of intent is required? 

2. Whether the Petitioner has standing to pursue this appeal as a person aggrieved?

The Petitioner had the burden of going forward and of proving his direct case under 3 1 0  CMR 

I 0.05(7)G)3 .b. The Petitioner was required to demonstrate that he had standing pursuant to 3 10 

CMR 10.05(7)G)2.b.iii. 

1The Pre Hearing Conference wris held by telephone on rebruary 6, 2014, afier a postponement from the preceding
day due to a snowstorm and a prior postponement due to the unavailability of all parties. The Petitioner was 
represented by Barban1 Moss, who resides at 28 Mattarest Lane. �11s. Moss had been a inember of the Residents 
group that appealed the Superseding Amended Order of Conditions. She also served as the Petitioner's witness in 
this matter. Although N[s. Moss stated in an opposition to the motions for dismissal that there had been a 
disconnection during the Pre hearing Conforence call, this problem was not identified at the time, nor is there any 
indication that the Petitioner was prejudiced by the lapse and Ms. Moss stated that· she redialed and continued to 
pmticipate in the call . 
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The Petitioner raised procedural questions that stemmed in part from the Commission's 

request that the Applicant fle an RDA for the work. The Commission had issued a negative 

Determination of Applicability, in response to the RDA filed by the Applicant as instructed by 

the Commission. The Petitioner argued that the Depm1ment should have amended the 

Superseding Amended Order of Conditions issued for the project or required a new Notice of 

Intent as opposed to an SDA. While the Commission could have asked the Applicant to request 

an amendment, it did not. The Department's SDA was responsive to the Petitioner's request for 

action and the appropriate next step in the procedures established for Detenninations of 

Applicability. See 3 1 0  CMR 1 0.05(3) and 1 0.05(7). Contrary to the Petitioner's position, 

nothing in the Department's Amended Order Policy requires a Commission or an applicant to 

use an Amended Order. Wetlands Program Policy 85-4: Amended Orders, September 17, 1 985, 

revised March 1, 1 995 . The Amended Order Policy _does not even suggest that the Department 

should amend an existing order in response to a request for action on a Determination of 

Applicability. Id. Importantly, the Petitioner was not prejudiced by the RDA procedure. Indeed, 

the Petitioner could pursue an appeal under either the amendment or the RDA procedure, and the 

Petitioner has now participated in appeals under both procedures. 

The Petitioner raised claims related to work described in the RDA that had already been 

completed by the Applicant at the site. The Department, like the Commission, was not inclined 

to pursue an enforcement action for work already completed. Moreover, both concluded that the 

work generally would not alter LSCSF and did not wmrnnt further review. Even if the work 

described in the RDA were determined to be a violation of the regulations, the exercise of 

enforcement discretion lies solely with the Department, and cannot be compelled through an 

administrative appeal. Therefore, any relief as to work already completed could not be granted  
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in this forum. See, M-, Matter ofMarette & Sons, Inc./1fark Rioux, Docket No. WET-20 10-01 5 ,  

Recommended Final Decision (September 17, 2010), adopted by Final Decision (October 1 5 ,  

201 0); Matter of Bourne Community Boating, Docket No.\VET-2009-03 1 ,  Recommended Final 

Decision, (November 19, 2009), adopted by Final Decision (December 1 8, 2009), Matter of 

Clu·istina Pesce, Docket No. 99-044, Final Decision (April 14,  2000); Matter of Town of 

Lexington, Docket No. 2006-184, Recommended Final Decision (March 1 9, 2007), adopted by 

Final Decision (March 23, 2007); Thomas M. Dicicco v. DEP, 64 Mass. App. Ct. 423 (2005). 

The Petitioner raised claims related to the status of the proposed work under the state 

building code. Compliance with codes or regulations administered by other governmental 

entities is not within the Department's jurisdiction. Any such claims must be dismissed based on 

lack of subject matter jurisdiction; the relief sought cmmot be granted by this forum. See � 

Matter ofNorthpoint Realty Development Corp., Docket No. 2001-064, Ruling on Motion to 

Dismiss Issues Sununary (February 27, 2002) (claims of violations ofFEMA regulatioi1s, unsafe 

conditions due to contaminated ±1ood water, alteration of hydrology from hazardous chemicals 

moving toward existing homes, and unsafe conditions of project and impacts on Town's 

emergency departments dismissed for failure to state a claim upon which relief may be granted). 

The Department's SDA finding that the work will not alter a resource area so that a Notice of  

Intent is not required continues, "provided that all local permits are obtained prior to  any 

construction." Department's SDA (December 12, 201 3). This statement, however, does not 

extend jurisdiction for the Department to resolve claims arising under locally administered state 

laws or local bylaws. 

The Petitioner also sought another delineation of the floodplain at the site. LSCSF 

boundaries arc typically obtained from FEMA maps. The boundary of LSCSF was established 
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by the 2010 Order of Conditions, which remains in effect due to the Pe1mit Extension Act. The 

Applicant's RDA did not seek a detennination as to the jurisdictional areas or boundaries at the 

site, and therefore the SDA properly refrained from making any determination as to geographic 

jurisdiction. Thus, the LSCSF boundary set by the 201 0  Order of Conditions governs work 

under this SDA as well. For this reason, the extent ofLSCSF cannot be challenged in this 

appeal. Further, nothing in the record points to a material error in the LSCSF boundary. Any 

discrepancy that might result from grading, as suggested by the Petitioners, would not affect the 

outcome of tlris proceeding, as LSCSF has no regulatory performance standards. The location 

and minor nature of the proposed work relative to the LSCSF boundary would not warrant a map 

revision by FEMA, even if it were within the Department's  power to require one. 

Motions to strike testimony of the Petitioner were f led by the Applicant and the 

Department. Briefy, testimony related to issues not identifed for adjudication is properly 

stricken. Testimony related to work that has been completed is inadmissible because 

enforcement relief, for the reasons stated, cannot be compelled in an administrative hearing. 

Similarly, testimony in support of claims related to noncompliance with codes or regulations 

administered by other governmental entities and outside the Department's jurisdiction may not 

be allowed. 

WHETHER THE PROPOSED WORK FOR INSTALLATION OF THE IRRIGATION 
PUiVIP CHAiVIBER WILL NOT ALTER LSCSF SO THAT A NOTICE OF INTENT IS 
NOT REQUIRED 

The Petitioner filed testimony of his representative, Barbara Moss, a witness with no 

stated expert qualifications regarding LSCSF or the proposed work. She raised many questi01is 

about the proposed work and speculated about its consequences, but was not able to provide 

credible factual support for the position taken due to her lack of expe(-tise. Petitioner witnesses 
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sometimes question the sufficiency of information filed about a project. See Matter of Kenneth 

Leavitt/Pheeny's Island, Docket No. WET-2012-024, Recommended Final Decision (March 28, 

2013), adopted by Final Decision (April 2, 2013). A Commission or the Department may deny a 

project for lack of sufficient information, however, after an appeal, the burden shifts to the 

Petitioner to show that proposed work does not comply with the applicable regulations. Id. 

Because Ms. Moss is not competent to provide expert opinion testimony on the impacts of the 

proposed work, her opinions are not reliable and may be disregarded. Matter of Siegrist, Docket 

No. 2002- 1 32, Recommended Final Decision (April 30, 2003), adopted by Final Decision (May 

9, 2003); Matter of Scott Cheney, Docket No. 98-096, Final Decision (October 26, 1999). Ms. 

Moss was familiar with the regulations and offered textual argument in an attempt to refute the 

Department's conclusion that a Notice oflntent was not required. The Petitioner claimed that 

the work to install the irrigation pump chamber was an "activity" that would "alter," within the 

meaning of that term in the regulations, a resource area, LSCSF, and therefore requires a Notice 

of Intent rather than an RDA. Despite the lack of qualifications, I reviewed her testimony for 

any support for this argument. Neither the evidence nor argument presented by the Petitioner is 

sufficient to sustain his case. 

The Petitioner is correct that the work described in the RDA is an activity, with a 

definition that includes excavation and grading, within a resource area, LSCSF.3 The definition 

of alter, a key jurisdictional trigger in the regulations, is: 

Alter means to change the condition of any Area Subject to Protection Under M.G.L. c. 
1 3 1 ,  § 40. Examples of alterations include, but arc not limited to, the following: 

3"Activity means any form of draining
) 

dumping, dredging, clamming, discharging, excavating, filling or grading; 
the erection, reconstruction or expansion of any buildings or structures; the driving of pilings; the construction or 
improvement o f  roads and other ways; the changing ofrun�offcharactcristics; the intercepting or diverging of 
ground or surface water; the installation of drainage, sewage and water systems; the discharging of pollutants; the 
destruction of plant life; and any other changing of the physical characteristics of land." 3 1 0  CfvlR I 0.04. 
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(a) the changing of  pre-existing drainage characteristics, flushing characteristics, salinity
distribution, sedimentation patterns, flow patterns and food retention areas;
(b) the lowering of the water level or water table;
(c) the destruction of vegetation;
( d) the changing of  water temperature, biochemical oxygen demand (BOD), and other
physical, biological or chemical characteristics of the receiving water.

9 

The Petitioner failed to marshal facts to supp01t the position that the work proposed in the RDA 

will alter LSCSF in any material way, given that the area has already been approved for 

alteration and the "condition" of the resource area LSCSF is not "changed" by the installation of 

minor subsurface drainage structures or a structure of a few square feet in size on the surface of 

the ground, as proposed here. 

In her testimony, Ms. Moss asserted that the installation of the irrigation pump chamber 

would involve excavation which would "alter" the resource area. Moss PFDT, para. 18 .  

Drainage pipes lead from the downspouts from the roof of  the house to the pump chamber in 

addition to dry wells approved under the Superseding Amended Order of Conditions. Id. 

During the summer months, the runoff would be pumped to storage tanks and available for 

irrigation, but Ms. Moss stated that there is no information as to how the runoff will be handled 

during the winter months. She stated that there could be additional discharge to floodwater in a 

storm, and "recent storms have continued to erode the coastal banks aloi1g the property 

coastline." Moss PFDT, paras. 1 9-20. Ms. Moss testified that without additional information 

about the irrigation pump chamber, it is "impossible to determine its impact on the resource 

area" and a Notice of Intent should be required to provide the additional information. 

iVls. Moss farther testified that it had not been established that the additional discharge 

would have no impact on the coastal bank. Moss PFDT, paras. 21 -22. In rebuttal to the 

Applicant's explanation that the irrigation system would revert to discharge to the prior approved 

dry wells except for the summer months, Ms. Moss again cited a lack of detail and stated there 
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would be a direct discharge to the velocity zone at VE 24. Moss Reb. paras. 6,9- 1 1 ,  13-14 .  In 

response to the Department's witness Mr. Keller's testimony that the irrigation pump chamber is 

a subsurface structure in an area already approved for fill and regrading, Ms. Moss stated that 

previously pennitted work is not relevant to work under the de novo appeal of the RDA, where 

"no additional impact" is not an acceptable standard. Moss Reb. paras. 16- 18 .  

Fundamentally, the Petitioner is inconect that the prior permitting of this matter is 

iJTelevant to this appeal. This project has both an Order of Conditions for the original work of 

demolishing the existing house and construction of a new house, and a Superseding Amended 

Order of Conditions after an adjudicatory hearing which allowed relatively minor project 

revisions. In the RDA submitted at the Commission's request, the Applicant stated: 

The existing SFR [Single family residence] was approved under a previous Superseding 
Order of Conditions (SOC) SE 1 5-2058 (Issued March 24, 20 1 1) .  The Applicant is 
proposing additional minor alterations and additions within previously approved altered 
portions of LSCSF. All proposed minor alterations are located within the previously 
approved a/terationfootprint. 

RDA Project Description (June 26, 2013)  (emphasis added). As to the proposed activity of the 

iJTigation pump chamber, the Applicant stated: 

The proposed irrigation pump chamber will be located within LSCSF but will be entirely 
outside of the 100-foot Coastal Bank buffer zone. The proposed irrigation pump chamber 
will be located within a portion of the Subject Property previously approved for 
landscaping and site al!eralions and will not result in any additional impacts to the 
resource areas or associated buffer zones. 

Id. (Emphasis added). The Petitioner offered no testimony to refute this assertion and the 

location of the structures on the plan reveals that they are within the previously approved area in 

close proximity to the house. Thns, the Applicant had approval to "alter" the area under the prior 

approval originally obtained through the filing of a Notice oflntent. 
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As the Applicant and the Department emphasized, LSCSF functions to provide food 

control and prevent storm damage only by receiving coastal food waters. Unlike other resource 

areas, such as Coastal Battles or Coastal Dunes that may move o!' erode and serve as a barrier to 

storm surges, LSCSF as generally understood is inert and has only a surficial dimension. Coastal 

flood waters spread laterally inland over LSCSF. Unlike Bordering Land Subject to Flooding 

along rivers, LSCSF is often entirely unconfined so that the displacement of foodwaters by 

structures i s  highly unlikely to impact the LSCSF. See 3 10 CMR 10.57. Although coastal 

fooding can unquestionably damage structures, the Wetlands Protection Act protects wetlands  

not structures - for the functions they provide. The Petitioner has offered no evidence that the 

installation of the irrigation pump chamber, which is underground, will have any impact of any 

kind on the ability of the few square feet ofLSCSF on the surface above to supp01i and convey 

food waters. Under these circumstances, the Department may properly fnd that the LSCSF is 

subject to protection but that the Act does not apply to work which will not alter the resource 

area in any material way beyond the alteration already permitted in the prior approval. 

Contrary to the references in the Petitioner's testimony to work in the velocity zone ("V 

zone"), the work proposed in the RDA is within the AE zone area ofLSCSF. The distinction is 

impotiant. LSCSF includes all land within the 1 00-year coastal foodplain, but within the V 

zone immediately adjacent to the ocean waves during storms exceed 3 feet while areas of the AE 

zone experience smaller waves or still water flooding. See Matter of John and ]Vlargaret 

Reichenbach, OADR Docket No. WET-20 1 1-012, Reconunended Final Decision (October 20, 

20 I I) at n. 4, adopted by Final Decision (November 2, 20 1 1  ). Work within the higher hazard 

area of the V zone has typically, and appropriately, been regulated more closely than work 
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within LSCSF outside the V Zone.4 The project i s  located in a wide open area adjacent to the

ocean, a situation where the Depmtment has consistently found no need for mitigation, 

compensatory storage, or other special conditions as the lateral spread of any displaced coastal 

floodwaters within the LSCSF would be de minimis. Id. See Matter of the Meadows at Marina 

Bay, Docket No. 98-006, Final Decision (February 1 8, 1 999), Reconsideration Denied (March 

23, 1999), affd sub nominee Neponset River Watershed Association v. The Meadows at Marina 

Bay, LLC, Civ. No. 99-642, Memorandum of Decision and Order on Cross Motions for 

Judgment on the Pleadings (Nmfolk Super. Ct., December 23, 1 999), aff'd pursuant to Rule 1 :28 

(Mass. App. Ct., November 6, 2000). As the Applicant and the Depmtment correctly 

emphasize, there are no regulatory performance standards for LSCSF. Additional review would 

serve no purpose. 

Although the Petitioner raised many questions about the irrigation pump chamber, the 

prefled direct and rebuttal testimony contain no factual asse1tions that the proposed work is 

outside an already approved area or that the work will have any impact at all on the ability of the 

LSCSF to provide the functions of flood control and storm damage prevention. There has been 

no showing that the project will have m1y impact on flooding from the ocean during coastal 

storms. The storage capacity of the irrigation system may reduce any potential for runoff from 

precipitation at the site, and may reduce overall water use at the site, but these environmental 

benefits are not related to the LSCSF. Impacts from proposed work on the LSCSF are typically 

limited to defection of water from one structure to another nearby or large scale changes in 

elevation. Impacts would not normally occur if there is no change in the elevation, because 

4 The V zone often falls within another coastal resource area, such as a Coastal Dune or Coastal Bank, resource
areas where strict performance standards apply. 3 1 0  CMR 10.28 and 3 1 0 CMR 10.30. The distinction between 
LSCSF and Coastal Bank, th� resource c!reas in this appeal, is i l lustrated in \Vet\ands Program Policy 92-1 :  Coastal 
Banks (March 3, 1 992). 
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water will move across land subject to coastal storm flowage as if there had been no work 

pe1fonned at all. Indeed, for that reason, the use of an RDA to review work in LSCSF is not 

uncommon, provided it is outside other resource areas and outside the V Zone.5 

1 3  

In sum, the Petitioner has not sustained his direct case. The burden of  going forward in a 

wetlands case is placed upon the person contesting the Department's position and must include 

credible evidence from a competent source in support of the position taken. 3 1 0  CMR 1 0.03(2); 

3 10 CMR 10.05(7)(j)3.c. A competent source is a witness who has sufficient expertise through 

education, training, or experience to render testimony on the factual issues on appeal. Matter of 

City of Pittsfield Aiip01t Commission, OADR Docket No. 2010-041,  Reconnnended Final 

Decision (August 1 1 ,  20 10), adopted by Final Decision (August 19,  2010). The Wetlands 

Regulations require that a Petitioner's direct case establish the legal and factual basis for its 

position on each issue. 3 1 0  CMR 1 0.05(7)j.3 .c. Under 3 1 0  CMR 1 .01 (1 1)( e), a directed 

decision may be granted against a party for failure to sustain a direct case where its pre-filed 

testimony and exhibits do not meet its burden of going forward with credible evidence from a 

competent source in support of its position or show no right to relief on its claims as a matter of 

law.6 Where a direct case is insufficient to prevail, dismissal is appropriate. See Matter of

Oxford Housing Authority , Docket Nos. 92-026, 93-008, Final Decision (January 21 ,  1 994), 

Reconsideration denied (February 22, 1 994), affd in part (as to availability ofa directed decision 

and dismissal for failure to sustain the direct case) sub nominee Widen v. Oxford Housing 

5 Practices may vary among Commissions. The Department has recently stated its intent to clarify the regulations
related to LSCSF. All applicants should consider whether and how a local bylaw addresses LSCSF and proceed in 
compliance with local requirements. 

6 See e.g., Matter of Trammell Crow Residential. Docket No. WET-201 0-037, Recommended Final Decision (April
I ,  201 1), adopted by Final Decision (April 2 1 ,  201 1), citing. Matter of Town of Truro, Docket No. 94-066, Final 
Decision (August 2 1 ,  1995), affd sub 110111., \V01ihington v. Town of Truro, tvlemorandum ofDecisiml and Order on 
Plaintiffs Complaint for Judicial Review (Suffol k  Super. Ct., May 30, 1996)). See Matter of Walden Woods, LLC, 
Docket Nos. DEP-04-363 and DEP 04-364, Recommended Final Decision (September 6, 2006), Final Decision 
(December 8, 2006). 
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Authority, Civ. No. WOCV94-004 1 30, Memorandum and Order on Defendant's Motions to 

Dismiss (Worcester Super. Ct., October 20, 1994). 

1 4  

As prior decisions have explained, dismissal for failure to sustain a direct case does not 

deprive the Petitioner of his "day in court." See, M•, Matter of Lawrence Borins, Trustee, Noon 

Hill Realty Trust, Docket No. 98-140, Final Decision, July 22, 1999 and Decision on Motion for 

Reconsideration, August 19, 1999. The Petitioners' direct case must provide credible evidence 

relevant to the governing legal standard. See Matter of the Meadows at Marina Bay, Docket No. 

98-006. Petitioner witnesses sometimes question the sufficiency of information fled about a

project. See Matter of Kenneth Leavitt!Pheeny's Island, Docket No. WET-2012-024, 

Recommended Final Decision (March 28, 20 1 3), adopted by Final Decision (April 2, 2013). 

Although a Commission or the Department may deny a project for lack of sufficient infonnation, 

after an appeal is filed, the burden shifts to the Petitioner to show that proposed work violates 

regulatory pe1formance standards. Id. The work proposed in the RDA was properly reviewed 

and will contribute to the interests of the Act. 

WHETHER THE PETITIONER HAS STANDING 

The Applicant and the Department moved to dismiss the Petitioner's appeal for lack of 

standing because there was no showing that the Petitioner was aggrieved by the Department's 

SDA. Under the Department's regulations, an abutter may request a Superseding Order of 

Conditions but may not file an appeal unless aggrieved by the Department's action. A "person 

aggrieved," as defined in the wetlands regulations, is "any person who, because of an act or 

failure to act by the issuing authority, may suffer an injury in fact which is different either in 

kind or magnitude from that suffered by the general public and which is within the scope of the 
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interests identified in M.G.L. c. 1 3 1 ,  s. 40." 3 1 0  CMR 10.04, 310 CMR 10.05(7)(a)4. In this 

appeal, the Petitioner did not miiculate grounds for standing. 

For purposes of ruling on a Motion to Dismiss for lack of stm1ding, the Petitioner's 

factual allegations in the notice of claim are taken as true. Matter of Covanta Pittsfield, Docket 

No. 20 10-002, Recommended Final Decision (June 30, 20 10), adopted by Final Decision (July 

30, 2010). The sufficiency of the factual showing is satisfied where the allegations of a person 

claiming to be aggrieved demonstrate at least the possibility that the alleged injury would result 

if the activity were allowed. Matter of Lepore, Docket No. 2003-092 and 2003-093, 

Recommended Final Decision (September 2, 2004), adopted by Final Decision (December 3, 

2004); Matter ofWhouley, Docket No. 99-087, Final Decision (May 1 6, 2000).7 An allegation 

of abstract, co11jectural, or hypothetical injury is not sufiicient. Matter of Martin and Kathleen 

Crane, Docket No. 2008-100, Recommended Final Decision (March 30, 2009), adopted by Final 

Decision (March 30, 2009); Matter of Chm·les Doe, Docket No. 97-097, Final Decision (April 

1 5 , 1998); see Ginther v. Commissioner of Insurance, 427 Mass. 3 1 9  (1998); Group Insurance 

Commission v. Labor Relations Commission, 3 81 Mass. 199 (1980); Duato v. Commissioner of 

Pub. Welfare, 359 Mass. 635 (1971) .  

The Petitioner did not provide factual support for a conclusion he is aggrieved due to 

impacts on his property from the work allowed under the SDA to install the irrigation pump 

chamber. Instead, the Petitioner claimed that it was not possible to assess impacts due to a lack 

of documentation about the project. The Applicant, however, filed considerable detail with the 

Request for Determination, and provided additional information in the form of direct testimony. 

7 A person claiming aggrievement is not required to prove the injury would actually occur at the preliminary stage of
a proceeding. Butler v. Waltham, 63 Mass. App. Ct. 435, 441 (2005). "Rather, the plaintifTrnust put forth credible 
evidence to substantiate his allegations. In this context, standing becomes, then, essentially a question of fact for the 
trial judge." Marashlian v. Zoning Bd. of Appeals ofNewbmypmi, 42 1 Mass. 7 1 9, 721 (1 996); see also Matter of 
Town of Hull, Docket No. 88-022, Decision on Motion for Reconsideration of Dismissal (July 19, 1 988). 
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The claim of lack of information seems i n  part intended to support a claim that a Notice of Intent 

should be filed. But the amount of inf01mation in the record as to the pump chamber is 

equivalent, perhaps greater than would typically be expected with a Notice of lntent, particularly 

where the work is not within the buffer zone. In any event, the burden falls on the Petitioner to 

demonstrate that he has standing pursuant to 3 10  CMR 10.05(7)0)2.b.iii. The Petitioner has not 

demonstrated standing, and therefore, the appeal may be dismissed on this alternate ground. 

CONCLUSION 

The Petitioner offered no supp01t for a conclusion that the proposed work related to the 

pump chamber would alter LSCSF so as to affect its capacity for flood control and storm damage 

prevention. The project does not warrant further review and the appeal should be dismissed for 

failure to sustain the case. As an alternate ground for dismissal, the Petitioner has not 

demonstrated standing to pursue this appeal. 1 recommend that the Department's Commissioner 

dismiss this appeal for failure to sustain the case and lack of standing, and make fnal the 

Department's SDA. 

'/-l-w,.uL,� .a 'f/2,..,? 
Pamela D. Harvey 
Presiding Officer 

NOTICE- RECOMMENDED FINAL DECISION 

This decision is a Recommended Final Decision of the Presiding Officer. It has been 

transmitted to the Commissioner for his Final Decision in this matter. This decision is therefore 

not a Final Decision subject to reconsideration under 3 1 0  CivlR l .01(14)(d), and may not be 
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appealed to Superior Comi pursuant to M.G.L. c. 30A. The Commissioner's  Final Decision is 

subject to rights of reconsideration and court appeal and will contain a notice to that effect. 

Because this matter has now been transmitted to the Commissioner, no party shall file a 

motion to renew or reargue this Recommended Final Decision or any part of it, and no pmiy 

shall communicate with the Commissioner' s  office regarding this decision unless the 

Commissioner, in his sole discretion, directs otherwise. 
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Commonwealth of Messachusf>.tts 

Executive Office of Energy & Environmental Affairs 

Department of Environmental Protection 
Ona Winter Street Boston, MA 02108• 017-292-5500 

June 26, 2014 

MAE\11: YAURY8AIUU:TT 
Socrotll!Y 

O•WDW.CASH 

Cuinroi&Gionor 

In the Matter of 
Margaret Reichenbach 

Docket No. WET-2014-001 
file No. SE 15-2058 
Dartmouth 

.FINAL DECISION 

I adopt the Recommended Final Decision of the Presiding Officer. The parties to this 

proceeding are notified of thei r right to file a motion for reconsideration of this decision, 

punmaul lo 310 CMR 1.01(14)(d). The motion must be filed with the Case Administratorand 

scivcd on an parties within seven business days of the postmark date of this decision. A person 

who has the right to seek judicial review may appeal this decision to the Superior Com1 pursuant 

to M.G.L. c. 30A, §14(1 ). The complaint must be filed in the Court within thirty days of receipt 

of this decision. 

f'> ! , 

f . I J / I 

<.4'../--:.ef tdL 
David W. Cash 
Commissioner 

This lnforn�tlon Is a111llablo In an.mat• fo,mat. CaltMldiell, Waten-Ekanem,Olverally Director, atG17•292--�761. TOD# 1-866-�9-7822 or1-617"674•6968 
IAassOEP WP.bsle: VNf# .ffl39S.IJ)vldep 

P�nled on Reeyded Paper 
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COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
EXECUTIVE OFFICE OF ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL AF:B'AIRS 

DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
ONE WINTER STREET, BOSTON, MA 02 108 6 1 7-292-5500 

THE OFFICE OF APPEALS AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

In the Matter of 

Margaret Reichenbach 

September 30, 20 1 4  

Docket No . WET-20 1 4-00 1 
File No. SE I 5-2058 
Dartmouth 

RECOMMENDED FINAL UECISION ON RECONSmERATION 

In this appeal, Timothy Haydock ("Petitioner") challenged a negative Superseding 

Determination of Applicability ("SDA'') issued by the Massachusetts Department of 

Environmental Protection ("Department") related to work on land owned by Margaret 

Reichenbach (the "Applicant") at 29 Mattarest Lane in Dartmouth. The project is subject to 

jurisdiction under the Massachusetts Wetlands Protection Act, G.L. c. I 3 1 ,  § 40 and the 

Wetlands Regulations, 3 1 0  CMR 10 .00. The Dartmouth Conservation Commission 

("Commission") had also issued a negative Determination of Applicabil i ty. After the filing of 

testimony, the Applicant and the Department filed motions for directed decision for fai lure to 

sustain the case and lack of standing, which the Petitioner opposed . A fter a Recommended Final 

Decision, the Department's  Commissioner issued a Final Decis ion that dismissed the Petitioner's 

appeal for failure to sustain his case based on a directed decision in favor of the Applicant and 

the Department and , on alternate grounds, for lack of standing. The Petitioner filed a motion for 

reconsideration of the Final Decision. A motion for reconsideration may be granted only where 

the Final Decision is based upon a finding of fact or conclusion of law that is clearly erroneous. 
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3 10  CMR I .01(14)(d). I recommend that the motion for reconsideration be denied. Because the 

motion reiterates arguments raised at the hearing that were adequately covered in the Final 

Decision, I address only the main points raised by ihe Petitioner. 

First, there are not "many 'non-compliant' issues remaining" for this project as alleged by 

the Petitioner. The Applicant received an Order of Conditions from the Commission to 

demolish an existing single family house and constrnct a new one with landscaping, a retaining 

wall, and a swimming pool in April of 20 I 0. The Order of Conditions for the initial construction 

was not appealed. The Applicant filed a request for an Amended Order of Conditions to allow 

ce11ain relatively minor revisions to the project, including a change in the cmvature of the 

retaining wall, the angle and width of a stairway, and the management of drainage at the site in 

October of 2010. The Commission issued an Amended Order of Conditions allowing this work. 

The Petitioner appealed the Commission's Amended Order. The Depru1ment's Southeast 

Regional Office issued a Supersedlng Amended Order of Conditions to allow the requested 

revisions to the project. A ten residents group, which included the Petitioner in this appeal, filed 

an appeal of the Superseding Amended Order of Conditious. The Petitioners' claims were 

dismissed for failure to sustain the case and because the Petitioners had not met their burden of 

proof based on a consideration of all the evidence. Matter of John and Margaret Reichenbach, 

OADR Docket No. WET-201 1-012, Recommended Final Decision (October 20, 201 1), adopted 

by Final Decision (November 2, 20 l 1 ). 

Apparently in response to concerns raised by the Petitioner to the Commission about 

e(osion and ce11ain work at the site, and multiple visits by the Commission agent, the 

Commission asked the Applicant to file a request for Dete1mination of Applicability. The 

Petitioner then requested an SDA, the Depru1ment issued an SDA, and this appeal ensued. 
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Where work at a site has already been approved, subsequent appeals do not create an oppo1tunity 

to re-visit the same issues. Contrary to the allegations of the Petitioners, there is no loophole for 

future applicants, nor has there been inattention to the work proposed or conducted at this site. 

This proceeding has fully and fairly considered the issues that are properly within the scope of 

this appeal. 

The Petitioner characterized as inaccurate statements in the Recommended Final 

Decision related to the Petitioner' s position on the delineation of the flood plain. Specifically, 

the Petitioner claims that it was the Applicant, not the Petitioner, who disputed the floodplain 

del ineation. The reference in the Recommended Final Decision to the Petitioner's seeking 

another delineation of the floodplain at the site was drawn directly from his notice of cla im, 

which stated that "at issue from the beginning was the very location of the floodplain" and 

pointed to a "discrepancy" between the floodplain delineation provided to the Conservation 

Commission and to the Building Department . Notice of Claim, para. 1 6. Secondly, the 

Petitioner objected to the reference in the Recommended Final Decision to the Petitioner's 

having suggested that discrepancies from grading could affect elevations shown on the plans. I 

was referring to the Petitioner' s statement that "the site plan does not reflect changes to grades 

and drainage as a result of work done . . .  and does not reflect the correct location and grading 

changes." Petitioner's Pre-hearing Conference Statement, para. 4. Neither of these statements in 

the Recommended Final Decision constitutes errors of fact, but instead each attempted to 

incorporate the claims raised by the Petitioner. The question raised as to !he Applicant's 

application to FEMA for a "LOMR-F" related to the basement of the house, apparently filed 

after the Final Decision was issued, i s  not within the scope of this appeal both as to tiing and 
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because the house was approved in the original, unappealed Order of Conditions and cannot be 

raised here. 

4 

The Petitioner renewed his argument that the Depaitment should have followed the 

Amended Order Policy and amended the Superseding Amended Order of Conditions that was 

sustained after the prior appeal was dismissed for failure to sustain the case rather than issue the 

SDA. As stated in the Recommended Final Decision, the Amended Order Policy applies to 

situations where an applicant requests an amendment. Here, the Dmtmouth Conservation 

Commission asked the Applicant to file a Request for Determination of Applicability, and the 

Department adhered to the regulations by issuing the SDA. Although the Petitioner chm·acterizes 

this process as a "loophole" and "discriminatory," in pa1t because the statute and regulations 

governing Determinations provide for a public meeting rather than a public hearing, the 

Determination of Applicability procedures have been used for decades as specified in the 

regulations, 310 CMR 10.05(3). There are no regulatory procedures for the amendment of an 

order of conditions. The Department's issuance of an SDA in light of the Commission's 

Determination of Applicability in response to the Applicant's Request for Determination of 

Applicability was not only not an error oflaw, it fully conformed to the regulations. Id. 

The Petitioner claims that his failure to demonstrate standing is due to the failure of the 

Commission or the Depattment to visit his prope1ty, and asserts that in contrast the Commission 

agent made weekly visits to the Applicant's property. Demonstration of standing, however, falls 

squarely on the person filing a notice of claim. 310 CMR I 0.05(7)(j)(2)(b )iii. The Petitioner is 

correct that either the Commission or the Department could have taken enforcement action if 

either believed there was a violation of the regulations. The Petitioner, however, caimot seek 

enforcement action by the Department through an administrative appeal. Despite the Petitioner's 
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objections, it is settled iaw that the exercise of enforcement discretion l ies with the Department, 

and cannot be compelled through administrative adjud ication .  � y., Matter of Marette & 

Sons, Inc./Mark Rioux , Docket No. WET-201 0-01 5 ,  Recommended Final Decision (September 

1 7, 20 1 0), adopted by Final Decision (October 1 5, 20 10) ;  Matter of Bourne Community 

Boating. Docket No. WET-2009-03 1 ,  Recommended Final Decision, (November 1 9, 2009), 

adopted by Final Decision (December 1 8, 2009), Matter of Christina Pesce, Docket No. 99-044, 

Final Decision (April 14, 2000); Matter of Town of Lexington, Docket No. 2006- 1 84, 

Recommended Final Decision (March 1 9, 2007), adopted by Final Decision (March 23, 2007); 

'l homas M. Dicicco v. DEP, 64 Mass. App. Ct. 423 (2005). The Petitioner has not identified an 

error of law, nor has the Petitioner been denied due process as evidenced by the repeated visits to 

the site by the Commission, the Commission 's review through the Request for Determination , 

the Department's  SDA as requested by the Petit ioner, and this adjudicatory proceeding, also 

requested by the Petitioner. 

CONCLUSION 

I recommend that the Depa11mcnt's Commissioner decline to reconsider the Final 

Decision in this matter. 

P�'ii/4-tvr'z!J 
Pamela D. Harvey 
Presiding Officer 

NOTICE- RECOMMENDED FINAL DECISION ON RECONSIDERATION 

This decision is a Recommended Final Decision on Reconsideration of the Presiding 

Officer. It has been transmitted to the Commissioner for his Final Decision in this matter. This 
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decision is therefore not a Final Decision subject to reconsideration under 3 10 CMR l .0 1 ( 1 4)(e), 

and may not be appealed to Superior Court pursuant to M.G.L. c. 30A. The Commissioner's 

Final Decision may be appealed and will contain a notice to that effect. 
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Commonwealth of Massach.Jsetts 

Executive Offico of Ennrgy & Environmental Affairs 

Department of Environmental Protection 
One Winter Street Boston, MA 02108 • 617-292-5500 
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Govornor 

h1 the Matter of 
Margaret Reichenbach 
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Docket No. WRT-2014-001 
File No. SE 15-2058 
Dartmouth 

,FINAL DECISION ON RECONSIDERATION 
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I adopt the Recommended Decision on Reconsideration of the Presiding Officer. Any 
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From:  
To: 
Subject: 
Date : 

Barbara Moss[brmossdesign@aol .com] 
u l lansull ivan@yahoo.com(ul lansul l ivan@yahoo.coml 
Re: gu ile 
Tue , 26 Oct 20 1 0 2: 1 0: 1 0 PM (UTC} 

To: u l  lansul l ivan(foyahoo.coml ul lansul l ivan  iyahoo.com l 
From: Barbara Moss[brmos de · ign@aol.com] 
Sen t :  Tue I 0/26/20 I O  I 0 :  I 0 :  I O  AM Eastern Standard Time 
Subj ect : Re: gui le 

name of the deer stuf  is t l1 1 ra111 ( spe t h 11g·! 1 1 1 1 s a powder. You mix 11 with Cte<1r Spray Ucfcnsc . 

Troe guy is Ted (loqlh 

jag mar bra men jag. har 111as or all gora och ingcn tid. ,a ar det . . .  v i  scs over hdgcn i a l l fa l l .  Rcich�n drnma borja igjen. vad s nd. 

B. 

Original Message
f rorn: u l l asu l l ivan <ullansu l l ivan@yahoo. onr 
To: bnnossdesign <bnnossdesign@aol .com> 
Sent: Mon. Oct 25 , 20 1 () 8 :47 ;1 1 1 1

uhject : Re: gu i l e  

I i i  Barbarn 
l saw Tim had spray - d  tbe bu hes and trees fi r deer. aga i n  my braincel ls negle t 
me, whut is the name of the spray'! any c hunce you can g ive me the number of the tree guys?

o word from nu ty nn.

I am going down wednesday and stay ing th rue Friduy. the weat her 1s gomg to be mi ld, and I have I 01 )0 t h i ngs Lo do. 

Er du bra ? 

Ulla 

--- On Tue, I 0151 1 O, b rmossdcs ign�aol.com <h1·11111.,·stle�ig11@11111/. co111> wrote: 

From: bm1ossdcsign(tt1aol .com <brmossdl's ign(11 aol .com> 
Subject: Re: gu i le  
To: "u l l a  sul l i van" <u l lnnsu l l ivan(�1yahoo.com> 
Date: Tuesday, October S, 20 1 0. J :09 PM 

I asked Mary ook to keep her eye open. J th i nk Ben t ley w i l l  wr i te someth ing sooner rathcrthan l a ter to g ive thl'm not ice . We may have found an :tddi t iomt l 
r ight of way. They a l l  help. 

B. 
enL via Black Berry by AT&T 
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From: u l .a u l l ivan <ul lansu l l iva n@.yahoo.com'> 
Date: Tue. 5 Oct 20 1 0  04:20: 1 6  -0700 ( P DT) 
To: <brmossdes ign(a1110l .co1r1> 
Subject: Re: gu i le 

l l i Bt1rbara
I am no1 down in 'onqu it yc1 , do you th ink 1 hey w i l l  stait lhe driveway this week '!

U l la 

-- On Mon, 1 0/4/ 1 0, brm11ssdcsign@aol.com <br11111swlesig11@1111/. rn111> wrote: 

From: brmossdesign(!1 1aol .com <cbnnos des ign�/ aol .com> 
Subject :  Re: gul l e  
To: "ul la ul l ivan" <u l l ansul l ivan@yahoo.co111> 
Date: :vtonday, October 4, 20 1 0. 1 0 : 1 2  PM 

We are going 10 torture 1hem!  Jusr you wait and ee . . .  As long as 1hey don't stan bui ld i ng rha1 driveway tomorrow ! U ff  da. 

Vi es over helgen. 
Sent via B lackBerry by T&T 

From: u l la su l l ivan <ul lansu l l ivan(a)yahoo. com> 
Date : Sat. 2 Ocl 20 1 0  1 8 :00:43 0700 ( PDT) 
To: <brmossdesign@aol .com> 

ubj cct: : Re: guile 

Hi Barbara 

I cant te l l  you how I ye l led out loud when I read Benl ley's e mai l .  if I could fiink I ' 
wou ld have celebrated wilh champagne • . . . .  no e1iously I think it a l l  ounds l ike 
there is hope. I th i nk you are so fumas1ik. you could run for office, 

I was so jealous when I read you were in Hadley, . . .  

We just cume home, I am tota l ly  done in, go ing to take a shower and  go to  bed. 

I w i l l  t a l k  to you pa mor11en. 

Ul la  
 On Sat. I 0/2/ 1 0, b rmossdcsign@ aol.com <bm1o�•sd11sig11 a 1111l.<•m11> wrote: 

From: bm1ossdesign(fl!.aol .com <brmossdesign aol .com> 
Subjec1 :  Re: gul le 
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ESSEX, ss. 

COMMONWEAL TH OF MASSACHUSETTS 

THOMAS J. MANNING 

SUPERIOR COURT 
CIVIL ACTION 
No. 17TTCV00715 

ANDREW G. CHRISTENSEN, in his persona! capacity 
and as Trustee Of The Manning Famfty Tru.t 

MEMORANDUM OF DECISION AND ORDER ON DEFENDANT ANDR!W 
CHRISTENSEN'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT (Paper No. 12} 

In this action, plaintiff Thomas J. Manning (8Thomasj1 seeks to recover from

defendant Andrew G. Chris1ensen ("Christensen·) for action Christensen took (or failed 

to take) as successor trustee of the Manning Family Trust C-MFT") during 2015 to 2017. 

Generally speaking, Thomas alleges that Christensen breached his fiduciary du ties as 

successor trustee; committed fraud; was negligent in perfonning his trustee duties; 

interfered with a durable power of attorney granted to Thomas by his mother, Mary 

Manning ("Maryj; and, violated G.L. c. 93A, § 9.2

On December 12, 2019, the Court conducted a hearing on Defendant Andrew 

Christensen's Motion For Summary Judgment (Paper No. 12) ("Motion"). As is fully 

explained below, the Motion is DENIED in part and ALLOWED in part 

1 Given that Thomas Manning shares a last name with other persons involved in the events at 
Issue in this action, the Court will refer to members of Ille Manning family by their first names. 

2 A8 18 discussed below, Thomas brings certain of the clams against Christensen in his 
personal and trustee capacities. 
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ACKGROUND 

The following facts are taken rom he parties' statements of undisputed material 

facts and the summary udgment record . 3  4

Mary had four c ildren: homas,  James Manning ("James") , Diane Blackmore 

("Blackmore") , and Ann Marie (Manning} Greenleaf ("Ann Marie") .  On July 22, 1 991 , 

Mary execute  the MFT Decl ra ion o  Trust ("MFT Instrument") , naming each of her 

four c ildren equal ( e. ,  25%) b nef ciaries  Ex  8  The MFT's sole asset was Mary's 

home ocate  a  1 7  G ay an  Rd. , Lynnf eld , MA ("Mary's Home' ). Further  Mary's 

es a e a  a parently n mi a ed homas to serve in various fiduciary capacities, such 

a  Mary'  p wer o  a o ey, heal hca e pr xy, er onal represe t ive, and guardian  

I  fact, ary appoi ted mas her p wer f a orney  January 20 1 4  b  way of  a 

wri en Durab e Power Of Attorney ("DPO j. 

3 A dition l relevant ac s re d cussed, infra   he Court's scussio  ction

4 As w ll b  discus e , this action was receded by exte sive it atio  in he se  Probate and 
Family Court ("P obate Co rt")  A houg  t e partie  State ent Of Ma er al Fac  ("Statement") 
(Pa er o  12 2) des ribe  even s rela ed o th  litigat on  it ils , in many i sta c s, to et forth 
facts that re ater a  and r l vant o the Court's d i n  For xa p e, Chr stense 's conduct 
r garding he al  o  ary's ome {de ned below) s he subject of many Counts of the 
Comp ai t  Yet, th  S a emen  fa ls o set forth any ac s gard ng th  sale ther than at he 
h use neede  to b  so d t  me t Mary  e ds, C r s n n ersaw h  ale, and th t 
"c n es a were made o  the sale  Thomas's " spute  St tement O  cts (SOF) I ms
et orth  his mo andum in oppo it o  is kewi e reft o  e evant ac s  (See Pa er N  

1 .3)  Moreover, he S te en  spends s gni an  e escri i g ev nts e. , he pro ating of 
Mary's es ate) hat are not mater a  to the sues on summary j dgment  

he Sta e en  is required by Superio  Co  Rul  A(b) 5), which "is an 'anti ferreting  
rule des gned to ass st a trial ju ge in the all-too yp cal si uation in w ch the parties throw a 
foo -h gh mass of und ifferent at d ma erial at the ju ge." Dz am a v  Warne  & Stackp e LLP, 
56 Ma s. App. C . 397, 399 (2002) {citing A M  C pen's Co. v. American T din  & Prod  Cor , 
202 F 3d 469, 471 n 2 ( st Ci  000))  The sp rit o  t e an i e eting goa  of he ule was not 
me  h re  
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BACKGROUND 

The following facts are taken from the parties' statements of undisputed material 

facts and the summary judgment record.3, 4 

Mary had four children: Thomas, James Manning ("James"}, Diane Blackmore 

("Blackmore"), and Ann Marie (Manning) Greenleaf ("Ann Marien). On July 22, 1991, 

Mary executed the MFT Declaration of Trust ("MFT Instrument"}, naming each of her 

four children equal (i.e., 25%) beneficiaries. Ex. 8. The MFT's sole asset was Mary's 

home located at 17 Grayland Rd., Lynnfield, MA ("Mary's Home"). Further, Mary's 

estate plan apparently nominated Thomas to serve in various fiduciary capacities, such 

as Mary's power of attorney, healthcare proxy, personal representative, and guardian. 

In fact, Mary appointed Thomas her power of attorney in January 2014 by way of a 

written Durable Power Of Attorney ("DPOA"). 

3 Additional relevant facts are discussed, infra, in the Court's Discussion section. 

4 As will be discussed, this action was preceded by extensive litigation in the Essex Probate and 
Family Court ("Probate Court"). Although the parties' Statement Of Material Facts ("Statemenn 
(Paper No. 12.2) describes events related to the litigation, it fails, in many instances, to set forth 
facts that are material and relevant to the Court's decision. For example, Christensen's conduct 
regarding the sale of Mary's Home (defined below) is the subject of many Counts of the 
Complaint. Yet, the Statement fails to set forth any facts regarding the sale other than that the 
house needed to be sold to meet Mary's needs, Christensen oversaw the sale, and that 
"concessions" were made for the sale. Thomas's "Disputed Statement Of Facts (SOF) Items" 
set forth in his memorandum in oppasition is likewise bereft of relevant facts. (See Paper No. 
12.3). Moreover, the Statement spends significant time describing events (i.e .• the probating of 
Mary's estate) that are not material to the issues on summary judgment. 

The Statement ls required by Superior Court Rule 9A(b)(5). which "ts an •anti-ferreting' 
rule designed to assist a trial judge in the all-too typical situation in which the parties throw a 
foot-high mass of undifferentiated material at the judge." Dziamba v. Warner & Stackpole LLP, 
56 Mass. App. Ct. 397, 399 (2002) (citing A.M. Capen•s Co. v. American Trading & Prod. Corp .. 
202 F.3d 469, 471 n.2 (1st Cir. 2000}). The spirit of the anti-ferreting goal of the Rule was not 
met here. 
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On March 16, 20 , A  Marie i ed pe itions in the Probate Court seeking the 

appointmen  of a guardian and co serva or on behal  of Mary. Mary was 90 years-old 

and residing in an assisted iving facility. eng hy litiga ion ensued therein, apparently 

pitting Thomas against the hree o her Manning sib ngs. During the litigation, Thomas 

and his siblings agreed to the appointmen  o  riste se , a p racticing attorney, as 

successor trustee of the MF  

On June 25, 2015, the Prob te Cou  formally a ointed Christensen successor 

trustee of the MFT. At the time, Mary's Home needed o be sold o ensure that Mary's 

needs would be met. Consequently, Christe sen ove sa  he arke i g a d a e of the 

house  

On October 13 ,  2015, Thomas, like he three other Manning siblings, ex cu ed 

bene iciary certificate in which he granted Christensen, as trustee, authority o se  

Mary s Home for $ 48,500  

On Oc ober ,  01 5,  Mary d e . he left a Wi  da ed J nuary , 2006. On 

No embe  24, 201 5, ho s filed a pe ition in e Probate Court for o mal proba e o  

Mary's es a e. Ex ibi  4. Ann Marie objec ed to the appointmen  o  Thomas as 

persona  epresentati e and exten ive li igati n e sued  On Ma  26, 0 6, h  Proba e 

Cour  appointed Chri te sen as pecial personal re resen a i e ("SPR") o  ary's 

estate  his romp ed more i iga ion regarding hom s's efforts o remove Chr ste sen 

as the SPR. Because of he litiga ion, Chris ensen a paren l  ser ed as the SPR o  

Mary's estate for only a short period. 
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On March 16, 2015, Ann Marie filed petitions in the Probate Court seeking the 

appointment of a guardian and conservator on behalf of Mary. Mary was 90 years-old 

and residing in an assisted living facility. Lengthy litigation ensued therein, apparently 

pitting Thomas against the three other Manning siblings. During the litigation, Thomas 

and hts siblings agreed to the appointment of Christensen, a practicing attorney, as 

successor trustee of the MFT 

On June 25, 2015, the Probate Court formally appointed Christensen successor 

trustee of the MFT. At the time, Mary's Home needed to be sold to ensure that Mary's 

needs would be met. Consequently, Christensen oversaw the marketing and sale of the 

house. 

On October 13, 2015, Thomas, like the three other Manning siblings, executed a 

beneficiary certificate in which he granted Christensen, as trustee, authority to sell 

Mary's Home for $448,500. 

On October 21, 2015, Mary died. She left a Will dated January 12, 2006. On 

November 24, 2015, Thomas filed a petition In the Probate Court for formal probate of 

Mary's estate. Exhibit 14. Ann Marie objected to the appointment of Thomas as 

personal representative and extensive litigation ensued. On May 26, 2016, the Probate 

Court appointed Christensen as special personal representative f'SPR") of Mary's 

estate. This prompted more litigation regarding Thomas's efforts to remove Christensen 

as the SPR Because of the litigation, Christensen apparently served as the SPR of 

Mary's estate for only a short period. 
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Meanw le, n approximately June 2017, Christensen filed the First and Final 

Trust Accoun  ('Trus  Acc "  on ehalf of the MFT in the Probate Court. Exhibit 1 1 .  

The Trust Account s a es h t e MF  received $462,779.23 from the sale of Mary's 

Home. The Trust A count f her eflects expenditures and distributions of trust assets 

from the MFT  i cludi g pa ia  is ibu ions to the Manning children, payments to 

Christensen for is se ces as tru ee, nd an expenditure related to the repair of the 

septic syste  a  Mary s Home  

On Ju y ,  2017  Ch is e sen iled  Ge er l Trus  Pe i ion ("Petition") in the 

Probate Co rt seeking a decr e lowing t e rus  Account, authorizing distribution of 

the MFT rus  asse s to the beneficia ies, t rmination of the MF , and his discharge s 

rus ee. Ex i it 1 1 .

On Febr ary 20, 201 8, the Proba e Cour  co duc ed a hea i g regarding he 

Peti ion. E hibit 38  Chris en en and homas were rese t or the earing. e Probate 

Court f und hat Tho as " ail d to resent suf icie  e idence c n e ni is objection 

o the Pe ition " E i i  1 . he Probate Court ow d he rust A count  aut orize e 

final d i tri io  o h  Ma ing sibli gs o  he s ets h ld by he MF , a d is ed a 

Decre  And Order Of Genera  rust e ition ("Decree" . However, he Probate our  

speci ic lly and ex licit y did no  disch rg  Chr en en from his duties s tr stee of the 

MFT. 
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Meanwhile, in approximately June 2017, Christensen filed the First and Final 

Trust Account ("Trust Account") on behalf of the MFT in the Probate Court. Exhibit 11. 

The Trust Account states that the MFT received $462,779.23 from the sale of Mary's 

Home. The Trust Account further reflects expenditures and distributions of trust assets 

from the MFT, tncfuding partial distributions to the Manning children, payments to 

Christensen for his seivices as trustee, and an expenditure related to the repair of the 

septic system at Mary's Home. 

On July 21, 2017, Christensen filed a General Trust Petition ("Petition") in the 

Probate Court seeking a decree allowing the Trust Account, authorizing distribution of 

the MFT trust assets to the beneficiaries, termination of the MFT, and his discharge as 

trustee. Exhibit 11. 

On February 20, 2018, the Probate Court conducted a hearing regarding the 

Petition. Exhibit 38. Christensen and Thomas were present for the hearing. The Probate 

Court found that Thomas ''failed to present sufficient evidence concerning his objection 

to the Petition." Exhibit 13. The Probate Court allowed the Trust Account, authorized the 

final distribution to the Manning siblings of the assets held by the MFT, and issued a 

Decree And Order Of General Trust Petition {"Decree"). However, the Probate Court 

specifically and explicitly did not discharge Christensen from his duties as trustee of the 

MFT. 
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THE O PL INT 

A thorough discussion of the allegations in homas's Complain  is warranted 

under the circumstances. 

Although the Comp aint en io s Chris ense 's ole as SPR of Mary's estate, the 

causes of action in the Com lain  relate s lel  o Chris e sen's service as successor 

trustee of the MF . he causes o  ac ion are di e ed at onduc  hat occurred before 

and after Christensen's appointment as us ee. 

With respect to Chris en e 's con uct occur ing be ore his appoin me t as 

successor trustee of the MFT  he C pl in  leges hat Chri e se  misre resen ed 

his experience an  knowledge of real estate con ey ncing and he iduc ary 

responsibili ies of rustees. The Complaint further alleges tha  the misrepresentations 

induced Thomas to assent o Christensen's appointment as successor trustee of MFT. 

Further, the Complain  al leges ha  hris ensen char ed the MFT for wor  he per orme

prior o appoin ment as rustee and failed to disclose that he made cer ain e its to a 

se t e ent agreement ha  the Manning siblings eventually executed during the Proba e 

o r  litiga i

Wit  respect to Chri ense s con c  afte  appointment as tru tee, the 

Co lain  se s fo th myriad al e a ions regardi  Chris ensen's ro e i  the marke i g 

a d sale o  Mary's Home, such as failing to secure a line of credit to use to cover costs 

incurred in readying he house for a e, a ing to ensure th h  home was insured, and 

failing to timely d isclose to pros e ive buyers ha  the se t c ys em an  roo  were i

need of significant repairs. The Complaint further alleges that, after entering into a 

purc ase and sale agree e  wi h pros ec i e bu ers in hich he p rties here o 
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THE COMPLAINT 

A thorough discussion of the allegations in Thomas's Complaint is warranted 

under the circumstances. 

Although the Complaint mentions Christensen's role as SPR of Mary's estate, the 

causes of action in the Complaint relate solely to Christensen's service as successor 

trustee of the MFT. The causes of action are directed at conduct that occurred before 

and after Christensen's appointment as trustee. 

With respect to Christensen's conduct occurring before his appointment as 

successor trustee of the MFT, the Complaint alleges that Christensen misrepresented 

his experience and knowledge of real estate conveyancing and the fiduciary 

responsibilities of trustees. The Complaint further alleges that the misrepresentations 

induced Thomas to assent to Christensen's appointment as successor trustee of MFT. 

Further, the Complaint alleges that Christensen charged the MFT for work he performed 

prior to appointment as trustee and failed to disclose that he made certain edits to a 

settlement agreement that the Manning siblings eventually executed during the Probate 

Court litigation. 

With respect to Christensen's conduct after appointment as trustee, the 

Complaint sets forth myriad allegations regarding Christensen's role in the marketing 

and sale of Mary's Home, such as failing to secure a line of credit to use to cover costs 

incurred in readying the house for sale, falling to ensure that the home was insured, and 

failing to timely disclose to prospective buyers that the septic system and roof were in 

need of significant repairs. The Complaint further alleges that, after entering into a 

purchase and sale agreement with prospective buyers in which the parties thereto 
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agreed the house would be sold "as is," Christe se  isreprese ted o Thomas that a 

discount of $47,575 from the agreed upon sales price was "ordinary," rather than due to 

Christensen's urporte  fai ur  to d isclose the defective condltions prior to entering into 

the purc ase a d sa e agreement. The Complaint also alleges that Christensen 

engaged i  co uct tha  a ored Thomas's siblings and communicated privately with the 

sibli gs abou  MF  mat ers, t s le edly breaching his obligation of impartiality toward 

all t e beneficia ies of he MF  

Coun  I of the C mplai t asserts a cause of ction fo  negligen e sole y against 

Chris ensen in his fiduciary (trus ee  capacity  More specifica ly, Count I a eges that 

Chris ensen was negligent for  inter a/ia, iling to secure he foreme tio ed i e of 

credit, billi g the MF  for work performed prior to appointment as trus ee, fai ing to 

disclose e defective conditions at Mary's Home to prospective buyers, and engaging 

i  a  "erra t ta  appr ac ." 

Count II of the Complain , which i  asserte  agains  Ch is e sen in his personal 

and fiduciary capacities, is e ti l  "Wi l ul Breach Of he Imp i  Co enan  O  Good 

Faith And Fair Dea ing." The ou  views thi  C unt a  a c im fo  willfu  breac  o  

fiduciary d u y under com o  la  On the o e  ha d, C unt VI of the Com laint sets 

ort   a utory bre h o  fiduciary c im brough  pursuan  to the M s ac usetts 

U iform ust Code a  G.L  c  203E, § 10 ,  et seq. ( MU ") , against Christe se

solely in is capacity as trus ee f the MF . 
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agreed the house would be sold "as is," Christensen misrepresented to Thomas that a 

discount of $47,575 from the agreed upon sates price was uordinary," rather than due to 

Christensen's purported failure to disclose the defective conditions prior to entering into 

the purchase and sale agreement. The Complaint also alleges that Christensen 

engaged in conduct that favored Thomas's siblings and communicated privately with the 

siblings about MFT matters, thus allegedly breaching his obligation of impartiality toward 

arl the beneficiaries of the MFT. 

Count l of the Complaint asserts a cause of action for negligence solely against 

Christensen in his fiduciary (trustee) capacity. More specifically, Count I alleges that 

Christensen was negligent for, inter alia, failing to secure the aforementioned line of 

credit, billing the MFT for work performed prior to appointment as trustee, fa!ling to 

disclose the defective conditions at Mary's Home to prospective buyers, and engaging 

in an uerrant tax approach." 

Count II of the Complatnt, which is asserted against Christensen in his personal 

and fiduciary capacities, is entitled "Willful Breach Of The Implied Covenant Of Good 

Faith And Fair Dealing.n The Court views this Count as a claim for willful breach of 

fiduciary duty under common law. On the other hand, Count VI of the Complaint sets 

forth a statutory breach of fiduciary claim brought pursuant to the Massachusetts 

Uniform Trust Code at G.L c. 203E, § 101, et seq. ("MUTC"), against Christensen 

solely in his capacity as trustee of the MFT. 
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Count I l l  of the Com lain  se s ort  a c aim against Christensen solely in his 

capacity as trus ee for he intentiona  inter erence wi h con rac ual re ations. The 

Complaint claims that Chris ense  interfered i h homas's obligations under the 

DPOA, allegedly causi  Th s s perf rma ce n t at role "to be more expensive and 

burdensome," and resul i g in homas incur i g egal fees a d o her unnamed 

expenses  

Count IV of the C m int l lege  hat Chr ten en, in his e sonal and iduciary 

capacities, engaged in r ud  ri r o his poin ment as rustee by misrepresen ing his 

experience and knowled e f e l e a e conveyanci g and the fiduciary responsibilities 

f tr s ees, nd statin  th t e wou d ac  imp r i ly whe  admi is ering he MF  he 

Complaint further alleges that Christensen's aforementioned conduct re ated to the 

reduction in the sales price of Mary's Home was fraudulent. 

Finally, Count V o  th  Complaint lleges t at C ristens n's raud lent conduc  

violated .L. . 93A, § 9  ha  aim is br ught against C riste sen in his personal and 

fiduciary ca acities. 

D S US ION 

. SUM ARY JUDGMEN  S ANDARD 

A motion or ummar  udgmen  may be r nted "i  he le dings, depositions, 

answers to interrogatorie , and res onses to r quests for adm ission under Rule 36, 

together with the affidavi s  if a y, sh w h ere is o genu ne issue s to ny materi

fact and that the moving party is entit ed to a judgment as a matter  law." Ma . R. 

Civ. P. 6 c). 'The moving party has the burden of demonstrating affirmatively the 

absence of a genuine i ue o  materia  f ct on e ery re evant issue, reg rdless f who 
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Count Ill of the Complaint sets forth a claim against Christensen solely in his 

capacity as trustee for the intentional interference with contractual relations. The 

Complaint claims that Christensen interfered with Thomas's obligations under the 

DPOA, allegedly causing Thomas's performance in that role "to be more expensive and 

burdensome," and resulting in Thomas incurring legal fees and other unnamed 

expenses. 

Count IV of the Complaint alleges that Christensen, in his personal and fiduciary 

capacities, engaged in fraud prior to his appointment as trustee by misrepresenting his 

experience and knowledge of real estate conveyancing and the fiduciary responsibilities 

of trustees, and stating that he would act impartially when administering the MFT. The 

Complaint further alleges that Christensen's aforementioned conduct related to the 

reduction in the sales price of Mary's Home was fraudulent 

Finally, Count V of the Complaint alleges that Christensen's fraudulent conduct 

violated G.L. c. 93A, § 9. That ciaim is brought against Christensen in his persona! and 

fiduciary capacities. 

DISCUSSION 

A. SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD 

A motion for summary judgment may be granted "if the pleadings, depositions, 

answers to interrogatories, and responses to requests for admission under Rule 36, 

together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material 

fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. n Mass. R. 

Civ. P. 56(c). "The moving party has the burden of demonstrating affirmatively the 

absence of a genuine issue of material fact on every relevant issue, regardless of who 

Page7 of 20 



would hav1 the burden on that Issue at trta1.· Arcidi v. NAGE. Inc., 447 Mass. 616, 619 

(200e). The party opposing summary judgment must respond and allege apedftc flCtl 

ntabflahlng the exlstencs of a genuine issue of material fact for trial. Polaroid Co[Q. v. 

Bolffnt Envtl, Serys. !N,J.). Inc., 416 Mass. 684,696 (1993). Moreover, "O]n deciding 1 

motion for summary judgment, the motion judge must consider all factual allegatlona, 

and draw all reasonable inferences therefrom, in favor of the nonmoving party.• Godfl'e)l 

v, Globe �aper Co., Inc., 457 Mass. 113, 119 (2010); see also Willitts v. Roman 

Catholc ArchbishQp of Boston. 411 Mass. 202, 202 (1991) (any conflicts in the 

supporti,g materials are answered in favor of the non-movant). However, although the 

Col.It views the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, it does not 

weigh evidence, assess credibiily, or find facts. DrakopocJos v. United States Bank 

Nat't Ass'n, 465 Mass. ns. 788 (2013), quoting O'Connor v. Redstone, 452 Mass. 537, 

550 (2008}. 

B.THE LEGAL EFFECT OF THE DECREE ON THOMAS'S CLAIMS

Christensen argues that an award of damages to Thomas is precluded by the 

Decree issued by the Probate Court approving the Trust Account In essence, 

Christensen argues that the damages Thomas seeks relate to Christensen's receipt and 

disbt.nement of trust foods that were approved by the Probate C<Ut in the Decree. In 

so approving the Trust Account, the Probate Court necessarily found that Christensen's 

actions il administering the MFT and items reflected on the Trust Account were proper. 

See generaly Kinion v. Rley. 310 Mass. 338,340.341 (1941) (in seeking the alowance 

of an Account, the fiduciary must show he discharged his duties with reasonable skill, 

prudence, and sound judgment); In re E.P., 2017 Mass. App. Unpub. LEXIS 940, *2 
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{October 26, 2017) (in a proceeding regarding approval of an Account, •the burden of 

proof 'is on the accountant, ... to prove that [s]he has disposed property of the amoL11t 

for which [s]he is accountable, and to show what that amount ls.j (citations omitted). 

Christensen, therefore, argues that there is no reasonable Ukeflhood that Thomas will 

recover any damages in this matter and summary judgment should enter on his behalf 

on all counts of the Complaint. 

More specifically, citing the case of Jackson v. United States Trust Co., 361 

Mass. 333 (1972); Christensen argues that given the Decree entered after a hearing in 

the Probate Court, Thomas is precluded from attacking the propriety of the receipts and 

disbursements set forth in the Trust Account. However, Christensen's relianoe on 

Jackson is somewhat misplaoed because that case applied G.l. c. 206, § 24, which has 

since been repealed. Section 24 made decrees allowing ACCOtllts unimpeachable 

"'except for fraud or manifest error.'• Jackson, 361 Mass. at 339 (quoting G.L. c. 206, § 

24). 

Supplemental Probate and Family Court Rule 72 now governs the procedure for 

the allowanoe of Trust Accounts. Rule n states, in pertinent part, that 

A Decree and Order entered after hearing shall be subject to the 
provisions of Rule 60 of the Supplemental Rules of the Probate and 
Family Court (except that the standard governing any relief under 
Rule 60(b) shall be fraud or manifest error and Rule 60(b)(3) shall 
not apply). 

Supplemental Probate and Family Court Rule 72(c)(6) (emphasis added).5

1 Supplemental Probate n FamDy Court Rule 60 provides, in pertinent part, that "motions for
relief from Judgment or order shall be governed by Mass. R. Civ. P. 60. • 
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Therefore, Thomas ii not entitled to recover damages in this action related to 

Chrfltensen's conduct in generating the receipts and expenditures set forth in the Trust 

Account. He must pursue those damages under Rule 60 i1 the Probate Court. To 

decide otherwise would permit an impermissible colateral attack on the -Oeaee. See 

Tompkins v. Tompkins. 65 Mass. App. Ct. 487. 493 (2006} (citing Pavlik v. Dmytryck, 6 

Mass. App. Ct. 915. 916 (1978) (action in Land Court was impermissible collateral 

attack on Probate Court judgment; even assuming Probate Court lacked authority for 

order, where judgment has entered, parties are limited to timely appeal a- other direct 

challenge to Probate Court judgment)).6 

The question remains whether the record shows that Thomas has a reasonable 

likelihood of recovering damages in this matter related to Christensen's actions (and 

inaction) that were not the subject of receipts and expendlues approved by the 

Probate Court in the Trust Account For his part, Thomas argues that he has suffered 

8 During ·the Probate Cout hearing on February 20, 2018, the judge stated, "In terms of 
discharge of the trustee, you're discharged <11 the account - but It doesn't have any impact on 
the Superior Court action ... and then whatever Is going on in the Superior Court, Is going on In 
the Superior Court .... • (Exhibit 38). Thomas argues that this statement by the judge shows 
she intended to ensure that the Decree would not have predusive effect In ttis action. The 
Court disagrees. The judge was simply acknowledging that the Decree would not disch•ge 
Christensen from his duties as trustee of the MFT, something she explicitly ensured by strikilg 
Order No. 3 on the Decree, wtich would have discharged Ch11tenaen from his duties. l'hla
Court's reasoning is further supported by the judge's finding in the Decree that Thomas failed to 
present sufficient evidencing concerning hi& objections to the Petition. At bottom, the tme for 
Thomas to dispute, for e.g., the adequacy of the sales price of Mary's Home was when he 
objected to the alowaice of the Trtat Account and prior to the Issuance of the Decree. 
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damages "related to the discounted sale of [Mary s Home] ," ees charged by

Christensen as SPR, and "personal loss of the pos on il led t  him by is mother. "7• 8

At bottom, given the legal effect of the Decree, Thom  s not e t ed  recover 

damages in th is action for any co duc  Chris ensen engaged in as trustee related to the 

items set forth in the Trust Ac unt. Thus, as is discussed below, the Court will closely 

examine the record eviden e o  the da ages Thomas claims he suffered in this action . 

However, as s als  d sc ss  be w, the Decree is not dispositive of the issue of 

da ges because homas all g  certa n con uct Ch stensen engaged In before he 

was appointed trustee caus d h m ha m i .e.  c duct tha  is ot reflected in the items 

iste  on the rus  Acc unt)

HE M SSACH SETT  U IFO M U  C DE 

he next l ga  issue the Court mu t ddress s wheth r the M C ap lies to t e 

conduc  and vents at issue in his case  e Cou  concl des th t the M C oes 

p y. 

" h  [M ] was passe  as a  emer ency c  on  Jul  8, 20 2, effe ive the 

same date, and a pl e  o 'a l tr sts created efore, on or after the effe tive da e' and to 

'all judi ial proceedi gs concerni g trus s commenced on or a er the effective date."' 

Passero v. Fitzsimmons, 2 Mass. App. Ct. 76, 79 n .7 (20 7) ( uoting St  2012 ,  c. 140,  

7 Thomas alleges he suffered the following damages: "Unnecessary Trustee Fees" of $ 230; 
ces ve us ee es� $ 1 ; " r s ee M mana ement/Misrep sentat on/othe  of 

$14,409; • xpe ses  To SPR i ep e en ons/Other" of $6284; "Car Storage Costs" of 
$1 200; and, "Los  Of xecutor Position: Personal An  Financial Lossn of $29,822  Exhi it 3 1 ,  p  
1 5. However, h s descr ption of the damag s is vague an  hard o ecip er

8 Thomas's citation to his affidavit at Exhibit 56 regarding he damages he has ustained is no  
helpful to the Court because, although he affidav  states ha  homas has pre a ed "a de ailed  
itemized spreadsheet of actual and estimated damages," he fai ed to include the spreadsheet n 
the summary judgment record . 
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damages "related to the discounted sale of [Mary's Home]," fees charged by 

Christensen as SPR, and "personal loss of the position willed to him by his mother."7• 8 

At bottom, given the legal effect of the Decree, Thomas is not entitled to recover 

damages in this action for any conduct Christensen engaged in as trustee related to the 

items set forth in the Trust Account. Thus, as is discussed below, the Court will closely 

examine the record evidence of the damages Thomas claims he suffered in this action. 

However, as is also discussed below, the Decree is not dispositive of the issue of 

damages because Thomas alleges certain conduct Christensen engaged in before he 

was appointed trustee caused him harm (i.e., conduct that is not reflected in the items 

listed on the Trust Account). 

C. THE MASSACHUSETTS UNIFORM TRUST CODE 

The next legal issue the Court must address is whether the MUTC applies to the 

conduct and events at issue in this case. The Court concludes that the MUTC does 

apply . 

.. The [MUTCJ was passed as an emergency act on July 8, 2012, effective the 

same date, and applies to 'all trusts created before. on or after the effective date' and to 

'air judicial proceedings concerning trusts commenced on or after the effective date."' 

Passerov. Fitzsimmons, 92 Mass. App. Ct. 76, 79 n.7 (2017) (quoting St. 2012, c. 140, 

7 Thomas alleges he suffered the following damages: "Unnecessary Trustee Fees· of $1230: 
"Excessive Trustee Fees" of $1015; 'Trustee Mismanagement/Misrepresentation/other" of 
$14,409; "Expenses Due To SPR Misrepresentations/Other' of $6284: "Car Storage Costs" of 
$1200; and, •Loss Of Executor Position: Personal And Financial Loss" of $29,822. Exhibit 31, p. 
15. However, his description of the damages is vague and hard to decipher. 

8 Thomas's citation to his affidavit at Exhibit 56 regarding the damages he has sustained is not 
helpful to the Court because, although the affidavit states that Thomas has prepared "a detailed, 
itemized spreadsheet of actual and estimated damages," he failed to include the spreadsheet in 
the summary judgment record. 
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§ 66)). This action was com enced in 20 7. hus, "[t]here [should be] no dispute that

the code governs this [conso ida ed] a ion." Jd. 

D. THE CAUSES OF ACT ON FOR BREACH O  FIDUCIARY DUTY
(COUNTS II AND Vil 

As stated, Counts I I  and VI of t e Com aint assert c aims for breach of fiduciary 

duty. "To establish a breach o  fidu iary y, here mus  be  d y owed o the p aintiff 

by the defendan  and in ry o t e plai tiff roxima e  cau ed by he b each." Es a e of 

Moulton v. Puopolo, 467 Ma s. 4 8, 4 3 (201  ( itin  Z mmerman v. Bog ff, 02 

Mass. 650, 660 (1988) . hus, " he pla ntiff[] must show ( 1 )  the exis ence o  a f duciary 

duty; (2) b each of that duty; (3) damage ; and (4  a ca a  connection between breach 

of the duty and he damages." Baker . Wi er Cu ler P ckering Hale & Dorr LLP, 91 

Mass. App. C . 835, 42 0 7) (ci ation omit ed  

1. Duties Of Christensen As Trustee

Chr s e sen argues ha  sum ary judgmen  on Count  I (neg igence), I I  

(common law breach of fiduciary duty), and VI (statutory breach of fiduciary duty) of  he 

Complaint sho ld enter n his be al  becau e Thomas has failed to resent expert 

evidence regarding "the s andards applicab e o a [t] ustee . . .  which are not matters 

within he know e ge o  a l  person " efendan  Andrew Christensen's Memorandum 

O  aw In Suppor  Of His Mo ion For Summary Judgmen  (Paper No. 1 2. 1 )  

("Memorandum Of Law''), p .  1 5 , ,r 2  However, this argument i s  misplaced because e 

duties owed by a rustee to beneficiaries are exp icit y set forth in he law n  r  si y 

understood in the circumstances of this case. 

In genera , under the MU C, "the rustee sha l administe  he t us  in good ai h, 

in accordance with its terms and purposes and the interests o  the beneficiaries and in 
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§ 66)). This action was commenced in 2017. Thus, "[!]here [should be] no dispute that 

the code governs this [consolidated] action." Id. 

D. THE CAUSES OF ACTION FOR BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY 
(COUNTS II AND Vll 

As stated, Counts II and Vl of the Complaint assert claims for breach of fiduciary 

duty. ~To establish a breach offiductary duty, there must be a duty owed to the plaintiff 

by the defendant and injury to the plaintiff proximately caused by the breach." Estate of 

Moulton v. Puopolo, 467 Mass. 478, 493 (2014) (citing Zimmerman v. Bogoff, 402 

Mass. 650, 660 (1988)). Thus, nthe plaintiff[] must show (1) the existence of a fiduciary 

duty; (2) breach of that duty; (3} damages; and (4) a causal connection between breach 

of the duty and the damages." Bakerv. WHmer Cutler Pic.kering Hale & Dorr LLP. 91 

Mass. App. Ct. 835, 842 (2017) (citation omitted). 

1. Duties Of Christensen As Trustee 

Christensen argues that summary judgment on Counts I {negligence), II 

(common law breach of fiduciary duty), and VI (statutory breach of fiduciary duty) of the 

Complaint should enter on his behalf because Thomas has failed to present expert 

evidence regarding ~the standards applicable to a [t]rustee ... which are not matters 

within the knowledge of a lay person." Defendant Andrew Christensen's Memorandum 

Of Law In Support Of His Motion For Summary Judgment (Paper No. 12.1) 

("Memorandum Of Law"), p. 15, 12. However, this argument is misplaced because the 

duties owed by a trustee to beneficiaries are explicitly set forth in the law and are easily 

understood in the circumstances of this case. 

In general, under the MUTC, "the trustee shall administer the trust in good faith, 

in accordance with its terms and purposes and the interests of the beneficiaries and in 
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accordance with [the MUTC]." G L  c. 203E, § 801 . Mor v r, " u]nder he [MUTC], a 

trustee has a duty 'to administer the trust as a prudent erson w l ,  onsi ering he 

purposes, terms and other circumstances of the tru  In sa sfying his standard ,  the 

trustee shall exercise reasonable care ,  ski l and caut o  G L  . 203E, § 804. A trus ee 

must at all times 'administer the trust sole y in the in erests  t e beneficiaries '  Id .  § 

802(a) . "  Passero v  Fitzsimmons. 92 Mass  App  Ct  76  79 - 80 (201 7). Also, "[iJf a trus

has 2 o r  more beneficiaries, the trustee shall act imp rtiall  i  nves i g , ana ing an  

s i u in  the t us  property, givin  due regard o the beneficiaries' respective 

n e t " .L c  203E, § 803  Furthermore, he trustee has duties to inform and report 

ertain i for tion o he bene iciaries, G L. c  203E, § 81 3,  and to "exercise a 

d scret onary power in good fa h and in accordance wi h the terms and purposes of the 

r s  and he interests o  the bene iciaries " G.L. c. 203 ,  8 4(a).9 

A  bottom, [a] violation by a trus ee o  a duty the rustee owes to a beneficiary 

shall be a breach of us .' Id § 1 001 (a)." Passero, 2 Mass  App  C  at 80  Un ke the 

examp es argued y Chri ensen s ch as the standard of care requi ed of an enginee

9 Although the MUTC controls, 1t]he common law of trusts and principles of equ ity shall 
supplement this chapter, except to the extent modified by [the MUTC] or any other general or 
special law " G L c  203 , § 1 06. he ommon a  fi u iary ut es o  a t stee a  sim lar o 
th se set rth in he MU C. Se  Resta ement Thi d  Trus , §§ 76 79 (s t ing forth he duties 

 prud nce, loyal y  im rtial ty  and h  duty to administe  a r  in a c ance w th its terms 
and applicable law) . 

Page 13 of 20 

292

accordance with [the MUTC]." G.L. c. 203E, § 801. Moreover, "[u]nder the [MUTC], a 

trustee has a duty 'to administer the trust as a prudent person would, considering the 

purposes, terms and other circumstances of the trust. In satisfying this standard, the 

trustee shall exercise reasonable care, skill and caution.' G.L. c. 203E, § 804. A trustee 

must at all times 'administer the trust solely in the interests of the beneficiaries.' Id. § 

802(a)." Passero v. Fitzsimmons. 92 Mass. App. Ct. 76, 79- 80 (2017). Also, "[ilf a trust 

has 2 or more beneficiaries. the trustee shall act impartially in investing, managing and 

distributing the trust property, giving due regard to the beneficiaries' respective 

interests." G.L. c. 203E, § 803. Furthermore, the trustee has duties to inform and report 

certain information to the beneficiaries, G.L. c. 203E, § 813, and to "exercise a 

discretionary power in good faith and in accordance wtth the terms and purposes of the 

trust and the interests of the beneficiaries." G.L. c. 203E, § 814(a).9 

At bottom, "'[a] violation by a trustee of a duty the trustee owes to a beneficiary 

shall be a breach of trust.' Id.§ 1001(a)." Passero. 92 Mass. App. Ct. at 80. Unlike the 

examples argued by Christensen such as the standard of care required of an engineer 

9 Although the MUTC controls, "{t]he common law of trusts and principles of equity shall 
supplement this chapter, except to the extent modified by [the MUTCJ or any other general or 
special law." G.L. c. 203E, § 106. The common law fiduciary duties of a trustee are similar to 
those set forth in the MUTC. See Restatement Third, Trusts, §§ 76 - 79 (setting forth the duties 
of prudence, loyalty, impartiality, and the duly to administer a trust in accordance with its terms 
and applicable law). · 
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or attorney, the du ies requ ed o  a t ustee are clearly expressed in the law and do not 

involve issues of fact tha  are b yond the ordinary understanding of laypersons. 10  1 1  

2 .  Application Of The E culpat ry C ause  h  F  Instrument 

Christensen argues hat he is sh ld  from liabil y o Thomas n er he 

following exculpatory clause in the MF  Instrumen : No Trustee shall be require  to 

give bond nor be liable except for his own willful breach of trust" Exhibit 8 ,  ,r 4
(emphasis a ded)

" he [MUTC] renders a trustee exculpatory cl use 'unenforce ble to the extent 

that it . . .  relieves the trustee of liabil ity for breach of trust committed in bad faith or with 

re kless ndi erence to he purposes of the rust or e i teres s o  the bene ciaries."' 

Passero, 92 Mass. App. Ct  a  8  (quo ing G.L. c. 203E, § 1 008(a)(1 )) . 12 "In addi ion, he 

c se law has long defined the phrase 'wilfu  de aul ' to include acts committed 'with 

reckless indifference to the interest of the beneficiary "' Id. (quoting New E gland Trus  

Co. v. Paine  3 7  Mass. 542, 548  550 (1 945)) . 

° h ensen r on usly con ate  h  standa d of care o  an t rne  requ red n a ega
malp actice acti n and the stan a  o  care o  an orn  e ing a  a rustee  Mor o e  he 
has ailed to cite any law tha  supp rt  his prop siti n that expert te t m ny s n ed d to 
e ta h a reach o  du y by  trus ee  

1  Chr ens n'  argum nt that expert stim ny is requ ed in support of T omas's claim or 
viola ion  Chapter 93A (Count V) and fraud (Count IV) fails or the same reas n  

1  Ac ord g to t e MUTC
(a) A e  of a trus  r ievin   trustee f iab i y r breach of trus  sha l be
unen orceable  the xte  that it

( } relieves the tr stee of iab ty for breach of trust committed n bad 
faith or with reckless indifference to the rposes of the trust or the 
interests of he benef ciaries; or 
(2) was inse ed as the result of an abuse by he rustee of a id ary

co fi ential re a ions ip to e se o .
G L. c  203 , § 008
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or attorney, the duties required of a trustee are clearly expressed in the law and do not 

involve issues of fact that are beyond the ordinary understanding of laypersons_ 10. 11 

2. Application Of The Exculpatory Clause In The MFT Instrument 

Christensen argues that he is shielded from liability to Thomas under the 

following exculpatory clause in the MFT Instrument: "No Trustee shall be required to 

give bond nor be liable except for his own willful breach of trust." Exhibit 8, ,r 4 

(emphasis added). 

"The [MUTC] renders a trustee exculpatory clause ·unenforceable to the extent 

that it ... relieves the trustee of liability for breach of trust committed in bad faith or with 

reckless indifference to the purposes of the trust or the interests of the beneficiaries."' 

Passero, 92 Mass. App. Ct. at 81 (quoting G.L. c. 203E, § 1008(a)(1 )).12 "In addition, the 

case law has long defined the phrase 'wilful default' to include acts committed 'with 

reckless indifference to the interest of the beneficiary."' Id. (quoting New England Trust 

Co. v. Paine, 317 Mass. 542. 548, 550 (1945)). 

1° Christensen erroneously conflates the standard of care of an attorney required in a legal 
malpractice action and the standard of care of an attorney serving as a trustee. Moreover, he 
has falled to cite any law that supports his proposition that expert testimony is needed to 
establish a breach of duty by a trustee. 

11 Christensen's argument that expert testimony is required in support of Thomas's claim for 
violation of Chapter 93A (Count V) and fraud (Count IV) fails for the same reasons. 

12 According to the MUTC: 

(a) A term of a trust relieving a trustee of liability for breach of trust shall be 
unenforceable to the extent that it: 

(1} relieves the trustee of liability for breach of trust committed in bad 
faith or with reckless indifference to the purposes of the trust or the 
Interests of the beneficiaries: or 
(2} was inserted as the result of an abuse by the trustee of a fiduciary 
or confidential relationship to the settler. 

G.L. c. 203E, § 1008. 
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Thus, with respect to Counts II (commo  law breac  o  fid iary duty) and VI 

(statutory breach of fiduciary duty) of the Comp ain , t e iss e b fore the Court on 

summary judgment related to the excu patory clause is whe her t er  is e ord 

evidence, weighed in the ligh  most favorable o omas, tha  Ch is ens n ac ed in bad 

faith or with reckless indifference. 

Christensen's argument on summary j dgmen  on his poin  is c c ry and 

unhelpful  In fac , after setting forth t e aw rega din  the a ication f t us  exc lpa ory

clauses, Chris ensen simply states here is no ec rd evidence ha  he i e ded o 

cause loss, or acted in bad faith or wi h reckless indi ference. See Me o andu  Of 

Law, p. 4, las  ,i. A  bottom ,  his argu e  is w efu ly deficien , concl s ry, a d a king 

in citation to the record. It is the moving party's burden to demons rate an absence of 

material fact on this issue. Chris ensen has failed to carr  is burde . See NG Brothers 

Cons uction. In  v. Cranney  436 Mass. 638, 644 ( 02) ("The moving party bears the 

burden o  affi matively demonstrating that here is no triable issue of fact."); 

Ko rouva i is v. Ge eral Motors Corp . 4 0 Mass  706  716 ( 1991 )  (party moving or 

summary judgment on claim where opposing party has burden of proo  a  rial bears 

burden of affirmatively presenting set of undisputed fa s t a  en itle im o judgment as 

matter of law or demonstrating that opposing party has no reasonable expectation of 

p oving essential elemen  o  c aim). 

However, as s ated a ove, he Court must als  de ermine whether he reco d 

reflects that, in light o  he De ree, Th mas has a easonable x e ation f recove i g 

damages due to Christensen's a leged breach of iduciar  d ies. T e Court con udes 

ha  e rec r  e i ence does not show Thomas has such a n  expectation. For example, 
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Thus, with respect to Counts I! (common law breach of fiduciary duty) and VI 

(statutory breach of fiduciary duty) of the Complaint, the issue before the Court on 

summary judgment related to the exculpatory clause is whether there is record 

evidence, weighed in the light most favorable to Thomas, that Christensen acted in bad 

faith or with reckless Indifference. 

Christensen's argument on summary judgment on this point is conclusory and 

unhelpful. ln fact, after setting forth the law regarding the application of trust exculpatory 

clauses, Christensen simply states there is no record evidence that he intended to 

cause loss, or acted in bad faith or with reckless indifference. See Memorandum Of 

Law, p. 14, last ,i. At bottom, this argument is woefully deficient, conclusory, and lacking 

in citation to the record. It is the moving party's burden to demonstrate an absence of 

material fact on this issue. Christensen has failed to carry his burden. See NG Brothers 

Construction, inc. v. Cranney. 436 Mass. 638. 644 (2002) ("The moving party bears the 

burden of affirmatively demonstrating that there is no triable issue of fact. n); 

Kourouvacilis v. General Motors Corp., 410 Mass. 706, 716 (1991) {party moving for 

summary judgment on claim where opposing party has burden of proof at trial bears 

burden of affirmatively presenting set of undisputed facts that entitle him to judgment as 

matter of law or demonstrating that opposing party has no reasonable expectation of 

provfng essential element of claim). 

However, as stated above, the Court must also determine whether the record 

reflects that, in light of the Decree, Thomas has a reasonable expectation of recovering 

damages due to Christensen's alleged breach of fiduciary duties. The Court concludes 

that the record evidence does not show Thomas has such an expectation. For example, 
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Thoma 1rgue1 that Christensen breached his fiduciary duty by not maximizing the 

11111 P• of Mary'a Home and by engaging in •an errant tax approach." However, the 

Oea'ee has established the propriety of the amounts received by the MFT for the sale of 

tti. hOUII and the Wff paid by it 

As such, so much of the Motion requesting summary judgment on Christensen's 

behalf on Counts U and VI is ALLOWED. 

E. THE CAUSE OF ACTION FOR NEGLIGENCE (COUNT I)

As stated, Count f of the Complaint asserts a claim for negUgence against 

Christensen solely ii his capacity as trustee of the MFT. Thomas alleges that 

Christensen acted negligently in performing his duties as trustee. However, under 

common law and the MUTC a t  G.L. c. 203E, § 1008, the exculpatory clause shields 

Christensen from liability for negligence because "(p]roof of negligence would not be 

proof of wlful misconduct." Second Bank-State Street Trust Co. v. Linsley. 341 Mass. 

113, 118 (1960) (citing Paine, 317 Mass. at 548-550}. 

As such, so much of the Motion requesting summary judgment on Christensen's 

behalf on Count 1 of the Complaint is ALLOWED. 13 

F. THE CAUSE OF ACTION FOR INTEFERENCE WITH
CONTRACTUAL RELATIONS (COUNT Ill)

As stated, Count Ill of the Complaint alleges that Christensen (solely in his 

capacity as trustee) intentionally interfered with Thomas's performance of his 

obligations under the DPOA Thomas alleges that this conduct caused his performance 

under the DPOA "to be more expensive and burdensome." Christensen argues that 

,s Also, for tJ-e same reasons as stated above, the reoord does not contain evidence to show 
that Thomas has a reasonable expectation of recovering damages for the negligence claim. 
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summary judg e  must e er  his behal  on this c aim because Thomas has no 

reasonable expectation of proving h  "h  was prevented rom performing under the 

DPOA." Memor ndu  Of L w, p .  9. I  essence, Christensen argues that a claim for 

intentiona  inter erenc  wi h con r c ual re ations requires e idence hat Christensen's 

conduct caused  part  o he DPOA o not er or  his or her ont actual obligations. 

The Cour  rees. 

"'To prev il n  im  o ious interference with  on rac , a p ain iff mus

es ab is  tha  '(1  he had a contrac  with a thi  par y; ( ) he de nd n  nowingly 

induced he hird party to bre k t t ntr ct; (3) e defend 's nt rference, in 

a ditio  o bein  intention l, w s imprope  in motive or mea s; nd (4  he intif  w s 

harmed by he de endant's actions."' Wei er v. Portfo ioScope  Inc., 69 Mass  75, 84 

(201 ) (citations omitted) (emphasis added); see also Draghetti v. Chmielewski. 416 

Mas . 808, 8 6 (1994) (s m )  O  i s f ce, homas's llega io s may pear o be 

suf i ien . See Sha i  . Stee e, 4 1 Mass. 365, 369 2000) ("'One who intentio a y an

imprope ly int rferes wit  t e erfo man e o ontrac  . .  be ween o he  an  a hird 

ers n, by reve tin  the other from per orming the contract or causing his 

perf an  to be m re exp nsiv r burd nsome, is subject o liability o the other 

for e pecu iary oss r s in  o him "') (quotin d adop i g Restatement (Second) 

o orts § 766A) emphasis ad e ). How ver, the "breaking" of the contract is an

es en ial element o  the tor  o  int rferen nd T omas concedes that, notwi hstanding 

Christe sen's u por ed inter re ce, e as ble o p orm his " on r u l" 
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summary judgment must enter on his behalf on this claim because Thomas has no 

reasonable expectation of proving that ~he was prevented from performing under the 

DPOA." Memorandum Of Law, p. 19. In essence, Christensen argues that a claim for 

intentional interference with contractual relations requires evidence that Christensen's 

conduct caused a party to the DPOA to not perform his or her contractual obligations. 

The court agrees. 

"1"" o prevail on a claim of tortious interference with a contract, a plaintiff must 

establish that '(1) he had a contract with a third party; (2) the defendant knowingly 

induced the third party to break that contract; (3) the defendant's interference, in 

addition to being intentional, was improper in motive or means; and (4) the plaintiff was 

hanned by the defendant's actions."' Wejler v. Portfo!loScope, Inc., 469 Mass. 75, 84 

(2014) (citations omitted) (emphasis added); see also Draghetti v. Chmielewski, 416 

Mass. 808, 816 (1994) (same). On its face, Thomas's allegations may appear to be 

sufficient. See Shafir v. Steele, 431 Mass. 365, 369 (2000} {'"One who intentionally and 

improperly interferes with the performance of a contract ... between another and a third 

person, by preventing the other from performing the contract or causing his 

performance to be more expensive or burdensome, is subject to liability to the other 

for the pecuniary loss resulting to him."') (quoting and adopting Restatement (Second) 

of Torts § 766A) (emphasis added). However, the ~breaking~ of the contract is an 

essential element of the tort of interference and Thomas concedes that, notwithstanding 

Christensen's purported interference, he was able to perform his mcontractual" 
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obllgatlone under the DPOA 14 Moreover, Thomas does not point to any record

evidence 1howlng damages he actually suffered from the alleged interference. 

As such, so much of the Motion requesting summary Judgment on Christensen's 

behalf on Count Ill of the Complaint is ALLOWED. 

G. THE CAUSES OF ACTION FOR FRAUD AND VIOLATION OF
CHAPTER 93A (COUNTS IV AND V)

As stated, Count N of the Complaint alleges that Christensen, in his personal 

and fiduciary capacities, engaged in fraud prior to and during his service as trustee.

Count V alleges that Christensen's fraudulent conduct violated G.L. c. 93A, § 9. 

Christensen argues he is entitled to summary judgment on the causes of action 

set forth in Counts IV and V because Thomas has not presented expert testimony in 

support thereof, the MTF Instrument granted him "broad powers• as trustee that 

somehow insulate him against liability for fraud, and Thomas has no reasonable 

expectation of proving he was damaged as a result of the fraudulent conduct. Howewr, 

as stated, expert testimony is not required under 1he circumstances and the exculpatory 

clause il the MFT Instrument does not shield Christensen from liability for fraud. 

As for Christensen's argument regarding Thomas's damages, the Court agrees 

that, for the reasons stated abow, the Decree precludes Thomas from recovering 

damages in this action for conduct that Is the subject of the items approved in the Trust 

Account (such as conduct related to the reduction in the sale price of Mary's Home). 

14 •A durable power of attorney is a power of attorney by which a principal designates another
his attorney in fact ii writing and the writing contains [certain} words." G.L c. 1908, § 5-501(a). 
Based on this definition, it is doubtful that a DPOA is a �contract• that would Sl4)port a claim for 
tortious intelference. 
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h  Decree does no  preclude homas from recovering damages for Counts IV 

a d V of h  omp ain  result ng f o  ac  and missions hat preceded Chr s ensen's 

a pointmen  as trustee. H wever, it is doubtful tha  at r al homas wil l be able to 

es b ish he s ffer  a y legal y cog i able damages due o C r stensen's pre­

a poi tmen  conduct g iven  s ve effect  the Decree  For example ,  homas 

a gue  ha  he would n  have a ree  t  hr s ensen's appo men  had Ch r stensen 

ad not misrepresente  s re l estate conveya cing xpe nce . However, the Decree 

had he effect o  n i g h  Chris ensen acted w  due care and ski l ,  hus, nega ing 

any harm alle ed y su ere  by ho as e to he a eg  re-appo ntmen  

misrepresen atio 15 Notwithstan ing this, given he ack of c rity n he eco d, e 

Court is constrained to deny so much of the Motion that relates to aHegations in Counts 

N and V regarding Christensen's conduct prior to his appointment as trustee of the 

MF  

As such, so much of the Motion reque i g summary j gment on Christ sen s 

behalf on Counts IV and V of the Compla int is ENIE  s it relates t  al ega ion  

regarding Christensen's conduct prior to his appointment as trustee of he MF , a d 

ALLOWED as it relates to al legations regardin  Christe sen  conduct a er his 

appointment as trustee of the MFT. 

Finally, given the lack of clarity in the record o  the na ure and a o t o  the 

damages al legedly suffered by Thomas due to Christensen's alleged pre-appointment 

15 Furthermor , it i  doubtfu  ha  omas wm succee  at t ial on his C ap er 93A claim given 
the absen e  record vidence tha  he suffered a co ni ab e njury under the statute  See 
Bel erman  v. Fitch urg Ga  a  E ec ic Light Company. 475 Mas . 67, 73 (201 6) (citations 
omitted)  
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The Decree does not preclude Thomas from recovering damages for Counts IV 

and V of the Complaint resultlng from acts and omissions that preceded Christensen's 

appointment as trustee. However, it is doubtful that at trial Thomas will be able to 

establish he suffered any legally cognizable damages due to Christensen's pre­

appointment conduct given the preclusive effect of the Decree. For example, Thomas 

argues that he would not have agreed to Christensen's appointment had Christensen 

had not misrepresented his real estate conveyancing experience. However, the Decree 

had the effect of finding that Christensen acted with due care and skill, thus, negating 

any harm allegedly suffered by Thomas due to the alleged pre-appointment 

misrepresentation.15 Notwithstanding this, given the lack of clarity in the record, the 

Court is constrained to deny so much of the Motion that relates to allegations in Counts 

rv and V regarding Christensen's conduct prior to his appointment as trustee of the 

MFT. 

As such, so much of the Motion requesting summary judgment on Christensen's 

behalf on Counts IV and V of the Complaint Is DENIED as it relates to allegations 

regarding Christensen's conduct prior to his appointment as trustee of the MFT, and 

ALLOWED as it relates to allegations regarding Christensen's conduct after his 

appointment as trustee of the MFT. 

Finally, given the lack of clarity in the record of the nature and amount of the 

damages allegedly suffered by Thomas due to Christensen's alleged pre-appointment 

15 Furthermore, it is doubtful that Thomas will succeed at trial on his Chapter 93A claim given 
the absence of record evidence that he suffered a co~nizable injury under the statute. See 
BeDermam v. Fitchburg Gas and Electric light Company. 475 Mass. 67, 73 (2016) (citations 
omitted). 
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fraudulent conduct, the Court will order Thomas to fde an amendment to the pretrial 

memorandum setting forth that information. 

ORDER 
For the above reasons: 

1. Defendant Andrew Christensen's Motlo� For SLmmary Judgment (Paper No.
12) is ALLOWED as to Counts I, II, Ill, and VI of the Complaint; and, Comts I, 11, 111, and
VJ of the Complaint are HEREBY DISMISSED.

2. Defendant Andrew Christensen's Motion For Summary Judgment (Paper No.
12) is DENIED as to Counts IV and V of the Complaint, insofar as these counts relate to
aUegations regarding defendant Christensen's conduct prior to his appointment as
trustee of the MFT, and ALLOWED insofar as the counts relate to allegations regarding
defendant Christensen's conduct after his appointment as trustee of the MFT. So much
of Counts IV and V of the Complaint that relate to allegations regarding defendant
Christensen's conduct after his appointment as trustee of the MFT are HEREBY
DISMISSED.

3. The sole claims remaining for trial are so much of Counts IV and V of the
Complaint that relate to allegations regarding defendant Christensen's conduct prior to 
his appointment as trustee of the Manning Family Trust. 

4. Within 14 days hereof, plaintiff Thomas Manning shall file a supplement to his
pretrial memorandum setting forth an itemization and explanation of the damages he 
expects to seek at trial (i.e., damages solely on so mudl of Counts IV and V of the

Complaint that relate to allegations regarding defendant Christensen's conduct before 
his appointment as trustee of the Manning Family Trust). In the event that Thomas fails 
to so Complaint shall be dismissed in its entirety. 
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JUDGMENT ON FN>ING OF TIE COURr 
DOCl<ET NUMBER 19\1 -J C.IK' 

1573CV00838 

CASl!NIIIIE A ..:..,., i IV, 

RliiilJtallllHJ•� MarpetJ. et;·Q.EIN(r· '11 

vs. 

Haydadl. Tinothy G. et al 
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ll'l'garet J� Reichenbach ! John Reicla1bach 
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Tlll'lliul\, MA 02780 

This action came on before the Court, Hon. Thomas J Perrino.� and upon consideration thereof, 
I. 
I, 
I ' 

: 

After Jury Verdict, it is ORDERED AND ADJUDGED: 

That judlJTient enter as outlned below, Sewirally 
wNtl intnst thereon as provided by law, and the statutory costs of action. 

1. Date d Breach, Demand er Complaint 10/01/2015 

2. Date Judgment Entered I 
05/03/2024 

;,. Number of Daya of Prejudgment lmerest (line 2 - Line1) 3137 

4. Annu11 1mennn l'W18 Of u. 1 � .x,5..25 = uaily IICerest rate .000329 

5. Slngll Damages $1,550,000.00 
6. Prejudgment Interest (lines 3x4x5} $1,599,713.15 
7. Dolble or Treble Damages Awarded by court (whet9 8tllhorlzed by If"!'} • 

8. Statutory CO.ta $395.00 
�- l\aomey 1-ees Awarded by Court twnere a• bylaw) $2,383,815-09 

10. JUDGMENT TOTAL PAYABLE TO PLAINTIFF(S) (Urlfll 5-WS+T+,.., $5,633,924.24 

SEE PAGE 2 FOR �THER ORDERS 
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JUDGMENT ON FINDING OF THE COURT 

FURTHER ORDEltl OF THE COURT: 

1573CV00938 

Trial Cowl: of llassachuaeas 
The Superior Court 

It II further ORDERED that a permanent injunction is to  enter: the defendants, their agents, servants, and employees are 
pennanently enjoined frcm ttnaten!ng, harassing. intinidating, photographing, or coercing, surveiling the plaintiffs, their 
Immediate fanly members, employees. tenants, contractors. vendors and others lawfully on the property, and further are 
permanently enjoited frcm conduct which an objectively reasonable person would concJude has the effect of interfemg with 
the plaidrl' UH aid enjoyment of their property located at 29 Mattarest L"'9, South Dartmouth, MA 027 48. 

NOTE: The judgment as it pertains to the awaro of $2.383.816.09 in attorney's fees and costs as well as the $395.00 and 
statutory costs are to be born joinUy and severaly defendant rmothy Haydock and defendant Barbara Mou. The single 
damages on the damage are to be bom severally by the defendant. 

DA1EJUDGMENT l3IG1l9Em QBKeJft CQUftllt,._T, � 

05/03l2024 X 
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i •' ' 
. • .......... �uu �va.,,_,," -- ---

1.-;;, \,UUl'L of •-chusettll.
Fl!'..ED 

fJ JUDGMENT ON JURY VERDICT The Superior Court 
I�, •" .. ft• A� '" 

DOCKET NUMBER 
IYJr, I . I) C.\I .. -.-Jennifer A Sulivan, Clerk d Court 

1573CV00938 Bristol CoLlltV 
CASENME JENNIFt:tt A.SUU.I =..;f'E(i)Q}E: & ADDRESS 

Reichenbach, Margaret J. et al 
CLERK/ MAGlo MIITI81DI Co1.11tv Sur>erior Court - Tamton 

vs. 
9 Court Street Rm 13 

Haydock, Timothy G. et al Taunton, MA 02780 

JUDOIENT FOR TIE FO.UMNJ PLAINTff(I) 

Margaret J. Reichenbach 
John Reichenbach 

JUDGMENT AGAINITTHE FOLL�� 

Barbara Moss 

Tlis action cane on for trial before the CoLri, Hon. Thomas J Perrino, presiding, the iuues hawing been duly tried end the 
PY havilg rendered its verdict, 

After Jury Verdel, it is ORDERED AND ADJJDGED: 

That the plaintiff(s) named above recover of the defa'ldant(s) named above, SeveraDy 
the "Judgment T otar with interest thereon • outlned below • provided by law. and the statutory costs of actioo. 

1. Date of Breach, Demand or Complaint 10/01/2015 
2. Date Judgment Ente.-ect 05103/2024 

3. Number of Days of Prejudgment Interest (ine 2 - Une1) 3137 
4. Annual Interest Rate of 0.1�.� • ua11y ln191'81R rae .000329 
5. Single Damages $2,150,000.00 
6. Prejud9'11ent Interest (lines 3x4x5) $2,218,956.95 
7. t:>otj)le or Treble Damages Awatded by Court (where 8'.llhorlzed by law) $ 

8. Stab.tory Costs $395.00 
9. Attorney Fees Awarded by Col.W't (Where authorized by law) $2,383,816.09 

10. JUDGMENT TOTAL PAYABLE TO PLAINTIFF(S) (Lms�1+et9) $6,753, 188.04 

SEE PAGE 2 FOR FURTIER ORDERS--. 
MTI: JUDGMENT ENTERED I CL� OF COlRTS/ ASST. Cl.ERK \Jill, ... �.;._:t, Esq. 

05/0312024 
j \! 

DaWTlme Plfnled: 05-03-2024 11:�141 Assis•.__• "i,,:rk/Magistrate SCV084: 04/2017 
I 
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,..,..ONW 0, THE COIIIT: 

DOCIIIEJ� 

1573CV� 
11a1 Court o< r .........

n. SUperlDr Comt

••further OAOEREO llilll a permanent injln:tion is lo enllr. lhel1 fa :dliills, lheiragenls. ..,..ta, and _,._.. ..
pwmanendy •JoNd from tlYNtening, harualng, intimidating, photographing, or coercing, sooteilling the plainlffs, their
.,,_.t• fnlly m.mberl, �en, tenants, connctors, vendors and ottas IMfuly on the property, and fwther ..
permanently •JoNd from conduct which a, objectively reasonable person wolJd concfude has the effect of interfer'•ICI witt1
the ptaidilf1' ute and enjoyment of their p,ope,ty located at 29 Maltarest Lane, South Dartmouth, MA 02748.

NOTE: TM JudQlment as H pertains to the award of $2,383,816.09 in aaomays fees and costs as well as the $395.00 and 
atatuto,y costs are to be born joindy and aeveraly defendant Timothy �oclc"and defendant Barblra Mou. The single 
damagN on the damage are to be born severally by the defendant. 

�JWDltillllENT!Smma �Cffl:�lW,�.�llfK( 
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�Bf�SACHUSETIS
Bristol, ss. 

I MAR - 3 1�13
=�c:�=-�

t 

JENNIFER A. SULLIVAN, E�. 
MARGARET J. REICHENB�K/ MAGISTRATE)
and JOHN REICHENBACH, )

v. 

Plaintiffs, ) 
) 

TIMOTHY G. HAYDOCK 
and BARBARA MOSS,

)
) 
)
) · Defendants.

Verdict Form
We, the jury, return the follo�g verdict on each Count 

A. Count I: Mauachusetts Civil Rights Act ("MCRA")

1. Did Timothy Haydock use threats, intimidation, or coercion to interfere with, or
to attempt to interfere with, the Reichenbachs' constitutional rights to use, enjoy,
and _improve their property?

YES X NO __ _ 

If you answered "NO," your verdict is for Timothy Haydock on Count I and you may
proceed to Question 2. If you answered "YES," please answer Question l(a). 

l(a). Please indicate with an "X" when the Reichenbachs first knew, or
reasonably should have known, that they were harmed by Timothy Haydock's 
conduct? 

before October 1, 2012 

OR 

1-_ on or after October 1, 2014,

2. Did Barbara Moss use threats, intimidation, or coercion to interfere with, or to
attempt to interfere with, the Reichenbachs' constitutional rights to use� enjoy,
and improve their property?

YES x· .NO __ _ 
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If you answered �O," your verdict is for Barbara Moss on Count I and you may 
proceed to Question 3. If you answered "YES," please answer Question 2(a). 

2(a). Please indicate with an ''X" when the Reichenbachs first knew, or 
reaspnably should have kno� that they were harmed by Barbara Moss's 
conduct? 

before October 1, 2012 

OR ... 

X. onor after October 1, 2012

If you answered YES to Question 1 or 2, then you must consider whether to award 
damages for Count I, as part of Question 7. 

[THIS SPACE INTBNTIONALL Y LEFT BLANK] 
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B. Count Il: Trapass
3: Did Timothy HaYd9ck trespass on� Reichenbachs' property?

YFS X > NO
---

If you answered "NO," your verdict is for Tunothy Haydock on Collllt II and you 
inay proceed to Question 4. If you answered "YES," please answer Question 3(a).

3(a). Please indicate with an "X"' when the Reichenbachs first knew, or
reasonably should have known, that Tunothy Haydock trespassed?

OR
before October I, 2012 , .

__x on or after October I, 2012

4. Did Barbara Moss trespass on the Reichenbachs' property?
YES X NO __

If you amwered "NO," your verdict is for Barbara Moss on Count Il and you may
proceed to Question 5. If you answered "YES," please answer Question 4( a).

4(a). Please indicate with an "X"' when the Reichenbachs first knew, or
reasonably should have known, that Barbara Moss trespassed? 

before October I, 2012
OR
__){_ on or after October 1, 2012

If you answered YES to Question 3 or 4, then you must consider whether to a-ward
damaaJ?!S for Count II, as part of Question 8.

3
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6(1), Please indicate with an "X" when _the Reichenbachs first knew, or 
reasonably should have known, that Barbara Moss intentionally interfered by 

. preventing the Reichenbachs from performing, or by causing the Reichenbachs• 
· performance to be more expensive or burdensome, of their oontract with �s
Olson?

before October 1► 2012

. OR 

__½__ on or after October 1, 2012

If you answered YES to Question 5 or 6, then you must consider whether to award 
damages for Count m, as part of Question 9. 

D. Damages

7. What total amount of money will fully and fairly compensate the Reichenbachs for their
damages resulting from Count I, violation of the MassachuselfS Civ,iJ Rights A,.ctz �
.,,Jsoo,ooo,00

- OM!-���.., f'.vc. hLt'ldll:J 1ho1ot,41'd tlgU4f� ttntJ /JDO(,tntJ 

a. Of the amount listed in Question 7, what amount, if any, do you attribute to nmothy
Haydock?

·_ ,a Sodi 06t 
00 

- ±ltt.. bLC.11-� nd ,\-1,&u�Qrid dollar.$ (lnJ ��" WI� 

b. Of the amoont listed in Question 7, what amount, if any, do you attribute to Barbara
Moss?

. · 10· 
· 

j(li @Oi.l 1000, O/) -owe fri'JL 0/1 Jotlar.� Crnd Jfoo lt11k

8. What total amount of money will fully and faidy compensate the Rcichenbacbs for their
damages resubing from Coun1tll, trespass? . . * • ,I 1lmJDNooo., �- :tw� h,1�J +h6l(�'t'1d Jo Jhr.s t:t11d /1� ll >

L Of the amount Disted in Questiion 8, what rm11Dt. if UIJ', do y011 a11tn.1Jute to TlUlothy 
Haydock? DO
s� �- .. _ -fM-f th,v�W Aullm a.J ;i'ooo lints

5 
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b. Of the amount listed in Question 8, what amount, if any, do you attribute to Barbara
Mou? 

JI .5.0(h oa uo - Dbe h �dreJ fif.fy th�l(•�nJ doJ/a� �1tcl :J'Od co r tJ 
9.. What total amount of money will fully and fairly compensate the Reichenbachs for their 

damaps resulting from Count III, intentional interference with contractual relations? 

I�, oo o� ooo, " 0 
- ::fwa .,,._ \I lto'1 do HI· ar, anJ :J{o, te11!S 

a. Of the amount listed in Question 9, what amollllt, if any, do you attribute to
Timothy Haydock?

-'i,ooo,. {j(j0,0p-Otle Jn;tl,otJ .t!oH/.(f]. i.Uld �o ce,fs

b. Of the amount listed in Question 9, what amount, if any, do you attribute to 
Barbara Moss?

$/, ooq .oo u. o(J_ one J-lill,011 dcJ liar> - Q,id °/1°0 LefdtJ.
1 

I hereby certify that the foregoing answers constitute the answers of at least seven (7) out of 
the eight (8) deliberating jurors. 
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John Reichenbach, et al. vs 
Timothy Haydock, et al. 

Motion Hearing 
February 24, 2023 

but the problem with all -- problem with all 

of that, whether it's being near the property 

line a lot -- again, that's not what we heard 

from Lars Olson with respect to Dr. Haydock. 

Lars Olson testified over a five-year 

period he saw Dr. Haydock 10 to 15 times. But 

even if it's being on the property line, when 

you live next door or being along the 

sullivans' land, when your son is on his 

swing, the -- you have to prove that the other 

conduct was done -- was done to interfere with 

their development of their property, and none 

of those activities even suggest that they 

were done to interfere with the development of 

the property 1n any way. 

so again, for all of those reasons and 

for the cases we've discussed, we would seek 

the directed verdict for Dr. Haydock. 

THE COURT: This is -- we can 

debate this. It's interesting as points of 

law and parsing out the cases. It's a great 

exercise to go through, but I have to make a 

decision, and it's -- I think it's a close 

case as to Dr. Haydock, but I have to 

O'Brien & Levine, A Magna Legal Services Company 
888.825.3376 - production@court-reporting.com 
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John Reichenbach. et al. vs 
Timothy Haydock. et al. 

Motion Hearing 
February 24, 2023 

1 respectfully deny your motion. 

2 we may be revisiting it because I 

3 think the jury verdict breaks down the conduct 

4 of each party. I think it asks separate 

5 questions that I've seen. 

6 But I'm -- the instruction 1n 

7 Armstrong, reading Armstrong and Bell versus 

8 Mazza makes relatively straightforward that 

9 there's no single point that's determined. 

10 It's the aggregate of facts that create the 

11 jury question as to whether the conduct as a 

12 whole, and that creates the jury question. 

13 It's a close case because, as we've 

14 articulated here, we've parsed out 

15 or. Haydock's conduct. The Armstrong case 

16 doesn't -- it seems to mesh the conduct 

17 together, and perhaps the jury will be able to 

18 sort out on the fact whose conduct is 

19 attributable to who and make their 

20 determinations on that. 

21 But it's -- the evidence is sufficient 

22 based on the standard that I am governed by, 

23 which is light most favorable to the 

24 plaintiff. It's sufficient to go to the jury 

O'Brien & Levine, A Magna Legal Services Company 
888.825.3376 - production@court-reporting.com 

66 

Page66 

311




